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Represents the maximum number of shares of Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. (the “ Company”) common stock that may be issued to holders of shares of common stock of The First National
Bank of Shelby (“ FNB”) in the merger assuming that (i) shareholders of FNB elect 100% stock consideration and (ii) the Buyer Average Stock Price (as such term is defined in the
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of January 24, 2013 by and among the Company, Bank of the Ozarks and FNB, as amended, (the “ Merger Agreement”)) is the lowest amount
permitted in the Merger Agreement.

Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee required by Section 6(b) of the Securities Act and calculated pursuant to Rule 457(f)(2) under the Securities Act. The
proposed maximum aggregate offering price of the registrant’s common stock was calculated based upon the book value of the FNB shares of common stock (the securities to be canceled in
the merger) and is equal to the product of (i) $238.795, calculated according to Rule 457(f)(2) of the Securities Act, multiplied by (ii) 400,000, the maximum number of FNB shares of
common stock that may be canceled and exchanged for Company common stock in the merger.

Determined in accordance with Section 6(b) of the Securities Act at a rate equal to $136.40 per $1,000,000 of the proposed maximum aggregate offering price.

Previously Paid.

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment

which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accor dance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or until the
registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.
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Information in thisproxy statement/prospectusis subject to completion or amendment. A registration statement relating to these securities has
been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These securities may not be sold nor may offersto buy be accepted prior to thetimethe
registration statement becomes effective. This proxy statement/prospectus shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of any offer to
buy nor shall there be any sale of these securitiesin any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to
registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.

PRELIMINARY —SUBJECT TO COMPLETION —DATED MAY 24, 2013

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY
PROXY STATEMENT FOR SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

TO BE HELD 2013
BANK OF THE OZARKS, INC.
PROSPECTUS

COMMON STOCK

Tothe Shareholdersof TheFirst National Bank of Shelby:

On January 24, 2013, The First National Bank of Shelby (“FNB”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Bank of the Ozarks, Inc.
(the“Company”) and its subsidiary, Bank of the Ozarks. That agreement was subsequently amended on February 5, 2013 to clarify certain
provisions. Werefer to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, as amended, as the “merger agreement.” |f the merger agreement is approved and the
merger is subsequently completed, FNB will be merged with and into Bank of the Ozarks. FNB is sending you this document to ask you to vote on
aproposal to approve the merger agreement.

The aggregate merger consideration to be paid in the merger, subject to possible adjustments, is $64,000,000. The aggregate merger
consideration will consist of acombination of cash and shares of Company common stock, $0.01 par value per share, which shares are traded on
the NASDAQ Global Stock Market (“Nasdag Stock Market”) under the symbol “OZRK.” Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, at |least
51% of the aggregate merger consideration will consist of stock consideration. We refer to this requirement as the “minimum stock consideration
requirement.” When the merger is completed, each holder of a share of FNB common stock will receive merger consideration, subject to possible
adjustments, equal to $160.00 per share of FNB common stock, consisting of either $160.00 in cash, anumber of shares of Company common stock
having avalue of $160.00 based on the average closing price of Company common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on the fifth
business day preceding the closing of the merger, or a combination of shares of Company common stock and cash having atotal value of $160.00.

Assuming that shareholders of FNB elect to receive the minimum amount of stock consideration upon completion of the merger, the
Company would pay $31,360,000 in cash and issue a number of shares of Company common stock having avalue of approximately $32,640,000;
however, because the market value of shares of the Company’s common stock fluctuates, the actual number of shares of Company common stock
issuablein the merger will not be finally determined until the fifth business day prior to the closing of the merger. Assuming the 10-day average
closing price of Company common stock ending on the fifth business day prior to the closing of the merger is $43.18 (which was the 10-day
average closing price of Company common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ended on May 21, 2013, the last practicabl e trading day
before the date of this proxy statement/prospectus), and assuming that shareholders of FNB elect to receive the minimum amount of stock
consideration, then we anticipate that an aggregate of approximately 755,905 shares of Company common stock would be issued to FNB
shareholders upon completion of the meraer.



If the merger is approved, you will be asked to make an election with respect to your form of payment. Notwithstanding the el ections made
by FNB shareholders, pursuant to the minimum stock consideration requirement in the merger agreement, at least 51% (and up to 100%) of the total
merger consideration will be paid in shares of Company common stock and no more than 49% of the total merger consideration will be paid in cash.
If the total elections made by FNB shareholders would result in an oversubscription for cash, then the exchange agent will prorate the amount of
stock and cash to be issued in the merger as necessary to ensure that 51% of the aggregate merger consideration is paid in the form of shares of
Company common stock. In addition, (i) no fractional shares of Company common stock will beissued, and cash will be paid to an FNB
sharehol der electing to receive Company common stock, in an amount equal to the dollar value of any fractional interest, based on the average
closing price of the Company’s common stock; and (ii) any stock election that would otherwise result in an FNB shareholder receiving less than
ten (10) shares of Company common stock will be paid entirely in cash. In any of the above cases, you may receive a combination of shares of
Company common stock and cash for your FNB shares that is different from the amount you elected, depending on the el ections made by other
FNB shareholders.

On , 2013, the closina sales price of Company common stock on the Nasdag Stock Market was $
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Theboard of directorsof FNB hasunanimously determined that the merger and the merger agreement arefair and in the best interests of
FNB and its shareholder sand unanimously recommendsthat you vote“ FOR” approval of the merger agreement. The merger cannot be
completed unless the merger agreement is approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of at |east two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the
FNB common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. Whether or not you plan to attend the special meeting of shareholders, please take the
time to vote by completing the enclosed proxy card and mailing it in the enclosed return envelope. If you sign, date and mail your proxy card
without indicating how you want to vote, your proxy will be counted asavote” FOR” approval of the merger agreement. Becausetherequired vote
isbased on the outstanding shares of FNB, if you do not vote, or if you do not instruct your broker or other nominee how to vote any sharesheld
for you, or if you “ ABSTAIN,” it will have the same effect asvoting “ AGAINST” the merger agreement.

If you do not desire to receive the merger consideration and instead wish to exercise dissenters’ rights and be paid in cash the appraised fair
value of your shares of FNB common stock, you must strictly comply with the requirements of the National Bank Act, particularly 12 U.S.C. §214a
and the rules and regulations of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the“OCC”), in order to perfect your dissenters' rights under Federal
law and receive the fair value of your FNB common stock in cash. Copies of 12 U.S.C. §214aand the relevant regulations of the OCC are included
as Appendix C to this proxy statement/prospectus.

The officers and directors of FNB and holders of five percent or more of FNB’s common stock have executed voting agreements with the
Company committing such persons, only in their capacity as shareholders of FNB, to vote their shares of FNB common stock in favor of the
merger agreement and the merger.

This proxy statement/prospectus gives you detailed information about the special meeting of shareholders to be held , 2013, the
merger agreement and other related matters. Y ou should carefully read this entire document, including the appendices. In particular, you should
carefully consider thediscussion in the section entitled “ Risk Factors’ on page 26.

On behalf of the FNB board of directors, | thank you for your prompt attention to thisimportant matter.

/s/ HELEN A. JEFFORDS

Helen A. Jeffords

President and Chief Executive Officer
The First National Bank of Shelby

Neither the Securitiesand Exchange Commission nor any state securitiescommission has approved or disapproved of the securitiesto be
issued in connection with the merger or determined if thisdocument isaccurate or complete. Any representation tothe contrary isacriminal
offense.

The securitiesto beissued in connection with the merger are not savings accounts, depositsor other obligations of any bank or savings
association and are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other governmental agency.

Thisdocument isdated , 2013, and isfirst beinag mailed to FNB shareholderson or about , 2013.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY
106 SOUTH LAFAYETTE STREET
SHELBY, NORTH CAROLINA 28150

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
TOBEHELD ON , 2013

NOTICE ISHEREBY GIVEN that a special meeting of the shareholders of The First National Bank of Shelby (“FNB™) will be held at 106 South
L afayette Street, Shelby, North Carolina 28150, at 10:00 a.m., eastern time, on , 2013, for the following purposes:

1. To vote upon a proposal to approve the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of January 24, 2013, by and among FNB, Bank of the
Ozarks, Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiary, Bank of the Ozarks, as such agreement may be amended from time to time, pursuant to which,
among other things, FNB will be merged with and into Bank of the Ozarks. Asaresult of the merger, each of the outstanding shares of FNB will be
converted into the right to receive shares of Company common stock or cash, or acombination of both stock and cash, as more particularly
described elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus.

2. To approve aproposal to grant discretionary authority to the persons named as proxies to adjourn the special meeting to alater date or
dates, if necessary, to permit further solicitation of proxiesif there are not sufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the
Agreement and Plan of Merger.

3. To transact any other business that properly comes before the special meeting of shareholders, or any adjournments or postponements of
the special meeting.

The proposed merger is described in more detail in this proxy statement/prospectus, which you should read carefully inits entirety before
voting. Only FNB shareholders of record as of the close of business on , 2013 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the special meeting
of shareholders or any adjournments or postponements of the special meeting.

A holder of FNB common stock who complies with the provisions of the National Bank Act and the rules and regulations of the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency (the“OCC") relating to dissenters’ rights applicable to the merger is entitled to determination and payment in cash of
the “fair value” of their stock under the relevant provisions of the National Bank Act and the rules and regulations of the OCC, copies of which are
attached as Appendix C to this proxy statement/prospectus.

Whether you attend the special meeting or not, you may revoke a previously granted proxy at any time beforeit is voted by submitting to
the corporate secretary of FNB aduly executed revocation of proxy bearing alater date or by appearing and voting in person at the special
meeting. Y ou may revoke a proxy by any of these methods, regardless of the method used to deliver your previous proxy. Attendance at the
special meeting without voting will not itself revoke a proxy.

Your voteisvery important. To ensureyour representation at the special meeting of shareholders, please complete, execute and promptly
mail your proxy card in thereturn envelope enclosed. Thiswill not prevent you from voting in person, but it will help to secure a quorum and
avoid added solicitation costs. Y ou may revoke your proxy at any time before it isvoted.

BY ORDER OF THE FNB BOARD OF DIRECTORS

/s/ HELEN A. JEFFORDS

Helen A. Jeffords
President and Chief Executive Officer

Shelby, North Carolina
, 2013
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE “ FOR”
APPROVAL OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT, AND “FOR” GRANTING THE PROXIES THE DISCRETION TO ADJOURN THE SPECIAL
MEETING TO A LATER DATE IN ORDER TO SOLICIT FURTHER PROXIESIF THERE ARE NOT SUFFICIENT VOTESIN FAVOR OF
APPROVAL OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT AT THE TIME OF THE SPECIAL MEETING.

PLEASE MARK, SIGN, DATE AND RETURN YOUR PROXY CARD PROMPTLY, WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE
SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS.

DO NOT SEND SHARE CERTIFICATESWITH THE PROXY CARD.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This proxy statement/prospectusincorporates important business and financial information about Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. (the “ Company”)
from documents that are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC” or the “ Commission™) but that are not included in or
delivered with this proxy statement/prospectus. Y ou can obtain copies of the Company’s documents incorporated by referencein this proxy
statement/prospectus without charge by requesting them in writing or by telephone from the Company at the following address:

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc.
17901 Chenal Parkway
Little Rock, Arkansas 72223
Attention: Susan Blair, Investor Relations
Telephone: (501) 978-2217

Shareholdersof The First National Bank of Shelby requesting copies of the Company’s documents from the Company should do so by
, 2013 in order to receive them befor e the special meeting.

Y ou may also obtain these documents at the SEC’ s website (www.sec.gov) and you may obtain certain of these documents at the
Company’s website (www.bankozarks.com) by selecting the tab entitled “Investor Relations” and then the tab entitled “ Current SEC Filings.”
Other information contained on the Company’ s website is expressly not incorporated by reference into this document.

If you have any questions, or need assistance in completing and returning your proxy, you may contact The First National Bank of Shelby at
the following address and tel ephone number:

The First National Bank of Shelby
106 South L afayette Street
Shelby, North Carolina 28150
Attention: Helen A. Jeffords, President and Chief Executive Officer
Telephone: (704) 484-6200

See “Where Y ou Can Find More Information” on page 229.
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QUESTIONSAND ANSWERSABOUT VOTING AT THE
SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

The following are answers to certain questions you may have regarding the special meeting. We urge you to read carefully the remainder

of this proxy statement/prospectus, including the appendices, because the information in this section may not provide all the information that
might be important to you in determining how to vote.

Q:
A:

WHY AM | RECEIVING THISDOCUMENT?

FNB is sending these materialsto its shareholdersto help them decide how to vote their shares of FNB common stock with respect to the
merger and other matters to be considered at the special meeting.

The merger cannot be completed unless FNB shareholders approve the merger agreement. FNB is holding a special meeting of its
shareholders to vote on the proposal s necessary to complete the merger. Information about this special meeting, the merger and related
matters to be considered by shareholders at the special meeting is contained in this proxy statement/prospectus.

This document constitutes a proxy statement of FNB and a prospectus of the Company. It is a proxy statement because the FNB board of
directorsis soliciting proxies from FNB shareholders using this document. It is a prospectus because the Company, in connection with the
merger, is offering shares of its common stock in partial exchange for outstanding shares of FNB in the merger.

WHAT ISTHE MERGER?

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Bank of the Ozarks, have entered into a merger agreement with FNB, pursuant to which FNB
will be merged with and into Bank of the Ozarks. A copy of the merger agreement is attached as Appendix A to this proxy
statement/prospectus. In order for usto complete the merger we need not only the approval of the shareholders of FNB but the approval of
the merger by the banking regulators of each of the Company, Bank of the Ozarks, and FNB.

WHAT WILL | RECEIVE IN EXCHANGE FOR MY FNB SHARES IN THE MERGER?

If the merger agreement is approved and the merger is subsequently completed, on the effective date of the merger, FNB shareholders will be
entitled to receive aggregate merger consideration, subject to possible adjustments, of $64,000,000, which will consist of at least 51%in
shares of Company common stock (the “minimum stock consideration requirement”) and no more than 49% in cash. Assuming that FNB
sharehol ders elect to receive the minimum amount of stock consideration (i.e., 51%), we currently expect that approximately $32,640,000 of
the merger consideration will bein the form of Company common stock, and approximately $31,360,000 of the merger consideration will be
paid in the form of cash. This equates to $160.00 per share of FNB common stock in merger consideration, subject to possible adjustments,
which may be payablein shares of common stock of the Company, cash, or a combination of both stock and cash.

The aggregate merger consideration may be adjusted downward, on adollar for dollar basis, if FNB’s closing consolidated net book valueis
less than $96,000,000. FNB’s closing consolidated net book value will be calculated as FNB's unaudited consolidated net tangible
shareholders’ equity determined in accordance with GAAP as of the end of the month prior to the closing of the merger, except that the
following amounts will be added back to the closing consolidated net book val ue before determining whether a purchase price adjustment is
required: (i) the amount of any deferred tax asset valuation allowance; (ii) the amount of prepayment penalties or unwind costs on
prepayment of any advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB-Atlanta”) and certain structured repurchase agreements
and derivative transactions, net of any tax benefit recorded on FNB’sfinancial statementsin connection with such prepayment penalties or
unwind costs; and (iii) the amount of any other accruals, reserves or

1
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provisions, expenses or charges taken or incurred by FNB that the Company and FNB agree are appropriate under the circumstances. As of
April 30, 2013, although FNB’ s unaudited consolidated net tangible shareholders’ equity was $87,424,952, the “ added back” items described
in (i) and (ii) in the preceding sentence aggregated approximately $14 million at such date. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus,
FNB’s consolidated net book value, calculated in accordance with the above formula, continues to exceed $96,000,000, and if the closing of
the merger were to occur on the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, no adjustment to the purchase price would be made based on this
calculation.

Q: ARETHEREANY OTHERADJUSTMENTS THAT COULD AFFECT WHAT | WILL RECEIVE IN THE MERGER?

A: Apart from the adjustments summarized in the preceding paragraph, the value of the aggregate merger consideration could a so be higher or
lower than $64,000,000, depending on whether the average closing stock price of the Company common stock to be used in determining the
exchangeratio is higher than $44.20 per share, in which case FNB shareholders receiving Company stock as part or all of the merger
consideration would receive more shares than they otherwise would (without an offsetting decrease in any cash consideration they may
receivein the merger) if there were no cap on the average closing stock price used in determining the exchange ratio. Conversely, if the
average closing price of the Company common stock islower than $27.00 per share, FNB sharehol ders receiving Company stock as part or all
of the merger consideration would receive fewer shares than they otherwise would (without any offsetting increase in any cash
consideration they may receive in the merger) if there were no floor on the average closing price used in determining the exchange ratio.

Q: CANI ELECT THE TYPE OF CONSIDERATION | WILL RECEIVE IN THE MERGER?

A:  Yes, subject to the minimum stock consideration requirement and the proration and adjustment procedures described in this document on
pages 49 and 50, you may elect to receive all shares of Company common stock, all cash, or a combination of Company common stock and
cash, in exchange for your shares of FNB common stock.

Q: IFI ELECT TO RECEIVE COMPANY COMMON STOCK IN THE MERGER, HOW MANY SHARESWILL | RECEIVE?

A:  Subject to the minimum stock consideration requirement and the proration and adjustment procedures described in this document on pages
49 and 50, and subject to the purchase price adjustments set forth in the merger agreement and described in this document on page 49, if you
elect to receive Company common stock for all or aportion of your FNB common stock, you would receive for each share of your FNB
common stock as to which you make such an election, Company common stock worth $160.00, based on the average closing price of
Company common stock during the period of ten consecutive “trading days” (days on which the Nasdaq Stock Market is open for trading
activities) ending on the fifth business day prior to the date the merger is effective. When we refer to the “average closing price” in this
proxy statement/prospectus, we mean this ten consecutive trading day average of the Company common stock’s closing sale price.

Y ou will not receive any fractional sharesin the merger. Instead, you will receive a cash payment, without interest, for the value of any
fraction of ashare of Company common stock that you would otherwise be entitled to receive, based on the average closing price.

For example, assuming: (i) a10-day average closing price of a share of Company common stock of 43.18, (ii) no proration isrequired to meet
the minimum stock consideration requirement, and (iii) no purchase

2
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price adjustments are required or made, a FNB shareholder who owns ten shares of FNB common stock and who elects to receive Company
common stock in exchange for all ten shares of FNB common stock would receive approximately $1,600 worth of merger consideration equal
to 37.054 shares of Company common stock, payable in 37 whole shares, plus $2.34 in cash in lieu of afractional 054/1000ths of a share of
Company common stock.

Q:  WILL I RECEIVE THE FORM OF CONSIDERATION | ELECT TO RECEIVE?

A: Itispossiblethat you will not receive the exact form of consideration that you elect in the merger. Whether you will be entitled to receive
cash or Company common stock in exchange for your FNB shareswill beinitially determined based on your election. Notwithstanding the
particular election you make, the total consideration to be paid by the Company will be at least 51% in shares of Company common stock and
no more than 49% in cash. If the el ections made by all FNB shareholders considered in the aggregate total at |east 51% of the total merger
consideration being paid in Company common stock, then you would receive the form of consideration you el ected to receive, subject to
payment of cashin lieu of any fractional shares of Company common stock you elect to receive, and further subject to payment of cashin
lieu of stock consideration if your election would otherwise result in the delivery to you of less than ten (10) whole shares of Company
common stock. On the other hand, if the elections made by all FNB shareholders would result in an oversubscription for cash (i.e., more than
49% of the total merger consideration), then the exchange agent will prorate the amount of stock and cash to be issued in the merger in order
to meet the minimum stock consideration requirement (i.e., at least 51% of the total merger consideration). In that case, you may receive a
combination of cash and shares of Company common stock for each of your FNB shares that is different from the amount you elected,
depending on the elections made by other FNB shareholders. The allocation of the mix of consideration payable to each FNB sharehol der
will not be finally determined until the exchange agent, Bank of the Ozarks Trust and Wealth Management Division, tallies the results of the
stock and cash elections made by FNB sharehol ders, which will not occur until near the time of or promptly following the closing of the
merger.

Q: HOWDOI ELECT THE FORM OF CONSIDERATION | PREFER TO RECEIVE?

A:  After themailing of this proxy statement/prospectus, an election form and letter of transmittal will be mailed or otherwise delivered to you.
The election form and letter of transmittal will allow you to elect the number of your shares of FNB common stock that will be converted into
Company common stock and the number of your shares of FNB common stock that will be exchanged for cash. In order to make a proper
election, you must complete the election form and letter of transmittal and return it along with your FNB stock certificate(s) to the exchange
agent by the specified date and time deadline.

Q:  WHAT HAPPENSIF| DONOT MAKE A VALID ELECTION UNDER THE ELECTION FORM?

A: If you do not return a properly completed election form by the deadline specified in the election form, your shares of FNB common stock will
be considered “ non-election shares” and will be converted into the right to receive the stock consideration or cash consideration in
accordance with the proration procedures specified in the merger agreement. All elections will be subject to the proration provisions of the
merger agreement, which will ensure that the aggregate stock consideration will constitute at least 51% of the total merger consideration and
the aggregate cash consideration will not exceed 49% of the total merger consideration.

Q:  WILL I BEENTITLED TO APPRAISAL RIGHTS?

A: Yes. If you dissent from the merger transaction, you may exercise appraisal rights in connection with the merger. Y our rights of appraisal are
governed by the National Bank Act. To exercise rights of appraisal, you must precisely follow the procedures set forth in Section 214a of the
National Bank Act and the
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Comptroller's Licensing Manual. These procedures are described in this proxy statement/prospectus under the heading “APPROVAL OF
THE MERGER — Dissenters’ Appraisal Rights.” The text of section 214a of the National Bank Act and an excerpt of the relevant portions of
the Comptroller’s Licensing Manual are included as Appendix C to this proxy statement/prospectus.

Q:  WHATDOI NEED TO DO NOW?

A:  After you have carefully read this document, including the information incorporated into this document by reference, indicate on your proxy
card how you want your shares to be voted. Then date, sign and mail your proxy card in the enclosed prepaid return envelope as soon as
possible. Thiswill enable your sharesto be represented and voted at the special meeting whether or not you attend. Y ou may still attend the
special meeting and vote in person even after you return the proxy card.

Q. WHYISMY VOTE IMPORTANT?

A: Themerger agreement must be approved by the holders of at |east two-thirds of the shares of FNB common stock outstanding and entitled
to vote at the special meeting. Because the required vote on the merger agreement is based on the shares outstanding, a failureto vote or an
“ABSTAIN" will have the same effect asa vote“ AGAINST” the merger agreement.

Q: IFMY BROKERHOLDSMY SHARESIN “STREET NAME” WILL MY BROKER AUTOMATICALLY VOTEMY SHARES FOR ME?

A:  No. Your broker will not be able to vote your shares on the merger agreement without instructions from you. Y ou should instruct your broker
to vote your shares, following the directions your broker provides. If you do not instruct your broker how to vote your shares held in “street
name,” it will have the same effect asvoting “ AGAINST” the merger agreement.

Q:  WHATIFIFAIL TOINSTRUCT MY BROKER TOVOTE MY SHARES?

A: If youfail to instruct your broker to vote your shares with respect to the merger agreement, the broker may submit an unvoted proxy (a
broker “non-vote”) asto your shares. Broker non-votes will count toward a quorum at the special meeting. However, broker non-votes will
not count as a vote with respect to the merger agreement, and therefore will have the same effect asavote“ AGAINST” the merger
agreement.

Q:  WILLIBEABLETO SELL THE SHARES OF COMPANY COMMON STOCK THAT | RECEIVE IN THE MERGER?

A: Yes, in most cases. The shares of Company common stock to beissued in the merger will be registered under the Securities Act of 1933 (the
“Securities Act”) and listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market. However, if there are any former shareholders of FNB who will be deemed to be
“dffiliates’ of the Company under the Securities Act after the merger (generally, directors and executive officers of the Company and
shareholders holding 10% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company), such persons must abide by certain transfer
restrictions under the Securities Act.

Q: CANIATTEND THE SPECIAL MEETING AND VOTEMY SHARES IN PERSON?

A: Yes. All shareholders of FNB areinvited to attend the special meeting. Shareholders of record can vote in person at the special meeting
whether or not they have previously executed a proxy card. If abroker holds your sharesin street name, then you are not the shareholder of
record, and you must ask your broker how you can vote your shares at the special meeting.
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Q: CANICHANGEMY VOTE?

A: Yes. If you do not own your sharesin street name, you can change your vote after you have sent in your proxy card by:
. providing written notice to the Corporate Secretary of FNB; and
. submitting a new proxy card (any earlier proxy will be revoked automatically); or

. attending the special meeting and voting in person (any earlier proxy will be revoked by your votein person). However, simply
attending the special meeting without voting will not revoke your proxy.

If you haveinstructed a broker or other nominee to vote your shares, you must follow your nominee’s directions to change your vote.

Q: SHOULD I SEND IN MY STOCK CERTIFICATESNOW?

A:  No, please do not send your stock certificates with your proxy card. Instructions will be sent to you later for surrendering your FNB stock
certificates in exchange for the merger consideration.

Q:  WHATIFIHAVELOST OR CANNOT LOCATEMY STOCK CERTIFICATES?

A: After the mailing of this proxy statement/prospectus, you will receive an election form and letter of transmittal from the exchange agent
regarding the conversion of your FNB sharesinto the merger consideration. If you have your FNB certificates, please follow the instructions
in the election form and letter of transmittal for delivery of the certificates with your completed form to the exchange agent. If you cannot
locate your FNB stock certificates and believe them to be lost, stolen or destroyed, please follow the instructions in the form dealing with
lost, stolen or destroyed certificates. Y ou will then be provided with an Affidavit of Lost Stock Certificate(s) to complete and return to FNB,
or if you provide such Affidavit after the merger occurs, to the exchange agent. Depending on the circumstances, the exchange agent will be
entitled to require you to provide a surety bond to protect FNB, the exchange agent and the Company in the event the subject certificates are
later presented to the exchange agent or the Company for conversion into the merger consideration.

Q:  WHEN DO YOU EXPECT THE MERGER TO BE COMPLETED?

A: The Company and FNB currently expect to complete the merger in the third quarter of 2013, assuming all of the conditions to completion of
the merger have been satisfied.

Q:  WHOM SHOULD I CALL WITH QUESTIONS?

A:  You should direct any questions regarding the special meeting of shareholders or the merger to Helen A. Jeffords, President and Chief
Executive Officer, The First National Bank of Shelby at (704) 484-6200.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY
PROXY STATEMENT FOR SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information included in this document and does not contain all of the information that may be
important to you. You should read this entire document and its appendices and the other documents to which this document refers before
you decide how to vote with respect to the merger agreement. In addition, this document incor porates by reference important business and
financial information about Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. For a description of this information, see“ Where You Can Find More Information,”
on page 229. You may obtain the information incorporated by reference into this document without charge by following theinstructionsin
that section. Each itemin this summary includes a page reference directing you to a more complete description of that item.

Unless the context otherwise requires, throughout this proxy statement/prospectus, the “ Company” refersto Bank of the Ozarks, Inc.,
“FNB” refersto The First National Bank of Shelby and “we,” “us,” and “our” refer collectively to the Company and FNB. Also, we refer
to the proposed merger of FNB with and into Bank of the Ozarks asthe “ merger,” and the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated
January 24, 2013, and amended February 5, 2013, by and among the Company, Bank of the Ozarks, and FNB as the “ merger agreement.”

TheMerger

The terms and conditions of the merger by which FNB will merge with and into Bank of the Ozarks are contained in the merger
agreement, a copy of which is attached to this document as Appendix A. We encourage you to read that agreement carefully.

Partiesto the Merger

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. (page 48)
Bank of the Ozarks

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc., an Arkansas corporation, is the parent bank holding company for Bank of the Ozarks, an Arkansas state
banking corporation. As of March 31, 2013, Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. had consolidated total assets of approximately $3.95 hillion, total
deposits of approximately $2.99 billion and total common stockholders' equity of approximately $524 million.

The principal executive office of Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. islocated at 17901 Chenal Parkway, Little Rock, Arkansas 72223, and the
telephone number is (501) 978-2265.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby (page 48)

The First National Bank of Shelby isanational banking association headquartered in Shelby, North Carolina. As of March 31, 2013, FNB
had consolidated total assets of approximately $716 million, total deposits of approximately $608 million and total common stockholders
equity of approximately $85.8 million.

FNB'’s principal executive officeislocated at 106 South L afayette Street, Shelby, North Carolina 28150, and the tel ephone number is
(704) 484-6200.

What FNB Shareholderswill receivein the Merger (page 48)

The aggregate purchase price for the merger, which we also refer to as the aggregate or total “merger consideration,” is $64,000,000,
subject to possible price adjustments as provided in the merger agreement. Y ou should read “ Purchase Price Adjustments” on page 49 of this
proxy statement/prospectus for amore complete
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description of the possible price adjustments to the aggregate purchase price. The merger agreement provides that each share of FNB
common stock (other than treasury shares, shares owned by the Company or by any person who has perfected dissenters' rightswith
respect to shares of FNB common stock) will be converted on the closing date of the merger into the right to receive the merger consideration.
The merger consideration, for each share of FNB common stock, is equal to:

* anumber of shares of Company common stock egual to (i) $160.00, subject to certain adjustments, divided by (ii) the average
closing price of Company common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on the fifth business day preceding the
closing date of the merger, plus cash in lieu of any fractional share; or

+  cashinan amount equal to $160.00, subject to certain adjustments.

Subject to the proration procedures described below, as aholder of FNB common stock, for each share of FNB common stock that you
own, you may elect to receive the stock consideration described above or the cash consideration described above. Y ou will not receive any
fractional shares of Company common stock in connection with the merger. Instead, you will be paid cash in an amount egqual to the fraction
of ashare of Company common stock otherwise issuable upon conversion, multiplied by the average closing price per share of Company
common stock, determined as indicated above. Additionally, if you wholly or partially elect to receive stock consideration and your election
would result in the delivery of less than ten (10) whole shares of Company common stock, then in accordance with the merger agreement, you
will not receive any stock consideration and will instead receive cash consideration in exchange for all of your shares of FNB common stock.

After the mailing of this proxy statement/prospectus, an election form and letter of transmittal will be mailed or otherwise delivered to
you by the exchange agent. The election form and letter of transmittal will allow you to elect the number of your shares of FNB common stock
that will be exchanged for Company common stock and the number of your shares of FNB common stock that will be exchanged for cash. In
order to make a proper election, you must complete the election form and letter of transmittal and return it, along with your certificate of FNB
common stock, to the exchange agent by the date indicated in the election form. Failure to properly complete or timely return the election form
and letter of transmittal will result in your shares of FNB common stock being deemed non-el ection shares, with the effect that the exchange
agent will alocate the mix of Company common stock and cash constituting the merger consideration to you in accordance with the allocation
procedures in the merger agreement.

Whether you will be entitled to receive cash or Company common stock in exchange for each of your FNB shareswill be determined
initially based on your election. Notwithstanding the election you make, however, pursuant to the minimum stock consideration requirement
in the merger agreement the total consideration to be paid by the Company to all FNB shareholders, considered in the aggregate, must consist
of at least 51% in shares of Company common stock and no more than 49% in cash. If the el ections made by all FNB shareholders considered
in the aggregate would result in at least 51% of the total merger consideration being paid in Company common stock, then you would receive
the exact form of consideration you elect to receive. On the other hand, if the elections made by all FNB shareholders would result in an
oversubscription for cash, then the exchange agent will prorate the amount of stock and cash to beissued in the merger to each FNB
sharehol der as necessary to meet the minimum stock consideration requirement. In that case, you may receive a combination of shares of
Company common stock and cash for your FNB shares that is different from the amount you elected, depending on the el ections made by
other FNB shareholders. The allocation of the mix of consideration payable to FNB shareholderswill not be finally determined until the
exchange agent, Bank of the Ozarks Trust and Wealth Management Division, tallies the results of the stock and cash el ections made by FNB
shareholders, which will not occur until near the time of or promptly following the closing of the merger.
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Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger (page 78)

The Company and FNB will not be required to complete the merger unless the Company and FNB have each received alegal opinion to
the effect that the merger will qualify as atax-free reorganization for United States federal income tax purposes. The opinionswill not bind the
Internal Revenue Service, which could take adifferent view.

We expect that, for United States federal income tax purposes, you generally will not recognize any gain or loss with respect to the
exchange of your shares of FNB common stock for the stock consideration in the merger. Y ou will, however, have to recognize gainin
connection with any cash consideration received in the merger and any cash received in lieu of afractional share interest in Company
common stock.

Y ou should read “Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger” starting on page 78 for amore complete
discussion of the federal income tax consequences of the merger. Tax matters can be complicated and the tax consequences of the merger to
you will depend on your particular tax situation. Y ou should consult your tax advisor to fully understand the tax consequences of the merger
toyou.

FNB’sBoard of Directors Unanimously Recommends Shareholder Approval of the Merger Agreement (page 56)

After careful consideration, the board of directors of FNB unanimously approved the merger agreement. The board of directors of FNB
believes that the merger and the merger agreement are fair to and in the best interests of FNB and its shareholders, and unanimously
recommends that you vote “FOR” approval of the merger agreement.

The board of directors of FNB recognizes that the merger consideration is approximately one-third | ess than the current tangible book
value per share of FNB common stock. However, the board determined that the proposed merger with the Company is neverthelessin the
best interests of FNB’s sharehol ders because, among other things, the merger consideration is approximately two and a half times the recent
average trading price of FNB’s common stock. Further, in light of FNB’s current earnings per share and its projected earnings per share for
the next several years as a stand-al one entity, FNB anticipates ongoing challenges to an improved earnings stream until nonperforming loans
are either remediated or effectively mitigated by profitable loan growth in FNB’s current markets or through expansion into new markets. The
current economy creates an intensely competitive banking environment and the board expects minimal improvement in the economy and in
FNB'’s current markets for the foreseeable future. Consequently, the potential for FNB to prosper as a stand-alone entity and to contend with
stronger banks, as competitors consolidate, is diminished. In the short term, to restore FNB to a satisfactory level of profitability and reinstate
dividendsto shareholders, the board believes the bank’s infrastructure could be downsized to reduce expenses, but this option potentially
jeopardizes FNB’s long-term viability to thrive and succeed. The board compared the prospects of FNB as a stand-alone entity with the value
that FNB shareholders would receiveif they elected to take shares of the Company’s common stock and partner with alarger, high-
performing financial institution with a compatible corporate culture, and the board concluded that the consideration offered in connection
with the merger better maximizes the long-term val ue of shareholders’ investment and isin the best interests of FNB's shareholders.

Opinion of FNB’s Financial Advisor (page 60 and Appendix B)

In connection with the merger, the board of directors of FNB received the written opinion of Sandler O’'Neill & Partners, L.P. (which we
refer to as” Sandler O’'Neill”), the financial advisor to FNB, asto the fairness, from afinancial point of view, of the consideration to be
received in the merger by holders of FNB common stock. The full text of the opinion of Sandler O’ Neill dated January 24, 2013, isincluded in
this document as Appendix B. FNB encourages you to read this opinion carefully inits entirety for a description of the procedures followed,
assumptions made, matters considered and limitations of the review undertaken by Sandler O’ Neill. The opinion of Sandler O’'Neill isdirected
to the board of directors of FNB and does not constitute a recommendation to you or any other shareholder asto how to vote with respect to
the merger
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agreement or any other matter relating to the proposed transaction. Sandler O’ Neill will receive afee of 1.5% of the aggregate merger
consideration for its services, including rendering the fairness opinion, in connection with the merger, a significant portion of whichis
contingent upon consummation of the merger.

Special Meseting of Shareholdersof FNB (page 45)

FNB will hold a special meeting of its shareholders on , 2013, at 10:00 a.m., eastern time, at 106 South L afayette Street, Shelby,
North Carolina 28150. At the special meeting of shareholders, you will be asked to vote to approve the merger agreement.

Y ou may vote at the special meeting of shareholdersif you owned shares of FNB common stock at the close of business on the record
date, , 2013. On that date, there were 400,000 shares of FNB common stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting
of shareholders. Y ou may cast one vote for each share of FNB common stock you owned on the record date.

Even if you expect to attend the special meeting of shareholders, FNB recommends that you promptly complete and return your proxy
card in the enclosed return envel ope.

Shareholder Vote Required (page 46)

Approval of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the shares of FNB common stock
outstanding and entitled to vote at the special meeting. Because the required vote is based upon the outstanding shares of FNB common
stock, afailureto vote or avoteto “ABSTAIN” will have the same effect as a vote against the merger. As of the record date, the directors,
officers, and other affiliates of FNB beneficially owned an aggregate of 180,640 shares of FNB common stock entitled to vote at the special
meeting of shareholders. This represents approximately 45.16% of the total votes entitled to be cast at the special meeting of shareholders. Of
this number, certain directors, officers and other affiliates of FNB, collectively representing an aggregate of 175,140 shares, or approximately
43.79% of the outstanding FNB common stock, have agreed, solely in their capacity as record and/or beneficial owners of FNB common
stock, to vote “FOR” adoption of the merger agreement. See “ Conflicts of Interest,” below.

Approval of any proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary, for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies,
requires the affirmative vote of the holders of amajority of shares of FNB common stock that are voted, either in person or by proxy, at the
special meeting.

Conflictsof Interest (page 46)

An aggregate of 169,634 shares, or approximately 42.41% of the outstanding FNB common stock, is owned of record by FNB inits
capacity as (i) trustee of anumber of family or private trusts established by the settlors of such trusts over anumber of years for the benefit
of certain FNB shareholders, and maintained by FNB as trustee in the ordinary course of business or (ii) executor of various estates that
beneficially own shares of FNB common stock. Under North Carolinalaw, by which law most of the trusts and estates are governed, FNB may
be deemed to have a conflict of interest with respect to the voting of shares of FNB common stock held by such trusts and estates with
regard to the merger, and action taken by FNB in voting such shares of FNB common stock may be voidable at the instance of a beneficiary
of any such trusts or estates unless certain specified conditions are met. FNB has taken and expects to take action to satisfy such conditions
by obtaining the requisite written direction or, where appropriate, permission from certain beneficiaries or settlors of the trusts who are
directors, officers or other affiliates of FNB, to vote the FNB shares at the meeting in accordance with voting agreements executed by such
persons, or where permitted by the terms of the trusts, to authorize such beneficiaries to vote the shares on behalf of the trusts at the
meeting. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, the requisite directions or permissions have been obtained with respect to

shares held by such trusts, or approximately % of the outstanding shares of FNB
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common stock. Although FNB expects to seek direction, permission or other requisite authority with respect to all or substantially all of the
remaining shares of FNB common stock held by it astrustee or executor prior to the shareholders' meeting, there can be no assurance
that such consents or authority will be obtained with respect to each such trust or estate prior to the shareholders' meeting, in which case
FNB plans to abstain from voting FNB shares at the shareholders’ meeting held under any such trust or estate.

Dissenters' Rightsof Appraisal (page 82 and Appendix C)

If you are aFNB shareholder and you follow the procedures prescribed by the National Bank Act and the OCC, you may dissent from
the merger and receive the fair value of your shares of FNB common stock as determined pursuant to those procedures. To perfect your
dissenters' rights, you must precisely follow the procedures specified in the National Bank Act at 12 U.S.C. § 214a and the Comptroller's
Licensing Manual, which are summarized herein and the relevant portions of which have been excerpted and included as Appendix C to this
proxy statement/prospectus.

In order to receive payment as a dissenting sharehol der, you must (i) either vote against the merger or, at or prior to the FNB
shareholder meeting, provide written notice to FNB of your dissent to the merger; and (ii) within thirty (30) days of the consummation of the
merger, make awritten demand for payment of the fair value of your shares from Bank of the Ozarks. Y our failure to vote against, or provide
notice of dissent to, the merger and to make awritten demand for payment of fair value within the thirty (30) days following consummation of
the merger will result in you being bound by the terms of the merger, and your shares of FNB common stock will be converted into the right to
receive the merger consideration.

The value of dissenting shares will be determined, as of the date of the meeting at which shareholders of FNB approve the merger, by a
committee of three appraisers, one selected by the holders of a mgjority of the dissenting shares, one selected by the Company and the third
selected by the other two appraisers. If you are a dissenting shareholder and the value determined is unsatisfactory to you, you may appeal
to the OCC, within five (5) days of being notified of the value set by the appraisers, for areappraisal, which shall be final and binding. If no
appraisal is made within ninety (90) days of the consummation of the merger, the OCC shall, upon the written request of any interested party,
make afinal and binding appraisal.

If you comply with the dissenters' rights requirements, the fair value of your FNB shares, determined in the manner described above,
and which may be more or less than the value of the merger consideration you would receive in the merger if you do not dissent, will be paid
to you in cash. This cash payment will be fully taxable to you.

Interests of FNB Officersand Directorsin the Merger (page 70)

In considering the recommendation of the board of directors of FNB to approve the merger, you should be aware that certain of the
executive officers and directors of FNB have financial interestsin the merger that arein addition to their interests as FNB shareholders. Asa
condition to the closing of the merger, Helen A. Jeffords, President and Chief Executive Officer of FNB, will enter into an employment
agreement with Bank of the Ozarks (the “ Jeffords Employment Agreement”). Pursuant to the Jeffords Employment Agreement, Ms. Jeffords
will continue her employment with Bank of the Ozarks as an executive officer of its Shelby Division, for atwo-year term with an annual base
salary of $285,000, which isequal to her current base salary, and she will be eligible to participate in all Bank of the Ozarks insurance and
benefit plans. In addition, Ms. Jeffords will receive reimbursement of business expenses, including travel, cellular phone, duesfor one
country club membership, a car allowance of $500 per month, taxes owed under FNB’ s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, and
reasonable marketing and client development expenses.

Asacondition to the closing of the merger, all of the directors of FNB will enter into non-competition agreements with Bank of the
Ozarks (the “ Non-Competition Agreements’). Pursuant to the Non-Competition
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Agreements, in exchange for alump sum payment of $10,000, each of the directors of FNB will agree for the twelve (12) month period
following the closing of the merger not to (i) disclose any confidential information pertaining to the business or operations of FNB, (ii) solicit
any employee of FNB or the Company for employment, or (iii) engage in business that competes with the Company within afifteen (15) mile
radius of any banking office operated by FNB on the date of the closing of the merger.

Asacondition to the closing of the merger, Helen A. Jeffords, Carol A. Wood, Thomas L. Weaver, Eric E. Mclntire, and LisaP. Alvino,
all officers of FNB, will enter into retention agreements with Bank of the Ozarks (the “ Retention Agreements”). Pursuant to the Retention
Agreements, Bank of the Ozarkswill pay each of the officers aretention bonus to induce such officers to maintain continuous full-time
employment with Bank of the Ozarks after the closing and to assist in Bank of the Ozarks' integration of FNB'’s computer, information and
telecommunications systems. The amount of the retention bonuseswill equal each officer’s current annual salary, asfollows:

Helen A. Jeffords $285,000
Carol A. Wood $ 95,000
ThomasL. Weaver $ 95,000
Eric E. Mclntire $170,000
LisaP. Alvino $ 82,500

The retention bonuses will be payable in two equal installments, the first of which will be paid upon the closing of the merger, and the
second of which will be paid upon the earlier of 30 days following completion of the conversion and integration of the computer, information
and telecommunications systems or seven (7) months after the closing of the merger, provided that the individual remains employed by Bank
of the Ozarks at that time. The forms of the Jeffords Employment Agreement, the Non-Competition Agreements and the Retention
Agreements areincluded as Exhibits A, B, and C, respectively, to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, which isincluded as Appendix A to this
proxy statement/prospectus.

Additionally, officers and directors of FNB currently are covered by liability insurance for certain acts and omissionsin their capacity as
officers and/or directors of FNB. Thisinsurance coverage will be continued by the Company for a period of time after the merger for acts and
omissions of such personsin their capacity as officers and/or directors of FNB occurring before the merger.

Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger (page 75)

To complete the merger, the parties must receive the prior approvals of the Federal Reserve Board (“FRB”) (unless waived), the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) and the Arkansas State Bank Department. The U.S. Department of Justiceis also able to provide
input into the approval process of federal banking agencies and will have between 15 and 30 days following any approval of afederal banking
agency to challenge the approval on antitrust grounds. Applications for such banking agency approvals were filed on behalf of the parties
with the FDIC and the Arkansas State Bank Department on February 26, 2013, and awaiver of the requirement for approval by the FRB was
submitted on March 19, 2013. The applications for approval of the merger were approved by the FDIC on April 9, 2013 and by the Arkansas
State Bank Department on April 18, 2013. The requirement to submit an application to the FRB was waived on March 29, 2013.

Conditionstothe Merger (page 74)
Completion of the merger depends on anumber of conditions being satisfied or waived, including the following:

* Holders of atwo-thirds mgjority of the outstanding shares of common stock of FNB must have approved the merger agreement
and the merger;
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« al regulatory approvals and consents must have been obtained, any necessary approvals shall not contain a material adverse
non-standard term or condition, and all waiting periods required by law must have expired or been terminated; and

*  certain other conditions customary for agreements of this sort, such as the accuracy of representations and warranties subject to
the materiality standards set forth in the merger agreement, the compliancein all material respects by the partieswith their
obligations under the merger agreement, and the non-existence of amaterial adverse effect (as such term is defined in the merger
agreement).

We cannot be certain when, or if, the conditions to the merger will be satisfied or waived or whether or not the merger will be completed.

No Solicitation (page 76)

FNB has agreed, subject to certain limited exceptions, not to initiate discussions with another party regarding a business combination
with such other party while the merger with the Company is pending.

Termination of the Merger Agreement (page 77)

The Company and FNB may mutually agree at any time to terminate the merger agreement without compl eting the merger, even if the
FNB shareholders have approved it. Also, either party may decide, without the consent of the other party, to terminate the merger agreement
before closing under specified circumstances, including if the merger is not consummated by August 31, 2013, if the required regulatory
approvals are not received or if the other party breaches its representations, warranties or covenants in the merger agreement in amaterial
respect and such breach cannot be or has not been cured within the applicable cure period.

Termination Fee (page 78)

If the merger isterminated by the Company after FNB has breached its non-solicitation covenant, or the board of directors of FNB has
withdrawn its recommendation to approve the merger or has recommended for approval a different business combination, based on an
acquisition proposal by athird party that the FNB directors have determined to be a superior proposal, FNB will be required to pay a
termination fee to the Company equal to 4% of the total purchase price calculated in accordance with the merger agreement.

Additionally, if the merger isterminated by the Company due to a material uncured breach by FNB of its representations, warranties or
covenants under the merger agreement other than the non-solicitation covenant described in the immediately preceding paragraph, FNB will
be required to pay to the Company $500,000 as liquidated damages.

FNB agreed to the termination fee and liquidated damages arrangements in order to induce the Company to enter into the merger
agreement. The termination fee requirement may discourage other companies from trying or proposing to combine with FNB before the merger
is completed.

Real Estate Purchase Agreement (page 78)

Four of the bank branches operated by FNB are owned or controlled by affiliates of FNB and leased to FNB. In connection with the
merger, Bank of the Ozarks has agreed to purchase the bank branches from those affiliated entities for an aggregate purchase price of
$3,792,000, which purchase priceisin addition to the total merger consideration. It is presently anticipated that the closing of thereal estate
purchase will occur contemporaneously with the closing of the merger.
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Differencesin Rights of Shareholders (page 83)

Therights of FNB sharehol ders after the merger who continue as shareholders of the Company will be governed by Arkansas law. After
the merger is compl eted, the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the Company, rather than the articles of association and bylaws of FNB,
will govern your rights as ashareholder. Material differences between the rights of shareholders of FNB and sharehol ders of the Company
include the process for amending charter documents, determining the size of the board of directors, the process for removing directors,
limitations of director liability, indemnification of officers, directors and employees, the ability of a shareholder(s) to call aspecial meeting of
shareholders or act by written consent, shareholder proposal and advance notice requirements, rights to examine corporate books and
records, and limitations on the right to receive dividends. The different shareholder rights are explained more fully in “ Comparison of
Shareholders' Rights” on page 83.
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BANK OF THE OZARKS, INC.
SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents selected consolidated financial information and other financial datafor the Company. The datafor the years
ended December 31, 2008 through 2012 has been derived from the audited financial statements of the Company. Operating results for any historical
period are not necessarily indicative of the results that might be expected for the full year of 2013 or any other future period.

Income statement data:
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Provision for loan and lease losses
Non-interest income
Non-interest expense
Preferred stock dividends
Net income available to common stockholders
Common share and per common share data: (1)
Earnings — diluted
Book value
Dividends
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding (thousands)
End of period shares outstanding (thousands)
Balance sheet data at period end:
Total assets
Loans and |eases
Purchased non-covered loans
Covered loans
Allowance for loan and |ease losses
FDIC loss share receivable
Covered foreclosed assets
Investment securities
Deposits
Repurchase agreements with customers
Other borrowings
Subordinated debentures
Preferred stock, net of unamortized discount
Total common stockholders’ equity
Loan and lease, including covered loans and purchased non-covered loans,
to deposit ratio
Average balance sheet data:
Total average assets
Total average common stockholders' equity
Average common equity to average assets
Performance ratios:
Return on average assets*
Return on average common stockholders' equity*
Net interest margin — FTE*
Efficiency ratio
Common stock dividend payout ratio*
Asset quality ratios:
Net charge-offs to average loans and leases* (2)
Nonperforming loans and leases to total loans and leases (3)
Nonperforming assets to total assets (3)
Allowance for loan and lease losses as a per centage of:
Total loans and leases (3)
Nonperforming loans and leases (3)
Capital ratios at period end:
Tier 1 leverage
Tier 1 risk-based capital
Total risk-based capital

(1) Adjusted to give effect to 2-for-1 stock split effective August 16, 2011.
(2) Excludes covered loans and net charge-offs related to such loans.

Unaudited
Three Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

(Dallars in thousands, except per share amounts)

$ 48769 $ 49943 ¢$ 195946 $ 199,169 $ 157,972 $ 165908 $ 183,003

4,630 6,110 21,600 30,435 34,337 47,585 84,302
44,139 43,833 174,346 168,734 123,635 118,323 98,701
2,728 3,076 11,745 11,775 16,000 44,800 19,025
16,357 13,810 62,860 117,083 70,322 51,051 19,349
29,231 28,607 114,462 122,531 87,419 68,632 54,398
— — — — — 6,276 227
20,000 18,009 77,044 101,321 64,001 36,826 34,474
$ 056 $ 052 $ 221 $ 294 % 18 % 109 $ 1.02
14.81 12.81 14.39 12.32 9.39 7.96 7.48
0.15 0.11 0.50 0.37 0.30 0.26 0.25
35,631 34,826 34,888 34,482 34,090 33,800 33,748
35,367 34,571 35,272 34,464 34,107 33,810 33,728

$3,951,818  $3,837,382  $4,040,207  $3,841,651  $3,273,271  $2,770,811  $3,233,303
2,157,771 1,889,756 2,115,834 1,880,483 1,851,113 1,904,104 2,021,199

38,071 3,400 41,534 4,799 5,316 - -
544,268 755,761 596,239 806,922 489,468 — —
38,422 38,632 38,738 39,169 40,230 39,619 29,512
132,699 239,724 152,198 279,045 158,137 — —
51,040 71,950 52,951 72,907 31,145 - -
487,648 434,197 494,266 438,910 398,698 506,678 944,783
2,991,072 2,927,062 3,101,055 2,943,919 2,540,753 2,028,994 2,341,414
30,714 43,686 29,550 32,810 43,324 44,269 46,864
280,756 280,786 280,763 301,847 282,139 342,553 424,947
64,950 64,950 64,950 64,950 64,950 64,950 64,950
- - - - - - 71,880
523,679 442,646 507,664 424,551 320,355 269,028 252,302
91.61% 90.50% 88.80% 91.45% 92.33% 93.84% 86.32%

$3,929,638  $3,801,610  $3,779,831  $3,755291  $2,998,850  $3,002,121  $3,017,707

514,378 432,536 458,595 374,664 296,035 267,768 213,271
13.09% 11.38% 12.13% 9.98% 9.87% 8.92% 7.07%
2.06% 1.91% 2.04% 2.70% 2.13% 1.23% 1.14%
15.77 16.75 16.80 27.04 21.62 13.75 16.16
5.83 5.98 591 5.84 5.18 4.80 3.96
46.76 47.73 46.58 41.56 42.86 37.84 42.32
26.46 21.05 22.44 12.50 15.89 23.84 24.42
0.19% 0.44% 0.30% 0.69% 0.81% 1.75% 0.45%
0.40 0.60 0.43 0.70 0.75 1.24 0.76
0.50 0.76 0.57 117 172 3.06 0.81
1.78% 2.04% 1.83% 2.08% 2.17% 2.08% 1.46%
449% 339% 425% 297% 289% 168% 192%
14.45% 12.75% 14.40% 12.06% 11.88% 11.39% 11.64%
18.23 18.54 18.11 17.67 16.13 13.78 14.21
19.47 19.79 19.36 18.93 17.39 15.03 15.36

(3) Excludes purchased non-covered loans, covered by loans and covered foreclosed assets, except for their inclusion in total assets.
*

Amounts for interim periods are annualized.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents selected consolidated financial information and other financial datafor FNB. The datafor the years ended
December 31, 2008 through 2012 has been derived from the audited financial statements of FNB. Operating results for any historical period are not

necessarily indicative of the results that might be expected for the full year of 2013 or any other future period.

Income statement data:
Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Provision for loan and lease losses
Non-interest income (l0ss)
Non-interest expense
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders
Common share and per common share data:
Earnings (loss) — diluted
Book value
Dividends
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding (thousands)
End of period shares outstanding (thousands)
Balance sheet data at period end:
Total assets
Loans and |eases
Allowance for loan and lease losses
Investment securities
Deposits
Intangible assets
Repurchase agreements
Other borrowings
Total common stockholders’ equity
Loan and lease to deposit ratio
Average balance sheet data:
Total average assets
Total average common stockholders' equity
Average common equity to average assets
Performance ratios:
Return on average assets*
Return on average common stockholders' equity*
Net interest margin — FTE*
Efficiency ratio
Common stock dividend payout ratio
Asset quality ratios:
Net charge-offs to average loans and |eases*
Nonperforming loans and leases to total loans and leases
Nonperforming assets to total assets
Allowance for loan and lease losses as a per centage of:
Total loans and leases
Nonperforming loans and |eases
Capital ratios at period end:
Tier 1 leverage
Tier 1 risk-based capital
Total risk-based capital

* Amounts for interim periods are annualized.

Unaudited Three

Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(Dallars in thousands, except per share amounts)
$ 6,471 $ 9811 $ 34,592 $ 41,120 $ 47,336 $ 52,651 $ 57,413
1,710 2,905 10,695 13,512 18,463 22,630 27,589
4,761 6,906 23,897 27,608 28,873 30,021 29,824
(780) 1,735 8,233 13,368 16,350 8,680 6,150
1,799 1,854 6,722 7,419 7,941 9,563 (18,579)
16,122 5,588 22,375 22,435 29,688 24,788 22,256
(8,782) 1,002 (3,414) 247 (7,946) 4,513 (9,433)
$ (21.96) $ 251 $ (854) $ 062 $ (19.86) $ 1128 $ (23.58)
214.61 253.40 238.80 251.02 248.47 262.49 255.06
— — — — 1.60 6.40 6.40
400 400 400 400 400 400 400
400 400 400 400 400 400 400
$716,313 $889,175 $853,808 $898,380 $ 995,403 $1,040,094 $987,213
466,933 509,491 474,436 518,235 560,709 578,106 576,980
14,810 17,439 15,314 17,439 16,763 11,145 7,703
168,788 307,563 183,362 321,612 347,372 371,721 335,390
608,192 659,922 641,376 666,356 715,653 703,236 629,041
— — — — — 6,035 6,035
— 42,500 42,500 42,500 80,000 80,000 80,000
21,081 82,531 71,736 86,110 97,191 147,328 170,994
85,846 101,358 95,518 100,406 99,388 104,997 102,025
76.77% 77.20% 73.97% 71.77% 78.35% 82.21% 91.72%
$776,597 $900,882 $878,866 $956,787 $1,053,551 $1,041,544 $989,007
89,738 101,831 101,701 101,036 108,662 106,674 114,495
11.56% 11.30% 11.57% 10.56% 10.31% 10.24% 11.57%
(4.59)% 0.45% (0.39)% 0.03% (0.75)% 0.43% (0.95)%
(39.69) 3.96 (3.36) 0.24 (7.31) 4.23 (8.24)
2.64 3.32 2.93 311 2.98 3.15 3.32
245.76 63.79 73.08 64.05 80.64 62.62 197.92
— — — — (8.06) 56.74 (27.14)
(0.06)% 0.34% 2.11% 2.36% 1.86% 0.90% 0.93%
9.17 8.19 10.03 8.58 7.70 3.02 1.09
6.44 5.09 6.00 5.59 4.70 2.06 0.88
3.17% 3.42% 3.23% 3.37% 2.99% 1.93% 1.34%
35% 42% 32% 39% 39% 64% 123%
10.35% 10.54% 10.41% 10.30% 9.17% 9.67% 9.78%
16.58 14.98 17.95 14.46 13.16 13.55 14.25
17.85 16.25 19.22 15.73 14.41 14.79 15.35
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following unaudited pro forma combined consolidated financial information is based upon the assumptions that (i) there will be no
adjustment to the total purchase price of $64,000,000, (ii) that the total number of shares of FNB common stock immediately prior to the completion
of the merger will be 400,000, (iii) that the FNB Stock Price (as such term is defined in the merger agreement) will be $160.00
(i.e., $64,000,000/400,000), and (iv) that 51% of the outstanding shares of FNB (204,000) will be converted into the right to receive the stock
consideration and 49% of the outstanding shares of FNB (196,000 shares) will be converted into the right to receive the cash consideration.

Additionally, the following pro formafinancial information assumes that the 10-day average closing price of Company common stock on the
fifth business day prior to the closing of the merger is $43.18 (which was the average closing price of Company common stock for the ten
consecutive trading days ended on May 21, 2013, the last practicable trading day before the date of this proxy statement/prospectus).
Accordingly, applying the assumptions listed above, each share of FNB common stock for which an election is made to receive the stock
consideration will be converted into the right to receive 3.705 shares of Company common stock ($160.00/$43.18) plus cash in lieu of any fractional
shares, resulting in an aggregate of approximately 755,905 shares of Company common stock to be issued in connection with the merger.

The following unaudited pro forma combined consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2012 combine the historical consolidated financial statements of the Company and FNB. The unaudited pro
forma combined consolidated financial statements give effect to the proposed merger asif the merger occurred on March 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 with respect to the pro forma combined consolidated balance sheets, and on January 1, 2013 and 2012, with respect to the pro
forma combined consolidated income statements.

The notes to the unaudited pro forma combined consolidated financial statements describe the pro formaamounts and adjustments
presented below. THIS PRO FORMA DATA ISNOT NECESSARILY INDICATIVE OF THE OPERATING RESULTS THAT THE COMPANY
WOULD HAVE ACHIEVED HAD IT COMPLETED THE MERGER AS OF THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIODS PRESENTED AND SHOULD NOT
BE CONSIDERED AS REPRESENTATIVE OF FUTURE OPERATIONS.

The unaudited pro forma combined consolidated financial information presented below is based on, and should be read together with, the
historical financial information that the Company and FNB have included in or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus as of
and for the indicated periods.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Consolidated Balance Sheet
Asof March 31, 2013

Assets
Cash and due from banks

Federal funds sold and interest earning deposits

Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities available for sale
Loans and | eases, including purchased non-covered |oans
L oans covered by FDIC loss share agreements
Allowance for loan and |ease | osses

Net loans
FDIC loss sharereceivable
Premises and equipment, net

Foreclosed assets not covered by FDIC |oss share agreements
Foreclosed assets covered by FDIC | oss share agreements
Accrued interest receivable

Bank owned life insurance

Goodwill

Other intangible assets, net

Other, net

Total assets

Liabilitiesand Stockholders Equity
Deposits:
Demand non-interest bearing
Savings and interest bearing transaction
Time
Total deposits
Repurchase agreements
Other borrowings
Subordinated debentures
FDIC clawback payable
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (l10ss)

Total stockholders' equity before noncontrolling interest

Noncontrolling interest
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

TheFirst
Bank of the National Bank
Ozarks, Inc. of Shelby Pro forma
Historical Historical Adjustments
(Dallars in thousands)
$ 160,699 $ 13811 $ (31,360) (a)
(3,792) (b)
1,876 33,749
162,575 47,560 (35,152)
487,648 168,788
2,195,842 466,933 (51,761) (c)
544,268 —
(38,422) (14,810) 14,810 (d)
2,701,688 452,123 (36,951)
132,699 —
227,458 14,596 3,792 (b)
(2,207) ()
11,290 3,330 (850) (c)
51,040 —
12,785 1,640
124,928 15,036
5,243 — 2,19 (f)
6,015 — 10,282 (9)
28,449 13,240 19,893 (h)
$3,951,818 $ 716313 $ (38,997)
$ 588,841 $ 111345 $ —
1,653,886 238,337
748,345 258,510 10,796 (i)
2,991,072 608,192 10,796
30,714 — — ()
280,756 21,081 — )
64,950 —
25,384 —
31,810 1,194 3,413 (k)
3,424,686 630,467 14,209
354 4,000 (4,000) (1)
8 (a)
76,102 8,000 (8,000) (1)
32,632 (a)
438,194 75,485 (75,485) ()
9,029 (1,639) 1,639 (1)
523,679 85,846 (53,206)
3,453 —
527,132 85,846 (53,206)
$3,951,818 $ 716313 $ (38,997)

Pro forma
Combined

$ 139,358

35,625
174,983
656,436

2,611,014
544,268
(38,422)

3,116,860
132,699
243,639

13,770
51,040
14,425
139,964
7,439
16,297
61,582

$4,629,134

$ 700,186
1,892,223
1,017,651
3,610,060

30,714
301,837
64,950
25,384
36,417
4,069,362

362
108,734

438,194
9,029

556,319
3,453

559,772
$4,629,134



Table of Contents

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Consolidated Balance Sheet
Asof December 31, 2012

Assets
Cash and due from banks

Federal funds sold and interest earning deposits

Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities available for sale
L oans and | eases, including purchased non-covered |oans
L oans covered by FDIC loss share agreements
Allowance for loan and |ease | osses

Net loans
FDIC loss sharereceivable
Premises and equipment, net

Foreclosed assets not covered by FDIC |oss share agreements
Foreclosed assets covered by FDIC | oss share agreements
Accrued interest receivable

Bank owned life insurance

Goodwill

Other intangible assets, net

Other, net

Total assets

Liabilitiesand Stockholders Equity
Deposits:
Demand non-interest bearing
Savings and interest bearing transaction
Time
Total deposits
Repurchase agreements
Other borrowings
Subordinated debentures
FDIC clawback payable
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss)

Total stockholders' equity before noncontrolling interest
Noncontrolling interest

Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

18

TheFirst
Bank of the National Bank
Ozarks, Inc. of Shelby Pro forma
Historical Historical Adjustments
(Dallars in thousands)
$ 206,500 $ 17681 $ (31,360) (a)
(3,792) (b)
1,467 144,099
207,967 161,780 (35,152)
494,266 183,362
2,157,368 474,436 (51,761) (c)
596,239 —
(38,739) (15,314) 15,314 (d)
2,714,869 459,122 (36,447)
152,198 —
225,754 14,789 3,792 (b)
(2,207) ()
13,924 3,641 (850) (c)
52,951 —
13,201 1,834
123,846 15,430
5,243 — 2,151 (f)
6,584 = 10,282 (g)
29,404 13,850 20,221 (h)
$4,040,207 $ 853808 $ (38,210)
$ 578,528 $ 108,607 $ —
1,741,678 255,255
780,849 277,514 10,796 (i)
3,101,055 641,376 10,796
29,550 42,500 5,415 (j)
280,763 71,736 5,044 (j)
64,950 —
25,169 —
27,614 2,678 3,413 (k)
3,529,101 758,290 24,668
353 4,000 (4,000) (1)
8 (a)
73,043 8,000 (8,000) (1)
32,632 (a)
423,485 84,267 (84,267) ()
10,783 (749) 749 (1)
507,664 95,518 (62,878)
3,442 —
511,106 95,518 (62,878)
$4,040,207 $ 8533808 $ (38,210)

Pro forma
Combined

$ 189,029

145,566
334,595
677,628

2,580,043
596,239
(38,738)

3,137,544
152,198
242,128

16,715
52,951
15,035
139,276
7,394
16,866
63,475

$4,855,805

$ 687,135
1,996,933
1,069,159
3,753,227

77,465
357,543
64,950
25,169
33,705

4,312,059
361
105,675

423,485
10,783
540,304
3,442
543,746
$4,855,805
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Consolidated | ncome Statement
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2013

The First
Bank of the National Bank
Ozarks, Inc. of Shelby Pro forma
Historical Historical Adjustments

(Dallars in thousands)
I nterest income:

L oans and leases, including purchased non-covered loans $ 30,869 $ 5,783 $ 1412 (m)
Covered loans 12,864 — —
Investment securities:
Taxable 1,285 614 —
Tax-exempt 3,744 — —
Other 7 74 —
Total interest income 48,769 6,471 1,412
Interest expense:
Deposits 1,546 1,324 (1,088) (n)
Repurchase agreements 7 150 (230) ()
Other borrowings 2,649 236 (152) (s)
Subordinated debentures 428 — —
Total interest expense 4,630 1,710 (1,370)
Net interest income 44,139 4,761 2,782
Provision for loan and |ease losses 2,728 (780) —
Net interest income after provision 41,411 5,541 2,782
Non-interest income:
Service charges on deposit accounts 4,722 758 —
Mortgage lending income 1,741 186 —
Trust income 883 326 —
Bank owned life insurance income 1,083 74 —
Accretion of FDIC loss share payable, net of amortization of
FDIC clawback payable 2,392 — —
Other income from loss share and purchased non-covered
|oans, net 2,155 — —
Net gains on investment securities 156 — —
Gains on sales of other assets 1,974 56 —
Other 1,251 399 —
Total non-interest income 16,357 1,799 —
Non-interest expense:
Salaries and employee benefits 15,694 2,757 —
Net occupancy and equipment 4,514 768 (83) (p)
Other operating expenses 9,023 12,597 367 (0)
Total non-interest expenses 29,231 16,122 284
Income (loss) before taxes 28,537 (8,782) 2,498
Provision for income taxes 8,526 — 966 (0)
Net income (l0ss) 20,011 (8,782) 1,532
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest (11) — —
Net income (loss) available to common
stockholders $ 20,000 $ (8782 $ 1532
Basic earnings (loss) per common share:
Earnings (loss) per share $ 057 $ (21.96)
Weighted average shares outstanding 35,322 400
Diluted ear nings (loss) per common share:
Earnings (loss) per share $ 056 $  (2L96)
Weighted average shares outstanding 35,631 400

19

Pro forma
Combined

$ 38,064
12,864

1,899
3,744
81

56,652

1,782
27
2,733
428
4,970
51,682
1,948
49,734

5,480
1,927
1,209
1,157

2,392

2,155
156
2,030
1,650
18,156

18,451
5,199
21,987
45,637
22,253
9,492

$ 035
36,078

$ 035
36,387
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Consolidated | ncome Statement

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

I nterest income:
L oans and |eases
Covered loans
I nvestment securities:
Taxable
Tax-exempt
Other
Total interest income

Interest expense:
Deposits
Repurchase agreements
Other borrowings
Subordinated debentures

Total interest expense

Net interest income
Provision for loan and | ease | osses

Net interest income after provision

Non-interest income:

Service charges on deposit accounts

Mortgage lending income

Trust income

Bank owned life insurance income

Accretion of FDIC loss share payable, net of amortization of
FDIC clawback payable

Other income from loss share and purchased non-covered loans,
net

Net gains (losses) on investment securities

Gains (losses) on sales of other assets

Gain on merger and acquisition transaction

Other

Total non-interest income

Non-interest expense:
Salaries and employee benefits
Net occupancy and equipment
Other operating expenses

Total non-interest expenses

Income before taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net income (loss)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income (loss) available to common stockholders

Basic ear nings (loss) per common share:
Earnings (l0ss) per share
Weighted average shares outstanding
Diluted ear nings (loss) per common share:
Earnings (10ss) per share
Weighted average shares outstanding

20

Bank of the
Ozarks, Inc.
Historical

$

115,362
61,820

2,949
15,807
8

195,946

8,982
47
10,723
1,848

21,600

174,346
11,745

162,601

19,400
5,584
3,455
2,767

7,375

10,645
457
6,809
2,403
3,965

62,860

59,028
15,793
39,641

114,462

110,999

33,935

77,064

(20

77,044

$ 77044

$

$

2.22
34,637

221
34,888

TheFirst

National Bank
of Shelby Pro forma
Historical Adjustments

(Dallars in thousands)

$ 25671 $ 5648(m)
8,010 —
728 —
183 —
34,592 5,648
6,528 (4,352) ()
1,831 (1,261) (1)
2,336 (1,819) (3)
10,695 (7,432)
23,897 13,080
8,233 —
15,664 13,080
3,395 —
1,372 —
1,317 —
378 —
(677) —
(451) —
1,388 —
6,722 —
11,455 —
3,113 (331) (p)
7,807 1,469 (0)
22,375 1,138
11 11,942
3,425 4,619 (q)
(3.414) 7,323
$ (3414 $ 732
$ (854
400
$  (854)
400

Pro forma
Combined

$146,681
61,820

10,959
16,535
191

236,186

11,158
617
11,240
1,848
24,863
211,323
19,978

191,345

22,795
6,956
4,772
3,145

7,375

10,645
(220)
6,358
2,403
5,353
69,582

70,483
18,575
48,917
137,975
122,952
41,979
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Notesto Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Consolidated Financial Statements
Asof and for the Year Ended December 31, 2012 and
Asof and for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2013

This represents the estimated merger consideration of $64.0 million, consisting of 51% common stock of the Company and 49% cash. Itis
assumed that 755,905 shares of the Company’s $0.01 par value common stock are issued based on the average closing price of $43.18 per
share for the ten consecutive trading days ending May 21, 2013, determined in accordance with the merger agreement. The following tableis
asensitivity analysis of the potential merger consideration based on changes in the price of the Company’s common stock for purposes of
determining the exchange ratio for thistransaction and based on changes in the mix of merger consideration between stock and cash.

51% Stock / 49% Cash 75% Stock / 25% Cash 100% Stock / 0% Cash

Changein

Average Average No. Approximate No. Approximate No. Approximate

Closing Closing sharesto Transaction sharesto Transaction sharesto Transaction
Price Price be | ssued Value be | ssued Value be | ssued Value
40% $ 60.45 738,461 (1) $ 76,000,000 1,085,972 (1) $ 81,650,000 1,447,963 (1) $ 87,530,000
30% $ 56.13 738,461 (1) $ 72,810,000 1,085,972 (1) $ 76,960,000 1,447,963 (1) $ 81,270,000
20% $ 51.82 738,461 (1) $ 69,630,000 1,085,972 (1) $ 72,280,000 1,447,963 (1) $ 75,030,000
10% $ 47.50 738,461 (1) $ 66,440,000 1,085,972 (1) $ 67,580,000 1,447,963 (1) $ 68,780,000
0% $ 43.18 755,905 $ 64,000,000 1,111,625 $ 64,000,000 1,482,167 $ 64,000,000
-10% $ 38.86 839,938 $ 64,000,000 1,235,203 $ 64,000,000 1,646,937 $ 64,000,000
-20% $ 3454 944,991 $ 64,000,000 1,389,693 $ 64,000,000 1,852,924 $ 64,000,000
-30% $ 30.23 1,079,722 $ 64,000,000 1,587,826 $ 64,000,000 2,117,102 $ 64,000,000
-40% $ 2591 1,208,888 (1) $ 62,680,000 1,777,777 (1) $ 62,060,000 2,370,370 (1) $ 61,420,000

(1) Themerger agreement stipulates aminimum average closing price of $27.00 per share and a maximum average closing price of $44.20
per share to be used for purposes of cal culating the exchange ratio. Accordingly, to the extent the average closing price of the
Company’s stock exceeds $44.20 per share, the total transaction value will increase. Conversely, to the extent the average closing price
of the Company’s stock price islessthan $27.00 per share, the total transaction value will decrease.

This represents the purchase price of certain real property that is being purchased from parties related to FNB and on which certain FNB
offices are | ocated.

This adjustment represents the Company’s estimate of the necessary writedown of FNB'’s loan portfolio and its foreclosed assets to
estimated fair value as part of the purchase accounting adjustments. The estimated purchase accounting adjustment for FNB’sloan portfolio
is comprised of approximately $40.1 million of non-accretable credit adjustments and approximately $11.7 million of accretable interest rate
adjustments. The estimated purchase accounting adjustment for FNB’s foreclosed assets consists entirely of non-accretabl e adjustments.
Subsequent to the completion of the merger, the Company will finalize its determination of the fair values of the acquired loans and the
acquired foreclosed assets which could significantly change both the amount and the composition of these estimated purchase accounting
adjustments. The weighted-average remaining maturity of this acquired loan portfolio is approximately 4.2 years.

This adjustment represents the elimination of FNB’s allowance for loan losses as part of the purchase accounting adjustments.

This adjustment represents the estimated fair val ue adjustments of FNB's premises and equipment, including the estimated writedown of
certain leasehold improvements. Prior to the completion of the merger, the Company will obtain independent third party appraisals of al
significant premises and equipment owned by FNB. Such appraisals could result in further adjustments to the carrying values of FNB’s
premises and equipment.
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This adjustment represents the estimated purchase price allocation for FNB and is calculated as follows:

Assuming the Transaction Closed on

December 31, March 31,
2012 2013
(In thousands)
Total purchase price $ 64,000 $ 64,000
Less: FNB equity at book value (95,518) (85,846)
Elimination of allowance for loan losses (15,314) (14,810)
Current and deferred taxes and other assets (20,221) (19,893)
Transaction costs and contract buyouts 3,413 3,413
Allocated to:
L oans and forecl osed assets 52,611 52,611
Coredeposit intangible (10,282) (10,282)
Premises and equipment 2,207 2,207
Time deposits 10,796 10,796
Structured repurchase agreements 5,415 — (see Note (j) below)
Federal Home L oan Bank of Atlanta advances and
related interest rate swap agreements 5,044 — (see Note (j) below)
Goodwill $ 2,151 $ 2,196

This adjustment represents the Company’s estimate of the core deposit intangible asset to be recorded as part of the purchase accounting
adjustments. The actual amount of such core deposit intangible asset will be determined at the completion of the merger and will be valued
by an independent third party.

This adjustment includes $20.0 million at March 31, 2013 and $20.4 million at December 31, 2012 of current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities recorded to reflect the differencesin the carrying values of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the cost basis for federal income tax purposes. This adjustment also includes $0.2 million at both March 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 of adjustments to other miscellaneous assets. For purposes of these pro forma adjustments, the Company has not
recorded approximately $4.3 million at March 31, 2013 and approximately $4.4 million at December 31, 2012 of deferred tax assets related to net
operating loss carryforwards of FNB as the Company believes portions of such carryforwards will expire before they can be realized.

This adjustment represents the estimated write-up of FNB’stime deposits to reflect a current market rate of interest.

This adjustment represents the prepayment penalty of approximately $5.4 million associated with the prepayment of approximately $42.5
million of structured repurchase agreements (“ structured repos”), the prepayment penalty of approximately $5.1 million associated with the
prepayment of approximately $61.5 million of Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB - Atlanta”) advances and the unwind of all interest
rate swap agreements with anotional value of $34 million. These prepayment penalties and fees were obtained from the counterparties with
respect to the structured repos and the interest rate swap agreements and from the FHLB - Atlantawith respect to the FHLB - Atlanta
advances. At December 31, 2012, the weighted-average remaining maturities of the structured reposis approximately 3.9 years, the weighted-
average remaining maturities of the FHLB-Atlanta advancesis approximately 2.6 years and the wei ghted-average remaining maturities of the
interest rate swap agreementsis approximately 1.9 years. The carrying value of short-term borrowings of FNB of approximately $21.1 million
at March 31, 2013 and $10.2 million at December 31, 2012 approximates their fair value. During the first quarter of 2013, FNB repaid these
structured repos and the FHL B - Atlanta advances and unwound the interest rate swap agreements, incurring aggregate prepayment
penalty/unwind fees totaling approximately $10.5 million. Accordingly, no purchase accounting adjustment isincluded in the March 31, 2013
combined consolidated pro forma balance sheet for these liabilities.
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Thisrepresents the accrual of certain costs and contract buyouts expected to be incurred in connection with the merger. The details of such
costs and contract buyouts at both March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 are as follows (in thousands):

Retention agreements and non-compete agreements payabl e to certain executives of FNB and the FNB board of directors $ 605
Financial advisor fee payableto Sandler O’ Neill 960
Estimated contract termination costs of FNB core systems 1,000
Estimated attorneys and accountants fees 500
Other transaction costs 348

Total costs $3,413

This adjustment represents the elimination of the historical equity of FNB as part of the purchase price adjustment.

Upon the the completion of the merger, the Company will evaluate the acquired loan portfolio to finalize the necessary credit and interest rate
fair value adjustments. Subsequently, the interest rate portion of the fair value adjustment will be accreted into earnings as an adjustment to
theyield of such acquired loans. This adjustment represents the Company’s best estimate of the expected accretion that would have been
recorded in 2012 and in the first quarter of 2013 assuming the merger closed on January 1, 2012 and January 1, 2013, respectively. The
remaining estimated accretion adjustments are approximately $3.1 million in year 2, approximately $1.4 million in year 3, approximately $0.5
million in year 4, approximately $0.3 million in year 5 and approximately $0.7 million thereafter. Subsequent to the closing of the transaction,
the amount and timing of the estimated accretion of this purchase accounting adjustment could be revised significantly.

Upon the the compl etion of the merger, the Company will evaluate the acquired time deposits to finalize the necessary fair value adjustment
to reflect current interest rate for comparable deposits. Thisfair value adjustment will then be accreted into earnings as areduction of the
cost of such time deposits. This adjustment represents the Company’s best estimate of the expected accretion that would have been
recorded in 2012 and in the first quarter of 2013 assuming the merger closed on January 1, 2012 and January 1, 2013, respectively. The
remaining estimated accretion adjustments are approximately $3.6 million in year 2, approximately $1.9 million in year 3, approximately $0.6
million in year 4, and approximately $0.3 million in year 5. Subsequent to the closing of the transaction, the amount and timing of the
estimated accretion of this purchase accounting adjustment could be revised significantly.

This represents the expected amortization during 2012 and the first quarter of 2013 of the core deposit intangible asset expected to be
acquired in the merger, assuming the transaction closed on January 1, 2012 and January 1, 2013, respectively. The estimated useful life of this
intangible asset is estimated to be seven years.

This adjustment represents the decrease in depreciation and amortization expense associated with the fair value adjustments, including the
write-off of certain leasehold improvements, described in Note (€), and the decrease to |ease expense related to the purchase of certain real
property currently leased by FNB, as described in Note (b), during 2012 and the first quarter of 2013, assuming the transaction closed on
January 1, 2012 and January 1, 2013, respectively. The estimated remaining useful life of the acquired premises and equipment ranges from 3
to 40 years. Prior to the closing of the transaction, the Company will obtain independent third party appraisals of all significant premises and
equipment owned by FNB and will allocate the purchase price accordingly. Such allocation islikely to result in further adjustment of
depreciation and amortization expense for these assets.

This represents income tax expense on the pro forma adjustments at the Company’s statutory federal and state income tax rate of 38.68%.
This adjustment represents the estimated amount of accretion of the purchase accounting adjustment on the structured repos that would
have been recorded as areduction of interest expense in 2012 and the first quarter of 2013 assuming the transaction closed on January 1,
2012 and January 1, 2013, respectively. The remaining estimated accretion adjustments are approximately $1.0 million in year 2, approximately
$1.0 million in year 3, approximately $0.9 million in year 4, approximately $0.9 million in year 5 and approximately $0.3 million thereafter. During
thefirst quarter of 2013, as described in Note (j), these structured repos were repaid by FNB.

This adjustment represents the estimated amount of accretion of the purchase accounting adjustment on the FHLB - Atlanta advances and
the related interest rate swap agreements that would have been recorded as areduction of interest expense in 2012 and the first quarter of
2013. The remaining estimated accretion adjustments are approximately $1.6 million in year 2, approximately $0.8 millioninyear 3,
approximately $0.7 million in year 4 and approximately $0.1 millionin year 5. As described in Note (j), these FHLB - Atlanta advances were
repaid and the related interest rate swap agreements were unwound by FNB during the first quarter of 2013.

23



Table of Contents

COMPARATIVE PER SHARE DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table sets forth for Company common stock and FNB common stock certain historical, pro formaand pro forma equivalent per
share financial information. The pro formaand pro formaequivalent per share information gives effect to the merger asif the transaction had been
effective on the dates presented, in the case of book value data, and asif the transaction had been effective on January 1 of the periods presented,
in the case of the income and dividend data. The pro formainformation in the table assumes that the merger is accounted for under the purchase
method of accounting. The information in the following table is based on the historical financial statements of each of FNB and the Company, and
should be read together with the historical financial information that the Company has presented in prior filings with the SEC. With respect to the
Company, see “Where Y ou Can Find More Information” beginning on page 229.

The pro formafinancial information is not necessarily indicative of results that would have occurred had the merger been completed on the
datesindicated or that may be obtained in the future.

As of and
As of and For the Twelve
For the Three Months
Months Ended Ended
March 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Net Income (L oss) Per Common Share:
Historical:
Company
Basic $ 0.57 $ 2.22
Diluted 0.56 221
FNB
Basic $ (21.96) $ (8.54)
Diluted (21.96) (8.54)
Pro forma combined (1)
Basic $ 0.35 $ 2.29
Diluted 0.35 2.27
Equivaent Pro Forma FNB (2)
Basic $ 1.30 $ 8.48
Diluted 1.30 841
Dividends Declared Per Common Share:
Historical:
Company $ 0.15 $ 0.50
FNB — —
Equivalent pro formaamount of FNB (2) 0.56 1.85
Book Value Per Common Share (at period end)
Historical:
Company $ 14.81 $ 14.39
FNB 214.62 238.80
Pro forma combined (1) 15.40 15.00
Equivalent pro formaamount of FNB (2) 57.06 55.58

(1) Proformacombined amounts are cal culated by adding together the historical amounts reported by the Company and FNB, as adjusted for
the estimated purchase accounting adjustments to be recorded in connection with the merger and an estimated 755,905 shares of Company
common stock to be issued in connection with the merger based on the terms of the merger agreement.

(2) Theequivaent pro forma per share datafor FNB is computed by multiplying the pro forma combined amounts by 3.705.
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MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDEND INFORMATION

The Company’s common stock is currently listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (the “Nasdaq Stock Market”) under the symbol
“OZRK.” FNB common stock is not listed on an exchange or quoted on any automated services, and there is no established trading market for

shares of FNB common stock.

Asof March 31, 2013, there were 35,366,824 shares of Company common stock issued and outstanding, which were held by approximately

265 shareholders of record. As of the record date for the special meeting, there were 400,000 shares of FNB common stock outstanding, which were
held by approximately 471 shareholders of record. Such numbers of shareholders do not reflect the number of individuals or institutional investors

holding stock in nominee name through banks, brokerage firms and others.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing sale prices for shares of Company common stock and cash dividends paid per share

for the periods indicated.

2011: First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2012: First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2013 First Quarter
Second Quarter (through May 22, 2013)

Cash

Dividends
Per

High L ow Share
$22.23 $20.96 $ 0085
26.03 22.04 0.09
26.88 19.89 0.095
30.80 20.64 0.10
$31.86 $27.73 $ o011
32.02 28.08 0.12
34.65 29.91 0.13
34.47 31.00 0.14
$44.58 $34.09 $ 015
44.70 39.64 0.17

There isno established public trading market for FNB common stock. FNB common stock is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board under
“FNSE.” Although FNB common stock is quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, the trading markets on the OTC Bulletin Board lack the depth,
liquidity, and orderliness necessary to maintain aliquid market. The OTC Bulletin Board prices are quotations, which reflect inter-dealer prices,
without retail mark-up, markdown or commissions and may not represent actual transactions. The following table sets forth the quarterly reported
high and low bid information as quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board for shares of FNB common stock and cash dividends paid per share for the

periodsindicated.

2011: First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2012: First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

2013 First Quarter
Second Quarter (through May 22, 2013)

Cash Dividends

High L ow Per Share
$ 85.00 $ 79.50 $ —
78.00 73.00 —
76.00 69.00 —
68.00 67.50 —
$ 70.00 $ 65.00 $ —
70.00 64.50 —
69.75 64.30 —
66.50 62.99 —
$150.00 $ 66.00 $ —
155.00 151.00 —

On January 24, 2013, the business day immediately preceding the public announcement of the merger, the closing price of the Company’s

common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Stock Market was $36.50 per share. On
distribution of this proxy statement/prospectus, the closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Stock Market was

$ per share.
25
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in Company common stock in connection with the merger involves risks. The Company describes below the material risks
and uncertaintiesthat it believes are associated with the merger and the Company. You should carefully read and consider all of therisk
factors described below or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus from other SEC documents filed by the Company in
deciding whether to vote for approval of the merger agreement.

Risks Associated with the M erger

Because the Market Price of Company Common Stock Will Fluctuate and as a Result of Other Factors, FNB Shareholders Cannot Be Sure of
the Number of Shares or Exact Value of Shares of Company Common Stock They Will Receive.

Upon compl etion of the merger, each outstanding share of FNB common stock will be converted into the merger consideration consisting of
shares of Company common stock or cash, or amix of shares of Company common stock and cash, as provided in the merger agreement. If an FNB
sharehol der receives only cash as merger consideration, the value of the merger consideration that such FNB shareholder receives will be
independent of any fluctuations in the market price of Company common stock. If an FNB shareholder receives Company common stock as part or
all of the merger consideration, the number of sharesthat such FNB shareholder will receive for each share of FNB common stock will depend on
the average closing price of Company common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on the fifth business day preceding the closing
of the merger. The value of such shares of Company common stock received for each share of FNB common stock will depend on the price per
share of Company common stock at the time the shares are actually received by an FNB shareholder. The closing price of Company common stock
on the date that the shareholder actually receives the shares of such stock after the merger is completed and the average closing price over the ten
consecutive trading days ending on the fifth business day preceding the closing of the merger may vary from each other, aswell as from the
closing price of Company common stock on the date that the Company and FNB announced the merger, on the date that this proxy
statement/prospectus is being mailed to FNB shareholders, and on the date of the special meeting of FNB shareholders. Stock price changes may
result from avariety of factors, including general market and economic conditions, changes in the Company’ s business, operations and prospects,
and regulatory considerations, among other things. Many of these factors are beyond the control of the Company. Accordingly, at the time of the
special meeting of FNB shareholders, because of the above timing differences FNB shareholders will not be able to calculate the number of shares
of Company common stock they may receive upon completion of the merger or the exact value of Company common stock they may receive upon
completion of the merger.

The Amount of Merger Consideration May Decrease Following the Shareholder Meeting.

Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, the aggregate merger consideration of $64,000,000 is subject to a possible downward
adjustment if FNB's closing consolidated net book value is less than $96,000,000 as of the end of the month prior to the closing of the merger.
FNB'’s closing consolidated net book value will be calculated as FNB'’s unaudited consolidated net tangible shareholders’ equity determined in
accordance with GAAP, except that the following amounts will be added back to the closing consolidated net book value before determining
whether a purchase price adjustment is required: (i) the amount of any deferred tax asset valuation allowance; (ii) the amount of prepayment
penalties or unwind costs on prepayment of any advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB-Atlanta”) and certain structured
repurchase agreements and derivative transactions, net of any tax benefit recorded on FNB’sfinancial statementsin connection with such
prepayment penalties or unwind costs; and (iii) the amount of any other accruals, reserves or provisions, expenses or charges taken or incurred by
FNB that the Company and FNB agree are appropriate under the circumstances. As of April 30, 2013, although FNB’s unaudited consolidated net
tangible shareholders’ eguity was $87,424,952, the “ added back” items described in (i) and (ii) in the preceding sentence aggregated
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approximately $14 million at such date. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, FNB’s consolidated net book value, calculated in
accordance with the above formula, continues to exceed $96,000,000, and if the closing of the merger were to occur on the date of this proxy
statement/prospectus, no adjustment to the purchase price would be made based on this cal culation. The calculation date for the closing
consolidated net book value may occur subsequent to the date of the FNB special meeting of shareholders. Accordingly, if FNB shareholders
approve the merger, the aggregate merger consideration to be received by the FNB shareholders could be less than $64,000,000.

Apart from the possible adjustments summarized in the preceding paragraph, the value of the aggregate merger consideration could also be
higher or lower than $64,000,000, depending on whether the average closing price of Company common stock to be used in determining the
exchangeratio is higher than $44.20 per share, in which case FNB shareholders receiving Company stock as part or all of the merger consideration
would receive more shares than they otherwise would (without an offsetting decrease in any cash consideration they may receive in the merger) if
there were no cap on the average closing price used in determining the exchange ratio. Conversely, if the average stock price of Company common
stock is lower than $27.00 per share, FNB sharehol ders receiving Company stock as part or all of the merger consideration would receive fewer
shares than they otherwise would (without any offsetting increase in any cash consideration they may receive in the merger) if there were no floor
on the average closing price used in determining the exchangeratio.

The Form or Mix of Merger Consideration FNB Shareholders Ultimately Receive Could Be Different From the Form or Mix Elected
Depending on the Form or Mix of Merger Consideration Elected by Other FNB Shareholders.

If the merger agreement is approved by FNB shareholders, all shareholders will be permitted to make an election as to the form of
consideration, whether in cash, Company common stock or amix of such cash and stock, they wish to receive. Because of the minimum stock
consideration requirement, the exchange agent may be required, in accordance with the allocation provisions set forth in the merger agreement, to
adjust the form of consideration that an individual FNB shareholder will receive in order to ensure that no more than 49% of the aggregate merger
consideration to be paid by the Company to FNB shareholders will be paid in cash.

Consequently, if the cash consideration is over-subscribed, FNB shareholders could receive a different form of consideration from the form
they elect, which could result in different tax consequences than they had anticipated (including the recognition of gain for federal income tax
purposes with respect to the cash received). If FNB shareholders do not make an election, upon surrender of their FNB shares they will receive the
merger consideration following the effective time of the merger, in an allocated amount of cash, shares of Company common stock, or a
combination of the two, as provided for in the merger agreement. If an FNB shareholder makes an election but transfers record ownership of his or
her shares before the completion of the merger, those shares will be treated asif no election had been made with respect to them, unless the new
record owner makes a new election prior to the election deadline.

The Merger With FNB May Distract Management of the Company From Its Other Responsibilities.

The acquisition of FNB could cause the management of the Company to focusits time and energies on matters related to the acquisition that
otherwise would be directed to the business and operations of the Company. Any such distraction on the part of management, if significant, could
affect its ability to service existing business and devel op new business and adversely affect the business and earnings of the Company.

FNB Shareholders Will Have Less I nfluence As Shareholders of the Company Than As Shareholders of FNB.

FNB shareholders currently have the right to vote in the el ection of the board of directors of FNB and on other matters affecting FNB. When
the merger occurs, each shareholder that receives shares of Company common stock will become a shareholder of the Company with a percentage
ownership of the combined organization much smaller
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than such shareholder’s percentage ownership of FNB. Assuming that shareholders of FNB elect to receive the minimum amount of required stock
consideration upon completion of the merger and assuming the 10-day average closing price of Company common stock ending on the fifth
business day prior to the closing of the merger is $43.18 (which was the average closing price of Company common stock for the ten consecutive
trading days ended on May 21, 2013, the last practicable trading day before the date of this proxy statement/prospectus), it is currently expected
that the former shareholders of FNB as agroup will receive sharesin the merger constituting approximately 2.1% of the outstanding shares of
Company common stock immediately after the merger. Because of this, FNB shareholders will have less influence on the management and policies
of the Company than they may now have on the management and policies of FNB.

Certain Officersand Directors of FNB Have I nterestsin the Merger Different From the I nterests of Non-director or Non-management
Shareholders.

Some of the officers and directors of FNB haveinterestsin the merger that are in addition to their interests as sharehol ders of FNB generally.
These interests include the Jeffords Employment Agreement, the Non-Competition Agreements, the Retention Agreements, indemnification
provisions contained in the Agreement and Plan of Merger, and the Company’s purchase of an officers' and directors' liability insurance policy for
alimited time (at current levels) following the merger. Although the members of the respective boards of directors of each of the Company and
FNB knew about these additional interests and considered them when they considered and approved the merger agreement and the merger, you
should be aware of them. See“ Approval of the Merger — Interests of Certain Executive Officers and Directorsin the Merger” on page 70.

The Fairness Opinion Obtained by FNB From Its Financial Advisor Will Not Reflect Changesin Circumstances Between the Date of the
Merger Agreement and the Completion of the Merger.

The fairness opinion obtained by FNB from Sandler O’ Neill, FNB’s financial advisor, isdated January 24, 2013. Management of the Company
isnot aware of any material changes in the Company’s operations or performance since the delivery of the opinion or that are anticipated to occur
before the special meeting takes place or by the time the merger is completed. Management of FNB is not aware of any material changesin FNB’s
operations or performance, or in any of the projections or assumptions upon which Sandler O’'Neill based its opinion, since the delivery of the
opinion or that are anticipated to occur before the special meeting takes place or by the time the merger is completed. FNB has not obtained an
updated fairness opinion as of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus from Sandler O’ Neill. Changesin the operations and prospects of FNB
or the Company, general market and economic conditions and other factors that may be beyond the control of FNB and the Company, and on
which the fairness opinion was based, may alter the value of FNB or the Company or the prices of shares of FNB common stock or the Company
common stock by the time the special meeting takes place or by the time the merger is completed. The opinion does not speak as of the time the
merger will be completed or as of any date other than the date of such opinion. Because FNB does not anticipate asking its financial advisor to
update its opinion, the January 24, 2013 opinion does not address the fairness of the merger consideration, from afinancia point of view, at the
time the merger is completed. A copy of the opinion isincluded as Appendix B to this proxy statement/prospectus. For a description of the opinion
that FNB received from itsfinancial advisor, pleaserefer to “ Approval of the Merger — Opinion of FNB’s Financial Advisor” on page 60. For a
description of the other factors considered by the FNB board of directorsin determining to approve the merger, pleaserefer to “ Approval of the
Merger — FNB’s Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of the FNB Board of Directors’ on page 56.

The Tax Consequences of the Merger to a FNB Shareholder Will Depend Upon the Merger Consideration Received.

The tax consequences of the merger to an FNB shareholder will depend upon the merger consideration that the shareholder receives. An
FNB shareholder generally will not recognize any gain or loss on the conversion of shares of FNB common stock solely into shares of Company
common stock. However, an FNB shareholder
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generally will be taxed if the shareholder receives cash in exchange for shares of FNB common stock or for any fractional share of Company
common stock. For adetailed discussion of the tax consequences of the merger to FNB shareholders generally, see“ Approval of the Merger —
Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger” on page 78. Each FNB shareholder should consult his, her or its own tax
advisors asto the effect of the merger as applicable to the FNB shareholder’s particular circumstances.

The Merger is Subject to the Receipt of Consents and Approvals from Government Entities that May | mpose Conditions that Could Have an
Adverse Effect on the Company.

Before the merger may be completed, various approvals or consents must be obtained from various federal and state governmental entities.
These governmental entities may impose conditions on the completion of the merger or require changes to the terms of the merger. Although the
Company and FNB do not currently expect that any such conditions or changes would be imposed, there can be no assurance that they will not
be, and such conditions or changes could have the effect of delaying completion of the merger or imposing additional costs on or limiting the
revenues of the Company following the merger, any of which might have a material adverse effect on the Company following the merger. The
Company is not obligated to complete the merger if the regulatory approvals received in connection with the completion of the merger impose
certain burdensome conditions on FNB or the Company, as described more fully in “ Approval of the Merger — Regulatory Approvals Required for
the Merger” on page 75.

The Merger Will Not Be Completed Unless | mportant Conditions are Satisfied.

Specified conditions set forth in the merger agreement must be satisfied or waived to complete the merger. If the conditions are not satisfied
or waived, to the extent permitted by law or stock exchange rules, the merger will not occur or will be delayed and each of the Company and FNB
may lose some or all of the intended benefits of the merger. The following conditions, in addition to other closing conditions, must be satisfied or,
if permissible, waived before the Company and FNB are obligated to complete the merger:

* theapproval of the merger agreement and merger by the requisite vote of the shareholders of FNB;
* thereceipt of all material regulatory approvals required for consummation of the merger;
* theabsence of any order by acourt or regulatory authority that enjoins or prohibits the merger;

* theregistration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectusis a part shall be effective under the Securities Act, and no stop
order shall have been issued or proceedings for that purpose shall have been initiated or threatened by the SEC; and

* the Company and FNB shall have received the opinions of Kutak Rock LLP and Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP,
respectively, that the merger will be treated as a“ reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Internal Revenue Code
(“Code”).

Termination of the Merger Agreement Could Negatively | mpact FNB.

If the merger agreement is terminated before closing there may be various consequences. For example, FNB'’s business may have been
impacted adversely by the failure to pursue other beneficial opportunities due to the focus of management on the merger, without realizing any of
the anticipated benefits of completing the merger. Also, FNB will have incurred substantial expensesin connection with the proposed merger
without realizing the benefits of the merger. If the merger agreement is terminated and FNB’s board of directors seeks another merger or business
combination, FNB shareholders cannot be certain that FNB will be able to find a party willing to pay the equivalent or greater consideration than
that which the Company has agreed to pay in the merger. In addition, if the merger agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, FNB may
be required to pay the Company atermination fee or liquidated damages. See “ Approval of the Merger — Effect of Termination” on page 78.
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FNB Will Be Subject to Business Uncertainties and Contractual Restrictions Whilethe Merger is Pending.

Uncertainty about the effect of the merger on employees and customers may have an adverse effect on FNB. These uncertainties may impair
FNB'’s ability to attract, retain and motivate strategic personnel until the merger is consummated, and could cause customers and others that deal
with FNB to seek to change existing business relationships with FNB. Experienced employeesin the financial servicesindustry are in high demand,
and competition for their talents can be intense. Employees of FNB may experience uncertainty about their future role with the surviving
corporation until, or even after, strategies with regard to the combined company are announced or executed. If strategic FNB employees depart
because of issues relating to the uncertainty and difficulty of integration or adesire not to remain with the surviving corporation, FNB’s business
following the merger could be harmed. In addition, the merger agreement restricts FNB from making certain acquisitions and taking other specified
actions until the merger occurs, unlessit has the consent of the Company. These restrictions may prevent FNB from pursuing attractive business
opportunities that may arise prior to the completion of the merger. See “ Approval of the Merger — Conduct of Business Pending the Merger” on

page 72.

Risks Related to the Company’s Business

The Company's Profitability is Dependent on its Banking Activities.

Because the Company is a bank holding company, its profitability is directly attributable to the success of Bank of the Ozarks. The
Company’s banking activities compete with other banking institutions on the basis of service, convenience and price. Duein part to both
regulatory changes and consumer demands, banks have experienced increased competition from other entities offering similar products and
services. The Company relies on the profitability of Bank of the Ozarks and dividends received from Bank of the Ozarks for payment of its
operating expenses, satisfaction of its obligations and payment of dividends. (See Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements contained in
the Company’s 2012 Annua Report on Form 10-K). Asisthe case with other similarly situated financial institutions, the profitability of Bank of the
Ozarks, and therefore the Company, will be subject to the fluctuating cost and availability of funds, changes in the prime lending rate and other
interest rates, changes in economic conditionsin general and, because of the location of its banking offices, changes in economic conditionsin
the Southeastern and South Central United Statesin particular.

The Company Depends on Key Personnel for its Success.

The Company’s operating results and ability to adequately manage its growth and minimize loan and |lease losses are highly dependent on
the services, managerial abilities and performance of its current executive officers and other key personnel. The Company has an experienced
management team that the board of directors believesis capable of managing and growing the Company. The Company does not currently have
employment contracts with its executive officers and key personnel. Losses of or changesin its current executive officers or other key personnel
and their responsibilities may disrupt the Company’s business and could adversely affect the Company’sfinancial condition, results of operations
and liquidity. Additionally, the Company’s ability to retain its current executive officers and other key personnel may be further impacted by
existing and proposed | egislation and regulations affecting the financial servicesindustry. There can be no assurance that the Company will be
successful in retaining its current executive officers or other key personnel.

The Company's Operations are Significantly Affected by | nterest Rate Levels.

The Company’s profitability is dependent to alarge extent on net interest income, which is the difference between interest income earned on
loans, including loans covered by FDIC loss share agreements and purchased non-covered |oans, leases and investment securities and interest
expense paid on deposits, other borrowings and subordinated debentures. The Company is affected by changesin general interest rate levels and
changesin the differential between short-term and long-term interest rates, both of which are beyond its control. Interest rate risk can result from
mismatches between the dollar amount of repricing or maturing assets and liabilities, aswell as from mismatches in the timing and rate at which
assets and liabilities reprice. Although the Company has implemented proceduresit believeswill reduce the potential effects of changesin interest
rates on its results of
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operations, these procedures may not always be successful. In addition, any substantial, unexpected or prolonged change in market interest rates
could adversely affect the Company’sfinancial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

TheFiscal and Monetary Policies of the Federal Government and its Agencies Could Have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company's
Earnings.

The FRB regulates the supply of money and credit in the United States. Its policies determine in large part the cost of funds for lending and
investing and the return earned on those loans and investments, both of which may affect net interest income and net interest margin. Changesin
the supply of money and credit can also materially decrease the value of financial assets held by the Company, such as debt securities. The FRB’s
policies can also adversely affect borrowers, potentially increasing the risk that they may fail to repay their loans and |eases. Changesin such
policies are beyond the Company’s control and difficult to predict; consequently, the impact of these changes on the Company’s activities and
results of operationsisdifficult to predict.

The Company’'s Business Depends on the Condition of the Local and Regional Economies Where it Operates.

A majority of the Company’s businessislocated in Arkansas, Texas and, to alesser extent, Georgia and other southeastern states. Asa
result, the Company’s financial condition and results of operations may be significantly impacted by changesin the Arkansas, Texas and Georgia
economies as well as the economies of other southeastern states. Slowdown in economic activity, deterioration in housing markets or increasesin
unemployment and under-employment in these areas may have a significant and disproportionate impact on consumer and business confidence
and the demand for the Company’s products and services, result in an increase in non-payment of loans and leases and a decrease in collateral
value, and significantly impact the Company’s deposit funding sources. Any of these events could have an adverse impact on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations and liquidity.

The Company's Business May Suffer if There are Significant Declinesin the Value of Real Estate.

The market value of real estate can fluctuate significantly in a short period of time as aresult of market conditionsin the geographic areain
which thereal estate islocated. There continuesto be alack of sustained improvement in economic activity and housing markets and elevated
levels of unemployment and under-employment in many of the Company’s markets, resulting in depressed prices and excess inventories of
residential and other propertiesto be sold in these markets. If the value of the real estate serving as collateral for the Company’s loan and lease
portfolio were to decline materially, asignificant part of itsloan portfolio could become under-collateralized. If the |loans that are collateralized by
real estate become troubled during atime when market conditions are declining or have declined, the Company may not be able to realize the value
of security anticipated at the time of originating the loan, which in turn could have an adverse effect on the Company’s provision for loan and
lease losses and its financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Most of the Company’s foreclosed assets are comprised of real estate properties. The Company carries these properties at their estimated
fair values less estimated selling costs. While the Company believes the carrying values for such assets are reasonable and appropriately reflect
current market conditions, there can be no assurance that the amount of proceeds realized upon disposition of foreclosed assets will approximate
the carrying value of such assets. If the proceeds are less than the carrying value of foreclosed assets, the Company will record aloss on the
disposition of such assets, which in turn could have an adverse effect on the Company’sfinancial position, results of operations and liquidity.

The Company is Subject to Environmental Liability Risks Associated with Lending Activities.

A significant portion of the Company’sloan and lease portfolio is secured by real property. In the ordinary course of business, the Company
may foreclose on and taketitle to real properties securing certain loans. In doing so, thereisarisk that hazardous or toxic substances could be
found on these properties. If hazardous or
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toxic substances are found, the Company may be liable for remediation costs, aswell asfor personal injury and property damage. Environmental
laws may require the Company to incur substantial expenses and may materially reduce the affected property’s value or limit the Company’s ability
to use or sell the affected property. In addition, future laws or more stringent interpretations or enforcement policies with respect to existing laws
may increase the Company’s exposure to environmental liability. The Company has policies and procedures that require either formal or informal
evaluation of environmental risks and liabilities on real property before originating any loan or foreclosure action, except for (i) loans originated for
salein the secondary market secured by 1-4 family residential properties and (ii) certain loans where the real estate collateral is second lien
collateral. These policies, procedures and eval uations may not be sufficient to detect all potential environmental hazards. The remediation costs
and any other financial liabilities associated with an environmental hazard could have an adverse effect on the Company’sfinancial condition,
results of operations and liquidity.

I f the Company Does Not Properly Manage its Credit Risk, its Business Could be Seriously Harmed.
There are substantial risksinherent in making any loan or lease, including, but not limited to —
* risksresulting from changes in economic and industry conditions;
* risksinherent in dealing with individual borrowers;
*  risksresulting from uncertainties asto the future value of collateral; and
* therisk of non-payment of loans and leases.

Although the Company attempts to minimize its credit risk through prudent loan and lease underwriting procedures and by monitoring
concentrations of itsloans and leases, there can be no assurance that these underwriting and monitoring procedures will reduce these risks.
Moreover, as the Company expandsinto new markets, credit administration and loan and lease underwriting policies and procedures may need to
be adapted to local conditions. The inability of the Company to properly manageits credit risk or appropriately adapt its credit administration and
loan and lease underwriting policies and procedures to local market conditions or changing economic circumstances could have an adverse impact
onitsprovision for loan and lease losses and its financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

The Company Makes and Holdsin its Loan and L ease Portfolio a Significant Number of Construction/Land Development, Non-Farm/Non-
Residential and Other Real Estate Loans.

The Company’s loan and lease portfolio is comprised of a significant amount of real estate loans, including alarge number of
construction/land devel opment and non-farm/non-residential loans. Excluding covered loans and purchased non-covered loans, the Company’s
real estate loans comprised 87.9% of itstotal loans and leases at March 31, 2013. In addition, excluding covered loans and purchased non-covered
loans, the Company’s construction/land devel opment and non-farm/non-residential loans, which are a subset of itsreal estate |oans, comprised
approximately 28.9% and 38.2%, respectively, of the Company’stotal loan and lease portfolio at March 31, 2013. Real estate loans, including
construction/land devel opment and non-farm/non-residential loans, pose different risks than do other types of loan and |lease categories. The
Company believesit has established appropriate underwriting procedures for itsreal estate loans, including construction/land development and
non-farm/non-residential loans, and has established appropriate allowances to cover the credit risks associated with such loans. However, there
can be no assurance that such underwriting procedures are, or will continue to be, appropriate or that |osses on real estate loans, including
construction/land devel opment and non-farm/non-residential loans, will not require additions to the Company’s allowance for loan and lease
losses, and such losses could have an adverse impact on the Company’sfinancial position, results of operations or liquidity.

At March 31, 2013, the principal collateral for approximately 81% of the Company’stotal real estate loans, excluding covered |oans and
purchased non-covered loans, was located in Arkansas, Texas, North Carolinaor South Carolina. Additionally, approximately 79% of the principal
collateral of the Company’s construction/land
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development loans and approximately 75% of the principal collateral of the Company’s non-farm/non-residential loans was located in these four
states.

Upon compl etion of the Company’s pending acquisition of FNB, the Company will acquire asignificant volume of real estate loans, including
construction/land devel opment loans and non-farm/non-residential loans in which the principal collateral islocated in North Carolina. On apro
formabasis, assuming the Company’s acquisition of FNB had been completed on March 31, 2013, and excluding covered loans, the Company’s
total real estate loanswould comprise approximately 88% of total loans and leases, of which approximately 84% of such loans would have their
principal collateral located in Arkansas, Texas, North Carolinaor South Carolina. Additionally, approximately 80% of the principal collateral value
of the construction/land development loans, on apro formabasis, and approximately 79% of non-farm/non-residential loans, on a pro formabasis,
would be located in these four states.

Asaresult of thisrelative concentration of real estate loans, any slowdown in economic activity or deterioration in real estate pricesin any
or some combination of these states or specific geographical areas of these states could have a significant and disproportionate impact on the real
estate values serving as collateral for a substantial portion of the Company’sreal estate |oans, including its construction/land development and
non-farm/non-residential 1oans, which in turn could have an adverse effect on the Company’s provision for loan and lease losses, and its financial
condition, results of operations and liquidity.

The Company Could Experience Deficienciesin its Allowance for Loan and Lease L osses.

The Company maintains an allowance for loan and lease | osses, established through a provision for loan and |ease losses charged to
expense, that represents the Company’ s best estimate of probable losses inherent in the existing loan and lease portfolio. Although the Company
believesthat it maintainsits allowance for loan and lease losses at alevel adequate to absorb lossesin itsloan and lease portfolio, estimates of
loan and lease losses are subjective and their accuracy may depend on the outcome of future events. Experience in the banking industry indicates
that some portion of the Company’sloans and leases may only be partially repaid or may never be repaid at all. Loan and lease losses occur for
many reasons beyond the control of the Company. Accordingly, the Company may be required to make significant and unanticipated increasesin
the allowance for loan and lease losses during future periods which could materially affect the Company’sfinancial position, results of operations
and liquidity. Additionally, bank regulatory authorities, as an integral part of their supervisory functions, periodically review the Company’s
allowance for loan and |lease losses. These regulatory authorities may require adjustments to the allowance for loan and lease |osses or may require
recognition of additional loan and lease |osses or charge-offs based upon their judgment. Any increase in the allowance for loan and |ease losses
or charge-offs required by bank regulatory authorities could have an adverse effect on the Company’sfinancial condition, results of operations
and liquidity.

The Performance of the Company’s I nvestment Securities Portfolio is Subject to Fluctuation Due to Changesin I nterest Rates and Market
Conditions, Including Credit Deterioration of the I ssuers of Individual Securities.

Changesin interest rates can negatively affect the performance of most of the Company’sinvestment securities. Interest rate volatility can
reduce unrealized gains or create unrealized losses in the Company’s portfolio. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factorsincluding
monetary policies, domestic and international economic and political issues, and other factors beyond the Company’s control. Fluctuationsin
interest rates can materially affect both the returns on and market value of the Company’sinvestment securities. Additionally, actual investment
income and cash flows from investment securities that carry prepayment risk, such as mortgage-backed securities and callable securities, may
materially differ from those anticipated at the time of investment or subsequently as aresult of changesin interest rates and market conditions.

The Company’sinvestment securities portfolio consists of anumber of securities whose trading markets are “ not active.” Asaresult,
management has had to develop internal models or other methodol ogies for pricing these securities that include various estimates and
assumptions. There can be no assurance that the Company
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could sell these investment securities at the price derived by the internal model or methodology, or that it could sell these investment securities at
all, which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operation or liquidity.

Many state and local governments and other political subdivisions have experienced deterioration of financial condition in recent years due
to declining tax revenues, increased demand for services and various other factors. As aresult many bondsissued by state and local governments
and other political subdivisions have experienced, and are continuing to experience, pricing pressure. To the extent the Company has securitiesin
its portfolio from issuers who have experienced a deterioration of financial condition, or who may experience future deterioration of financial
condition, the value of such securities may decline and could result in an other-than-temporary impairment charge, which could have an adverse
effect on the Company’sfinancial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

The Company’'s Recent Results May Not Be I ndicative of its Future Results.

The Company may not be able to grow its business at the same rate of growth achieved in recent years or even grow itsbusiness at all.
Additionally, in the future the Company may not have the benefit of several factors that have been favorable to the Company’s businessin past
years, such as an interest rate environment where changes in rates occur at arelatively orderly and modest pace, the ability to find suitable
expansion opportunities, including additional FDIC-assisted or traditional acquisitions, or otherwise to capitalize on opportunities presented by
economic turbulence, or other factors and conditions. Numerous factors, such asweakening or deteriorating economic conditions, regulatory and
legislative considerations, and competition may impede or restrict the Company’s ability to expand its market presence and could adversely impact
its future operating results.

The Company's FDIC Insurance Premiums May | ncrease.

The FDIC hasincreased premiums charged to all financial institutions for FDIC insurance protection during recent years and such premiums
may increase further in future years. The Company has historically paid at or near the lowest applicable premium rate under the FDIC' s insurance
premium rate structure due to the Company’s sound financial position. However, should bank failuresincrease, FDIC insurance premiums may
increase and could have an adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations.

To Successfully Continue its Growth and De Novo Branching Strategy, the Company Must Expand its Operationsin Both New and Existing
Markets.

The Company intends to continue the expansion and devel opment of its business by pursuing its growth and de novo branching strategy.
Accordingly, the Company’s growth prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by
financial institutions pursuing growth strategies. In order to successfully execute its growth strategy, the Company must, among other things:

e identify and expand into suitable markets;

*  obtainregulatory and other approvals;

* identify and acquire suitable sites for new banking offices;

o attract and retain qualified bank management and staff;

*  build asubstantial customer base;

* maintain credit quality;

o attract sufficient deposits to fund anticipated |oan and lease growth; and
*  maintain adequate common equity and regulatory capital.

In addition to the foregoing factors, there are considerable costs involved in opening banking offices, and such new offices generally do not
generate sufficient revenuesto offset their costs until they have beenin
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operation for sometime. Therefore, any new banking offices the Company opens can be expected to negatively affect its operating results until
those offices reach a size at which they become profitable. The Company could also experience an increase in expensesif it encounters delaysin
opening any new banking offices. Moreover, the Company cannot give any assurances that any new banking officesit openswill be successful,
even after they have become established or that the Company can hire and retain qualified bank management and staff to achieve its growth goals.
If the Company does not manage its growth effectively, the Company’s business, future prospects, financial condition, results of operations and
liquidity could be adversely affected.

The Company May Engage in Additional FDI C-Assisted Acquisitions, Which Could Present Additional Risks To Its Business.

Since 2010, the Company has successfully bid on and acquired, with FDIC assistance, substantially all the assets and liabilities of seven
failed financial institutions in the Southeastern United States. The Company continues to evaluate additional FDIC-assisted failed bank acquisition
opportunities asthey arise from time to time, but the timing of these opportunities cannot be predicted by the Company. These acquisitions
involve risks similar to acquiring existing banks even though the FDIC might provide assistance to mitigate certain risks such as sharing in loan
losses and | osses on other covered assets and providing indemnification against certain liabilities of the failed institution. However, because these
acquisitions are for failed banks and are structured in amanner that does not allow the Company the time normally associated with preparing for
and evaluating an acquisition (including preparing for integration of an acquired institution), the Company may face additional risks when it
engagesin FDIC-assisted acquisitions. The assets that the Company acquires in such an acquisition are generally more troubled than in atypical
acquisition. The deposits that the Company assumes are generally higher priced than in atypical acquisition and therefore subject to higher rates
of attrition. Integration of operations may be more difficult in an FDIC-assisted acquisition than in atypical acquisition since key staff may have
departed. Any inability to overcome these risks could have an adverse effect on the Company’s ability to achieve its business objectives and
maintain its market value and profitability.

The FDIC's approach to |oss share has evolved over the last several years asthe FDIC has reduced or, in certain cases, eliminated the
indemnification provided to certain assets, group of assets or loan types. These changesto the indemnification protection increase the risk of loss
to acquiring institutionsin FDIC-assisted acquisitions. There can be no assurance that the FDIC will not further alter the indemnification
protection or other terms of the loss share agreementsin any future transactions, which could further increase the risks to the Company in the
event it engages in any future FDIC-assisted acquisitions.

Moreover, if the Company seeksto participate in additional FDIC-assisted acquisitions, the Company can only participate in the bid process
if it receives approval of bank regulators. There can be no assurance that the Company will be allowed to participate in the bid process, or what the
terms of any such transaction might be or whether the Company would be successful in acquiring any bank or targeted assets. The Company may
be required to raise additional capital asa condition to, or asaresult of, participation in certain FDIC-assisted acquisitions. Any such transactions
and related issuances of stock may have a dilutive effect on earnings per common share and share ownership.

Furthermore, to the extent the Company is allowed to, and chooses to, participate in future FDIC-assisted acquisitions, the Company may
face competition from other financial institutions. To the extent that other competitors participate, the Company’s ability to make acquisitions on
favorable terms may be adversely affected. Additionally, if the Company acquires bank assets and operations through future FDIC-assisted
acquisitions, the Company could encounter difficultiesin achieving profitability of those operations.

Failureto Comply with the Terms of Loss Sharing Arrangementswith the FDIC May Result in Significant L osses.

Any failure to comply with the terms of any loss share agreements Bank of the Ozarks has with the FDIC, or to properly service the loans and
foreclosed assets covered by 10ss share agreements, may cause individual loans, large pools of loans or other covered assetsto lose eligibility for
reimbursement to the Company from the FDIC.
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This could result in material losses that are currently not anticipated and could adversely affect the Company’sfinancial condition, results of
operations or liquidity.

The Company May Engage in Additional Negotiated Transactions, Which May Present Special Risks Associated with I ntegration of
Operations or Undiscovered Risks or L osses Associated with Targeted Banks.

In addition to the Company’s historical growth strategy through de novo branching and FDIC-assisted acquisitions, the Company has
pursued and may pursue additional negotiated transactions, apart from the FNB acquisition, with publicly owned or privately held banking
institutions. Any future negotiated acquisitions the Company might make will be accompanied by the risks commonly encountered in such
acquisitions. These risksinclude, among other things:

o credit risk associated with the acquired bank’ s loans and leases and investments;
« difficulty of integrating operations and personnel; and
*  potential disruption of the Company’s ongoing business.

Competition for suitable acquisition candidates may continue to be significant in the negotiated acquisition area. The Company competes
with other banks or financial service companieswith similar acquisition strategies, many of which are larger and have greater financial and other
resources. The Company cannot give any assurance that it will be able to successfully identify and acquire any additional acquisition targets on
acceptable terms and conditions.

In most cases, negotiated acquisitionsinclude the acquisition of all the target bank’s assets and liabilities, including itsloan and lease
portfolio. While the Company is able to conduct more extensive due diligence investigations regarding any targeted bank in a negotiated
transaction than in an FDIC-assisted transaction, there may be instances after closing of a negotiated transaction when, under normal operating
procedures, the Company may find that there may be more losses or undisclosed liabilities with respect to the assets and liabilities of the target
bank, and, with respect to itsloan and lease portfolio, than were anticipated prior to the acquisition. For example, the ability of a borrower or lessee
to repay aloan or lease may have become impaired or the quality of the value of the collateral securing the loan or lease may fall below the
Company’s collateral standards. One or more of these and other factors affecting asset values or loan and lease |0ss experience might cause the
Company to have additional losses or liabilities or additional charge-offs, which could have a negative impact on the Company’s financial
condition and results of operations.

Systems Conversions of Acquired Banksin FDIC-Assisted Acquisitions or Negotiated Acquisitions May Be Difficult.

Subsequent to the acquisitions of banks acquired in FDIC-assisted transactions or in negotiated acquisitions, the various operating systems
must be converted, in most cases, to the Company’s existing operating systems. These systems conversions require personnel with unique and
specialized skills and require a significant amount of planning, coordination and effort of internal resources and third-party vendors. Any inability
of the Company to hire or retain individual s with the appropriate skills or to effectively plan, coordinate and manage these systems conversions or
any failure to effectively implement these systems conversions could have serious negative customer impact, exposing the Company and Bank of
the Ozarks to reputational risk and adversely impacting the Company’s financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Volatility and Disruptionsin the Functioning of the Financial Markets and Related Liquidity | ssues Could Continue or Worsen.

The U.S. and global financial markets have experienced significant volatility and disruption in recent years. The impact of the recent financial
crisis, together with public concerns regarding the strength of financial institutions, has led to both significant distressin financial markets and
issues relating to liquidity among financial institutions. Asaresult of concerns about the stability of the financial markets generally, the
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constriction in credit, the lack of public confidence in the financial sector, and the generally weak economic conditions, the Company can give no
assurance that such circumstances will not have an adverse effect, which could be material, on its financial condition, results of operation and
liquidity.

The Company Faces Strong Competition in the Marketsin Which it Operates.

Competition in many of the Company’s banking marketsisintense. The Company competes with other financial and bank holding
companies, state and national commercial banks, savings and |oan associations, consumer finance companies, credit unions, securities brokerages,
insurance companies, mortgage banking companies, leasing companies, money market mutual funds, asset-based non-bank lenders and other
financial institutions and intermediaries, aswell as non-financial institutions offering payroll, debit card and other services. Many of these
competitors have an advantage over the Company through substantially greater financial resources, lending limits and larger distribution
networks, and are able to offer abroader range of products and services. Other competitors, many of which are smaller than the Company, are
privately held and thus benefit from greater flexibility in adopting or modifying growth or operational strategies than the Company. If the Company
failsto compete effectively for deposit, loan, |ease and other banking customersin the Company’s markets, the Company could lose substantial
market share, suffer aslower growth rate or no growth, and itsfinancial condition, results of operations and liquidity could be adversely affected.

The Soundness of Other Financial I nstitutions Could Adversely Affect the Company.

The Company’s ability to engage in routine funding transactions could be adversely affected by the actions and financial stability of other
financial institutions. Financial servicesinstitutions are interrelated as aresult of trading, clearing, counterparty or other relationships. The
Company has exposure to various counterparties, including brokers and deal ers, commercial and correspondent banks, and others. Asaresult,
defaults by, or rumors or questions about, one or more financial servicesinstitutions, or the financial servicesindustry generally, may lead to
further market-wide liquidity problems and could lead to losses or defaults by such other institutions. Such occurrences could expose the
Company to credit risk in the event of default of any of its counterparties and could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations and liquidity.

The Company Depends on the Accuracy and Completeness of | nformation About Customers.

In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into certain transactions, the Company relies on information furnished by or on behalf of
customers, including financial statements, credit reports and other financial information. The Company may also rely on representations of those
customers or other third parties, such asindependent auditors, as to the accuracy and completeness of that information. Reliance on inaccurate or
misleading financial statements, credit reports or other financial information could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Reputational Risk and Social Factors May | mpact the Company’s Results.

The Company’s ability to originate and maintain accountsis highly dependent upon consumer and other external perceptions of its business
practices and/or itsfinancial health. Adverse perceptions regarding the Company’s business practices and/or its financial health could damage its
reputation, leading to difficultiesin generating and maintaining accounts aswell asin financing them. Adverse developments with respect to the
consumer or other external perceptions regarding the practices of competitors, or the industry as awhole, may also adversely impact the
Company’s reputation. In addition, adverse reputational impacts on third parties with whom the Company has important relationships may also
adversely impact the Company’s reputation. Adverse impacts on the Company’s reputation, or the reputation of the industry, may also result in
greater regulatory and/or legislative scrutiny, which may lead to laws or regulations that may change or constrain the manner in which the
Company engages with its customers and the products it offers. Adverse reputational impacts or events may also increase litigation risk. Any of
these factors could have an adverse impact on the Company’s ability to achieve its business objectives and/or its results of operations.
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The Company May Be Subject to Claims and Litigation Asserting Lender Liability.

From timeto time, and particularly during periods of economic stress, customers, including real estate developers, may make claims or
otherwise take legal action pertaining to the Company’s performance of its responsibilities. These claims are often referred to as* lender liability”
claims and are sometimes brought in an effort to produce or increase leverage against the Company in workout negotiations or debt collection
proceedings. Lender liability claims frequently assert one or more of the following: breach of fiduciary duties, fraud, economic duress, breach of
contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and similar claims. Whether customer claims and legal action related to the
Company'’s performance of its responsibilities are founded or unfounded, if such claims and legal actions are not resolved in a manner favorable to
the Company, they may result in significant financial liability and/or adversely affect the market perception of the Company and its products and
services aswell asimpact customer demand for those products and services. Any financial liability or reputation damage could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results
of operations.

The Company May Be Subject to General Claimsand Litigation Liability.

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may be named as defendant or may otherwise face claims or legal action, including class
actions, from avariety of sourcesincluding, among others, customers; vendors; regulatory agencies, federal, state or local governments; or
employees. Such claims or legal action may include, among others, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, discrimination, harassment, fraud
and infringement of patents, copyrights or trademarks. Such claims or legal action may also make demands for substantial monetary damages and
require substantial amounts of time and resources to defend. Should the Company be named as defendant or otherwise face such claims or legal
actions, there can be no assurance that the Company would be successful in its defense against such actions, which could have amaterial adverse
impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and liquidity. Additional information related to litigation isincluded in Note 23 to
the Company’s consolidated financial statementsfor the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, in Part I, Item 3 of the Company’s most recent
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on February 28, 2013, and in Part I1, Item 1 of the Company’s most recent quarterly report on Form
10-Q, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2013.

The Company's I nternal Operations are Subject to a Number of Risks.

The Company’sinternal operations are subject to certain risks, including, but not limited to, information system failures and errors, customer
or employee fraud and catastrophic failures resulting from terrorist acts, data piracy or natural disasters. The Company maintains a system of
internal controls and security to mitigate the risks of many of these occurrences and maintains insurance coverage for certain risks. However,
should an event occur that is not prevented or detected by the Company’sinternal controls, and is uninsured or in excess of applicable insurance
limits, it could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

Thefinancial servicesindustry isundergoing rapid technological changes, with frequent introductions of new technology-driven products
and services. The future success of the Company will depend, in part, upon its ability to address the needs of its customers by using technology
to provide products and services that will satisfy customer demands for convenience, aswell asto create additional operational efficiencies and
greater privacy and security protection for customers and their personal information. Many of the Company’s competitors have substantially
greater resources to invest in technological improvements. The Company may not be able to effectively implement new technol ogy-driven
products and services or be successful in marketing these products and services to its customers. Failure to successfully keep pace with
technological change affecting the financial servicesindustry could have an adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial position, results
of operations and liquidity.
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The computer systems and network infrastructure in use by the Company could be vulnerable to unforeseen problems. The Company’s
operations are dependent upon the ability to protect its computer equi pment against damage from fire, severe storm, power |0ss,
telecommunications failure or asimilar catastrophic event. Any damage or failure of the Company’s computer systems or network infrastructure
that causes an interruption in operations could have an adverse effect on the Company’sfinancial condition, results of operations and liquidity.

In addition, the Company’s operations are dependent upon its ability to protect the computer systems and network infrastructure against
damage from physical break-ins, security breaches and other disruptive problems caused by Internet users or other users. Computer break-ins and
other disruptions could jeopardize the security of information stored in and transmitted through the Company’s computer systems and network,
which may result in significant liability to the Company, aswell as deter potential customers. Although the Company, with the help of third-party
service providers, intends to continue to actively monitor and, where necessary, implement improved security technology and develop additional
operational procedures to prevent damage or unauthorized access to its computer systems and network, there can be no assurance that these
security measures or operational procedureswill be successful. In addition, new developments or advances in computer capabilities or new
discoveriesin thefield of cryptography could enable hackersto compromise or breach the security measures used by the Company to protect
customer data. The Company’s failure to maintain adequate security over its customers' personal and transactional information could expose the
Company or Bank of the Ozarksto reputational risk and could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations
and liquidity.

The Company Relies on Certain External Vendors.

The Company isreliant upon certain external vendors to provide products and services necessary to maintain its day-to-day operations.
Accordingly, the Company’s operations are exposed to risk that these vendorswill not perform in accordance with applicable contractual
arrangements or the service level agreements. The Company maintains a system of policies and procedures designed to monitor vendor risks
including, among other things, (i) changesin the vendor’s organizational structure, (ii) changesin the vendor’sfinancial condition and
(iii) changesin the vendor’s support for existing products and services.

While the Company believes these policies and procedures help to mitigate risk, the failure of an external vendor to perform in accordance
with applicable contractual arrangements or the service level agreements could be disruptive to the Company’s operations, which could have a
material adverse impact on the Company’s business and its financial condition and results of operations.

The Company May Need to Raise Additional Capital in the Future to Continue to Grow, But That Capital May Not Be Available When
Needed.

Federal and state bank regulators require the Company and Bank of the Ozarks to maintain adequate levels of capital to support operations.
At March 31, 2013 the Company’s and Bank of the Ozarks' regulatory capital ratios were at “well-capitalized” levels under bank regulatory
guidelines. However, the Company’s business strategy calls for the Company to continue to grow in its existing banking markets (internally
through opening additional offices and by making additional FDIC-assisted and traditional acquisitions) and to expand into new markets as
appropriate opportunities arise. Growth in assets at rates in excess of the rate at which the Company’s capital isincreased through retained
earnings will reduce both the Company’s and Bank of the Ozarks' capital ratios unless the Company and Bank of the Ozarks continue to increase
capital. If the Company’s or Bank of the Ozarks' capital ratiosfell below “well-capitalized” levels, the FDIC deposit insurance assessment rate
would increase until capital isrestored and maintained at a“well-capitalized” level. Additionally, should the Company’s or Bank of the Ozark’s
capital ratiosfall below “well-capitalized” levels, certain funding sources could become more costly or could cease to be available to the Company
until such time as capital is restored and maintained at a“well-capitalized” level. A higher assessment rate resulting in an increasein FDIC deposit
insurance assessments, increased cost of funding or loss of funding sources could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations and liquidity.
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If, in the future, the Company needsto increase its capital to fund additional growth or satisfy regulatory requirements, its ability to raise that
additional capital will depend on the Company’sfinancial performance and on conditions at that time in the capital markets that are outside the
Company’s control. Thereis no assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional capital on termsfavorabletoit or at all. If the Company
cannot raise additional capital when needed, the Company’s ability to expand its operations through internal growth or to continue operations
could be impaired.

The Company May Not Be Able to Meet the Cash Flow Requirements of its Depositors or the Cash Needs for Expansion and Other Corporate
Activities.

Liquidity represents an institution’s ability to provide funds to satisfy demands from depositors, borrowers and other creditors by either
converting assets into cash or accessing new or existing sources of incremental funds. Liquidity risk arises from the possibility the Company may
be unable to satisfy current or future funding requirements and needs. The ALCO and Investments Committee (“ALCO"), which reportsto the
board of directors, has primary responsibility for oversight of the Company’sliquidity, funds management, asset/liability (interest rate risk)
position and investment portfolio functions.

The objective of managing liquidity risk isto ensure the cash flow requirements resulting from depositor, borrower and other creditor
demands are met, as well as operating cash needs, of the Company, and the cost of funding such requirements and needs is reasonable. The
Company maintains acomprehensive interest rate risk, liquidity and funds management policy and a contingency funding plan that, among other
things, include policies and procedures for managing liquidity risk. Generally the Company relies on deposits, repayments of loans, including
covered loans and purchased non-covered loans, and | eases, and repayments of itsinvestment securities asits primary sources of funds. The
principal deposit sources utilized by the Company include consumer, commercia and public funds customers in the Company’s markets. The
Company has used these funds, together with wholesale deposit sources such as brokered deposits, along with Federal Home Loan Bank of Dallas
(“FHLB-Dallas") advances, FRB borrowings, federal funds purchased and other sources of short-term borrowings, to make loans and leases,
acquire investment securities and other assets and to fund continuing operations.

Deposit levels may be affected by a number of factors, including rates paid by competitors, general interest rate levels, returns available to
customers on alternative investments, general economic and market conditions and other factors. Repayments of loans, including covered loans
and purchased non-covered loans, and leases are arelatively stable source of funds but are subject to the borrowers’ and lessees’ ahility to repay
such loans and leases, which can be adversely affected by anumber of factorsincluding changesin general economic conditions, adverse trends
or events affecting business industry groups or specific businesses, declinesin real estate values or markets, business closings or lay-offs,
inclement weather, natural disasters and other factors. Furthermore, loans, including covered loans and purchased non-covered loans, and |eases
generally are not readily convertible to cash. Accordingly, the Company may be required from time to time to rely on secondary sources of
liquidity to meet loan, lease and deposit withdrawal demands or otherwise fund operations. Such secondary sources include FHLB-Dallas
advances, secured and unsecured federal funds lines of credit from correspondent banks and FRB borrowings.

At March 31, 2013 the Company had substantial unused borrowing availability. This availability was primarily comprised of the following
four options: (i) $439 million of available blanket borrowing capacity with the FHLB-Dallas, (ii) $212 million of investment securities available to
pledge for federal funds or other borrowings, (iii) $154 million of available unsecured federal funds borrowing lines and (iv) up to $117 million of
available borrowing capacity from borrowing programs of the FRB.

The Company anticipatesit will continueto rely primarily on deposits, repayments of loans, including covered loans and purchased non-
covered loans, and leases, and repayments of itsinvestment securities to provide liquidity. Additionally, where necessary, the sources of
borrowed funds described above will be used to augment the Company’s primary funding sources. If the Company were unable to access any of
these funding
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sources when needed, it might be unable to meet customers’ or creditors' needs, which could adversely impact the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations, and liquidity.

Natural Disasters May Adversely Affect the Company.

The Company’s operations and customer base are located in markets where natural disasters, including tornadoes, severe storms, fires,
floods, hurricanes and earthquakes often occur. Such natural disasters could significantly impact the local population and economies and the
Company’s business, and could pose physical risks to the Company’s properties. Although the Company’s business is geographically dispersed
throughout Arkansas, Texas and the southeastern United States, a significant natural disaster in or near one or more of the Company’s markets
could have amaterial adverse impact on the Company’sfinancial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Risk of Pandemic.

In recent years the outbreak of anumber of diseasesincluding Avian Bird Flu, HIN1, and various other “super bugs’ have increased the risk
of apandemic. Should a pandemic occur in one or more of the markets where the Company’s operations are located, the Company could experience
aloss of business, a shortage of employees, or various other adverse effects which could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s
business and itsfinancial condition and results of operations.

Risks Associated With the Company’s I ndustry

The Company is Subject to Extensive Government Regulation That Limits or Restrictsits Activitiesand Could Adversely I mpact its
Operations.

The Company and Bank of the Ozarks operate in ahighly regulated industry and are subject to examination, supervision and comprehensive
regulation by various federal and state agencies. Compliance with these regulations is costly and restricts certain activities, including payment of
dividends, mergers and acquisitions, investments, interest rates charged for loans and leases, interest rates paid on deposits, locations of banking
offices and various other activities and aspects of the

Company’s and Bank of the Ozarks' operations. The Company and Bank of the Ozarks are al so subject to capital guidelines established by
regulators which require maintenance of adequate capital. Many of these regulations are intended to protect depositors, the public and the FDIC's
deposit insurance fund rather than shareholders.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the related rules and regulations issued by the SEC and NASDAQ, as well as numerous other
regulations, including the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the “ Dodd-Frank Act”) and regulations
promulgated thereunder, have increased the scope, complexity and cost of corporate governance, reporting and disclosure practices, including the
costs of completing the Company’s external audit and maintaining itsinternal controls.

Government regulation greatly affects the business and financial results of all commercial banks and bank holding companies, and increases
the cost to the Company of complying with regulatory requirements. Additionally, the failure to comply with these various rules and regulations
could subject the Company or Bank of the Ozarks to monetary penalties or sanctions or otherwise expose the Company or Bank of the Ozarksto
reputational risk and could adversely affect its results of operations.

Newly Enacted and Proposed L egislation and Regulations May Affect the Company’s Operations and Growth.

To address the continuing turbulence in the U.S. economy and the banking and financial markets, the U.S. government has recently enacted
aseries of laws, regulations, guidelines and programs.
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Because of the recency and speed with which these and other regulatory measures have been enacted, the Company and Bank of the Ozarks
are continuing to assess the impact of such regulatory measures on their business, financial condition, capital adequacy, results of operations and
liquidity. Additionally, in the routine course of regulatory oversight, proposals to change the laws and regul ations governing the operations and
taxation of, and federal insurance premiums paid by, banks and other financial institutions and companies that control financial institutions are
frequently raised in the U.S. Congress, state legislatures and before bank regulatory authorities.

Thelikelihood of significant changesin laws and regulations in the future and the impact that such changes might have on the Company or
Bank of the Ozarks are impossible to determine. Similarly, proposals to change the accounting, financial reporting, income tax regulations and
regulatory capital requirements applicable to banks and other depository institutions are frequently raised by the SEC, the federal banking
agencies, the Internal Revenue Service and other authorities. Further, federal intervention in financial markets and the commensurate impact on
financial institutions may adversely affect the Company’s or Bank of the Ozarks' rights under contracts with such other institutions and the way in
which the Company conducts businessin certain markets. The likelihood and impact of any future changes in these accounting, financial reporting
and regulatory capital requirements and the impact these changes might have on the Company or Bank of the Ozarks are also impossible to
determine at thistime.

There Can Be No Assurance that Enacted L egislation or Any Proposed Federal Programs Will Stabilizethe U.S. Financial System and Such
Legislation and Programs May Adversely Affect the Company.

Several federal acts, programs and guidelines have been either signed into law or promulgated by Congress, the U.S. Department of the
Treasury or the FDIC in recent years and additional laws, regulations, programs and guidance are likely to continue to be enacted in the future.
There can be no assurance, however, asto the actual impact that these acts, regulations, programs and guidelines or any other governmental
program will have on the financial markets. The lack of stable financial markets or aworsening of current financial market conditions could
materially and adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and accessto credit or the trading price of its
common stock.

The Earnings of Financial Services Companies are Significantly Affected by General Business and Economic Conditions.

The Company’s operations and profitability are impacted by general business and economic conditionsin the United States and abroad.
These conditionsinclude short-term and long-term interest rates, inflation, money supply, political issues, legislative and regulatory changes,
fluctuations in both debt and equity capital markets, broad trendsin industry and finance and the strength of the U.S. economy and the local
economies in which the Company operates, all of which are beyond its control. Deterioration in economic conditions could result in an increasein
loan and | ease delinquencies and non-performing assets, decreasesin loan and lease collateral values and a decrease in demand for products and
services, among other things, any of which could have an adverse impact on the Company’sfinancial condition, results of operations and
liquidity.

Consumers May Decide Not to Use Local Banksto Completetheir Financial Transactions.

Technology and other changes are allowing parties to compl ete, through alternative methods, financial transactions that historically have
involved banks. For example, consumers can now maintain funds that would have historically been held aslocal bank depositsin brokerage
accounts, mutual funds with an Internet-only bank, or with virtually any bank in the country through on-line banking. Consumers can also
compl ete transactions such as purchasing goods and services, paying bills and/or transferring funds directly without the assi stance of banks. The
process of eliminating banks as intermediaries could result in the loss of fee income, as well asthe loss of customer deposits and the related
income generated from those deposits. The loss of these revenue streams and the lower-cost deposits as a source of funds could have an adverse
effect on the Company’sfinancial condition, results of operations and liquidity.
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Risks Associated With the Company’s Common Stock

The Company's Common Stock Priceis Affected by a Variety of Factors, Many of Which are Outsideits Control.

Stock price volatility may make it more difficult for investorsto resell shares of the Company’s common stock at times and prices they find
attractive. The Company’s common stock price can fluctuate significantly in response to avariety of factors, including, among other things:

e actual or anticipated variationsin quarterly results of operations;

e recommendations or changes in recommendations by securities analysts;

* operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors deem comparabl e to the Company;
* newsreportsrelating to trends, concerns and other issuesin the financial servicesindustry;

*  perceptionsin the marketplace regarding the Company and/or its competitors;

*  new technology used, or services offered, by competitors;

« significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments by or involving the
Company or its competitors; and

* changesin governmental regulations.

General market fluctuations, industry factors and general economic and political conditions and events such as economic slowdowns,
interest rate changes, credit loss trends and various other factors and events could adversely impact the price of the Company’s common stock.

The Company Cannot Guarantee That It Will Pay Dividendsto Common Shareholdersin the Future.

The Company’s principal business operations are conducted through Bank of the Ozarks. Cash available to pay dividends to the Company’s
common shareholdersis derived primarily, if not entirely, from dividends paid by Bank of the Ozarks. The ability of Bank of the Ozarksto pay
dividends, aswell asthe Company’s ability to pay dividends to its common shareholders, will continue to be subject to and limited by the results
of operations of Bank of the Ozarks and by certain legal and regulatory restrictions.

Further, any lenders making loans to the Company or Bank of the Ozarks may impose financial covenants that may be more restrictive than
regulatory requirements with respect to the Company’s payment of dividends to common shareholders. Accordingly, there can be no assurance
that the Company will continue to pay dividends to its common shareholdersin the future.

Certain State and/or Federal Laws May Deter Potential Acquirorsand May Depressthe Company’s Stock Price.

Certain provisions of federal and state laws may have the effect of making it more difficult for athird party to acquire, or of discouraging a
third party from attempting to acquire, control of the Company. Under certain federal and state laws, a person, entity, or group must give notice to
applicable regulatory authorities before acquiring a significant amount, as defined by such laws, of the outstanding voting stock of a bank holding
company, including the Company’s common stock. Regulatory authorities review the potential acquisition to determineif it will result in achange
of control. The applicable regulatory authoritieswill then act on the notice, taking into account the resources of the potential acquiror, the
potential antitrust effects of the proposed acquisition and numerous other factors. As aresult, these statutory provisions may delay, defer or
prevent atender offer or takeover attempt that a shareholder might consider to bein such shareholder’s best interest, including those attempts
that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares held by shareholders.
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The Holders of the Company’s Subordinated Debentures Have Rights That are Senior to Those of the Company’s Common Shareholders.

At March 31, 2013 the Company had an aggregate of $64.9 million of floating rate subordinated debentures and related trust preferred
securities outstanding. The Company guarantees payment of the principal and interest on the trust preferred securities, and the subordinated
debentures are senior to shares of the Company’s common stock. As aresult, the Company must make payments on the subordinated debentures
(and the related trust preferred securities) before any dividends can be paid on its common stock and, in the event of bankruptcy, dissolution or
liguidation, the holders of the subordinated debentures must be satisfied before any distributions can be made to the holders of common stock.
The Company has the right to defer distributions on its subordinated debentures and the related trust preferred securities for up to five years,
during which time no dividends may be paid to holders of its common stock.

The Company’s Directors and Executive Officers Own a Significant Portion of Company Common Stock.

The Company’s directors and executive officers, as a group, beneficially owned approximately 12.5% of its common stock as of February 19,
2013. Asaresult of their aggregate beneficial ownership, directors and executive officers have the ability, by voting their sharesin concert, to
influence the outcome of matters submitted to the Company’s shareholders for approval, including the election of its directors.

The Company's Common Stock Trading Volume May Not Provide Adequate Liquidity for I nvestors.

Although shares of the Company’s common stock are listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market, the average daily trading volume in the common
stock islessthan that of many larger financial services companies. A public trading market having the desired characteristics of depth, liquidity
and orderliness depends on the presence in the marketplace of a sufficient number of willing buyers and sellers of the common stock at any given
time. This presence depends on the individual decisions of investors and general economic and market conditions over which the Company has
no control. Given the daily average trading volume of the Company’s common stock, significant sales of the common stock in a brief period of
time, or the expectation of these sales, could cause a decline in the price of the Company’s common stock.

The Company's Common Stock is Not an I nsured Deposit.

The Company’s common stock is not a bank deposit and, therefore, lossesin its value are not insured by the FDIC, any other deposit
insurance fund or by any other public or private entity. Investment in the Company’s common stock isinherently risky for the reasons described
inthis“Risk Factors’ section, and is subject to the same market forces and investment risks that affect the price of common stock in any other
company, including the possible loss of some or all principal invested.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY
SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

FNB ismailing this proxy statement/prospectus to you, as a FNB shareholder, on or about , 2013. With this document, FNB is
sending you a notice of the FNB special meeting of shareholders and aform of proxy that is solicited by the FNB board of directors. The special
meeting will be held on , 2013 at 10:00 a.m., eastern time, at the main office of FNB located at 106 South L afayette Street, Shelby, North
Carolina 28150.

Mattersto be Considered

The purpose of the special meeting of shareholdersisto vote on aproposal to approve the merger agreement and the transactions it
contemplates. Y ou will also be asked to vote upon a proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting of shareholders, if necessary, to solicit
additional proxiesto approve the merger agreement.

Proxy Card, Revocation of Proxy

Y ou should complete and return the proxy card accompanying this document to ensure that your vote is counted at the special meeting of
shareholders, regardless of whether you plan to attend. Y ou can revoke your proxy at any time before the vote is taken at the special meeting by:

*  submitting written notice of revocation to the Corporate Secretary of FNB;
«  submitting a properly executed proxy bearing alater date before the special meeting of shareholders; or

* votingin person at the special meeting of shareholders. However, simply attending the special meeting without voting will not revoke
an earlier proxy.

If your shares are held in street name, you should follow the instructions you receive from your broker in order to direct your broker how to
vote and you should also follow the instructions of your broker regarding revocation of proxies.

All shares represented by valid proxiesthat are not revoked will be voted in accordance with your instructions on the proxy card. If you sign
your proxy card, but make no specification on the card asto how you want your shares voted, your proxy card will be voted “FOR” approval of
the merger agreement and “FOR” approval of any proposal by management to adjourn the special meeting if necessary to solicit additional proxies.
The board of directorsis presently unaware of any other matter that may be presented for action at the special meeting of shareholders. If any
other matter does properly come before the special meeting, the board of directorsintends that shares represented by properly submitted proxies
will be voted, or not voted, by and at the discretion of the persons named as proxies on the proxy card.

Solicitation of Proxies

The cost of solicitation of proxieswill be borne by FNB. FNB will reimburse brokerage firms and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries
for reasonable expenses incurred by them in sending proxy materials to the beneficial owners of common stock. In addition to solicitations by mail,
directors, officers and regular employees of FNB may solicit proxies personally or by telephone without additional compensation.

Record Date

The close of business on , 2013 has been fixed as the record date for determining the FNB shareholders entitled to receive notice
of and to vote at the special meeting of shareholders. At that time, 400,000 shares of FNB common stock were outstanding, and were held by
approximately 471 holders of record.
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Voting Rights, Quorum Requirementsand Vote Required

The presence, in person or by properly executed proxy, of the holders of amajority of the outstanding capital stock of FNB is necessary to
constitute a quorum at the special meeting of shareholders. Abstentions and broker non-votes will be counted for the purpose of determining
whether aquorum is present but will not be counted as votes cast either for or against the merger agreement.

Approval of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of FNB
common stock entitled to vote at the special meeting. Holders of FNB common stock on the record date are entitled to vote at the special meeting.
Because the required vote is based on the outstanding shares, an abstention will have the same effect as a vote against the merger agreement. As
of the record date, directors, officers and affiliates of FNB beneficially owned an aggregate of 180,640 shares of FNB common stock entitled to vote
at the special meeting of shareholders. This represents approximately 45.16% of the total votes entitled to be cast at the special meeting. Of this
number, certain directors, officers and other affiliates, collectively representing an aggregate of 175,140 shares, or approximately 43.79% of the
outstanding FNB common stock, have agreed, solely in their capacity as record and/or beneficial owners of FNB common stock, to vote “ FOR”
adoption of the merger agreement.

Approval of any proposal to adjourn or postpone the special meeting, if necessary, for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies, requires
the affirmative vote of the holders of amajority of shares of FNB common stock that are voted, either in person or by proxy, at the special meeting.

Conflictsof Interest

An aggregate of 169,634 shares, or approximately 42.41% of the outstanding FNB common stock, is owned of record by FNB in its capacity
as (i) trustee of anumber of family or private trusts established by the settlors of such trusts over a number of years for the benefit of certain FNB
shareholders, and maintained by FNB as trustee in the ordinary course of business or (ii) executor of various estates that beneficially own shares
of FNB common stock. The provisions of many of these trusts and estates do not specify how the shares of FNB common stock are to be voted by
the trustee or executor, as applicable. Under the Uniform Probate Code as enacted in North Carolina, by which law most of the trusts are governed,
asale, encumbrance, or other transaction involving the investment or management of trust property entered into by the trustee for the trustee’s
own personal account, or that is otherwise affected by a conflict between the trustee' s fiduciary and personal interests, is voidable by a
beneficiary affected by the transaction, without regard to whether the transaction isfair to the beneficiary, unless certain conditions are met. These
conditionsinclude, among others, that the terms of the trust authorize the transaction, the beneficiary approves of such action, the settlor or
grantor of atrust directs the specific action of the trustee, or a court approves the transaction. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus,
FNB has taken action to satisfy such conditions with respect to trusts holding an aggregate of shares of FNB common stock, or
approximately % of the outstanding FNB common stock, for the benefit of certain directors, officers and other affiliates of FNB, by obtaining the
requisite directions or, where appropriate, permission from the varioustrusts' settlors or beneficiaries, as applicable, to vote the FNB shares at the
meeting in accordance with voting agreements previously executed by such affiliates, or where otherwise permitted by the terms of the trusts or
North Carolinalaw, to authorize such beneficiaries to vote the shares on behalf of such trusts. With respect to the remaining trusts and estates
holding an aggregate of FNB shares, or approximately % of the outstanding FNB common stock, FNB expects to either seek the requisite
permission from the trusts’ or estates’ beneficiariesfor FNB to vote the FNB shares at the meeting, or where permitted, to obtain directions from
such beneficiaries as to the voting of such shares held by FNB as trustee. There can be no assurance that such permission or directions will be
obtained in atimely manner, and with respect to any trust or estate asto which the requisite permission or direction is not obtained prior to the
shareholders’ meeting, FNB plansto abstain from voting FNB shares at such meeting.
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Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The FNB board of directors has unanimously approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.
The board of directors believes that the merger agreement isfair to FNB shareholders and isin the best interest of FNB and its shareholders and
recommends that you vote “FOR” the approval of the merger agreement. See“ Approval of Merger — FNB Reasons for the Merger;
Recommendation of the FNB Board of Directors’ on page 56. The board of directors also recommends that you vote “FOR” approval of a proposal
to adjourn or postpone the special meeting if necessary to solicit additional proxiesto approve the merger agreement.
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APPROVAL OF THE MERGER

The description of the merger and the merger agreement contained in this proxy statement/prospectus describes what we believe are the
material terms of the merger agreement. This summary description, however, is qualified in its entirety by reference to the merger agreement,
which is attached to this proxy statement/prospectus as Appendix A and incor porated herein by reference.

General

The merger agreement provides for the merger of FNB with and into Bank of the Ozarks, with Bank of the Ozarks being the surviving bank. If
the shareholders of FNB approve the merger agreement at the special meeting, and if the required regulatory approvals are obtained and the other
conditionsto the parties’ obligationsto effect the merger are met or waived (to the extent permitted by law), we anticipate that the merger will be
completed in the third quarter of 2013, although delays could occur. Asaresult of the merger, holders of FNB common stock will be entitled to
receive the cash consideration, the stock consideration, or a combination of the cash consideration and the stock consideration, pluscashinlieu
of any fractional shareinterest, and such holderswill no longer be owners of FNB common stock. Asaresult of the merger, certificatesfor FNB
common stock will only represent the right to receive the merger consideration pursuant to the merger agreement, and otherwise will be null and
void after completion of the merger.

TheParties
Bank of the Ozarks, I nc.

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc., an Arkansas corporation, is the bank holding company for its wholly owned subsidiary, Bank of the Ozarks, an
Arkansas state banking corporation. The Company and Bank of the Ozarks are both headquartered in Little Rock, Arkansas. The principal
business of the Company is conducted through Bank of the Ozarks, which operates full service bank branch officesin its market areas throughout
Arkansas, Alabama, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina, South Carolinaand Texas. Bank of the Ozarks provides avariety of financial servicesto
individual s and businesses throughout its service area. Primary deposit products are checking, savings and certificate of deposit accounts and
primary lending products are consumer, commercial and mortgage loans. The Company’s common stock trades on the NASDAQ Stock Market
under the symbol “OZRK.” At March 31, 2013, the Company had consolidated total assets of approximately $3.95 billion, total deposits of
approximately $2.99 hillion and total common stockholders' equity of approximately $524 million.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby

The First National Bank of Shelby isanational banking association headquartered in Shelby, North Carolina. FNB operates 14 bank branches
in Cleveland, Gaston, Lincoln and Rutherford Countiesin North Carolina. As of March 31, 2013, FNB had consolidated total assets of
approximately $716 million, total deposits of approximately $608 million and total common stockholders’ equity of approximately $85.8 million.

Purchase Price; Merger Consideration

The aggregate purchase price for the merger, which we also refer to as the aggregate or total “merger consideration,” is $64,000,000, subject
to possible price adjustments. Y ou should read “ Purchase Price Adjustments” in the following subsection for amore complete description of the
possible price adjustments to the aggregate purchase price. The merger agreement provides that each share of FNB common stock (other than
treasury shares, shares owned by the Company or by any person who has perfected appraisal rights with respect to shares of FNB common stock)
will be converted on the closing date of the merger into the right to receive the merger consideration. The merger consideration for each share of
FNB common stock (minus certain adjustments to the purchase price, if applicable) is:

+ cashinanamount equal to $160.00, or
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+ anumber of shares of Company common stock that is equal to (i) $160.00, divided by (ii) the average closing sale price of Company
common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ending on the fifth business day preceding the closing date of the merger (with a
maximum closing sale price to be determined for exchange ratio purposes at no more than $44.20 per share and no less than $27.00 per
share), pluscashinlieu of any fractional share of Company common stock.

Subject to the allocation procedures described below under “ Allocation,” on page 50, a holder of FNB common stock may elect to receive the
stock consideration described above or the cash consideration described above, for each share of FNB common stock that such shareholder
owns. FNB shareholders will not receive any fractional shares of Company common stock in connection with the merger. Instead, each sharehol der
who receives Company common stock in the merger will be paid cash in an amount equal to the fraction of a share of Company common stock
otherwise issuable upon conversion, multiplied by the average closing price per share of Company common stock, determined as indicated above.
Additionally, if a FNB shareholder wholly or partially electsto receive stock consideration and such election would result in the delivery of less
than ten (10) whole shares of Company common stock, then in accordance with the merger agreement, such shareholder will not receive any stock
consideration and will instead receive cash consideration in exchange for all of such shareholder’s shares of FNB common stock.

Purchase Price Adjustments

The aggregate purchase price, or merger consideration, may be adjusted downward, on adollar for dollar basis, if FNB’s closing
consolidated net book valueislessthan $96,000,000. FNB’s closing consolidated net book value will be calculated as FNB's unaudited
consolidated net tangible shareholders’ equity determined in accordance with GAAP as of the end of the month prior to the closing of the merger,
except that the following amounts will be added back to the closing consolidated net book val ue before determining whether a purchase price
adjustment is required: (i) the amount of any deferred tax asset valuation allowance; (ii) the amount of prepayment penalties or unwind costs on
prepayment of any advances from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Atlanta (“FHLB-Atlanta”) and certain structured repurchase agreements and
derivative transactions, net of any tax benefit recorded on FNB'’s financial statement in connection with such prepayment penalties and unwind
costs; and (iii) the amount of any other accruals, reserves or provisions, expenses or charges taken or incurred by FNB that the Company and FNB
agree are appropriate under the circumstances. As of April 30, 2013, although FNB’s unaudited consolidated net tangible shareholders’ equity was
$87,424,952, the “ added back” items described in (i) and (ii) in the preceding sentence amounted to, in the aggregate, approximately $14 million,
whichincludes (i) approximately $7.2 million for the deferred tax asset valuation allowance and (ii) approximately $6.8 million for the prepayment
penalties and unwind costs on prepayment of FHLB advances, structured repurchase agreements, and interest rate swap transactions, net of tax
benefit. As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, FNB'’s consolidated net book value, calculated in accordance with the above formula,
continues to exceed $96,000,000, and if the closing of the merger were to occur on the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, no adjustment to
the purchase price would be made based on this calculation.

Apart from the possible adjustments summarized in the preceding paragraph, the value of the aggregate merger consideration could also be
higher or lower than $64,000,000, depending on whether the average closing price of Company common stock to be used in determining the
exchangeratio is higher than $44.20 per share, in which case FNB shareholders receiving Company stock as part or all of the merger consideration
would receive more shares than they otherwise would (without an offsetting decrease in any cash consideration they may receive in the merger) if
there were no cap on the average closing price used in determining the exchange ratio. Conversely, if the average closing price of Company
common stock is lower than $27.00 per share, FNB shareholders receiving Company stock as part or all of the merger consideration would receive
fewer shares than they otherwise would (without any offsetting increase in any cash consideration they may receive in the merger) if there were no
floor on the average closing price used in determining the exchange ratio.
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Election and Election Procedures

After the mailing of this proxy statement/prospectus, the exchange agent, Bank of the Ozarks Trust and Wealth Management Division, will
cause an election form and letter of transmittal to be mailed or otherwise delivered to each holder of record of FNB common stock. The election
form and letter of transmittal will allow each holder of record of FNB common stock to elect to receive Company common stock, cash, or a
combination of Company common stock and cash.

In order to make a proper election, the holder must compl ete the election form and letter of transmittal and return it, along with such holder’s
certificate(s) of FNB common stock, to the exchange agent by the date indicated in the election form and letter of transmittal. Failure to properly
complete or timely return the election form and letter of transmittal will result in the shares of such holder being deemed non-el ection shares, with
the effect that the exchange agent will allocate the mix of Company common stock and cash constituting the merger consideration to such
shareholder in accordance with the allocation procedures in the merger agreement, as summarized below under “Allocation.” Holders of record of
shares of FNB common stock who hold such sharesin arepresentative capacity (for example, as nominee or trustee) may submit multiple forms of
election, provided that such nominee or representative certifies that each election form coversall of the shares of FNB common stock held for a
particular beneficial owner by the nominee or representative.

The Company will have the discretion, which it may delegate in whole or in part to the exchange agent, to determine whether election forms
have been properly completed, signed and submitted and to disregard immaterial defectsin election forms. The good faith decision of the
Company or the exchange agent in such matters will be conclusive and binding. Neither the Company nor the exchange agent will be under any
obligation to notify any person of any defect in an election form.

Neither the FNB board of directors nor its financial advisor makes any recommendation as to whether sharehol ders should elect to receive
the stock consideration or the cash consideration in the merger, or acombination of the two. Each FNB shareholder must make their own decision
with respect to such election, bearing in mind the tax consequences of the election they choose.

All elections will be subject to the allocation and proration provisions of the merger agreement, which are described immediately below.

Allocation

Under the merger agreement, the total merger consideration to be paid by the Company must be comprised of at least 51% in shares of
Company common stock and no more than 49% in cash, which we refer to as the “ minimum stock consideration requirement.” If, after the election
forms are tallied, the aggregate el ections made by FNB shareholders would result in an oversubscription for cash, then the exchange agent will
allocate the amount of stock and cash to be issued in the merger as necessary and described bel ow, to meet the minimum stock consideration
reguirement. In the following description of the allocation procedures, when we refer to “ stock election shares” we are referring to the shares of
FNB common stock for which an election to receive Company common stock was properly made. When we refer to “ cash el ection shares” we are
referring to the shares of FNB common stock for which an election to receive cash was properly made. When we refer to “ non-election shares’ we
arereferring to the shares of FNB common stock for which a proper election form was not completed, other than those shares for which dissenters
rights have been exercised. When we refer to dissenting shares, we are referring to those shares of FNB common stock for which dissenters' rights
have been properly exercised under the National Bank Act.

In the event that the number of cash election shares plus the number of dissenting shares exceeds 49% of the outstanding shares of FNB
common stock (i.e., 196,000 shares):

* each stock election share and each non-election share will be converted into the right to receive Company common stock (subject to
the payment in cash in lieu of fractional shares and individual stock consideration that would otherwise result in the delivery of less
than ten (10) whol e shares of Company common stock, described above); and
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* each cash election share shall, on a pro rata basis with all other cash election shares, be converted into the right to receive an amount
of cash and Company common stock that is necessary to meet the minimum stock consideration requirement.

In the event that the number of cash election shares plus the number of dissenting sharesislessthan or equal to 49% of the outstanding
shares of FNB common stock, then no allocation will be necessary and all cash election shares will be converted into the right to receive cash
consideration and all stock el ection shares and non-election shares will be converted into the right to receive Company common stock (subject to
the payment in cash in lieu of fractional shares and individual stock consideration that would otherwise result in the delivery of less than ten
(10) whole shares of Company common stock, described above).

Procedurefor Exchanging Certificates

Prior to the effective date of the merger, the Company will deposit with the exchange agent cash representing the aggregate cash
consideration, certificates representing the aggregate stock consideration, and the estimated amount of cash to be paid in lieu of fractional shares
of Company common stock. The exchange agent will facilitate the payment of the merger consideration to the holders of certificates representing
shares of FNB common stock.

On the effective date of the merger, each FNB shareholder will cease to have any rights as a shareholder of FNB, and his or her sole rights
will beto receive, as applicable, cash consideration, stock consideration, and cashin lieu of any fractional sharesinto which hisor her shares of
FNB common stock have been converted pursuant to the merger agreement.

Shareholders are requested not to send in their FNB common stock certificates until they have received their election form and letter of
transmittal and further written instructions from the exchange agent. After receipt of a properly completed election form and letter of transmittal
accompanied by the appropriate FNB common stock certificates and following the effective date of the merger, the exchange agent will send as
promptly as practicable to the former holders of FNB common stock the cash consideration, the stock consideration and cash payments for
fractional shares.

After the effective time of the merger, each certificate formerly representing FNB common stock, until so surrendered and exchanged, will
evidence only the right to receive, without interest, the merger consideration, including, to the extent any such FNB common stock is allocated
stock consideration in the merger, any dividend or other distribution with respect to Company common stock with arecord date after the effective
time of the merger.

If your FNB stock certificates have been lost, stolen or destroyed, you will have to prove your ownership of these certificates and that they
werelost, stolen or destroyed before you receive any consideration for your shares. The exchange agent will send you instructions on how to
provide evidence of ownership. Y ou may be required to make an affidavit and post a bond in an amount sufficient to protect FNB, the exchange
agent and the Company against subsequent claims related to your common stock.

Background of the Merger

FNB, which was founded in 1874, has used an emphasis on community involvement, local ownership, and afocus on customers and
employees to develop a strong reputation as an independent, hometown community bank in Shelby, North Carolinaand its surrounding
communities. By December 31, 2007, FNB had grown to $945.4 million in total assets and $530.0 million in net loans, operating in 14 offices over
four counties. Over the past five years, however, FNB, like many other financial institutions in the North Carolinamarket, has been adversely
affected by the general economic deterioration and downturn in real estate values that has occurred throughout the country, especially so in
FNB’s home markets of Western North Carolina. These market disruptions and declining asset quality resulted in core operating losses of $6.1
million and additional losses for
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write-downs of goodwill and establishing a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, for total losses of $16.0 million from January 1, 2008
through December 31, 2012. In addition, classified assets increased as borrowers struggled through a protracted recession. In June 2011, FNB
entered into aformal agreement (the “ Formal Agreement”) with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (“OCC”) which, among other things,
required FNB to implement a capital plan and to maintain capital ratiosin excess of the minimum thresholds required to be well capitalized.

FNB has responded to the economic downturn by undertaking numerous efforts to reduce problem asset levels, preserveits capital, and
stabilize earnings, including, without limitation, focusing on operating efficiencies, suspending dividend payments on its common stock beginning
in 2010, and reducing the size of itsloan portfolio to $459.1 million in net loans and its total assetsto $853.8 million at December 31, 2012. Asa
result of these efforts, classified assets were reduced by over $34 million, or 30%, for the two-year period ended December 31, 2012. Although FNB
believesit is currently in compliance with amajority of the articlesin the Formal Agreement with the OCC, it islikely that FNB will remain under the
Formal Agreement until nonperforming assets are no longer arisk to capital. The material terms of the Formal Agreement are more fully described
elsewhere herein, beginning on page 142.

Inearly 2012, FNB also began devel oping a new long-term strategic plan. As part of the planning process for this new strategic plan, the
board of directors noted an increasing level of competition and increasing regulatory costs for community banksin the post-recession
environment, the restrictions on growth and higher regulatory burden applicable specifically to FNB as aresult of the Formal Agreement with the
OCC, and the effect of aslower economic recovery in FNB’s market areas than in larger metropolitan markets such as Charlotte, North Carolina.
Although FNB’s board of directors believed at that time that its shareholders, customers, and employees were best served by FNB remaining an
independent financial institution, in conjunction with the development of this plan, FNB also began to review other strategic options available to
FNB, including, among other things, acquisitions of other institutions or amerger with another institution.

In August 2012, FNB formally engaged Sandler O’ Neill & PartnersL.P. (“ Sandler O'Neill”) to serve asits financial advisor to assist in the
development of the new strategic plan, and to help FNB analyze other potential strategic opportunities. FNB chose Sandler O’ Neill because of its
knowledge of and experience with community banks, particularly in North Carolina. In late August 2012, FNB'’ s executive committee met with
Sandler O’ Neill to review various strategic options available to FNB, including (1) remaining independent and focusing on improving operating
metrics and profitability within FNB’s current markets; (2) undertaking a strategy of regional growth (after being released from the Formal
Agreement with the OCC) into attractive markets through whole bank, FDIC-assisted, or branch acquisitionsthat are relatively small in size;

(3) selling assets and raising capital to enhance FNB’sregulatory standing and ability to execute its business plan; (4) undertaking a merger of
equalswith asimilar-sized partner to provide access to new markets, increased scale, and increased operating efficiency; and (5) merging with a
strategic partner.

FNB'’s executive committee reviewed with Sandler O’ Neill the pro forma effect of these various strategies on earnings per share, book value
per share, return on equity, and other pertinent ratios, and also compared quantitative measures of FNB's performance with those of other financial
institutions operating in North Carolina markets. In addition, FNB’s executive committee analyzed, with Sandler O’ Neill’ s assistance, the prices
FNB likely would receive in amerger or acquisition transaction and compared those prices to the present values of the future returnsto
shareholders of each of the alternative strategies, including remaining independent.

At the conclusion of this August 2012 meeting, FNB’s executive committee asked Sandler O’ Neill to reach out to alimited group of regional
financial institutions to seek a preliminary determination of their interest in FNB as a strategic merger partner. Sandler O’ Neill then reached out to
three potential regional partnersthat Sandler O'Neill determined would be most likely to have an interest in a strategic partnership and which
FNB'’s executive committee believed would be most likely to share FNB'’s emphasis on community involvement and focus on customers and
employees. In September 2012, FNB’ s executive committee, together with Sandler
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O’'Neill, met with three of these potential merger partnersto share information about FNB and to learn more about the culture of the other financial
institutions.

Following these meetings, FNB’s executive committee asked Sandler O’ Neill to continue the process by reaching out to alarger group of
regional financial institutions. FNB’s executive committee based this decision on its belief that the level of FNB’s competition would increase
significantly as other financial institutions continued to grow and eventually expand into FNB’s markets. FNB'’s response to thisincreased
competition would be limited while it remained subject to the OCC Formal Agreement. Sandler O’ Neill then distributed confidential information
memoranda on the business and financial condition of FNB to ten potential strategic partners, including the Company, each of which had
previously executed a confidentiality agreement.

On October 11, 2012, Helen Jeffords, FNB's Chief Executive Officer, together with legal counsel from Nelson MullinsRiley & Scarborough
LLP (“Nelson Mullins”), counsel to FNB, met in Charlotte with representatives from the OCC’s Carolina Field Office to discuss FNB's progress
under the Formal Agreement. Although the feedback from the OCC was positive, the OCC representative indicated that FNB would likely remain
under the Formal Agreement until the nonperforming assets were no longer arisk to capital.

On October 16, 2012, FNB'’s board of directors met to discuss the strategic alternatives that the executive committee had been studying and
to review feedback from the OCC meeting. The board of directors also received areport on the economy and the outlook for the North Carolina
market from an economist retained by the board, areport from Sandler O’ Neill on the various strategic alternatives previously analyzed by the
executive committee, and areport from Nelson Mullins regarding the legal standards and fiduciary duties applicable to dealing with acquisition
offers, factorsto consider when evaluating offers, actions that could be taken when responding to offers, and legal considerationsrelated to
maintaining the confidentiality of any potential transaction being considered by the board of directors. The board held an extensive discussion
regarding each of its strategic alternatives, including the regulatory challenges affecting its ability to implement FNB’s stand-al one strategic plan.
At the conclusion of this meeting, the board of directors advised Sandler O’'Neill to continue with the search for a potential strategic partner. At
the board’ s request, Sandler O’ Neill also expanded its search to include several larger financial institutions.

Seven potential partners expressed a desire to move forward in discussions with FNB and held on-site meetings with FNB’s management.
The on-site meeting with the Company was held on October 25, 2012 with Mr. Dennis James, the Director of Mergers and Acquisitions of the
Company. Mr. James made a presentation to FNB’s Chief Executive Officer and executive management about the Company and its business
operations, describing how a potential merger of their organizations might be structured. Mr. James conducted limited due diligence at this
meeting. However, no merger offer was extended at this point, as the Company expressed adesire to conduct a more detailed due diligence review
of FNB. Beginning on November 3, 2012, the Company began performing more detailed due diligence activities regarding FNB, primarily through
document sharing and discussions between FNB management and Company management, and these activities continued until the signing of the
merger agreement.

In mid-November 2012, four of the seven potential partners who met with FNB’s management, including the Company, submitted non-
binding indications of interest to acquire FNB, subject to completion of full due diligence. The indication of interest from the Company indicated a
purchase price of between $65 million and $75 million, subject to further due diligence. On November 14, 2012, at a special meeting of FNB'’s
executive committee, Sandler O’'Neill reviewed the terms of the four proposals, including the benefits and drawbacks of each, and provided the
board with an update on the status of the banking industry generally and the merger and capital markets for community banks. After athorough
discussion, FNB's executive committee and management concluded that the Company’s proposal was superior to the other proposals, primarily
because (i) the merger consideration was higher than the other proposals; (ii) the mix of consideration of at least 51% stock would provide FNB
shareholders with liquidity and potential further growth in their investment; (iii) the on-site due diligence period was significantly more limited than
that proposed by other potential partners; (iv) there were no overlapping markets between FNB and the Company, so that more FNB employees
would have abetter chance

53



Table of Contents

for continued employment for the foreseeable future; (v) in FNB’s executive committee' s opinion, the Company had the strongest financial
condition and best cultural fit of the four potential partners; and (vi) the Company could offer more products and services to FNB customers than
the other potential partners, given its size and operating history. At the conclusion of this meeting, the executive committee asked Sandler O’ Neill
to arrange an introduction of the full board of directorsto both Mr. James and Mr. George Gleason, the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

On November 20, 2012, Mr. Gleason and Mr. James met with FNB'’s board of directors. Representatives of Sandler O’ Neill and Nelson
Mullins were also present at the meeting. Mr. Gleason described the history and culture of the Company and answered questions from the FNB
board of directors. After Mr. Gleason and Mr. James | eft the meeting, the FNB board of directors held athorough discussion and ultimately agreed
to give the Company a 30-day exclusivity period in which to conduct further due diligence.

Following this meeting, in late November 2012 the Company performed extensive on-site due diligence on FNB’s operations and financial
condition. During this time the Company also expressed its desire to purchase the main office location and some of the branch sites that FNB
leases. The Company submitted arevised oral proposal the morning of December 5, 2012, and the FNB executive committee held a conference call
that afternoon to discuss the proposal. The revised proposal included a purchase price of $60 million and the acquisition by the Company of four
bank properties (including the main office) leased by FNB from Shelby L oan and Mortgage Corporation (“ Shelby L oan and Mortgage”) or its
subsidiary, SLMC, LLC (“SLMC"), for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $3.8 million. Although the original indication of interest to
FNB from the Company reflected an anticipated purchase price of between $65 million and $75 million, that original indication of interest had been
subject to further due diligence by the Company. After the Company conducted extensive due diligence, the Company revised its purchase price
to $60 million based on its estimation of the anticipated losses inherent in FNB’sloan portfolio. Following extensive discussions of this proposal,
the FNB executive committee instructed Sandler O’ Neill to negotiate the terms of the offer and to request Bank of the Ozarksto provide awritten
letter of intent for the board of directorsto review at its meeting on December 6, 2012.

Following negotiations between Sandler O’ Neill and the Company, including discussions concerning the possibility of upward adjustments
to the revised purchase price to take into account a portion of the proceeds received from the sales of certain specified securitiesin FNB’s
investment portfolio, for which the Company had concerns regarding the appropriate val uations thereof, on December 6, 2012, the Company
submitted aletter of intent to acquire FNB for arevised purchase price of $64 million, or $160.00 per outstanding share of FNB common stock, with
75% of the merger consideration to be paid in common stock. In addition, the letter of intent also indicated that the Company would propose to
contemporaneously acquire four properties owned by Shelby Loan and Mortgage or SLMC, which properties are currently leased to FNB and
operated as branches and bank offices, for atotal consideration of approximately $3.8 million.

Following the receipt of the Company’sletter of intent, FNB held a special meeting of its board of directors at which representatives of
Sandler O'Neill and Nelson Mullins were present. At this meeting, Ms. Jeffords provided the board of directors the details regarding the letter of
intent from the Company. Representatives of Nelson Mullins also advised FNB'’s board of directors regarding the legal standards and fiduciary
duties applicable to dealing with acquisition offers, factors to consider when eval uating offers, actions that can be taken when responding to
offers, and legal considerations related to maintaining the confidentiality of any potential transaction being considered by the board of directors.
At thismeeting, Sandler O’'Neill also presented the board with afinancial analysis of the proposal outlined in the Company’s letter of intent.
Nelson Mullins also discussed with FNB'’s board of directors the conflicts of interest that could arise as aresult of certain members of FNB’s
board of directors also serving on the board of directors for Shelby Loan and Mortgage since Shelby Loan and Mortgage would have to
separately review, negotiate and approve the real estate transactions with respect to the four bank properties that the Company had proposed to
acquire. The members of FNB’s board of directors stated that they understood the potential conflicts of interest and as aresult, the disinterested
directors, D. Leon Leonhardt, Larry D. Hamrick, Jr., Max J. Hamrick, John O. Harris 111, Kevin T. James, Helen A. Jeffords,
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MarthaR. Plaster, William E. Plowden, Jr., David W. Royster |11, and John E. Y oung, being those directors that do not also serve on the board of
directors of Shelby L oan and Mortgage, separately approved the letter of intent between FNB and the Company.

After further discussions, FNB’s board of directors determined that the Company’s proposal was acceptable but requested that Sandler
O’'Néeill negotiate with the Company that FNB shareholders be provided the option of 100% stock consideration, that the Company create an
advisory board consisting of the current members of the FNB board of directors, and that Ms. Jeffords receive an employment agreement. FNB’s
board of directors authorized Ms. Jeffords and FNB’slegal and financial advisors to pursue further negotiations with the Company and its legal
counsel, on an exclusive basis, in an effort to reach a definitive merger agreement. The Company revised the letter of intent to provide for the
option for FNB’s shareholdersto elect to receive up to 100% stock consideration in connection with the merger and for the entry into an
employment agreement with Ms. Jeffords. The Company advised FNB, however, that it would not create alocal advisory board, but would agreeto
pay each of the FNB directors a one-time fee of $10,000, which is consistent with the amount of annual fees paid to FNB’s board of directors for
their board service, in exchange for not competing in FNB’s market areas for 12 months following the closing of the merger. The Company also
agreed to pay Ms. Jeffords the same base salary Ms. Jeffords had been receiving as FNB’s Chief Executive Officer. The amount of the total merger
consideration was not affected by the Company agreeing to enter into the employment agreement with Ms. Jeffords or to pay the one-time feeto
members of FNB’s board of directors, nor was it affected by negotiations that the Company had with Shelby L oan and Mortgage relating to the
purchase of the four propertiesthat it or SLMC currently leasesto FNB.

In late December 2012, the Company’slegal counsel, Kutak Rock LLP (“Kutak Rock™), began drafting a definitive merger agreement and, on
January 4, 2013, delivered afirst draft of the definitive merger agreement to Nelson Mullins. Kutak Rock also prepared and delivered drafts of a
form of voting agreement, retention bonus agreement, and non-competition agreement, aswell as an employment agreement for Ms. Jeffords.
Between January 5, 2013 and January 14, 2013, FNB, Nelson Mullins and Sandler O’'Neill conducted athorough review of the first draft of the
merger agreement and the other ancillary agreements. On January 15, 2013, FNB's board of directors met to discuss the status of negotiations with
the Company, including adetailed review of the most current version of the proposed merger agreement, and with the assistance of Nelson
Mullins, adiscussion of matters for which negotiations were still pending. FNB’s management and Nelson Mullins also reviewed with the board
the shareholder and regulatory approvals that would be required to complete the proposed merger, including the required filings by the Company
with the SEC and the likely process and timetable of the merger. FNB'’s board of directors asked numerous questions related to the terms of the
merger, to which Nelson Mullins and Sandler O’ Neill responded, and the board reviewed its position on various matters remaining to be
negotiated. The board of directors authorized and directed FNB’s management to continue discussions with the Company and representatives of
the Company regarding pending open issuesin the negotiations and the draft merger agreement.

Between January 14, 2013 and January 23, 2013, the parties continued to discuss and revise the draft merger agreement to address and
resolve the open business and legal issuesin the transaction. The parties negotiated extensively regarding the provisionsin the draft merger
agreement related to possible adjustments to the purchase price. In particular, the Company proposed that the purchase price should be adjusted if
the closing consolidated net book value dropped below $96 million prior to the closing of the merger. FNB proposed to the Company in response
that certain amounts should be carved out of or added back to the cal cul ations determining the closing consolidated net book value, including the
amount of any deferred tax asset val uation allowance, the amount of prepayment penalties or unwind costs on prepayment of any FHLB-Atlanta
advances and certain structured repurchase agreements and derivative transactions rel ated thereto, and the amount of any other accruals, reserve
or provisions, expenses or charges taken or incurred by FNB that the Company and FNB agreed would be appropriate under the circumstances.
The Company agreed to include the foregoing carve-outs in the merger agreement. The parties also undertook during this period to deliver final
disclosure schedules and exhibits called for by the merger agreement, including aform of voting agreement requested by the Company, pursuant
to
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which each of the directors, executive officers and 5% shareholders of FNB would agree to vote their sharesin favor of the proposed merger
transaction.

On January 23, 2013, the Company’s board of directors held a special meeting to consider the merger. It discussed with the Company’s
management the merger agreement, including the form and amount of merger consideration to be paid by the Company to FNB’s shareholders.
Following alengthy discussion, the Company’s board of directors voted to approve the merger agreement in substantially the form presented, and
to authorize management to finalize and execute the merger agreement and all related documents, including the Jeffords employment agreement, the
non-competition agreements with members of the FNB board of directors and the retention agreements with members of FNB'’s senior management
team.

On January 23, 2013, FNB'’s board of directors held a special meeting, at which Nelson Mullins and Sandler O’ Neill participated.
Representatives of Nelson Mullinsled a discussion regarding the provisions of the merger agreement and responded to numerous questions from
directors. In addition, representatives of Sandler O’ Neill provided a detailed analysis of the financial aspects of the proposed merger and orally
delivered Sandler O’ Neill’s opinion (subsequently confirmed on January 24, 2013 in writing) that the merger consideration wasfair, from afinancial
point of view, to FNB’s shareholders. After final discussion of the proposed transaction and the merger agreement terms, including the
consideration of the factors described below under “FNB’s Reasons for the Merger; Recommendation of FNB Board of Directors,” FNB's board of
directors unanimously determined that the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement were fair to, and in the best interest of, FNB and its
shareholders, and the board unanimously adopted resol utions to approve the merger and the merger agreement, authorize FNB to take other
actions necessary to consummate the proposed transaction and, subject to the exercise of the board’ s fiduciary duties and the terms and
conditions of the merger agreement, recommended that the sharehol ders of FNB approve the merger and the merger agreement. In addition to
approval by the full board of directors of the merger and the merger agreement, the disinterested directors, being those directors that do not serve
on the board of directors of Shelby Loan and Mortgage, separately and unanimously approved the merger and the merger agreement.

On January 24, 2013, Shelby Loan and Mortgage, SLMC and the Company entered into areal estate purchase agreement in connection with
the sale to the Company of four bank properties, which are currently leased to FNB, for approximately $3.8 million. The closing of the real estate
transactionsis expected to occur contemporaneously with the closing of the merger.

Each of the directors, senior management and certain 5% shareholders of FNB executed voting agreements to vote their sharesin favor of
the merger, and FNB and the Company executed and delivered the merger agreement on January 24, 2013, and immediately thereafter issued ajoint
press rel ease announcing the transaction.

FNB’s Reasonsfor the Merger; Recommendation of the FNB Board of Directors

In reaching its decision to adopt and approve the merger agreement and to recommend its approval to FNB shareholders, the FNB board of
directors consulted with senior management and its outside financial and legal advisors and eval uated the increasing difficulty FNB facesin
maintaining and improving performance and value for its shareholders over the long term in the current and prospective economic environment
affecting the banking industry as awhole. The board of directors believesthat economic recovery and improvementsin FNB’s profits and market
valueswill be aslow process, which will be particularly challenging for FNB given the difficulty in growing revenue-producing assetsin the
current economic climate. In addition, although FNB believesit is currently in compliance with the mgjority of the articlesin the Formal Agreement
with the OCC and has reduced the levels of classified assets, the OCC has advised FNB that the Formal Agreement will likely remain in place until
non-performing assets are no longer arisk to capital.

FNB'’s board of directors recognizes that the merger consideration is approximately one-third less than the December 31, 2012 tangible book
value per share of FNB common stock. However, the board of directors nevertheless determined that the proposed merger with the Company isin
the best interests of FNB's
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sharehol ders because, among other things, the merger consideration is approximately two and one-half times the recent average trading range of
FNB’s common stock. Further, in light of FNB’s current earnings per share and its projected earnings per share for the next several yearsasa
stand-alone entity, FNB anticipates on going challenges to an improved earnings stream until nonperforming loans are either remediated or
effectively mitigated by profitable loan growth in FNB’s current markets or through expansion into new markets. The current economy creates an
intensely competitive banking environment, and the board expects minimal improvement in the economy and in FNB’s current markets for the
foreseeable future. Consequently, the potential for FNB to prosper as a stand-al one entity and to contend with stronger banks, as competitors
consolidate, is diminished. In the short term, to restore FNB to a satisfactory level of profitability and reinstate dividends to shareholders, the
board believes the Bank’ sinfrastructure could be downsized to reduce expenses, but this option potentially jeopardizesits long-term viability to
thrive and succeed. As a stand-alone entity, FNB would also face the additional challenges of continuing to operate under the Formal Agreement
with the OCC, which would not be lifted until nonperforming assets are no longer arisk to capital, and FNB would potentially need to raise
additional capital in the future while attempting to achieve a satisfactory level of profitability. In consideration of the challenges described above,
the board began to consider the long-term value of merging with a high-performing financial institution that would have greater financial strength
and earning power than FNB would have on its own, aswell as the ability for FNB shareholders to have more liquidity in their investment. The
board compared the prospects of FNB as a stand-alone entity with the value that FNB shareholders would receive if they elected to take shares of
the Company’s common stock and partner with a high-performing financial institution with a compatible corporate culture, and the board
concluded that the consideration offered in connection with the merger better maximizes the long-term value of shareholders’ investment and isin
the best interests of FNB’s shareholders. See the section “Opinion of FNB’s Financial Advisor” on page 60 for more detailed information in
respect of FNB’s projected earnings per share as a stand-alone entity.

In its deliberations described above and in making its determination, FNB’s board of directors considered many factors including, without
limitation, the following:

* thecurrent and prospective business and economic environment in which FNB operates, including challenging regional and local
economic conditions;

* the competitive environment for North Carolinafinancial institutions characterized by intensifying competition from out-of-state
financial institutions;

* the continuing consolidation of the financial servicesindustry;
* theincreased regulatory burdens on financial institutions;

* theeffects of the expected continued operation of FNB under the regulatory restrictionsimposed by its Formal Agreement with the
OCC;

* theuncertaintiesin the regulatory and economic climate going forward;

* thefact that FNB would have to shrink its assets asit continued to deal with nonperforming loans, making it more difficult to
effectively compete;

* the compatibility of the core philosophy of the Company with that of FNB and the similarities of the markets served by both the
Company and FNB;

* the Company’s superior accessto capital resourcesrelative to that of FNB;
* thebusiness, earnings, operations, financial condition, management, prospects, capital levels and asset quality of the Company;

» thelimited capital-raising alternatives available to FNB and the risk that FNB would not be able to raise a sufficient amount of capital
when needed or in so doing FNB’s shareholders could be significantly diluted by any such capital raise;

* theincreased liquidity for FNB sharehol ders resulting from the merger, and the fact that the Company’s common stock is traded on the
NASDAQ Stock Market;
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the financial analysis prepared by Sandler O'Neill, FNB’sfinancial advisor, and the oral opinion delivered to the FNB board of directors
on January 23, 2013 by Sandler O’'Neill, and confirmed in writing on January 24, 2013, to the effect that the merger consideration isfair,
from afinancial point of view, to FNB'’s shareholders;

the form and amount of merger consideration, and the ability of FNB shareholders to participate in the future performance of the
combined company;

the exchange ratio is not fixed but is based on the negotiated sales price of $160.00 per share of FNB common stock (subject to
possible adjustment), divided by the average closing sale price of the Company’s common stock prior to the closing of the merger,
with amaximum closing sale price to be determined for exchange ratio purposes at no more than $44.20 per share and no less than
$27.00 per share, so that the value received by FNB shareholdersis not materially dependent on the trading price of the Company’s
common stock but on the negotiated sales price;

the strength and recent performance of the Company’s common stock;

the fact that the Company currently pays a cash dividend on its common stock, while FNB does not and is not likely to be ableto pay a
cash dividend in the near future;

the ability of FNB'’s sharehol ders to benefit from the Company’s potential growth and stock appreciation sinceit ismore likely that the
combined entity will have superior future earnings and prospects compared to FNB’s earnings and prospects on an independent
basis;

the belief of the FNB board of directors that the Company is ahigh quality financial services company with a compatible business
culture and shared approach to customer service and increasing shareholder value;

the interest of FNB’s directors and executive officersin the merger, in addition to their interests generally as shareholders, as described
under “— Interests of Certain Executive Officers and Directors’ on page 70;

the likelihood that the regulatory approvals necessary to complete the transaction would be obtained;

the effect of the merger on FNB’s employees, including the prospects for continued employment and the severance and other benefits
agreed to be provided by the Company to FNB’s employees; and

the effect of the merger on FNB’ s customers and the communities in which they conduct business, including, but not limited to, the
increased legal lending limit of the combined company.

FNB'’s board of directors also considered the following potential risks and negative factorsrelating to the merger:

on apro formabasis, theimplied per share tangible book value of the merger consideration received by FNB’s shareholders would be
less than the current tangible book value per share of FNB common stock;

the merger agreement limits FNB’ s ability to pursue other merger opportunities;

the merger agreement obligates FNB to pay the Company a substantial termination feeif FNB chooses before closing to pursue an
unsolicited superior merger proposal from athird party, and aliquidated damage payment if the merger agreement is terminated under
certain other circumstances;

FNB would lose the autonomy associated with being an independent financial institution;
the merger could result in employee attrition and have a negative effect on business and customer relationships;

while the merger is pending, FNB’s officers and employeeswill have to focus extensively on actions required to complete the merger,
which will divert their attention from FNB’s business, and FNB will incur substantial transaction costs even if the merger is not
consummated;
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* whilethe merger is pending, FNB will be subject to certain restrictions on the conduct of its business, which may delay or prevent it
from pursuing business opportunities that may arise or preclude it from taking actions that would be advisable if it were to remain
independent; and

* asFNB currently does not anticipate asking Sandler O’ Neill to update its opinion, the opinion will not address the fairness of the
merger consideration, from afinancial point of view, at the time the merger is completed.

In evaluating a potential merger with the Company, the FNB board of directors carefully considered the Company’sfinancial performance
over the past few years. FNB’s management team, along with Sandler O’ Neill, Nelson Mullinsand Elliott Davis, PLLC, FNB’s independent
accountants, conducted due diligence on the Company to assess, among other things, the Company’s operating and financial condition, including
its balance sheet composition. The FNB board of directors was also impressed by the Company’s capital resources, dividend payment history and
long-term strategic plan, and concluded that a merger with the Company provides FNB with its best option for maximizing long-term value for
FNB’s shareholders.

The FNB board of directors concluded that the anticipated benefits of combining with the Company were likely to substantially outweigh the
potential risks and negative factors outlined above.

Before approving the proposed transaction with the Company, the FNB board of directors discussed at length, with input from Sandler
O’'Neill, FNB’s strategic options, including the fact that FNB has sufficient capital to remain independent or to pursue other alternatives, in relation
to the long-term best interests of its shareholders. The FNB board of directors discussed FNB’s prospects for remaining independent, including
the necessity of downsizing its asset base to address nonperforming loans, which in turn would make it more difficult to effectively compete,
continuing to operate under the Formal Agreement with the OCC, raising capital as an independent entity and restoring a satisfactory level of
profitability if it were to remain independent. The FNB board of directors concluded that combining with the Company on the terms offered by the
Company was in the FNB shareholders’ best interest.

The foregoing discussion of the factors considered by FNB’s board of directorsis not intended to be exhaustive but is believed to include
all the material factors considered by FNB’s board of directors. In view of the wide variety of factors considered in connection with its evaluation
of the merger and the compl exity of these matters, the FNB board of directors did not find it useful and did not attempt to quantify or assign any
relative or specific weightsto the various factorsthat it considered in reaching its determination to approve the merger agreement and the merger
and to recommend that the shareholders vote “ FOR” approval of the merger agreement and the merger. In addition, individual members of the FNB
board of directors may have given differing weights to different factors. The FNB board of directors conducted an overall analysis of the factors
described above, including thorough discussions with, and questioning of, FNB’s management and outside financial and legal advisors. The FNB
board of directors considered all of the foregoing factors as awhole and unanimously supported a favorable determination to approve the merger
and to recommend that FNB shareholders approve the merger agreement and the merger.

The FNB board of directors determined that the merger, the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger
agreement arein thebest interests of FNB and its shareholders. Accordingly, the FNB board of directorsunanimously approved the merger and
the merger agreement and unanimously recommendsthat FNB shareholdersvote“ FOR” approval of the merger agreement and the merger.

The Company’s Reasonsfor the Merger

Bank of the Ozarks' principal purpose for completing the merger with FNB isto expand its banking presence in the North Carolina market.
The Company has had aloan production office in Charlotte, North Carolina since 2001 and recently converted that office to afull service branch.
Shelby is approximately 50 miles west of Charlotte.
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The merger with FNB will significantly increase Bank of the Ozarks' presencein North Carolina. FNB has a dominant deposit sharein its
market area and can be expected to remain a strong source of deposits. FNB has been working through problem loans in its portfolio in recent
years and has decreased its earning assets. The Company will continue to focus on resolving remaining loan issues, but the Company also expects
to resume growth of the loan portfolio in a sound and appropriate manner. The Company believes the four counties making up FNB’s market area
will offer lending opportunities. FNB has atrust department with over $300 million in assets under management and al so has a successful
residential |oan origination department whose personnel and platforms will make a significant contribution to the Company’s planned expansion of
those services in the North Carolina market.

Bank of the Ozarks personnel conducted extensive due diligence procedures on FNB's assets, liabilities, systems and operations. Among
other objectives, those procedures were aimed at determining avalue for FNB’s stock ownership. The Company was aware of FNB’s Formal
Agreement with the Comptroller of the Currency, and gave particular attention to the asset quality issues that were the basis for the Formal
Agreement. However, because the Formal Agreement will be removed by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency upon the closing of the
merger, its existence had little impact on the Company’ s decision to enter into negotiations with the board of directors of FNB regarding a potential
transaction. The Company’s estimates of the fair values of the assets and liabilities of FNB were major determinantsin arriving at the decision to
offer $64 million for the outstanding stock of FNB. The Company determined that the purchase price adequately allowed for the existing asset
quality issues and high cost liabilitiesto be assumed with the acquisition of FNB.

Opinion of FNB’s Financial Advisor

By letter dated August 16, 2012, FNB retained Sandler O’ Neill to act asitsfinancial advisor in connection with a sale of FNB to the Company.
Sandler O'Neill isanationally recognized investment banking firm whose principal business specialty isfinancial institutions. In the ordinary
course of itsinvestment banking business, Sandler O’Neill isregularly engaged in the valuation of financial institutions and their securitiesin
connection with mergers and acquisitions and other corporate transactions.

Sandler O'Neill acted as financial advisor to the Board of Directors of FNB in connection with the proposed transaction and participated in
certain of the negotiations |eading to the execution of the merger agreement, dated as of January 24, 2013. At ameeting of the Board of Directors of
FNB on January 23, 2013, the Board of Directors reviewed the merger agreement and approved the consideration to be received, subject to receipt
of Sandler O’'Neill’s opinion, and Sandler O’ Neill delivered to the Board of Directorsits oral opinion, followed by delivery of itswritten opinion
dated January 24, 2013, that as of such date, the merger consideration wasfair to the holders of FNB common stock from afinancial point of view.
Thefull text of Sandler O’ Neill’swritten opinion dated January 24, 2013 (the “ Opinion”) is attached as Appendix B to this proxy
statement/prospectus. The Opinion outlinesthe procedur esfollowed, assumptions made, matter s consider ed and qualificationsand limitations
on thereview undertaken by Sandler O’ Neill in rendering its Opinion. The description of the Opinion set forth below isqualified in itsentirety
by referenceto the Opinion. FNB shareholdersare urged to read the entire Opinion car efully in connection with their consideration of the
proposed merger.

Sandler O’ Neill’s Opinion speaksonly as of the date of the Opinion. The Opinion was directed to the Board of Directorsof FNB and is
directed only to the fair ness of the merger consideration paid to the holder s of FNB common stock from a financial point of view. It does not
addressthe underlying business decision of FNB to engagein the merger or any other aspect of the merger and isnot a recommendation to any
FNB stockholder asto how such stockholder should vote at the special meeting with respect to the merger or any other matter. Sandler O’ Neill
did not receive any limitationsor instructions from FNB with respect to its Opinion.

In connection with rendering its Opinion, Sandler O’ Neill reviewed and considered, among other things:
* themerger agreement;
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«  certain publicly available financial statements and other historical financial information of FNB that Sandler O’ Neill deemed relevant;

« certain publicly availablefinancial statements and other historical financial information of the Company that Sandler O’ Neill deemed
relevant;

« certaininternal financial projectionsfor FNB for the years ending December 31, 2013 through December 31, 2015 as provided by senior
management of FNB;

* median publicly available analyst earnings estimates for the Company for the years ending December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014
and an estimated long-term growth rate for the year ending December 31, 2015 as discussed with senior management of the Company;

* theproformafinancial impact of the proposed merger on the Company, based on assumptions relating to transaction expenses,
purchase accounting adjustments and cost savings as determined by the senior managements of FNB and the Company;

* thepublicly reported historical price and trading activity for FNB’s and the Company’s common stock, including a comparison of
certain financial and stock market information for FNB and the Company with similar publicly available information for certain other
commercial banks, the securities of which are publicly traded,;

* thetermsand structures of other recent mergers and acquisition transactionsin the commercial banking sector;
* thecurrent market environment generally and in the commercial banking sector in particular; and

» such other information, financia studies, analyses and investigations and financial, economic and market criteriaas Sandler O’ Neill
considered relevant.

Sandler O’ Neill also discussed with certain members of senior management of FNB the business, financial condition, results of operations
and prospects of FNB and held similar discussions with senior management of the Company concerning the business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects of the Company.

In performing itsreview, Sandler O'Neill hasrelied upon the accuracy and completeness of all of the financial and other information that was
availableto Sandler O'Neill from public sources, that was provided to Sandler O’ Neill by FNB and the Company or their respective representatives,
or that was otherwise reviewed by Sandler O’'Neill, and has assumed such accuracy and completeness for purposes of rendering its Opinion.
Sandler O'Neill has further relied on the assurances of the respective managements of FNB and the Company that they are not aware of any facts
or circumstances that would make any of such information inaccurate or misleading. Sandler O’ Neill has not been asked to and has not undertaken
an independent verification of any of such information and does not assume any responsibility or liability for the accuracy or completeness
thereof. Sandler O’'Neill did not make an independent evaluation or appraisal of the specific assets, the collateral securing assets or theliabilities
(contingent or otherwise) of FNB and the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries. Sandler O’'Neill renders no opinion or evaluation on the
collectability of any assets or the future performance of any loans of FNB and the Company. Sandler O’'Neill did not make an independent
evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses of FNB and the Company, or the combined entity after the merger, and it has not
reviewed any individual credit filesrelating to FNB and the Company. Sandler O’ Neill has assumed, with FNB’s consent, that the respective
allowances for loan losses for both FNB and the Company are adequate to cover such losses and will be adequate on a pro formabasis for the
combined entity.

In preparing its analyses, Sandler O’ Neill used internal financial projectionsfor FNB as provided by the senior management of FNB and
median publicly available earnings estimates and along-term growth rate for the Company as discussed with senior management of the Company.
Sandler O’ Neill also received and used in its analyses certain projections of transaction costs, purchase accounting adjustments, expected cost
savings and other synergies which were prepared by and/or reviewed with the senior management of FNB. With respect to those projections,
estimates and judgments, the respective managements of FNB and the Company confirmed to
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Sandler O’ Neill that those projections, estimates and judgments reflected the best currently available estimates and judgments of those respective
managements of the future financial performance of FNB and the Company, respectively, and Sandler O’ Neill assumed that such performance
would be achieved. Sandler O’'Neill expresses no opinion as to such estimates or the assumptions on which they are based. Sandler O’ Neill has
also assumed that there has been no material changein FNB’s and the Company’s assets, financial condition, results of operations, business or
prospects since the date of the most recent financial statements made available to Sandler O’'Neill. Sandler O’ Neill has assumed in all respects
material to itsanalysisthat FNB and the Company will remain as going concernsfor all periods relevant to its analyses, that al of the
representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement and all related agreements are true and correct, that each party to the merger
agreement will perform all of the covenants required to be performed by such party under the merger agreement and that the conditions precedent
in the merger agreement are not waived. Finally, with the consent of FNB, Sandler O’ Neill hasrelied upon the advice that FNB has received from its
legal, accounting and tax advisors asto all legal, accounting and tax matters relating to the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the
merger agreement.

Sandler O'Neill’s Opinion is necessarily based on financial, economic, market and other conditions asin effect on, and the information made
available to us as of, the date hereof. Events occurring after the date hereof could materially affect this Opinion. Sandler O’ Neill has not undertaken
to update, revise, reaffirm or withdraw its Opinion or otherwise comment upon events occurring after the date thereof.

Sandler O'Neill’s Opinion was directed to the Board of Directors of FNB in connection with its consideration of the merger and does not
constitute arecommendation to any shareholder of either of FNB or the Company as to how any such shareholder should vote at any meeting of
shareholders called to consider and vote upon the merger. Sandler O’ Neill’s Opinion is directed only to the fairness, from afinancial point of view,
of the merger consideration to the holders of FNB common stock and does not address the underlying business decision of FNB to engage in the
merger, the relative merits of the merger as compared to any other alternative business strategies that might exist for FNB or the effect of any other
transaction in which FNB might engage. Sandler O’ Neill’s Opinion shall not be reproduced or used for any other purposes, without Sandler
O'Neill’s prior written consent. Sandler O’ Neill’s Opinion has been approved by Sandler O’ Neill’ s fairness opinion committee. Sandler O’ Neill has
consented to inclusion of its Opinion and a summary thereof in this proxy statement/prospectus and in the registration statement on Form S-4
which includes this proxy statement/prospectus. Sandler O’ Neill does not express any opinion asto the fairness of the amount or nature of the
compensation to be received in the merger by any officer, director, or employees, or class of such persons, relative to the compensation to be
received in the merger by any other shareholder.

In rendering its Opinion, Sandler O'Neill performed avariety of financial analyses. The following isasummary of the material analyses
performed by Sandler O’ Neill, but is not acomplete description of al the analyses underlying Sandler O’ Neill’s opinion. The summary includes
information presented in tabular format. I n order to fully under stand the financial analyses, these tables must beread together with the
accompanying text. Thetables alone do not constitute a complete description of the financial analyses. The preparation of afairnessopinionisa
complex process involving subjective judgments as to the most appropriate and relevant methods of financial analysis and the application of those
methods to the particular circumstances. In arriving at its opinion, Sandler O’ Neill did not attribute any particular weight to any analysis or factor
that it considered. Rather, Sandler O’ Neill made qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor. Sandler
O’'Néeill did not form an opinion asto whether any individual analysis or factor (positive or negative) considered in isolation supported or failed to
support its Opinion; rather Sandler O’ Neill made its determination as to the fairness of the merger consideration on the basis of its experience and
professional judgment after considering the results of all its analysestaken as awhole. The process, therefore, is not necessarily susceptibleto a
partial analysis or summary description. Sandler O’ Neill believes that its analyses must be considered as awhole and that selecting portions of the
factors and analyses to be considered without considering all factors and analyses, or attempting to ascribe relative weights to some or all such
factors and analyses, could create an incomplete view of the evaluation process underlying its opinion. Also, no company
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included in Sandler O’ Neill’s comparative analyses described below isidentical to FNB or the Company and no transaction isidentical to the
merger. Accordingly, an analysis of comparable companies or transactions involves complex considerations and judgments concerning differences
in financial and operating characteristics of the companies and other factors that could affect the public trading values or merger transaction
values, as the case may be, of FNB or the Company and the companies to which they are being compared.

In performing its analyses, Sandler O’'Neill also made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, business and economic
conditions and various other matters, many of which cannot be predicted and are beyond the control of FNB, the Company and Sandler O’ Neill.
The analysis performed by Sandler O’ Neill is not necessarily indicative of actual values or future results, both of which may be significantly more
or less favorable than suggested by such analyses. Sandler O’ Neill prepared its analyses solely for purposes of rendering its Opinion and
provided such analyses to the Board of Directors of FNB at the January 23, 2013 meeting. Estimates on the val ues of companies do not purport to
be appraisals or necessarily reflect the prices at which companies or their securities may actually be sold. Such estimates are inherently subject to
uncertainty and actual values may be materially different. Accordingly, Sandler O'Neill’s analyses do not necessarily reflect the value of FNB’s
common stock or the prices at which FNB’s common stock may be sold at any time. The analysis and Opinion of Sandler O'Neill was among a
number of factorstaken into consideration by the Board of Directors of FNB in making its determination to adopt the plan of merger contained in
the merger agreement and the analyses described below should not be viewed as determinative of the decision the Board of Directors of FNB or
management with respect to the fairness of the merger.

At the January 23, 2013 meeting of the Board of Directors of FNB, Sandler O’ Neill presented certain financial analyses of the merger. The
summary below is not acomplete description of the analyses underlying the opinions of Sandler O’ Neill or the presentation made by Sandler
O’'Neill to the Board of Directors of FNB, but isinstead a summary of the material analyses performed and presented in connection with its
Opinion.

Summary of Proposal

Sandler O'Neill reviewed the financial terms of the proposed transaction. Shares of FNB common stock issued and outstanding immediately
prior to the merger will be converted into a combination of shares of Company common stock and cash in aggregate amount equal to $64,000,000,
subject to certain potential adjustments as described herein. The exchange ratio at which shares of FNB common stock will be exchanged for
shares of Company common stock will equal $160.00 divided by the Company’s 10-day average closing price as of the fifth business day prior to
the closing date. Assuming that the 10-day average closing price of Company common stock on the fifth business day prior to the closing of the
merger is $43.18 (which was the average closing price of Company common stock for the ten consecutive trading days ended on May 21, 2013, the
last practicable trading day before the date of this proxy statement/prospectus), then the exchange ratio will be 3.705.

Each outstanding share of common stock of FNB will be converted, at the el ection of each FNB shareholder, into the right to receive shares
of common stock or theright to receive cash, all subject to certain conditions and potential adjustments, provided that at least 51% of the merger
consideration paid to FNB shareholders will consist of shares of Company common stock. The number of shares of Company common stock to be
issued will be determined based on FNB shareholder el ections and the Company’s 10-day average closing stock price as of the fifth business day
prior to the closing date, subject to afloor of $27.00 per share and a ceiling of $44.20 per share. Based upon financial information as or for the
guarter ended September 30, 2012, Sandler O’ Neill calculated the following transaction ratios:

Transaction Value/ Book Value: 64%
Transaction Value/ Tangible Book Value: 64%
Transaction Value/ Last Twelve Months Earnings Per Share: 31.9x
Core Deposit Premium: (7.2%)
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FNB — Compar able Company Analysis
Sandler O'Neill also used publicly available information to compare selected financial and market trading information for FNB and a group of
financial institutions selected by Sandler O’ Nelill.

The FNB peer group consisted of the following selected North Carolina, South Carolina, Virginia and Georgia publicly-traded banks and
thrifts with total assets between $400 million and $1.5 billion and nonperforming assetsto total assets between 5% and 10%:

1st Financial Services Corporation Four Oaks Fincorp, Inc.
CarolinaBank Holdings, Inc. Franklin Financial Corporation
Coastal Banking Company, Inc. Highlands Bankshares, Inc.
Colony Bankcorp, Inc. New Peoples Bankshares, Inc.
Community First Bancorporation North State Bancorp

First South Bancorp, Inc. Palmetto Bancshares, Inc.

The analysis compared publicly available financial information for FNB and the median financial and market trading data for the FNB peer
group as of and for the last twelve months ended September 30, 2012. The table below sets forth the datafor FNB and the median datafor the FNB
peer group as of and for the last twelve months ended September 30, 2012, with pricing data as of January 18, 2013.

FNB Comparable Group Median

Total Assets (in millions) $834 $ 713
Tangible Common Equity / Tangible Assets 11.4% 5.8%
Total Risk Based Capital Ratio 17.2% 13.9%
Return on Average Assets 0.22% (0.11%)
Return on Average Equity 2.0% (2.1%)
Net Interest Margin 3.30% 3.34%
Efficiency Ratio 66% 79%
Loan Loss Reserve/ Gross Loans 3.39% 2.20%
Non-performing Assets/ Assets 7.08% 7.04%
Price/ Tangible Book Value 27% 68%
Price/ LTM EPS 13.5x 19.4x
Market Capitalization (in millions) $27 $ 27

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. — Compar able Company Analysis

Sandler O'Neill also used publicly available information to compare selected financial and market trading information for the Company and
two groups of financial institutions selected by Sandler O’ Neill.

Thefirst Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. peer group consisted of the selected nationwide publicly-traded banks and thrifts with total assets between
$3.5 billion and $35.0 hillion, nonperforming assets to total assets less than 1%, and return on average assets over the last 12 months greater than
14%:

Bank of Hawaii Corporation Texas Capital Bancshares, Inc.
First Financia Bankshares, Inc. Westamerica Bancorporation

The analysis compared publicly available financial information for the Company and the median financial and market trading datafor the first
Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. peer group as of and for the last twelve months ended September 30, 2012. The table below sets forth the datafor the
Company and the median datafor the first Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. peer group as of and for the last twelve months ended September 30, 2012, with
pricing data as of January 18, 2013.
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Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. Comparable Group Median

Total Assets (in millions) $ 3823 $ 7,371
Tangible Common Equity / Tangible Assets 12.3% 8.34%
Total Risk Based Capital Ratio 19.1% 16.8%
Return on Average Assets 1.95% 1.52%
Return on Average Equity 16.6% 15.8%
Net Interest Margin 5.97% 4.41%
Efficiency Ratio 45% 49%
Loan Loss Reserve/ Gross Loans 1.44% 1.57%
Non-performing Assets/ Assets 0.59% 0.76%
Price/ Tangible Book Value 264% 259%
Price/ LTM EPS 16.7x 15.2x
Price/ 2013 Estimated EPS 15.5x 14.7x
Market Capitalization (in millions) $ 1256 $ 1,600

The second Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. peer group consisted of the following publicly-traded banks and thrifts with assets greater than $2.0
billion that have acquired three or more companies through strategic or FDIC-assisted transactions since January 1, 2011:

Ameris Bancorp Investors Bancorp, Inc. (MHC)
BNC Bancorp Prosperity Bancshares, Inc.
CenterState Banks, Inc. SCBT Financia Corporation
ColumbiaBanking System, Inc. Trustmark Corporation

Home BancShares, Inc. Wintrust Financial Corporation

IBERIABANK Corporation

The analysis compared publicly available financial information for the Company and the median financial and market trading datafor the
second Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. peer group as of and for the last twelve months ended September 30, 2012. The table bel ow sets forth the data for
the Company and the median data for the second Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. peer group as of and for the last twelve months ended September 30,
2012, with pricing data as of January 18, 2013.

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. Comparable Group Median

Total Assets (in millions) $ 3823 % 4,903
Tangible Common Equity / Tangible Assets 12.3% 8.8%
Total Risk Based Capital Ratio 19.1% 15.3%
Return on Average Assets 1.95% 0.80%
Return on Average Equity 16.6% 7.2%
Net Interest Margin 5.97% 4.12%
Efficiency Ratio 45% 63%
Loan Loss Reserve/ Gross Loans 1.44% 1.80%
Non-performing Assets/ Assets 0.59% 1.81%
Price/ Tangible Book Value 264% 140%
Price/ LTM EPS 16.7x 17.9x
Price/ 2013 Estimated EPS 15.5x 13.9x
Market Capitalization (in millions) $ 1256 $ 970

FNB — Stock Price Performance

Sandler O'Neill reviewed the history of the publicly reported trading prices of FNB’s common stock for the one-year period ended
January 15, 2013. Sandler O’'Neill also reviewed the history of the publicly reported
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trading prices of FNB’s common stock for the three-year period ended January 15, 2013. Sandler O’ Neill then compared the relationship between
the movements in the price of FNB’s common stock against the movements in the prices of the S& P Bank Index, the NASDAQ Bank Index and the
S& P 500 Index.

FNB OneYear Stock Performance

Beginning Index Value Ending Index Value

January 15, 2012 January 15, 2013
FNB 0% (2%)
S& P Bank 0% 15%
NASDAQ Bank Index 0% 13%
S& P 500 Index 0% 14%

FNB Three Year Stock Performance
Beginning Index Value Ending Index Value

January 15, 2010 January 15, 2013
FNB 0% (61%)
S& P Bank 0% 21%
NASDAQ Bank Index 0% 13%
S& P 500 Index 0% 30%

The Company — Stock Price Performance

Sandler O’ Neill reviewed the history of the publicly reported trading prices of the Company’s common stock for the one-year period ended
January 15, 2013. Sandler O’ Neill also reviewed the history of the publicly reported trading prices of the Company’s common stock for the three-
year period ended January 15, 2013. Sandler O’ Neill then compared the rel ationship between the movements in the price of the Company’s common
stock against the movementsin the prices of the S& P Bank Index, the NASDAQ Bank Index and the S& P 500 Index.

The Company One Year Stock Performance

Beginning Index Value Ending Index Value
January 15, 2012 January 15, 2013
The Company 0% 12%
S& P Bank 0% 15%
NASDAQ Bank Index 0% 13%
S& P 500 Index 0% 14%
The Company Three Year Stock Performance
Beginning Index Value Ending Index Value
January 15, 2010 January 15, 2013
The Company 0% 134%
S& P Bank 0% 21%
NASDAQ Bank Index 0% 13%
S& P 500 Index 0% 30%

FNB — Net Present Value Analysis
Sandler O’ Neill performed an analysis that estimated the present value of FNB through December 31, 2015.
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Sandler O’ Neill based the analysis on FNB’ s projected earnings stream as derived from the internal financial projections provided by FNB
management for the years ending December 31, 2012 through 2015.

To approximate the terminal value of FNB’s common stock at December 31, 2015, Sandler O’ Neill applied price to forward earnings multiples
of 8.0x to 18.0x and multiples of tangible book value ranging from 25% to 100%. The income streams and terminal values were then discounted to
present val ues using different discount rates ranging from 10.7% to 16.7%.

Earnings Per Share Multiples

Discount Rate 8.0x 10.0x 12.0x 14.0x 16.0x 18.0x

10.7% 86.58 10823 12987 15152 17316 19481
11.7% 84.09 10511 126.13 14715 168.17 189.19
12.7% 81.68 10211 12253 14295 163.37 183.79
13.7% 79.37 99.21 11906 13890 158.74 17859
14.7% 77.14 9643 11572 13500 15429 17357
15.7% 75.00 93.75 11250 13125 150.00 168.74
16.7% 72.93 91.16 109.39 127.63 14586 164.09

Tangible Book Value Per Share Multiples

Discount Rate 25% 40% 55% 70% 85% 100%

10.7% 4899 7838 107.77 13716 16655 195.94
11.7% 4757 7612 10466 13321 16175 190.30
12.7% 4622 7395 10167 12940 15713 184.86
13.7% 4491 7185 9880 12574 152.68 179.63
14.7% 43.65 69.84 9.02 12221 14840 174.59
15.7% 4243 67.89 9335 11881 14427 169.73
16.7% 4126  66.02 90.78 11553 14029 165.05

Sandler O'Neill also considered and discussed with the Board of Directors of FNB how this analysis would be affected by changesin the
underlying assumptions, including variations with respect to net income. To illustrate thisimpact, Sandler O’ Neill performed asimilar analysis
assuming FNB’s net income varied from 15% above projections to 15% below projections. This analysis resulted in the following reference ranges
of indicated aggregate values for FNB’s common stock, using a discount rate of 13.7%:

Earnings Per Share Multiples

Annual Budget Variance 8.0x 10.0x 12.0x 14.0x 16.0x 18.0x

(15.0%) 67.47 8433 10120 118.07 13493 151.80
(10.0%) 71.43 89.29 107.15 12501 14287 160.73
(5.0%) 75.40 9425 11310 13196 150.81 169.66
0.0% 79.37 99.21 11906 13890 158.74 178.59
5.0% 8334 10418 12501 14585 166.68 187.52
10.0% 8731 109.14 130.96 15279 17462 196.45
15.0% 9128 11410 136.92 159.74 18256 205.37

The Company — Net Present Value Analysis.
Sandler O'Neill performed an analysis that estimated the present value of the Company through December 31, 2015.
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Sandler O’ Neill based the analysis on the Company’s projected earnings stream as derived from median publicly available analyst earnings
estimates for the Company for the years ending December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014 and an estimated |ong-term growth rate for the year

ending December 31, 2015 as discussed with senior management of the Company.

To approximate the terminal value of the Company’s common stock at December 31, 2015, Sandler O’ Neill applied price to forward earnings
multiples of 13.5x to 21.0x and multiples of tangible book value ranging from 175% to 300%. The income streams and terminal values were then

discounted to present values using different discount rates ranging from 8.7% to 14.7%.

Earnings Per Share Multiples

Discount Rate
8.7%
9.7%
10.7%
11.7%
12.7%
13.7%
14.7%

Tangible Book Value Per Share Multiples

Discount Rate
8.7%
9.7%
10.7%
11.7%
12.7%
13.7%
14.7%

13.5x 15.0x 16.5x 18.0x 19.5x 21.0x

2823 3121 3419 3717 4015 4313
2741 3031 3320 3610 3899 4188
26.63 2044 3225 3506 37.87  40.68
25.88 2861 3134 3406 3679  39.52
25.15 2780 3046 3311 3576 3841
24.46 2703 2961 3218 3476  37.33
23.78 2629 2879 3129 3380 3630
175% 200% 225% 250% 275% 300%

2827 3211 3594 3978 4362 4745
2746 3118 3490 3863 4235  46.07
2667 3029 3390 3752 4113 4475
25.92 2043 3294 3645 3996 4348
25.19 2860 3201 3543 3884 4225
24.49 2781 3112 3444 3775 4107
23.82 27104 3026 3348 3671  39.93

Sandler O'Neill also considered and discussed with the Board of Directors of FNB how this analysis would be affected by changesin the
underlying assumptions, including variations with respect to net income. To illustrate thisimpact, Sandler O’ Neill performed asimilar anaysis

assuming the Company’s net income varied from 15% above projections to 15% below projections. Thisanalysis resulted in the following

reference ranges of indicated per share values for the Company’s common stock, using a discount rate of 11.7%:

Earnings Per Share Multiples

Annual Budget Variance
(15.0%)

(10.0%)

(5.0%)

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%
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13.5x 15.0x 16.5x 18.0x 19.5x 21.0x

22.20 2451  26.83 2915 3147 3379
2342 2588 2833 3079 3325 3570
24.65 27124 2084 3243 3502 3761
25.88 2861 3134 3406 3679  39.52
27.11 2997 3284 3570 3857 4143
2833 3134 3434 3734 4034 4334
2056 3270 3584 3898 4211 4525
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Analysisof Selected Merger Transactions
Sandler O'Neill reviewed two sets of comparable mergers and acquisitions.

Thefirst set of mergers and acquisitions included 10 transactions announced from January 1, 2011 through January 18, 2013 in which the
targets were Southeastern banks with nonperforming assets to total assets greater than 5.0% and with announced transaction val ues between $15
million and $100 million. Sandler O’ Neill deemed these transactions to be reflective of the proposed combination of FNB and the Company. Sandler
O'Neill reviewed the following multiples: transaction price to book value, transaction price to tangible book value, transaction priceto last twelve
months’ earnings per share and core deposit premium. Asillustrated in the following table, Sandler O’ Neill compared the proposed merger
multiples to the median multiples of these comparable transactions.

FNB / Bank of the Comparable
Ozarks, Inc. Transactions Median
Transaction Value/ Book Value 64% 69%
Transaction Value/ Tangible Book Value 64% 69%
Transaction Value/ Last Twelve Months Earnings Per Share 31.9x 23.0x
Core Deposit Premium (7.2%) (4.0%)

The second set of mergers and acquisitions included 15 transactions announced from January 1, 2011 through January 18, 2013 in which the
targets had NPA /A ssets between 5.0% and 10% and with announced transaction val ues between $15 million and $100 million. Sandler O’ Neill
deemed these transactions to be reflective of the proposed FNB and the Company combination. Sandler O’ Neill reviewed the following multiples:
transaction price to book value, transaction price to tangible book value, transaction price to last twelve months' earnings per share and core
deposit premium. Asillustrated in the following table, Sandler O’ Neill compared the proposed merger multiples to the median multiples of these
comparabl e transactions.

FNB / Bank of the Comparable
Ozarks, Inc. Transactions Median
Transaction Value/ Book Value 64% 68%
Transaction Value/ Tangible Book Value 64% 70%
Transaction Value/ Last Twelve Months Earnings Per Share 31.9x 19.2x
Core Deposit Premium (7.2%) (3.4%)

Pro FormaMerger Analysis

Sandler O'Neill analyzed certain potential pro forma effects of the merger, assuming the following: (1) the merger is completed in the second
quarter of 2013; (2) the deal value per shareis equal to a$160.00 per share of FNB common stock and the exchangeratio is equal to 3.705; (3) cost
savings of $7.2 million on an annual basis fully phased-in in 2014; (4) one-time costs of $2.2 million pre-tax are expensed prior to closing and $0.3
million pre-tax are expensed in 2013; (5) FNB'’s performance was calculated in accordance with FNB’s management’ s prepared earnings projections;
(6) the Company’s performance was cal culated in accordance with the publicly available earnings estimates for the Company; and (7) certain other
assumptions pertaining to costs and expenses associated with the transaction, intangible amortization, opportunity cost of cash and other items.
The analyses indicated that, for the full years 2013 and 2014, the merger (excluding transaction expenses) would be accretive to the Company’s
projected earnings per share and tangible book value per share. The actual results achieved by the combined company may vary from projected
results and the variations may be material.

Sandler O'Neill’s Compensation and Other Relationshipswith FNB

Sandler O’ Neill has acted as financial advisor to the Board of Directors of FNB in connection with the merger. The Board of Directors of FNB
agreed to pay Sandler O’'Neill atransaction fee of 1.5% of the aggregate deal value, or $960,000, to be paid upon the closing of the merger. Sandler
O'Neill aso received afee of
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$250,000 upon the rendering of its Opinion to the Board of Directors of FNB, which is credited against the fee to be paid upon the closing of the
merger. FNB has also agreed to reimburse Sandler O’ Neill for its reasonabl e out-of-pocket expenses, up to $10,000 and subsequent to management
approval thereafter, and to indemnify Sandler O’ Neill against any liabilities arising out of its engagement, except those resulting from Sandler
O'Neill’swillful misconduct or gross negligence. Sandler O’ Neill’s Opinion was approved by Sandler O’ Neill’ s fairness opinion committee. Sandler
O’'Neill has consented to the inclusion of its opinionin this registration statement.

In the ordinary course of their respective broker and dealer businesses, Sandler O’ Neill may purchase securities from and sell securitiesto
FNB and the Company and their affiliates. Sandler O’ Neill may also actively trade the debt and/or equity securities of FNB and the Company or
their affiliates for their own accounts and for the accounts of their customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold along or short positionin
such securities. During the two years preceding the date of its Opinion, Sandler O’ Neill performed routine broker and dealer services for FNB and
received customary compensation for such services. During such period, other than the compensation described above, Sandler O’ Neill has not
received any fees from either FNB or the Company.

Employee Matters

Each individual who is an employee of FNB as of the closing of the merger (whose employment is not specifically terminated upon the
closing) will become an employee of the Company or Bank of the Ozarks.

All FNB employees who become employees of the Company or Bank of the Ozarks at the effective time of the merger will be entitled to
participate in the Company’s benefit plans to the same extent as similarly situated Company employees and will be given credit for their service at
FNB. The Company will also use commercially reasonable efforts to cause each such Company benefit plan to waive any waiting periods, evidence
of insurability requirements, and the application of any pre-existing conditions limitations. Any employee of FNB who is terminated within 180
days after the effective time of the merger and who does not receive a severance payment in connection with the merger will receive a severance
payment equal to one (1) week of base weekly pay for each year of completed employment service with FNB, with a maximum severance payment
equal to twelve (12) weeks of base pay. No former employee of FNB will receive a change of control or severance payment from the Company if he
or shereceived a change of control payment from FNB.

Interests of Certain Executive Officersand Directorsin the Merger

Certain directors and executive officers of FNB have interests in the merger asindividualsin addition to, or different from, their interests as
shareholders of FNB, including, but not limited to, (i) in the case of certain officers and directors of FNB, agreements with Bank of the Ozarks that
provide for payments and benefitsin addition to the merger consideration and (ii) the continuation of indemnification and insurance coverage (for
officers and directors) provided by the Company for alimited time after the merger. There are no outstanding FNB stock options. The FNB board
of directors was aware of these interests and circumstances and considered them in its decision to approve the merger agreement. These interests
are discussed below.

Retention Agreements

The conversion of certain information technology and telecommunications systems currently operated by FNB to the systems operated by
Bank of the Ozarks will not be completed until several months following the closing of the transaction. Certain members of FNB management were
identified by the Company to be critical to the successful operation of FNB systems during that interval period and to the successful and efficient
conversion to Bank of the Ozarks' systems. It isimportant to the Company that those management members continuein their present operating
capacities until those conversion and integration processes are completed. Accordingly, as acondition to the closing of the merger, Helen A.
Jeffords, Carol A. Wood, Thomas L. Weaver, Eric E. Mclntire, and LisaP. Alvino, al officers of FNB, will enter into retention agreements with Bank
of the Ozarks (the “ Retention Agreements’). Pursuant to the Retention Agreements, Bank of the Ozarkswill pay each of the officers aretention
bonus to induce such officers to maintain continuous full-time employment with Bank of the
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Ozarks and to assist in Bank of the Ozarks' conversion and integration of FNB’s operations and computer, information and telecommunications
systems with those of Bank of the Ozarks. Each of the retention bonuses will equal one year’s base salary for such officer, and will be payablein
two equal installments, the first of which will be paid upon the closing of the merger and the second of which will be paid upon the earlier of 30
daysfollowing completion of the integration or seven (7) months after the closing of the merger, provided that such officer remains employed by
Bank of the Ozarks at that time.

Employment Agreement

During the performance of its due diligence activities relating to FNB, Bank of the Ozarks determined that FNB’s current President and Chief
Executive Officer, Helen A. Jeffords, could play an important long term role in providing executive management to its acquired Shelby Division. In
addition to her knowledge of and experience with the internal operations of FNB and her critical participation in the conversion of FNB’s systems
to the systems of Bank of the Ozarks, Jeffords' knowledge of the local markets and her relationships with FNB customers and vendors are viewed
asimportant assets that Bank of the Ozarks wants to capitalize on asit conducts its business operations in the FNB markets. Therefore, asa
condition to the closing of the merger, Jeffords will enter into an employment agreement with Bank of the Ozarks (the “ Jeffords Employment
Agreement”). Pursuant to the Jeffords Employment Agreement, Jeffords will continue her employment with Bank of the Ozarks as an executive
officer of its Shelby Division, for atwo-year term with an annual base salary of $285,000, and she will be eligible to participate in all Bank of the
Ozarksinsurance and benefit plans. In addition, Jeffords will receive reimbursement of business expenses, including travel, cellular phone, dues for
one country club membership, acar allowance of $500 per month, taxes owed under FNB’ s Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, and
reasonable marketing and client devel opment expenses. The Jeffords Employment Agreement has alonger term and contains numerous features
not included in the Retention Agreements outlined in the preceding paragraph, including arequirement for her exclusive services, prohibitions of
solicitations of FNB employees or current or prospective customers for the period of her employment and the following three years, and the
reguirement for cooperation after termination of her employment. The rationale for Bank of the Ozarks entering into the Jeffords Employment
Agreement is separate and distinct from the objectives accomplished through the execution of the Retention Agreements with the five FNB
management members, all of whom are viewed as highly important to the conduct of business during the months immediately following the closing
of the merger.

Non-Competition Agreements

Asacondition to the closing of the merger, all of the directors of FNB will enter into non-competition agreements with Bank of the Ozarks
(the “Non-Competition Agreements”). Pursuant to the Non-Competition Agreements, in exchange for alump sum payment of $10,000, each of the
directors of FNB will agree for the twelve (12) month period following the closing of the merger not to (i) disclose any confidential information
pertaining to the business or operations of FNB, (ii) solicit any employee of FNB or the Company for employment, or (iii) engage in business that
competes with the Company within afifteen (15) mile radius of any banking office operated by FNB on the date of the closing of the merger.

The forms of the Jeffords Employment Agreement, the Non-Competition Agreements and the Retention Agreements are included as Exhibits
A, B, and C, respectively, to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, which isincluded as Appendix A to this proxy statement/prospectus.

I ndemnification

Pursuant to the merger agreement, for aperiod of six years after the effective time of the merger, all rightsto indemnification currently existing
in favor of any officer or director of FNB with respect to matters occurring on or prior to the effective date of the merger will continue in effect and
will be enforceable against the Company. The Company and FNB agreed that from and after the effective time of the merger, the Company will, for
aperiod of six years, indemnify, defend and hold harmless each present and former officer and director of
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FNB to the fullest extent currently provided under the articles of association and/or bylaws of FNB if such claim pertainsto any matter arising,
existing or occurring at or before the effective time of the merger, regardless of whether such claim is asserted or claimed before or after the
effective time of the merger.

Officersand Directors Liability Insurance

The Company and FNB have agreed that for a period of six years after the effective time of the merger the Company will useits commercially
reasonable efforts to maintain an officers' and directors' liability insurance policy for present and former officers and directors of FNB, providing
substantially similar coverage to that offered under FNB’s existing officers’ and directors’ liability insurance policy.

Management and Oper ations After the Merger

Upon closing of the merger between FNB and Bank of the Ozarks, the separate existence of FNB will cease. The directors and officers of the
Company and Bank of the Ozarksimmediately prior to the merger will continue as directors and officers of the Company and Bank of the Ozarks,
respectively, after the merger.

Under the terms of the merger agreement, the articles of incorporation and bylaws of Bank of the Ozarks will be the articles of incorporation
and bylaws of the combined entity which will retain the name of Bank of the Ozarks. Bank of the Ozarks, as the resulting entity, will continue to
operate under its policies, practices and procedures currently in place. Upon completion of the merger, all assets and property owned by FNB will
immediately become the property of Bank of the Ozarks.

Effective Date of the Merger

The parties expect that the merger will be effectivein the third quarter of 2013, or as soon as possible after the receipt of all regulatory and
shareholder approvals, all regulatory waiting periods expire and all other conditions to the completion of the merger have been satisfied or waived.
The merger will be legally completed by the filing of the merger agreement and articles of merger with the Arkansas State Bank Department. If the
merger is not consummated by August 31, 2013, and no consent to extend the date of consummation of the merger beyond such date has been
granted by the party seeking to terminate, the merger agreement may be terminated by either FNB or the Company.

Conduct of Business Pending the M er ger

The merger agreement contains various restrictions on the operations of FNB before the effective time of the merger. In general, the merger
agreement obligates FNB to conduct its businessin the usual, regular and ordinary course of business consistent with past practice. In addition,
FNB has agreed that, except as expressly contemplated by the merger agreement or specified in a schedul e to the merger agreement, without the
prior written consent of the Company, it will not, among other things:

* Issue, sell, pledge, or otherwise dispose of any shares of its capital stock, any substantial part of its assets or earning power, or any
asset other than in the ordinary course of business,

* Declareor pay any dividends or make other distributionsin respect of its capital stock, unless such dividend was declared on or prior
to October 31, 2012;

*  Amend any existing employment, severance or similar contract, or enter into any new such contract except as contemplated by the
merger agreement;

*  Grant any increase in compensation or benefitsto its officers or other employees or pay any bonus except as contemplated by the
merger agreement;

* Hireany new employee with an annual salary in excess of $50,000 or promote any employee, except to satisfy contractual obligations
existing on the date of the merger agreement;
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*  Adopt any new employee benefit plan or make any material change to any existing employee benefit plan, except as contemplated by
the merger agreement or as may be required by law or that is made to satisfy contractual obligations;

* Enter into transactions with officers, directors or affiliates of FNB other than compensation or business expense reimbursement in the
ordinary course of business or as otherwise contemplated in the merger agreement;

* Acquireall or any portion of the assets, business, deposits or properties of any other entity, other than in connection with, among
other things, good faith foreclosuresin the ordinary course of business;

*  Other than in the ordinary course of its business, make any capital expendituresin amounts exceeding $50,000 in the aggregate;
* Amend itsarticles of association or bylaws;

* Implement or adopt any change in its accounting principles, practices or methods, other than as may be required by law or generally
accepted accounting principlesinthe U.S. (“GAAP”);

*  Enter into, amend, modify or terminate any material contract, lease or insurance policy;

*  Settleany action, suit, claim or proceeding that involves payment by FNB in excess of $25,000 individually, or $50,000 in the aggregate
or that would impose any material restriction on the business of FNB or any of its subsidiaries;

*  Enter into any derivative transaction;

* Incur any additional debt obligation or other obligation for borrowed money, except in the ordinary course of its business consistent
with past practices;

* Repurchase or acquire any shares of its capital stock;

* Acquire, sell or otherwise dispose of any investment securities, other than by way of foreclosures or acquisitionsin abonafide
fiduciary capacity or in satisfaction of debts previously contracted in good faith;

* Makeany changesto deposit pricing;

*  Except asiscontemplated in the merger agreement, make, renew, renegotiate, increase, extend or modify any unsecured |oan over
$25,000, any loan over $25,000 secured by other than afirst lien, any loan over $25,000 in excess of regulatory loan-to-value ratios, any
loan that would result in the outstanding credit to any borrower being over $250,000, or any loan with a duration of more than 60
months; or

* Makeany investment or commitment to invest in real estate or in any real estate development project other than by way of foreclosure
or deed in lieu thereof.

In addition to these covenants, the merger agreement contains various other customary covenants, including, among other things, access to
information and each party’s agreement to use its commercially reasonable effortsto obtain all required consents.

Representationsand Warranties

The merger agreement contains a number of customary representations and warranties by the Company and FNB regarding aspects of their
respective businesses, financial condition, structure and other facts pertinent to the merger that are customary for atransaction of thiskind. They
include, among other things:

* theorganization, existence, and corporate power and authority of each of the companies;
* thecapitalization of each of the companies;
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the status of subsidiaries;

the corporate power and authority to consummate the merger;

the regulatory approvals required to consummate the merger;

the absence of conflicts with and violations of law;

the absence of any undisclosed liahilities;

the absence of adverse material litigation;

accuracy of information in the Company’s reports and financial statements filed with the SEC;
the existence, performance and legal effect of certain contracts and insurance policies;
thefiling of tax returns, payment of taxes and other tax matters by each party;

labor and empl oyee benefit matters;

compliance with applicable environmental |laws by each party; and

the status of tangible property, intellectual property, certain loans and non-performing and classified assets of FNB.

Conditionstothe Merger

The respective obligations of the Company and FNB to complete the merger are subject to various conditions prior to the merger. The
conditions include the following:

the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the parties set forth in the merger agreement subject to the standards set forth in
the merger agreement;

the performance of all agreements and covenants required by the merger agreement to be performed prior to the closing of the merger;
the delivery of certain certificates of the appropriate officers of FNB and the Company;
approval of the merger agreement by the sharehol ders of FNB;

the receipt of all required regulatory approvals or authorizations, provided that none of these approvals contain any non-standard
condition that would prohibit or materially limit the ownership or operation of the business of FNB by the Company or Bank of the
Ozarks or would compel the Company or Bank of the Ozarks to dispose of any material portion of the business or assets of FNB, the
Company or Bank of the Ozarks,

the absence of any injunction, order, judgment or decree restraining or prohibiting completion of any of the transactions contemplated
by the merger agreement;

the registration statement of the Company of which this proxy statement/prospectusis a part must have become effective under the
Securities Act and no “stop order” shall have been entered by the SEC and be continuing in effect;

neither FNB nor the Company shall have suffered a material adverse effect;

the issuance of tax opinionsto each of FNB and the Company to the effect that the merger will qualify as atax-free reorganization
under United States federal income tax laws;

the number of shares of FNB common stock outstanding as of the effective date of the merger shall not exceed 400,000;
Bank of the Ozarks and certain officers and directors of FNB shall have entered into the Jeffords Employment Agreement, the Non-
Competition Agreements and the Retention Agreements; and
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»  Either (i) the transactions contemplated by that certain Agreement of Purchase and Sale between Bank of the Ozarks, as purchaser, and
Shelby Loan and Mortgage and SLMC, collectively as sellers, dated January 24, 2013 (the “ Real Estate Purchase Agreement”) shall
have closed simultaneous with the merger or (ii) the Real Estate Purchase Agreement shall not have been terminated and none of the
parties thereto shall be in material breach of the Real Estate Purchase Agreement.

The parties may waive conditionsto their obligations unless they are legally prohibited from doing so. Shareholder approval and regulatory
approvals may not be legally waived.

Regulatory Approvals Required for the Mer ger
General

FNB and the Company have agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all permits, consents, approvals and authorizations of all
third parties and governmental authorities that are necessary or advisable to consummate the merger. Thisincludes the approval of the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System (“FRB”) unless waived, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC") and the Arkansas State
Bank Department. The Company requested from the FRB awaiver from the requirement to file an application for approval on March 19, 2013. The
reguirement to submit an application to the FRB waswaived on March 29, 2013. The applications seeking such respective approvals from the FDIC
and the Arkansas State Bank Department by the Company, Bank of the Ozarks and FNB were filed with the requisite banking regul atory agencies
on February 26, 2013. The applications for approval of the merger were approved by the FDIC on April 9, 2013 and by the Arkansas State Bank
Department on April 18, 2013. Such approvals require the observance by the parties of certain waiting periods following the agencies’ approvals
before the merger may be consummated. The Company cannot assure that there will not be any litigation challenging the approvals or waivers.
The Company also cannot assure that the United States Department of Justice or any state attorney general will not attempt to challenge the
merger on antitrust grounds, or what the outcome will be if such achallenge is made.

The Company is not aware of any material governmental approvals or actionsthat are required prior to the merger other than those described
below. In particular, neither FNB nor the Company isrequired to file any applications for approval of the merger by the OCC, athough the OCC is
to be provided with copies of applications and notices filed with the other regulatory agencies. The Company presently contemplates that it will
seek any additional governmental approvals or actions that may be required; however, it cannot assure that it will obtain any such additional
approvals or actions.

FRB
Unless approval iswaived, the merger is subject to the prior approval of the FRB, which may not approve a merger if:

»  such transaction would result in amonopoly or would be in furtherance of any combination or conspiracy to monopolize or attempt to
monopolize the business of banking in any part of the United States; or

* theeffect of such transaction, in any section of the country, may be to substantially lessen competition, or tend to create a monopoly,
or in any manner restrain trade, unlessin each case the FRB finds that the anticompetitive effects of the proposed transaction are
clearly outweighed in the public interest by the probable effect of the transaction in meeting the convenience and needs of the
communities to be served. In every case, the FRB isrequired to consider the financial and managerial resources and future prospects
of the banks concerned and the convenience and needs of the communities to be served. Under the Community Reinvestment Act of
1977, the FRB also must take into account the record of performance of each bank in meeting the credit needs of the entire community,
including low and moderate-income neighborhoods, served by each bank holding company and its subsidiaries. Applicable
regulations require publication of notice of an application for approval of the merger and an opportunity for the public to comment on
the application in writing and to request a hearing.
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If awaiver is sought but not granted, and application is thereafter made to the FRB, any transaction approved by the FRB may not be
completed until 30 days after such approval, during which time the U.S. Department of Justice may challenge such transaction on antitrust
grounds and seek divesture of certain assets and liabilities. With the approval of the FRB and the U.S. Department of Justice, the waiting period
may be reduced to 15 days.

The Company filed arequest for awaiver of the required application with the FRB on March 19, 2013 and the request was approved on
March 29, 2013.

FDIC

The Bank Merger Act requiresthe prior written approval of the FDIC before any insured depository institution may merge or consolidate
with another insured depository institution if the resulting institution is to be a state non-member bank. As a state non-member bank, the
Company’s subsidiary, Bank of the Ozarks, filed its application for approval of the merger with the FDIC on February 26, 2013. The application was
approved by the FDIC on April 9, 2013.

The Bank Merger Act prohibits the FDIC from approving any proposed merger transaction that would result in amonopoly, or would further
acombination or conspiracy to monopolize or to attempt to monopolize the business of banking in any part of the United States. Similarly, the
Bank Merger Act prohibits the FDIC from approving a proposed merger transaction whose effect in any section of the country may be
substantially to lessen competition, or to tend to create a monopoly, or which in any other manner would be in restraint of trade.

In every proposed merger transaction, the FDIC must also consider the financial and managerial resources and future prospects of the
existing and proposed institutions, the convenience and needs of the community to be served, and the effectiveness of each insured depository
institution involved in the proposed merger transaction in combatting money-laundering activities, including in overseas branches. Any
transaction approved by the FDIC may not be completed until 30 days after such approval.

Arkansas State Bank Department

The merger is subject to approval of the Bank Commissioner and the State Banking Board and after a public hearing following notice as
prescribed by the Arkansas Banking Code. In the event an out-of-state bank isinvolved in the merger, the merger must comply with the
requirements of the laws applicable to the out-of-state bank. The Company filed its application regarding the merger with the Arkansas State Bank
Department on February 26, 2013. The application was approved by the Arkansas State Bank Department on April 18, 2013.

The Bank Commissioner shall approve the application if at the hearing both the Bank Commissioner and the State Banking Board find that:

*  The proposed merger provides adequate capital structure;

*  Theterms of the merger agreement are fair;

*  Themerger isnot contrary to the public interest;

*  The proposed merger adequately provides for dissenters' rights; and

*  Therequirements of all applicable state and federal laws have been complied with.

Agreement to Not Solicit Other Offers

Until the merger is completed or the merger agreement isterminated, FNB has agreed that it, its subsidiaries, its officers and its directors will
not, subject to its fiduciary obligations:

« solicit, initiate or encourage any inquiries or the making of any acquisition proposal; or
e enter into or continue any discussions or negotiations regarding any acquisition proposals.
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FNB may, however, furnish information regarding FNB to, or enter into and engage in discussions with, any person or entity in response to
an unsolicited bona fide acquisition proposal by the person or entity, if the board of directors of FNB reasonably determines, after consultation
withits outside legal counsel, that (i) the acquisition proposal constitutes or isreasonably likely to lead to a superior proposal and (ii) the actionis
required for the directors of FNB to comply with their fiduciary obligations under applicable law.

If the board of directors of FNB determines that such acquisition proposal isa superior proposal, before it may withdraw or adversely modify
its approval or recommendation of the merger with Bank of the Ozarks and recommend the superior proposal, FNB must notify the Company of
such superior proposal and the material terms and conditions of the superior proposal. A “superior proposal” is an unsolicited, bonafide,
acquisition proposal that the board of directors of FNB determinesin good faith (after receiving advice from outside counsel and its financial
advisor), taking into account all legal, financial, regulatory and other aspects of the proposal and the person (or group of persons) making the
proposal (including the break-up fees, expense reimbursement provisions and conditions to consummation) that (i) if consummated, would be more
favorable to shareholders of FNB from afinancial point of view than the Company merger and (ii) if accepted, isreasonable likely to be completed
on the terms proposed on atimely basis. The Company has aright of first refusal for four (4) business days after receipt from FNB of a notice that
it has received a superior proposal to adjust the terms of the merger agreement in order to allow the board of directors of FNB to proceed with the
merger agreement without breaching its fiduciary duty.

Termination; Amendment

The merger agreement may be terminated prior to the closing, before or after approval by FNB shareholders, for various reasons, including
the following:

* by mutual consent of the boards of directors of the Company and FNB;
* by either party if any required regulatory approvals for consummation of the merger are not obtained;
* by either party if FNB shareholders do not approve the merger agreement and merger;

* by aparty who isnot in material breach of the agreement if the other party (1) materially breaches any covenants or undertakings
contained in the merger agreement or (2) materially breaches any representations or warranties contained in the merger agreement, in
each case if such breach is reasonably likely to have amaterial adverse effect on either party and such breach cannot be or has not
been cured within thirty (30) days after notice from the terminating party;

* by either party if the merger has not occurred on or before August 31, 2013; or

* by the Company, if the board of directors of FNB (1) materially breachesits non-solicitation obligations provided in the merger
agreement, (2) failsto recommend, or withdraws its previous recommendation of, the merger and the merger agreement,
(3) recommends, proposes or publicly announcesitsintention to recommend or propose to engage in an acquisition transaction with
any person other than the Company, or (4) failsto convene the special meeting.

The merger agreement may also be amended or modified at any time, before or after its approval by the shareholders of FNB, by mutual
agreement, except that no amendment shall be made after the special meeting without FNB shareholder approval if such amendment, by law, would
require further approval by the shareholders of FNB.
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Effect of Termination

If the merger agreement isterminated, it will become void and have no effect and the parties will be relieved of al obligations and liabilities,
except that certain specified provisions of the agreement will survive and:

« if the agreement isterminated because of amaterial breach of arepresentation, warranty, covenant or agreement that is reasonably
likely to have amaterial adverse effect on either party, the breaching party will not be relieved of liability for any breach giving riseto
the termination, and in the case of abreach by FNB, may be liable for the termination fee or liquidated damages described below; and

* each party will remain liable for any subsequent breach of any covenant that survives termination of the agreement.

If the merger agreement is terminated by the Company because the board of directors of FNB (i) materially breaches its non-solicitation
obligations provided in the merger agreement, (ii) failsto recommend, or withdraws its previous recommendation of, the merger and the merger
agreement, (iii) recommends, proposes or publicly announces its intention to recommend or propose to engage in an acquisition transaction with
any person other than the Company, or (iv) failsto convene the special meeting, then FNB will pay to the Company atermination fee equal to 4%
of the purchase price to be paid within two business days after FNB'’s receipt of the Company’stermination notice. If the merger agreement is
terminated by the Company following FNB’s uncured material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreementsin the
merger agreement, which breach is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on either party (other than those breaches described
immediately above), then FNB will pay to the Company liquidated damages of $500,000, to be paid within two business days after FNB’s receipt of
the Company’s termination notice.

Real Estate Purchase Agreement

In connection with the merger, Bank of the Ozarks entered into a separate Real Estate Purchase Agreement with Shelby Loan and Mortgage
and its wholly-owned subsidiary, SLMC, to purchase four parcels of land and the buildings thereon, which are presently leased to FNB and
operated as FNB banking locations. A majority of the shareholders of Shelby L oan and Mortgage are also shareholders of FNB. The purchase
price for the real property is $3,792,000. It is presently anticipated that the closing of the Real Estate Purchase Agreement will occur
contemporaneously with the closing of the merger.

Feesand Expenses

The Company and FNB will each pay its own costs and expensesin connection with the merger and the transactions contemplated thereby
except as described above.

Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Mer ger

The following summary describes the anticipated material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger to holders of FNB common
stock. The following summary is based upon the Internal Revenue Code (the “ Code”), its legislative history, existing and proposed regulations
thereunder and published rulings and decisions, all as currently in effect as of the date hereof, and all of which are subject to change, possibly
with retroactive effect. Tax considerations under state, local or federal 1aws other than those pertaining to income tax, or federal laws applicableto
alternative minimum taxes, are not addressed in this Proxy Statement/Prospectus.

The partiesintend for the merger to be treated as a“reorganization” for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The Company has received an
opinion from Kutak Rock LLP, and FNB has received an opinion from Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LL P, each to the effect that the merger
will betreated for federal income tax purposes as a“ reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. These tax opinions are filed
as exhibitsto this registration statement and the disclosure in this section is based upon the tax opinions. It isalso a

78



Table of Contents

condition to the parties’ respective obligations to complete the merger that the Company receive a closing opinion from Kutak Rock LLP, and that
FNB receive a closing opinion from Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP, each dated the closing date of the merger and to the effect that the
merger will be treated for federal income tax purposes as a“ reorgani zation” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. This condition may
be waived, and in such event the Company and FNB will undertake to recirculate and re-solicit shareholders of FNB if the condition iswaived by
either party and the change in tax consequences is material. These opinions are and will be based on representation letters provided by the
Company and FNB and on customary factual assumptions. The opinions described above will not be binding on the IRS or any court. The
Company and FNB have not sought and will not seek any ruling from the IRS regarding any matters relating to the merger and, as aresult, there
can be no assurance that the IRS will not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a position contrary to any of the conclusions set forth below. In
addition, if any of the representations or assumptions upon which the opinions are based are inconsistent with the actual facts, the U.S. federal
income tax consequences of the merger could be adversely affected. The remainder of this discussion assumes that the merger will qualify asa
“reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code.

If apartnership (or other entity that istaxed as a partnership for federal income tax purposes) holds FNB common stock, the tax treatment of a
partner in the partnership generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partnerships and partnersin
partnerships should consult their tax advisors about the tax consequences of the merger to them.

The actual tax consequences of the merger to you may be complex and will depend on your specific situation and on factors that are not
within the control of the Company or FNB. Y ou should consult with your own tax advisor asto the tax consequences of the merger in your
particular circumstances, including the applicability and effect of the alternative minimum tax and any state, local or foreign and other tax laws and
of changesin those laws.

Tax Conseguences of the Merger Generally

The merger isintended to qualify asa*reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. Accordingly, the material U.S.
federal income tax consequences will be asfollows:

* nogainorlosswill berecognized by the Company or FNB as aresult of the merger;

* except asdiscussed below with respect to cash received instead of afractional share of Company common stock, under “— Receipt of
Cash Consideration Only and Cash Received In Lieu of aFractional Share of Company Common Stock,” no gain or losswill be
recognized by holders of FNB common stock who exchange all of their FNB common stock solely for Company common stock
pursuant to the merger;

e gain (but not loss) will be recognized by holders of FNB common stock who receive shares of Company common stock and cashin
exchange for shares of FNB common stock pursuant to the merger in an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the amount by which the sum
of the fair market value of the Company common stock and cash received by aU.S. holder of FNB common stock exceeds such
holder’'sbasisin its FNB common stock and (2) the amount of cash received by such holder of FNB common stock. (The tax treatment
of holders who receive the entirety of their consideration in cash is discussed below under “— Receipt of Cash Consideration Only and
Cash Received Instead of a Fractional Share of Company Common Stock™);

* theaggregate basis of the Company common stock received by aholder of FNB common stock in the merger (including fractional
shares of Company common stock deemed received and redeemed as described below) will be the same as the aggregate basis of the
FNB common stock for which it is exchanged, decreased by the amount of cash received in the merger (other than cash received in lieu
of afractional sharein Company common stock), and increased by the amount of gain recognized on the exchange, other than with
respect to cash received in lieu of afractional sharein Company common
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stock (regardless of whether such gainisclassified as capital gain or as dividend income, as discussed below under “— Potential
Recharacterization of Gain asaDividend”); and

* theholding period of Company common stock received in exchange for shares of FNB common stock (including fractional shares of
Company common stock deemed received and redeemed as described bel ow) will include the holding period of the FNB common stock
for which it is exchanged.

If aholder of FNB common stock acquired different blocks of FNB common stock at different times or at different prices, any gain or losswill
be determined separately with respect to each block of FNB common stock, and the cash and shares of Company common stock received will be
allocated pro ratato each such block of stock. Holders of FNB common stock should consult their tax advisors with regard to identifying the bases
or holding periods of the particular shares of Company common stock received in the merger.

At the time a holder makes a cash or stock election pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, such holder will not know whether, and to
what extent, the proration provisions of the merger agreement might alter the mix of consideration such holder will receive. Asaresult, the U.S.
federal income tax consequences to such holder will not be ascertainable with certainty until such holder knows the precise amount of cash and
Company common shares that such holder will receive in the merger.

Taxation of Capital Gain

Except as described under “— Potential Recharacterization of Gain asaDividend” below, gain that holders of FNB common stock recognizein
connection with the merger generally will constitute capital gain and will constitute long-term capital gain if such holders have held (or are treated
as having held) their FNB common stock for more than one year as of the date of the merger. For holders of FNB common stock that are
noncorporate holders, long-term capital gain generally will be taxed at a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate that islower than the rate for ordinary
income or for short-term capital gains. Asaresult of the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 (“ATRA”™), the maximum U.S. federal income tax rate
in effect for long-term capital gains recognized during 2013 is 20% for high income taxpayers, i.e., married couplesfiling joint returns with taxable
incomein excess of $450,000, heads of household with taxable income in excess of $425,000 and other individuals with taxable income in excess of
$400,000. The maximum long-term capital gainsrate for non-high income taxpayersis 15%.

Potential Recharacterization of Gain asa Dividend

All or part of the gain that a particular holder of FNB common stock recognizes could be treated as dividend income rather than capital gain if
(1) such holder is asignificant shareholder of the Company or (2) such holder’s percentage ownership, taking into account constructive ownership
rules, in the Company after the merger is not meaningfully reduced from what its percentage ownership would have been if it had received solely
shares of Company common stock rather than a combination of cash and shares of Company common stock in the merger. This could happen, for
example, because of ownership of additional shares of Company common stock by such holder, ownership of shares of Company common stock
by a person related to such holder or a share repurchase by the Company from other holders of Company common stock. The IRS hasindicated in
rulings that any reduction in the interest of a minority shareholder that owns a small number of sharesin a publicly and widely held corporation
and that exercises no control over corporate affairs would result in capital gain as opposed to dividend treatment. ATRA increases the maximum
rate on qualified dividends for high income taxpayers to 20% (as compared to 15% prior to 2013). Because the possibility of dividend treatment
depends primarily upon the particular circumstances of a holder of FNB common stock, including the application of certain constructive ownership
rules, holders of FNB common stock should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential tax consequences of the merger to them.
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Receipt of Cash Consideration Only and Cash Received | nstead of a Fractional Share of Company Common Stock

A holder of FNB common stock who receives the entirety of hisor her consideration in the form of cash will generally recognize gain or loss
equal to the difference between the amount of cash received and the basisin his or her FNB common stock. In addition, a holder of FNB common
stock who receives cash in lieu of afractional share of Company common stock will be treated as having received the fractional share pursuant to
the merger and then as having exchanged the fractional share for cash in aredemption by the Company. Asaresult, such holder of FNB common
stock will generally recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount of cash received and the basisin hisor her fractional share
interest as set forth above. The gain or |oss recognized by the holders described in this paragraph will generally be capital gain or loss, and will be
long-term capital gain or lossif, as of the effective date of the merger, the holder’s holding period for the relevant sharesis greater than one year.
The deductibility of capital lossesis subject to limitations. As of January 1, 2013, net investment income of certain high-income taxpayerswill be
subject to an additional 3.8% tax. Because the impact of the net investment income tax depends primarily upon the particular circumstances of a
holder of FNB common stock, holders of FNB common stock should consult their own tax advisors regarding the potential impact of these recent
tax changes to them.

Backup Withholding and I nformation Reporting

Payments of cash to aholder of FNB common stock pursuant to the merger may, under certain circumstances, be subject to information
reporting and backup withholding unless the holder provides proof of an applicable exemption or, in the case of backup withholding, furnishesits
correct taxpayer identification number and otherwise complieswith all applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. Any amounts
withheld from payments to a holder under the backup withholding rules are not additional tax and generally will be allowed as arefund or credit
against the holder’'sU.S. federal income tax liability.

A holder of FNB common stock who receives Company common stock as aresult of the merger will be required to retain records pertaining
to the merger. Each holder of FNB common stock who isrequired to fileaU.S. federal income tax return and who isa“ significant holder” that
receives Company common stock in the merger will be required to file a statement with such U.S. federal income tax return in accordance with
Treasury Regulations Section 1.368-3 setting forth information regarding the parties to the merger, the date of the merger, such holder’s basisin
the FNB common stock surrendered and the fair market value of the Company common stock and cash received in the merger. A “significant
holder” isaholder of FNB common stock who, immediately before the merger, owned at least 1% of the outstanding stock of FNB or securities of
FNB with abasisfor federal income tax purposes of at least $1 million.

This discussion does not address tax consequences that may vary with, or are contingent on, individual circumstances. Moreover, it does
not address any non-income tax or any foreign, state or local tax consequences of the merger. Tax matters are very complicated, and the tax
conseguences of the merger to you will depend upon the facts of your particular situation. Accor dingly, we strongly urge you to consult with a tax
advisor to determinethe particular federal, state, local or foreign income or other tax consequencesto you of the merger.

Theforegoing summary of material federal U.S. incometax consequences of the merger isnot intended or written to be used, and cannot be used,
by any shareholder of FNB, any shareholder of the Company or any other person for the purpose of avoiding penaltiesthat may beimposed by the
IRS.

Resale of Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. Common Stock

The shares of Company common stock to be issued to shareholders of FNB under the merger agreement will be freely tradable by such
sharehol ders without restriction, except that if any FNB shareholders are deemed to be affiliates of the Company they must abide by certain
transfer restrictions under the Securities Act.
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Accounting Treatment

The Company will account for the merger using the acquisition method of accounting. Under this accounting method, the Company would
record the acquired identifiable assets and liabilities assumed at their fair market value at the time the merger is complete. Any excess of the cost of
FNB over the sum of the fair values of tangible and identifiabl e intangibl e assets less liabilities assumed would be recorded as goodwill. Based on
an assumed purchase price of $64,000,000 and utilizing information as of March 31, 2013, estimated goodwill and other intangibles would total
approximately $12.5 million. The Company’s reported income would include the operations of FNB after the merger. Financial statements of the
Company after completion of the merger would reflect the impact of the acquisition of FNB. Financial statements of the Company issued before
completion of the merger would not be restated retroactively to reflect FNB historical financial position or results of operation.

Dissenters’ Appraisal Rights

Under Section 214a of the National Bank Act, holders of FNB common stock will be entitled to dissent from the merger and obtain payment in
cash of the appraised fair value of such holder’s shares of FNB common stock. Set forth below is asummary of the procedures that must be
followed by holders of FNB common stock in order to perfect their dissenters’ rights of appraisal.

Thissummary is qualified inits entirety by reference to the text of Section 214a of the National Bank Act, acopy of which isincluded as
Appendix C to this proxy statement/prospectus. Also included in Appendix C is an excerpt from the “Business Combinations” section of the
Comptroller's Licensing Manual, adopted by the OCC, describing the methods used by the OCC to estimate the value of abank’s shares when
requested to do so by a dissenting shareholder.

In order to receive payment as a dissenting shareholder, a shareholder must (i) either vote against the merger or, at or prior to the FNB
sharehol der meeting, provide written notice of such shareholder’s dissent to the merger to FNB; and (ii) within thirty (30) days of the
consummation of the merger, make awritten demand for payment of the fair value of such shareholder’s shares from Bank of the Ozarks. The
failure of any shareholder to vote against, or provide notice of dissent to, the merger and to make awritten demand for payment of fair value within
the thirty (30) days following consummation of the merger will result in such shareholder being bound by the terms of the merger, and such
shareholder’s shares of FNB common stock will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration.

The value of dissenting shares will be determined, as of the date of the meeting at which shareholders of FNB approve the merger, by a
committee of three appraisers, one selected by the holders of a mgjority of the dissenting shares, one selected by the Company and the third
selected by the other two appraisers. If the value determined is unsatisfactory to any dissenting shareholder, such shareholder may appeal to the
OCC, within five (5) days of being notified of the value set by the appraisers, for areappraisal, which shall be final and binding. If no appraisal is
made within ninety (90) days of the consummation of the merger, the OCC shall, upon the written request of any interested party, make afinal and
binding appraisal.

A dissenting shareholder has no rights with respect to his or her shares of FNB common stock or the merger consideration into which such
shares would have been converted, except the right to receive the payment of fair value, conditioned upon such shareholder following all
procedures set forth above and surrendering such shareholder’s certificates.

The expenses of the OCC in making the reappraisal or the appraisal, asthe case may be, shall be paid by the Company. Dissenting
sharehol ders and the Company each will bear their own expenses incurred in connection with all other aspects of the appraisal process.

Exercise of dissenters' rights by holders of FNB common stock will result in the recognition of gain or loss, as the case may be, for federal
income tax purposes.
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COMPARISON OF SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Asaresult of the proposed merger, holders of FNB common stock may be exchanging all or a portion of their shares of anational banking
association governed by the National Bank Act, the regulations of the OCC, the North Carolina Business Corporation Act (the “ North Carolina
Act”), and the articles of association and bylaws of FNB, for shares of the Company, an Arkansas corporation governed by the Arkansas
Business Corporation Act (the “ Arkansas Act”) and the Company’s articles of incorporation and bylaws. Certain significant differences exist
between the rights of FNB sharehol ders and those of Company sharehol ders. Material differences are summarized below. Federal banking
regulations provide that, to the extent not inconsistent with applicable Federal banking law, a national bank may elect to follow the corporate
governance procedures of the law of the state in which the main office of the bank islocated, the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the Model
Business Corporation Act. Pursuant to Section 8.4 of its bylaws, FNB has el ected to adopt the corporate governance procedures of the State of
North Carolina, the state in which its main office is located.

The following discussion is necessarily general; it is not intended to be a compl ete statement of all differences affecting the rights of
shareholders and their respective entities, and it is qualified in its entirety by reference to the National Bank Act, the regulations of the OCC, the
North Carolina Act, and the Arkansas Act, aswell asto the articles of association and bylaws of FNB and the articles of incorporation and bylaws
of the Company.

The Company’s articles of incorporation and bylaws contain a number of provisions relating to corporate governance and rights of
shareholders that might discourage future takeover attempts. Asaresult, shareholders who might desire to participate in such transactions may
not have an opportunity to do so.

The following description is a summary of the provisions of the articles of incorporation and bylaws. See “Where Y ou Can Find More
Information” asto how to obtain or review a copy of these documents.

Authorized Capital Stock

Bank of the Ozarks, I nc. The Company’s articles of incorporation authorize the i ssuance of 50,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par
value, of which 35,366,824 shares were outstanding as of March 31, 2013, and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value, of which none
are issued or outstanding.

Holders of Company common stock are entitled to one vote per share for all purposes. They are entitled to such dividends, if any, as may be
declared by the board of directorsin compliance with the provisions of the Arkansas Act and the regulations of the appropriate regulatory
authorities and to receive the net assets of the corporation upon dissolution. Company shareholders do not have any preemptive, conversion or
redemption rights. The outstanding shares of Company common stock are, and the shares to be issued in connection with the merger will be, when
issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

The Company’s board of directors may authorize the issuance of authorized but unissued shares of Company common stock without
shareholder approval, unless such approval isrequired in aparticular case by applicable laws or regulations. The authorized but unissued shares
of Company common stock will be issuable from time to time for any corporate purpose, including, without limitation, stock splits, stock dividends,
employee benefit and compensation plans, acquisitions, and public or private sales for cash as a means of raising capital. These shares could be
used to dilute the stock ownership of persons seeking to obtain control of the Company. In addition, the sale of a substantial number of shares of
Company common stock to persons who have an understanding with the Company concerning the voting of such shares, or the distribution or
declaration of acommon stock dividend to Company shareholders, may have the effect of discouraging or increasing the cost of unsolicited
attemptsto acquire control of the Company.

The Company also is authorized to issue preferred stock from time to time in one or more series with such designations, powers, preferences
and rights as the Company’ s board of directors may from time to time determine. The Company’s board of directors can, without shareholder
approval, issue preferred stock with
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voting, dividend, liquidation and conversion rights that could dilute the voting strength of the common stock and may assist management in
impeding an unfriendly takeover or attempted takeover. The board of directors of the Company has no present plan or understanding to issue any
preferred stock.

The First National Bank of Shelby. The authorized capital stock of FNB consists of 400,000 shares of common stock, par value $10.00 per
share, all of which shares wereissued and outstanding as of the record date. FNB is not authorized to issue any shares of preferred stock. Holders
of FNB common stock are entitled to one vote per share for all purposes. They are entitled to such dividends, if any, as may be declared by the
board of directorsin compliance with the provisions of the National Bank Act, the regulations of the OCC and FNB’s dividend policy, and to
receive the net assets of the bank upon dissolution. Shareholders of FNB do not have any preemptive rights. The outstanding shares of FNB
common stock are fully paid and nonassessabl e.

Amendment of Articles of Incorporation/Articles of Association and Bylaws

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. Under the Arkansas Act, the board of directors may amend the articles of a corporation to extend its duration,
change the name of the corporation to include words required by the Arkansas Act, declare aforward stock split in aclass of sharesif thereisonly
one class outstanding, and for certain other ministerial actions. Any other amendment to the articles of incorporation must first be approved by a
majority of the board of directors and thereafter by the affirmative vote of amajority of all shares voting thereon (assuming the presence of a
guorum), voting together as asingle class, aswell as any such additional vote of any preferred stock, if then issued and outstanding, as may be
required by the provisions thereof. The affirmative vote of the holders of at |east two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote on the matter, voting
together asasingle class, aswell as such additional vote of any preferred stock, if then issued and outstanding, as may be required by the
provisions thereof, is required to amend charter provisions relating to the number, election and removal of directors.

The bylaws of the Company may be amended by the board of directors or the shareholders. Amendment of the bylaws by the board of
directorsrequires the affirmative vote of amajority of the directors then in office. Shareholders of the Company can amend the bylaws at aregular
or special meeting of the shareholders at which aquorum is present. A shareholder amendment of the bylaws requires the affirmative vote of a
majority of the shares voted thereon.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. FNB's articles of association may be amended by avote of two-thirds of the outstanding common stock
of FNB. Further, the National Bank Act requires the vote of two-thirds of the outstanding FNB stock to approve, among other things, an
amendment to increase or decrease the authorized capital stock of FNB.

Directorsand Absence of Cumulative Voting

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. The Company’s articles of incorporation and bylaws provide that the number of directors shall be fixed from timeto
time by resolution of the board of directors and shall not be less than three (3) nor more than fifteen (15). The number of directorsis presently fixed
at thirteen (13) directors. Directors are not required to be shareholders of the Company.

The articles of incorporation authorize the board, by resolution, to divide the directorsinto two or three classes, with the members of each
classto be elected for staggered two or three year terms, as applicable. Despite this authorization, the board of directors has not resolved to
classify the board of directors and presently, all directors are elected annually for one year terms.

Thereis no cumulative voting on directors. With cumulative voting, a shareholder has the right to cast a number of votes equal to the total
number of such holder’s shares multiplied by the number of directorsto be elected. The shareholder has the right to cast all of such holder’s votes
in favor of one candidate or to distribute such holder’s votesin any manner among any number of candidates. Directors are elected by a plurality
of the
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total votes cast by all shareholders. With cumulative voting, it may be possible for minority shareholdersto obtain representation on the board of
directors. Without cumulative voting, the holders of more than 50% of the shares of Company common stock generally have the ability to elect
100% of the directors. As aresult, the holders of the remaining common stock effectively may not be able to elect any person to the board of
directors. The absence of cumulative voting, therefore, could make it more difficult for a shareholder who acquires |ess than amajority of the
shares of common stock to obtain representation on the Company’s board of directors.

The articles of incorporation of the Company provide generally that vacancies on the board of directors (including any vacancy resulting
from an increase in the number of directors) shall be filled by the affirmative vote of amajority of the remaining directors for an unexpired term.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. The articles of FNB provide that the number of directors shall be not less than five (5) hor more than
twenty-five (25), such number to be determined from time to time by avote of amajority of the outstanding common stock of FNB, and such
directors shall be elected annually for one year terms. Directors of FNB are required to be shareholders of FNB. Presently, fourteen (14) individual
directors comprise the board of directors of FNB and an additional two individual s serve as directors in a non-voting honorary capacity. Directors
are elected by amgjority of the votes cast in an election and cumulative voting is not permitted.

Removal of Directors

Bank of the Ozarks, I nc. The Company’s articles of incorporation provide that a director may be removed only for cause, and then only by
the affirmative vote of shareholders holding two-thirds of the outstanding shares entitled to vote in the election of such director, at a special
meeting of shareholders called for such purpose.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. The articles of association and bylaws of FNB are silent with regard to the removal of directors.
Pursuant to Section 8.4 of FNB’s bylaws, the North Carolina Act is applicable in determining the ability of shareholders to remove directors.
Section 55-8-08 of the North Carolina Act provides that absent anything to the contrary in the articles of incorporation, shareholders may remove a
director from office with or without cause.

Limitationson Director Liability

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. The Company’s articles of incorporation provide that a director of the Company will not be personally liable for
monetary damages arising from hisor her breach of fiduciary duty asadirector of the Company. This provision, however, does not eliminate or
limit the liability of the Company’s directorsfor (1) any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the Company or its shareholders, (2) acts or
omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or aknowing violation of law, (3) liability under the Arkansas Act for unlawful
distributions, (4) any transaction from which the director received an improper personal benefit, or (5) any action, omission, transaction or breach
of adirector’s duty creating any third-party liability to any person or entity other than the Company or its shareholders.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. The articles of association of FNB do not address limitations on director liability.

Indemnification

Bank of the Ozarks, I nc. The Arkansas Act permits a corporation to indemnify any person who was or is a party or isthreatened to be made
aparty to any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative (other than an
action by or in the right of the corporation) by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the corporation or isor
was serving at the request of the corporation as adirector, officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or
other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments,
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fines, and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit, or proceeding if he acted in
good faith and in amanner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any
criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonabl e cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.

Additionally, the Arkansas Act permits a corporation to indemnify any person who was or isa party or isthreatened to be made a party to
any threatened, pending, or completed action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure ajudgment in its favor by reason of the fact
that he is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the corporation, or isor was serving at the request of the corporation as a director,
officer, employee, or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, or other enterprise against expenses (including attorneys’ fees)
actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if he acted in good faithand in a
manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation and except that no indemnification shall be madein
respect of any claim, issue, or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the
extent that the court of chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the
adjudication of liability but in view of al the circumstances of the case, such personisfairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such
expenses which the court of chancery or such other court shall deem proper.

To the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of a corporation has been successful on the merits regarding any such action, he
shall beindemnified against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.

Unless ordered by a court, the determination of whether indemnification is proper in a specific case will be determined by (1) amajority vote
of aguorum consisting of directors who were not party to such suit, (2) if such quorum is unobtainable and the board of directors so directs, by
special legal counsel, or (3) by the shareholders.

The Company’s articles of incorporation provide that the Company shall indemnify any person who is or was serving as adirector, officer,
employee or agents of the Company (or who was serving in such capacity for another corporation or entity at the request of the Company) to the
full extent permitted by the Arkansas Act.

Therights of indemnification provided in the articles of incorporation are not exclusive of any other rights which may be available under the
bylaws, any insurance or other agreement, by vote of shareholders or directors (regardless of whether directors authorizing such indemnification
are beneficiaries thereof) or otherwise. In addition, the articles of incorporation authorize the Company to maintain insurance on behalf of any
person who is or was adirector, officer, employee or agent of the Company, whether or not the Company would have the power to provide
indemnification to such person. These provisions are designed to reduce, in appropriate cases, the risksincident to serving as adirector, officer,
employee or agent and to enable the Company to attract and retain the best personnel available.

Insofar asindemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling the
Company pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the Company has been informed that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission
such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. The bylaws of FNB provide that FNB may indemnify officers, directors and employees for any
payments incurred in connection with an administrative proceeding or civil action initiated by any federal banking agency, provided such
payments are reasonabl e and consistent with federal law. The bylaws further provide that FNB may indemnify officers, directors and employees for
damages and expenses, including the advancement of expenses and legal fees, in cases involving an administrative proceeding or civil action not
initiated by afederal banking agency, in accordance with the laws of the State of North Carolina, provided such payments are consistent with safe
and sound banking practices.
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Under the North Carolina Act, a corporation may indemnify any director against liability if such person (i) acted in his or her official capacity
asadirector; (ii) conducted himself or herself in good faith; (iii) reasonably believed, in the case of conduct in hisor her official capacity with the
corporation, that his or her conduct was in the best interests of the corporation, and in all other cases, that his or her conduct was at least not
opposed to the corporation’s best interests; and (iv) in the case of any criminal proceeding, had no reasonabl e cause to believe his or her conduct
was unlawful. Also under the North Carolina Act, a corporation may not indemnify adirector in connection with a proceeding by or in the right of
the corporation in which such person was held liable to the corporation or in connection with a proceeding in which such person was held liable
on the basis that personal benefit wasimproperly received by him or her.

Unless limited by its articles of incorporation, a North Carolina corporation must indemnify, against reasonable expensesincurred, a director
who iswholly successful, on the merits or otherwise, in defending any proceeding to which the director was a party because of hisor her status as
adirector of the corporation. Expensesincurred by a director in defending a proceeding may be paid by the corporation in advance of the final
disposition of the proceeding if that director furnishes the corporation awritten undertaking to repay such amount if it is ultimately determined
that he or sheis not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation against such expenses. A director may apply for court-ordered indemnification
under certain circumstances.

Under the North Carolina Act, unless a corporation’s articles of incorporation provide otherwise, (i) an officer of acorporation is entitled to
mandatory indemnification and is entitled to apply for court-ordered indemnification to the same extent as adirector and (ii) the corporation may
indemnify and advance expensesto an officer, employee or agent of the corporation to the same extent asto a director.

In addition and separate from the statutory indemnification rights discussed above, the North Carolina Act provides that a corporation may
initsarticles of incorporation or bylaws or by contract or resolution indemnify or agree to indemnify any one or more of its directors, officers,
employees or agents against liability and expensesin any proceeding (including without limitation a proceeding brought by or on behalf of the
corporation itself) arising out of their status as such or their activitiesin any of the foregoing capacities. A corporation may not indemnify or agree
to indemnify aperson against liability or expenses he or she may incur on account of activities that were at the time taken known or believed by
him or her to be clearly in conflict with the best interests of the corporation. A corporation may likewise and to the same extent indemnify or agree
to indemnify any person who, at the request of the corporation, is or was serving as adirector, officer, partner, trustee, employee or agent of
another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise or as atrustee or administrator under an employee
benefit plan. Any such provision for indemnification also may include provisions for recovery from the corporation of reasonable costs, expenses
and attorneys’ feesin connection with the enforcement of rights to indemnification and may further include provisions establishing reasonable
procedures for determining and enforcing the rights granted therein.

Special M eetings of Shareholders

Bank of the Ozarks, I nc. Special meetings of the shareholders may be called only by the chairman of the board of directors, the chief
executive officer, the president, the board of directors, or by aduly designated committee of the board of directors. At the request of holders of at
least 10% of the shares entitled to vote, the chairman, the chief executive officer or the president shall call a special meeting of the shareholders.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. Special meetings of the shareholders may be called at any time by the board of directors or by any three
(3) or more shareholders owning, in the aggregate, not less than 10% of the outstanding common stock of FNB.

Shareholder Action by Written Consent

Bank of the Ozarks, I nc. Shareholder action on a proposal to increase the capital stock or bond indebtedness of the Company may be taken
without ameeting if one or more written consents, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by all of the shareholders of the Company.
Any other action required or permitted
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to be taken at a meeting of shareholders may be taken without a meeting if one or more written consents, setting forth the action so taken, shall be
signed by the holders of outstanding shares having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such
action at ameeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. The articles of association and bylaws of FNB do not address shareholder action by written consent.
The North Carolina Act permits shareholders to act by written consent only if authorized to do so in the articles of association, with the exception
that shareholders may act by written consent, even if not authorized to do so in the articles, to elect directorsif such action is approved by all
shareholders entitled to vote in the election of directors.

Shareholder Proposals and Advance Notice Requirement

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. The bylaws of the Company provide that in order to be properly brought before the annual meeting, a sharehol der
proposal must be delivered, in writing, to the secretary of the Company not less than 120 calendar days prior to the one year anniversary of the
date on which the Company first rel eased to shareholdersits proxy statement in connection with the previous year’s annual meeting, and such
proposal must meet the requirements of SEC Rule 14a-8. The board of directors, in its discretion, may waive the requirement of advance written
notice for shareholder proposalsif the party proposing the businessis the record owner at the time of the proposal of more than 25% of the voting
stock of the Company.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. Shareholders of FNB that desire to nominate a person for election to the board of directors must submit
their nominations to the chief executive officer of FNB not less than 14 days and no more than 50 days prior to the meeting of shareholders at
which directors will be el ected; provided, however, if shareholdersreceive lessthan 21 days notice of the meeting, the shareholder nomination
must be mailed no later than the close of business on the seventh day following the day on which the notice of meeting was mailed. FNB does not
requireits shareholdersto provide any advance notice of other business to be brought at the annual meeting.

Dissenters’ Appraisal Rights

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. Under Arkansas law, a shareholder of a corporation participating in certain major corporate transactions may, under
varying circumstances, be entitled to appraisal rights, pursuant to which such shareholder may receive cash in the amount of the fair value of his,
her or itssharesin lieu of the consideration he, she or it would otherwise receive in the transaction. Under Arkansas law, “fair value” means the
value of the sharesimmediately before the effectuation of the corporate action to which the dissenter objects, excluding any appreciation or
depreciation in anticipation of the corporate action unless exclusion would be ineguitable. A shareholder that complies with Arkansas law
governing dissenting shareholders' appraisal rights has aright of appraisal with respect to: (1) a plan of merger that requires the approval of the
shareholders, (2) amerger of aparent corporation with its subsidiary effected without shareholder approval, (3) aplan of share exchangein which
the corporation’s shares will be acquired that requires the approval of the shareholders, (4) asale or exchange of all or substantially all of the
property other than in the usual and regular course of business that requires the approval of the shareholders, including a sale in dissolution but
excluding asale for cash pursuant to a plan by which all or substantially all of the net proceeds will be distributed to shareholders within one year
of the sale, (5) certain amendments of the articles of incorporation that materially and adversely affect rights of a holder of shares, and (6) any
corporate action taken pursuant to a shareholder vote to the extent that the articles of incorporation, bylaws or aresolution of the board of
directors provide that voting or nonvoting shareholders are entitled to dissent and obtain payment for their shares.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. A summary of the pertinent provisions of Federal law pertaining to dissenters’ rightsis set forth under
the caption “ Approval of the Merger — Dissenters’ Appraisal Rights’, on page 82, and such provisions are included as Appendix C.
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Shareholders Rightsto Examine Books and Records

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. Arkansas law provides a shareholder and his, her or its agent or attorney with aright to inspect (beginning two
business days after notice of ameeting is given) and copy the corporation’s shareholder list. Arkansas law also permits any shareholder, on at
least five business days advance written demand to the corporation, to inspect (1) the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the corporation and
all amendmentsthereto that are in effect, (2) board resolutions of the corporation relating to the creation or fixing the rights, preferences and
limitations of any class of sharesthat are still outstanding, (3) minutes of shareholder meetings, records of actions taken by shareholders without a
meeting and all written communications to shareholders, including financial statements furnished to shareholders, for the past three years, (4) the
names and business addresses of the current directors and officers and (5) the most recent annual franchise tax report delivered to the Arkansas
Secretary of State. In addition, a shareholder satisfying specified conditionsis entitled to inspect (a) excerpts of minutes of any meeting of the
board of directors and records of any actions of any committee of the board of directors and of actions taken by the board of directors without a
meeting, (b) accounting records, (c) the record of shareholders, and (d) the shareholder list as described above, in each case if the demand is made
in good faith and for a proper purpose, describes the purpose of the inspection and the desired records with reasonable particularity, and the
desired records are directly connected to the purpose of such inspection.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. Under the North Carolina Act, acomplete list of the shareholders entitled to vote at a shareholders
meeting must be available for shareholder inspection beginning two business days after notice of the shareholders meeting is given, and
continuing through the meeting at the corporation’s principal office or at a place identified in the meeting notice in the city where the meeting will
be held.

The North Carolina Act permits a shareholder on at |east five business days advance written demand to the corporation, to inspect (1) the
articles of incorporation and bylaws of the corporation and all amendments thereto that are in effect, (2) board resolutions of the corporation
relating to the creation or fixing the rights, preferences and limitations of any class of sharesthat are still outstanding, (3) minutes of shareholder
meetings, records of actions taken by sharehol ders without a meeting and all written communications to shareholders, including financial
statements furnished to shareholders, for the past three years, (4) the names and business addresses of the current directors and officers and
(5) the most recent annual report delivered to the North Carolina Secretary of Revenue. In addition, a shareholder satisfying specified conditionsis
entitled to inspect (a) excerpts of minutes of any meeting of the board of directors and records of any actions of any committee of the board of
directors and of actions taken by the board of directors without a meeting, (b) accounting records, and (c) the record of shareholders, in each case
if the demand is made in good faith and for a proper purpose, describes the purpose of the inspection and the desired records with reasonable
particularity, and the desired records are directly connected to the purpose of such inspection.

Dividends

Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. Under Arkansas law, a corporation may not make any distribution to its shareholdersif, after giving effect to the
distribution (1) the corporation would not be able to pay its debts as they become due in the usual course of business or (2) the corporation’s total
assets would be less than the sum of itstotal liabilities plus the amount that would be needed, if the corporation were to be dissolved at the time of
distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon dissolution of shareholders whose preferential rights are superior to those receiving the
distribution. The ability of the Company to pay dividendsto its shareholdersis directly influenced by the ability of Bank of the Ozarksto pay
dividends to the Company, asits sole shareholder. Approval of the Arkansas State Bank Commissioner is required before Bank of the Ozarks can
declare and pay any dividend of 75% or more of its net profits after all taxesfor the current year plus 75% of the retained net profits for the
immediately preceding year.

TheFirst National Bank of Shelby. The ability of anational bank to pay cash dividendsis subject to 12 U.S.C. 8 56, which states that no
bank may pay dividends from its capital; all dividends must be paid out of net profits then on hand, after deducting for expenses including losses
and bad debts. The payment of dividends out
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of net profits of anational bank isfurther limited by 12 U.S.C. § 60(a), which prohibits a bank from declaring a dividend on its shares of common
stock until the surplus fund equals the amount of capital stock, or if the surplus fund does not equal the amount of capital stock, until one-tenth of
the bank’s net profits of the preceding half-year, in the case of quarterly or semi-annual dividends, or the preceding two consecutive half-year
periods, in the case of annual dividends, are transferred to the surplus fund before each dividend is declared.

Pursuant to 12 U.S.C. § 60(b), the approval of the OCC isrequired, if thetotal of all dividends declared by a national bank in any calendar
year shall exceed the total of its net profits for that year combined with its net profits for the two preceding years, less any required transfersto
surplus or afund for the retirement of any preferred stock. The OCC has adopted guidelines indicating that a national bank, in assessing the
payment of dividends, should evaluate the bank’s capital position, its maintenance of an adequate allowance for loan and lease losses, and the
need to review or develop acomprehensive capital plan, complete with financial projections, budgets and dividend guidelines. Thus, the payment
of dividends by anational bank is also governed by its ability to maintain minimum required capital levels and an adequate allowance for loan and
lease |osses. Additionally, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. 8 1818(b), the OCC may prohibit the payment of any dividend that would constitute an unsafe and
unsound banking practice.

Additionally, in accordance with the requirements of the Formal Agreement with the OCC, FNB adopted a dividend policy that permitsthe
declaration of adividend only when FNB isin compliance with its approved capital program, when FNB isin compliance with 12 U.S.C. 8856 and
60, and after obtaining awritten determination of no supervisory objection from the OCC.
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DESCRIPTION OF BANK OF THE OZARKS, INC. CAPITAL STOCK

In this section, we describe the material features and rights of the Company’s capital stock after the merger. Thissummary isqualifiedinits
entirety by reference to applicable Arkansas law and the Company’s articles of incorporation and bylaws. See “Where Y ou Can Find More
Information” on page 229.

General

The Company is authorized to issue 50,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value, and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par
value, none of which authorized shares of preferred stock isissued or outstanding. Each share of Company common stock has the same relative
rightsas, and isidentical in all respectsto, each other share of Company common stock.

Asof March 31, 2013, there were 35,366,824 shares of common stock of the Company outstanding, no shares of common stock of the
Company were held in treasury and 854,350 shares of common stock of the Company were reserved for issuance pursuant to the Company’s
employee benefit and stock option plans. After giving effect to the merger on a pro forma basis assuming that shareholders of FNB elect to receive
the minimum amount of stock consideration upon completion of the merger, approximately 36.1 million shares of Company common stock will be
outstanding.

Common Stock

Dividends. Subject to certain regulatory restrictions, the Company can pay dividends from funds legally availableif, as and when declared
by its board of directors. Company dividends are generally provided through dividends from Bank of the Ozarks. Payments of dividends by Bank
of the Ozarks are subject to limitations that are imposed by law and applicable regulations. The holders of common stock of the Company are
entitled to receive and share equally in such dividends as may be declared by the board of directors of the Company out of fundslegally available
therefore. If the Company issues preferred stock, the holders thereof may have a priority over the holders of the common stock with respect to
dividends.

Voting Rights. The holders of common stock of the Company currently possess exclusive voting rights in the Company. They elect the
Company’s board of directors and act on such other matters as are required to be presented to them under Arkansas law or as are otherwise
presented to them by the board of directors. Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote per share and does not have any right to
cumulate votesin the election of directors. If the Company were to issue preferred stock, holders of the preferred stock might also possess voting
rights.

Liquidation. Subseguent to the merger, in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Bank of the Ozarks, the Company, as
holder of the subsidiary’s capital stock, would be entitled to receive, after payment or provision for payment of all debts and liabilities of Bank of
the Ozarks (including all deposit accounts and accrued interest thereon), all assets of Bank of the Ozarks available for distribution. In the event of
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of its common stock would be entitled to receive, after payment or provision for
payment of all of its debtsand liabilities, all of the assets of the Company available for distribution. If preferred stock isissued, the holders thereof
may have a priority over the holders of Company common stock in the event of liquidation or dissolution.

Preemptive Rights. The holders of common stock of the Company are not entitled to preemptive rights with respect to any shares that may
be issued. The Company’s common stock is not subject to redemption.

Preferred Stock

Shares of Company preferred stock may be issued with such designations, powers, preferences and rights as the Company’s board of
directors may from time to time determine. The Company’s board of directors can, without shareholder approval, issue preferred stock with voting,
dividend, liquidation and conversion rights that could dilute the voting strength of the holders of the common stock and may assist management
in impeding an unfriendly takeover or attempted change in control.
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CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING BANK OF THE OZARKS, INC.
General

The Company is aregistered bank holding company subject to supervision and regulation by the Federal Reserve and is a corporation
organized under the laws of the State of Arkansas. Its main officeislocated at 17901 Chenal Parkway, Little Rock, Arkansas 72223 (telephone
number: (501) 978-2265). The Company owns al of the outstanding stock of Bank of the Ozarks, an Arkansas state banking corporation.

At December 31, 2012, the Company had consolidated total assets of approximately $3.95 hillion, total deposits of approximately $2.99 billion,
and total common stockholders’ equity of approximately $524 million. Additional information about the Company isincluded in documents
incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus. See “Where Y ou Can Find More Information, on page 229.”

Recent Financial Results of the Company; Additional Information

Information relating to executive compensation, various benefit plans, voting securities and the principal holders of voting securities,
relationships and related transactions and other related matters as to the Company isincorporated by reference or set forth in the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 or in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2012, which are incorporated into this document by reference. See “Where Y ou Can Find More Information,” on page 229.
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CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY

General

FNB isanational banking association subject to the supervision and regulation of the OCC. Its main officeislocated at 106 South L afayette
Street, Shelby, North Carolina (telephone number: (704) 484-6200.

Business

First National Bank of Shelby, a national bank, began operationsin 1874. The Bank is primarily engaged in the business of obtaining
deposits and originating commercial, industrial, consumer and real estate loans within its North Carolinalending area of Cleveland County, Gaston
County, Lincoln County, Rutherford County and the surrounding counties.

At March 31, 2013, FNB had consolidated total assets of approximately $716 million, total deposits of approximately $608 million, and total
common stockholders’ equity of approximately $85.8 million.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Unless the context requires otherwise, throughout this management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of

operations, “we,” “us,” “our,” “management,” and “ Bank” refersto FNB and its management.

The following discussion and analysis identifies significant factors that have affected our financial position and operating results during the
periods included in the accompanying financial statements. We encourage you to read this discussion and analysisin conjunction with the
financial statements and the related notes and the other statistical information also included in this report.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We have adopted various accounting policies that govern the application of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
Americaand with general practices within the banking industry in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. Our significant
accounting policies are described in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and
our Consolidated Financial Statementsfor the year ended December 31, 2012.

Certain accounting policies involve significant judgments and assumptions by us that have amaterial impact on the carrying value of certain
assets and liabilities. We consider these accounting policiesto be critical accounting policies. The judgments and assumptions we use are based
on historical experience and other factors, which we believe to be reasonabl e under the circumstances. Because of the nature of the judgments and
assumptions we make, actual results could differ from these judgments and estimates and such differences could have a material impact on the
carrying values of our assets and liabilities and our results of operations. Management has reviewed and approved these critical accounting
policies and has discussed these policies with the Bank’s Audit Committee.

Allowancefor Loan L osses

The allowance for loan losses is management’s estimate of credit lossesinherent in the loan portfolio. The allowance for loan lossesis
established as | osses are estimated to have occurred through a provision for loan losses charged to earnings. Loan losses are charged against the
allowance when management believes the collectability of all or some portion of aloan balanceis unlikely. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are
credited to the allowance. The allowance for loan losses is evaluated on aregular basis by management and is based upon management’s periodic
review of the collectability of theloansin light of historical experience, the nature and volume of the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may
affect the borrower’ s ability to repay, estimated value of any underlying collateral and prevailing economic conditions. Thisevaluationis
inherently subjective asit requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available.
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We have an established process to determine the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses that assesses the losses inherent in our
portfolio. While we attribute portions of the allowance to specific portfolio segments, the entire allowance is available to absorb credit losses
inherent in the total loan portfolio. Our allowance levels are influenced by 10an volumes, loan grade migration or delinquency status, historic loss
experience and other economic conditions.

The allowance consists of specific, general and unallocated components.

The specific component relates to impaired loans that are identified by analyzing loans classified as doubtful, substandard or atroubled debt
restructuring. For loans that are classified asimpaired, an allowance is established when the value of the impaired loan islower than the carrying
value of that loan. A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that a borrower will be unable to
pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Factors considered by management in determining impairment
include, but are not limited to, loan repayment pattern, source of repayment, and value of collateral. The major sources for identification of loansto
be evaluated for impairment include past due and nonaccrual reports, internally generated lists of loans of certain risk grades, and regulatory
reports of examination. An allowance on animpaired loan isrequired if the present value of the future cash flows discounted using the loan’s
effective interest rate isless than the carrying value of theloan. Animpaired |oan can also be valued based upon itsfair value in the marketplace or
on the basis of itsunderlying collateral if theloan is collateral dependent. If foreclosure isimminent, and theloan is collateral dependent, the loan
must be valued based upon the fair value of the underlying collateral.

The general component relates to loans not individually evaluated for impairment under the specific component of the allowanceand is
based on historical loan loss experience adjusted for qualitative factors, such asloan to value exceptions, credit concentrations, past due status
and non-accrual status.

An unallocated component is maintained to cover uncertainties that could affect management’s estimate of probable losses. The unallocated
component of the allowance reflects the margin of imprecision inherent in the underlying assumptions used in the methodol ogies for estimating
specific and general losses in the portfolio. The unallocated component incorporates external factors such asinterest rates, unemployment rates
and changes in gross domestic product and internal factors relating to underwriting and credit policy.

In conjunction with the changes in the current economic environment and as required by our Formal Agreement with the OCC, we have
revised and updated our allowance for |oan losses policy. Specifically, since December 31, 2011, we have modified our allowance methodology to
calculate historical loss rates from annualized quarter end losses for each of the previous eight quarters. These historical lossrates are
subsequently assigned equal weighting for each quarter. The Bank had previously calculated historical loss rates over aperiod of 20 quarterswith
descending weighting for each prior quarter. In addition, the Bank utilizes quarterly probability of default and loss given default analysisfor the
previous eight quartersto allocate historical loss rates and qualitative factors by risk category within each homogenous loan pool.

The objective of the revisionsto the allowance for loan losses policy wasto ensure that the Bank’s allowance methodol ogy conformed to
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and complied with regulatory guidelines. A thorough review of interagency guidance, financial
accounting standards and accounting standards updates was performed to identify elements necessary to meet compliance requirements.

Migration analysis and historical oss analysis of the Bank’s own loss history was conducted within each risk category for groups of loans
with similar characteristics. The results of these analyses were used to establish an appropriate loss period to calculate annualized average loss
rates. The effect of the historical loss rates for each group of similar loansis adjusted by current qualitative factorsto appropriately reflect
estimated credit losses. Additionally, measurable qualitative factors identified within interagency guidance were incorporated into the allowance
calculation, and were based upon historical analysis of these factorsrelative to the Bank’sloss history. Adjusted historical loss rates are further
allocated within the risk categories of each loan group according to probability and loss given default percentages derived from the historical 1oss
analysis.
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The established eight quarter loss period is based upon the consistency of the Bank’s|oss history over the prior two year period, the results
of impairment migration analysis within the Bank’s |oan portfolio and industry observed loss periods for allowance models that incorporate
probability of default methodology.

While management uses available information to identify, measure and provide for losses on loans, future additions to the allowance may be
necessary based on changesin local economic conditions. In addition, regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination process,
periodically review our allowance for loan losses. Such agencies may require usto recognize additions to the allowance based on their judgments
about information available to them at the time of their examination.

Fair Valuation of Financial I nstruments

We use fair value measurements to record fair value adjustmentsto certain financial instruments required by GAAP to be accounted for at
fair value and to determine fair value disclosures. Additionally, we may be required to record other assets at fair value on anonrecurring basis.
These nonrecurring fair value adjustments typically involve application of lower-of-cost-or-market accounting or write downs of individual assets.
Further, we include in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements information about the extent to which fair valueis used to measure
assets and liabilities, the valuation methodol ogies used, and the related impact to income. Additionally, for financial instruments not recorded at
fair value, we disclose the estimate of their fair value.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Accounting standards establish athree-level hierarchy for disclosure of assets and liabilities
recorded at fair value. The classification of assets and liabilities within the hierarchy is based on whether the inputs to the val uation methodol ogy
used for measurement are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market-derived or market-based information obtained from
independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect our estimates about market data. The three levels of inputs that are used to classify fair
value measurements are as follows:

Level 1—Valuation isbased upon quoted pricesfor identical instruments traded in active markets. Level 1 instruments generally include
securities traded on active exchange markets, such asthe New Y ork Stock Exchange, aswell as securities that are traded by dealers or brokersin
active over-the-counter markets. Instruments we classify as Level 1 areinstruments that have been priced directly from deal er trading desks and
represent actual prices at which such securities have traded within active markets.

Level 2 —Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instrumentsin active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instrumentsin
markets that are not active, and model-based val uation techniques, such as matrix pricing, for which all significant assumptions are observablein
the market. Instruments we classify as Level 2 include securities that are valued based on pricing models using relevant observable information
generated by transactions that have occurred in the market place and involve similar securities.

Level 3—Vauation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not observable in the market. These
unobservable assumptions reflect the Bank’s estimates of assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Valuation
techniques include use of option pricing models, discounted cash flow models, and similar techniques.

We attempt to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when developing fair value measurements.
When available, we use quoted market prices to measure fair value. Specifically, we use independent pricing services to obtain fair values based
on quoted prices. Quoted prices are subject to our internal price verification procedures. If market prices are not available, fair value measurement
is based upon models that use primarily market-based or independently-sourced market parameters. Most of our financial instruments use Level 2
measurements, to estimate the fair value of the financial instrument. However, in certain cases, when market observable inputs for model-based
valuation techniques may not be readily available, we are required to make judgments about assumptions market participants would usein
estimating the fair value of the financial instrument.
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The degree of management judgment involved in determining the fair value of an instrument is dependent upon the availability of quoted
market prices or observable market parameters. For instruments that trade actively and have quoted market prices or observable market parameters,
thereis minimal subjectivity involved in measuring fair value. When observable market prices and parameters are not fully available, management’s
judgment is necessary to estimate fair value. In addition, changesin market conditions may reduce the availability of quoted prices or observable
data. For example, reduced liquidity in the capital markets or changes in secondary market activities could result in observable market inputs
becoming unavailable. When significant adjustments are required to available observable inputs, it may be appropriate to utilize an estimate based
primarily on unobservable inputs. When an active market for a security does not exist, the use of management estimates that incorporate current
market participant expectations of future cash flows, and include appropriate risk premiums, is acceptable.

Significant judgment may be required to determine whether certain assets measured at fair value areincluded in Level 2 or Level 3. If fair
value measurement is based upon recent observable market activity of such assets or comparable assets (other than forced or distressed
transactions) that occur in sufficient volume and do not require significant adjustment using unobservabl e inputs, those assets are classified as
Level 2. If not, they are classified as Level 3. Making this assessment requires significant judgment.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment Analysis

Debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are recorded at
amortized cost. Other debt securities are classified as securities available for sale and reported at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses, after
applicable taxes, on securities classified as available for sale are reported in stockholders’ equity. We conduct other-than-temporary impairment
(“OTTI") analysis on aquarterly basis or more often if a potential |oss-triggering event occurs. In estimating OTTI, management considers (1) the
length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, and
(3) theintent and ability of the Bank to retain itsinvestment in theissuer for aperiod of time sufficient to allow for an anticipated recovery in fair
value.

Other Real Estate Owned

Real estate acquired through, or inlieu of, foreclosureisinitially recorded at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs of disposal at
the date of foreclosure. Subsequent to the date of acquisition, it is carried at the lower of cost or fair value, adjusted for net selling costs. Fair
values of real estate owned arereviewed at least annually or more frequently as conditions warrant and write downs are recorded wheniit is
determined that the carrying value of real estate exceeds the fair value less estimated costs to sell. Revenue and expense from the operations of
other real estate owned are included in noninterest expense.

Income Taxes

The Bank’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis. When income and expenses are recognized in
different periods for financial reporting purposes versus for the purposes of computing income taxes currently payable, deferred taxes are provided
on such temporary differences. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been
recognized in the consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxableincome in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be realized or settled. Deferred tax assets are
reduced by avaluation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it ismore likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not bereslized.

The Bank believes that itsincome tax filing positions taken or expected to be taken on its tax returnswill more likely than not be sustained
upon audit by the taxing authorities and does not anticipate any adjustments that will result in amaterial adverse impact on the Bank’s financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flow.
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OVERVIEW

Like most community banks, we derive the majority of our income from interest received on our loans and investments. Our primary source of
funds for making these loans and investmentsis our deposits, including interest bearing deposits on which we pay interest aswell as non-interest
bearing deposits. Consequently, one of the key measures of our successis our amount of net interest income, or the difference between the
income on our interest earning assets, such asloans and investments, and the expense on our interest bearing liabilities, such as deposits and
borrowings. Another key measure is the difference between the yield we earn on these interest earning assets and the rate we pay on our interest
bearing liabilities, which is called our net interest spread.

There are risksinherent in all loans, so we maintain an allowance for loan losses to absorb losses on existing loans that may become
uncollectible. We maintain this allowance by charging a provision for loan losses against our operating earnings for each period. We have
included a detail ed discussion of this process, aswell as several tables describing our allowance for loan losses, in this management’s discussion
and analysis.

In addition to earning interest on our loans and investments, we earn income through fees and other services provided to our customers. We
have al so included a discussion of the various components of this noninterest income, aswell as of our noninterest expense, in this management’s
discussion and analysis.

Economic conditions, competition, and the monetary and fiscal policies of the federal government significantly affect most financial
institutions, including the Bank. Lending and deposit activities and fee income generation are influenced by levels of business spending and
investment, consumer income, consumer spending and savings, capital market activities, and competition among financial institutions, as well as
customer preferences, interest rate conditions and prevailing market rates on competing products in our market areas.

Additionally, on June 8, 2011, the Bank entered into the Formal Agreement with the OCC. The Formal Agreement seeksto enhance the
Bank’s existing practices and procedures in the areas of credit risk management, credit underwriting, liquidity, and funds management. In addition,
the OCC has established Individual Minimum Capital Ratio (IMCR) levels of Tier 1 and total capital for the Bank that are higher than the minimum
and well capitalized ratios applicable to al banks. Specifically, we must maintain total risk-based capital of at least 13%, Tier 1 capital of at least
12%, and aleverageratio of at least 8.5%.

Effect of Economic Trends

The quarter ended March 31, 2013 continues to reflect the tumultuous economic conditions experienced in recent years which have
negatively impacted the liquidity and credit quality of a significant number of financial institutionsin the United States. Concerns regarding
increased credit 1osses from the weakened economy have negatively affected capital and earnings of many financial institutions. Also, many
financial institutions have experienced significant declinesin the value of collateral for real estate loans, which have resulted in record levels of
nonperforming assets, heightened credit losses, charge-offs and foreclosures.

Liquidity in the debt markets remains low in spite of efforts by U.S. Department of the Treasury and the Federal Reserveto inject capital into
financial institutions, albeit the Bank did not participate in these programs. The federal funds rate set by the Federal Reserve has remained at 0.25%
since December 2008, following a decline from 4.25% to 0.25% during 2008 through a series of seven rate reductions.

Financial institutions have experienced and will likely continue to experience competition for loans and earning assets in the form of more
aggressive pricing and structures, which resultsin downward pressure on earning asset yields and consequently earnings and capital.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS
Results of Operations
Net Interest Incomeand Margin

Our level of net interest incomeis determined by the level of earning assets, interest bearing liabilities, and the management of our net
interest margin. For the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, our net interest income was $4.8 million and $6.9 million, respectively. The
decrease in net interest income during the first three months of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012 was primarily the result of the sale of
higher yielding investment securities and the decrease in the size of our loan portfolio through a combination of early loan pay-offs and lack of
loan demand, partially offset by areduction in the cost of liabilities. In addition, average interest earning assets decreased $120 million while our
average interest bearing liabilities decreased $113 million during thefirst three months of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012.

Our net interest margin was 2.64% for the first three months of 2013, a 68 basis point (“bps”) decrease from 3.32% for the same period in 2012.
The decrease in net interest margin during the first three months of 2013 compared to the same time period in 2012 was primarily the result of a
decreasein yields on earnings assets of 111 bps, partially offset by adecrease in costs of interest bearing liabilities of 49 bps. While we do not
expect our loan yields to change significantly in the near future, we do anticipate our future deposit costs will decrease as we have approximately
$38 million of retail certificates of deposit at awelighted-average rate of 0.60% scheduled to mature and reprice in the second quarter of 2013. Also,
during the first quarter of 2013, due to low yield opportunitiesin the securities market, lack of loan demand, our existing high cost wholesale
funding and in anticipation of the business combination, the Bank executed balance sheet deleveraging transactions totaling $104 million by using
excessinterest bearing cash to prepay/unwind all FHLB-Atlanta advances ($61.5 million) and structured repurchase agreements ($42.5 million). In
doing so, the Bank also unwound all interest rate swaps with a notional value of $34 million. The prepay/unwind penalties of $10.5 million
associated with these transactions were recorded as noninterest expense during the first quarter of 2013 and consisted of $4.3 millionin FHLB
advance prepayment penalties, $694 thousand in interest rate swap unwind fees, and $5.4 million in structured repurchase agreements unwind fees.
To mitigate a portion of the loss and to preserve capital, we also sold available-for-sale securities of $41.5 million, realizing again of $1.4 million.
These transactions should provide significant interest costs savings and should improve net interest margin.

Interest income for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 was $6.5 million and $9.8 million, respectively. During thefirst three
months of 2013, 89% of our interest income related to interest on loans and 11% related to interest on investments, compared to the first three
months of 2012, when 73% of our interest income related to interest on loans and 27% rel ated to interest on investments.

Interest expense for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 was $1.7 million and $2.9 million, respectively. The decrease in deposit
interest expense during the first three months of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012 relates primarily to the decrease in the average balance
of interest bearing deposits from $569 million for thefirst quarter of 2012 to $536 million for the same period in 2013, aswell asadeclinein average
rates on interest bearing deposits of 27 bpsin the first quarter of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012. Interest expense on borrowings
decreased in the first quarter of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012 due primarily to the above mentioned balance sheet deleverage
transaction, where the average balance of borrowings decreased from $121 million in the first three months of 2012 to $41 million in the same period
of 2013. Interest expense on deposits for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 represented 77% and 62%, respectively, of total interest
expense, while interest expense on other borrowings represented 23% and 38%, respectively, of total interest expense.

The following table sets forth information related to our average balance sheets, average yields on assets, and average rates of liabilities at
March 31, 2013 and 2012. We derived these yields or rates by dividing income or expense by the average balance of the corresponding assets or
liabilities. We derived average balances from
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the daily balances throughout the periods indicated. Yields on investment securities include amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts
as an adjustment to yield. Nonaccrual loans areincluded in earning assets in the following tables and the average balance of loansincludes loans
on nonaccrual status. The net of capitalized loan costs and fees are amortized into interest income on loans.

Average Balances, Income and Expenses, Yieldsand Rates

For the Three Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012
Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/
Balance Expense Rate(1)(2) Balance Expense Rate(1)(2)

(Dallars in thousands)
Interest ear ning assets

Federal funds sold $ 88,225 $ 45 0.21% $ 29,847 $ 8 0.11%

Securities 171,330 614 1.45% 301,927 2,662 3.68%

Federal Bank Stock 2,943 29 4.00% 6,129 24 1.57%

Loans 470,184 5,783 4.99% 514,762 7,117 5.58%

Total earning assets 732,682 6,471 3.58% 852,665 9,811 4.69%

Non earning assets 43,915 48,217

Total assets $776,597 $900,882

Interest bearing liabilities

NOW accounts $150,762 $ 38 0.10% $140,689 $ 73 0.21%

Savings & money market 92,404 38 0.17% 91,957 63 0.28%

Time deposits 225,890 1,009 1.81% 256,622 1,351 2.12%

Whol esale time deposits 42,883 239 2.27% 61,863 306 1.99%

Collateralized customer deposits 24476 5 0.08% 18,038 5 0.11%
Total deposits 536,415 1,329 1.00% 569,169 1,798 1.27%

FHLB advances 25,967 231 3.60% 78,249 652 3.35%

Repurchase agreements 14,611 150 4.16% 42,500 455 4.31%

Total interest bearing liabilities 576,993 1,710 1.20% 689,918 2,905 1.69%

Non interest bearing liabilities 109,866 109,133

Stockholders' equity 89,738 101,831

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $776,597 $900,882

Net interest spread 2.38% 3.00%

Net interest income/margin $ 4,761 2.64% $ 6,906 3.32%

(1) Annualized for the three month period.
(2) Fully tax-equivalent basis at 35% tax rate for nontaxabl e securities.

The decline inincome on our interest earning assets during the first three months of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012 was driven
primarily by alack of loan demand as the average balance of |oans outstanding decreased $45 million, or 8.7%, for the first three months of 2013
compared to the same time period in 2012. Additionally, the average balance of investment securities decreased $131 million, or 43.3%, for the first
three months of 2013 compared to 2012. Not only did the average balances decline, but yields on earning assets fell as assets repriced at market
rates which were at historic lows. Theyield onloansfell from 5.58% in the first three months of 2012 to 4.99% in the same period in 2013, a decline
of 59 bps. Theyield on investment securities decreased from 3.68% in the first three months of 2012 to 1.45% in 2013 as prepayment speeds on
mortgage-backed securitiesincreased as market rates continued to decline and these securities were replaced at lower yields. In addition, as
investment securitiesin our portfolio with unrealized gains were sold, the purchase of replacement securities yielded lower rates than did the
securities sold.
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Interest expense al so decreased during the first three months of 2013 compared to 2012 due to lower rates on our interest bearing liabilities.
Our average interest bearing liabilities decreased by $113 million during the first three months of 2013 compared to the same time period of 2012.
Additionally, the rates on interest bearing liabilities decreased 49 bpsin the first three months of 2013 compared to the same period in 2012. During
the first three months of 2013 and 2012, our interest bearing liabilities continued to reprice downward. At March 31, 2013 the balances of our FHLB-
Atlanta advances and structured repurchase agreements were $0 as aresult of the prepayment/unwind of such advances and structured
repurchase agreements during the first quarter of 2013. At March 31, 2012, our structured repurchase agreements of $42.5 million and approximately
$20 million of our FHL B-Atlanta advances were at fixed interest rates, with the remaining FHL B-Atlanta advances of $41.5 million at variable
interest rates. At March 31, 2012, $34 million of our variable rate FHLB-Atlanta advances were part of an interest rate swap agreement converting
the variable rate borrowingsto fixed rate.

Rate/Volume Analysis

Net interest income can be analyzed in terms of the impact of changing interest rates and changing volume. The following table sets forth the
effect which the varying levels of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities and the applicable rates have had on changesin net
interest income for the periods presented.

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2013 Over Three
Months Ended March 31, 2012

Yield / Net
Volume Rate Change

(Dallars in thousands)
Increase (decrease) in:
I nterest income:

Federal funds sold $ 30 $ 7 $ 37
Securities (388) (1,660) (2,048)
Federal Bank Stock (32 37 5
Loans (585) (749) (1,334)
Total interest income (975) (2,365) (3,340)
I nterest expense:
NOW accounts 3 (38) (35)
Savings & money market — (25) (25)
Time deposits (152) (290) (342
Wholesale time deposits (110 43 (67)
Collateralized customer deposits — — —
Sub-total deposit interest expense (259) (210) (469)
FHLB advances (467) 46 (421)
Repurchase agreements (289) (16) (305)
Total interest expense (1,015) (180) (1,195)
I ncrease (decr ease) net interest income $ 40 $(2,185) $(2,145)

Provision for L oan L osses

We have established an allowance for loan losses through a provision charged as an expense on our statements of operations. We review
our loan portfolio periodically to evaluate our outstanding loans and to measure both the performance of the portfolio and the adequacy of the
allowance for loan losses. Please see the discussion below under “Balance Sheet Review — Allowance for Loan Losses’ for a description of the
factors we consider in determining the provision necessary to maintain this allowance.
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Following isasummary of the activity in the allowance for loan | osses.

Three Months Ended
March 31,
2013 2012

(Dallars in thousands)
Balance, beginning of quarter $15,314 $17,439
Provision (780) 1,735
L oan charge-offs (370) (1,870)
L oan recoveries 646 135
Balance, end of quarter $14,810 $17,439

At March 31, 2013, the allowance for loan losses was 3.17% of total |oans as compared to 3.42% at March 31, 2012. The $14.8 million
allowancefor loan losses at March 31, 2013 is a$2.6 million reduction as compared to the allowance for loan losses at March 31, 2012. This
reduction is afunction of both the lower level of charge-offs that occurred during the first three months of 2013 and a reduction of specific
reserves on impaired loans. During thefirst quarter of 2013, we charged-off $370 thousand in loans, while recoveries on loans previously charged
off were $646 thousand, a net positive adjustment of $276 thousand. Additionally, there were $384 thousand in reductions to specific reserves on
impaired loans during the three months ended March 31, 2013 as compared to March 31, 2012.

At March 31, 2013 and 2012, the allowance for loan losses represented 34% and 42% respectively of the amount of nonperforming loans. A
significant portion of nonperforming loans are secured by real estate, 95% at March 31, 2013 and 94% at March 31, 2012. Asaresult of recognizing
impairment charges on our impaired loans to record such at estimated fair value, the carrying value of our nonperforming loans was approximately
82% of their unpaid principal balance at March 31, 2013 and approximately 81% at March 31, 2012.

Noninterest Income
The following table sets forth information related to our noninterest income.

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012 Yr over Yr
(Dallars in thousands)
Service charges $ 758 $ 857 $ (9
Trust Income 326 352 (26)
M ortgage banking income 186 337 (151)
Net gain (loss) on sale of securities — 36 (36)
Other 529 339 190
Other than temporary impairment losses — (67) 67
Total noninterest income $1,799 $1,854 $ (55

Noninterest income decreased $55 thousand from $1.85 million for thefirst quarter of 2012 to $1.80 million for thefirst quarter of 2013. The
decrease in total noninterest income during the first quarter of 2013 compared to the first quarter of 2012 resulted primarily from the $151 thousand
decrease in mortgage banking income and the $99 thousand decrease in service charges. These decreases were partially offset by other income
which increased $190 thousand for thefirst quarter of 2013 compared to 2012, due to income from a Small Business |nvestment Company (SBIC)
fund.

The Dodd-Frank Act callsfor limits on interchange transaction fees that banks receive from merchants via card networks like Visa, Inc. and
MasterCard, Inc. when a customer uses adebit card. In June 2011, the Federal Reserve approved the final rule which caps an issuer’sbasefee at 21
cents per transaction and allows an additional 5 basis point charge per transaction to help cover fraud losses. Although the rule technically does
not
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apply to institutions with less than $10 billion in assets, such as the Bank, there is concern that the price controls may harm community banks as
they are pressured by the marketplace to lower their own interchange rates. Our interchange fee incomeisincluded in service charges and was
$265 thousand and $285 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Noninterest Expenses
The following table sets forth information related to our noninterest expenses.

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013 2012 Yr over Yr
(Dallars in thousands)
Compensation and benefits $ 2,757 $2,965 $  (208)
Federal and other insurance premiums 260 300 (40)
Occupancy 268 266 2
Equipment rental's, depreciation and maintenance 500 492 8
FHL B advance prepayment penalties 4,350 — 4,350
Interest rate swap unwind fees 694 — 694
Structured repurchase agreements unwind fees 5,415 — 5,415
Other 1,878 1,565 313
Total noninterest expenses $16,122 $5,588 $ 10,534

Noninterest expense was $16.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2013, a$10.5 million, or 188%, increase from noninterest expense
of $5.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2012. The increase was primarily due to the $10.5 million of costsincurred in the
prepayment/unwinding of all FHLB-Atlanta advances, structured repurchase agreements, and interest rate swaps.

Our efficiency ratio was 245.76% and 63.79% for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The efficiency ratio
represents the percentage of one dollar of expense required to beincurred to earn afull dollar of revenue and is computed by dividing noninterest
expense by the sum of net interest income and noninterest income. Based on this calculation, we spent $2.46 on average to earn each $1.00 of
revenue during the three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to $0.64 spent on average to earn each $1.00 of revenue during the same period
in 2012. The negative trend in efficiency ratios is related to the termination/unwinding of FHLB advances, structured repurchase agreements and
interest rate swaps.

While total noninterest expense increased during the three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012,
compensation and benefits decreased $208 thousand, or 7.0%, during the first quarter of 2013 compared to the first quarter of 2012, primarily dueto
areduction in personnel primarily through staff attrition. The number of full-time equivalents at March 31, 2013 was 182 compared to 193 at March
31, 2012, a5.7% reduction in full-time equivalents.

Occupancy expenses remained flat at $268 thousand for the first quarter of 2013 compared to $266 thousand for the first quarter of 2012.

Insurance expenses decreased $40 thousand, or 13.3%, for the three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012
primarily due to areduction in the FDIC quarterly assessments, which resulted from a declining assessment base comprised of average
consolidated total assets and average tangible equity.

BALANCE SHEET REVIEW

At March 31, 2013, we had total assets of $716 million, consisting principally of $450 million in net loans (excluding loans held for sale), $167
million in investments (excluding Federal bank stock), and $48 millionin cash
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and cash equivalents. Our ligbilities at March 31, 2013 totaled $630 million, consisting principally of $608 million in deposits and $21 million related
to collateralized customer deposits. At March 31, 2013, our stockholders’ equity was $85.8 million.

During the fourth quarter of 2012, our board of directors began various actions and negotiationsto sell the Bank. As part of this decision to
engage in a business combination, we sold $79 million of held-to-maturity investment securities at arealized loss of $4.2 million. To mitigate a
portion of the loss and to preserve capital, we also sold avail able-for-sale securities of $41.5 million, realizing again of $1.4 million. Dueto this
intent to enter into a business combination and since the mgjority of the held-to-maturity securities were sold, we transferred the remaining held-
to-maturity security, recorded at $2.9 million, to available-for-sale, as our intent to hold this security to maturity was no longer part of our strategic
plan.

The cash received from these investment sales totaled $122.8 million, but the proceeds were not immediately reinvested while we considered
an alternative strategy of prepaying high cost wholesale funding liabilities. In the first quarter of 2013, dueto low yield opportunitiesin the
securities market and lack of loan demand and in anticipation of the business combination, we executed bal ance sheet del everaging transactions
totalling $104 million by using excess interest bearing cash to prepay/unwind all FHL B-Atlanta advances ($61.5 million) and structured repurchase
agreements ($42.5 million). In doing so, we also unwound all interest rate swaps with anotional value of $34 million. Although, we incurred
prepay/unwind penalties of $10.5 million, consisting of $4.3 million in FHLB advance prepayment penalties, $694 thousand in interest rate swap
unwind fees, and $5.4 million in structured repurchase agreements unwind fees, that were recorded as noninterest expense, we believe these
transactions should provide significant interest cost savings and should improve our net interest margin.

Investment Securities (excluding Federal bank stock)

At March 31, 2013, the $167 million in our investment securities portfolio, all of which was classified as available for sale, represented
approximately 23% of our total assets. Our investment portfolio consisted of mortgage-backed securities with afair value of $167 million and an
amortized cost of $170 million for an unrealized loss of $3 million.

The amortized costs and the fair value of our investments are as follows.

March 31,
2013 2012
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
(Dallars in thousands)

Availablefor Sale

U.S. government agency securities $ — $ — $ 1518 $ 1618
State and political subdivisions — — 21,296 22,424
M ortgage-backed securities 170,073 167,404 184,349 187,165
Corporate — — — —
Total $170,073 $167,404 $207,163 $211,207
Held to Maturity
Collateralized debt securities $ — $ — $ 14,825 $ 5,259
M ortgage-backed securities — — 75,402 81,887
Tota $ — $ — $ 90,227 $ 87,146
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December 31, 2012
Amortized Fair
Cost Value
(Dallars in thousands)

Availablefor Sale
U.S. government agency securities $ — $ —
State and political subdivisions — —
M ortgage-backed securities 179,456 178,888
Corporate — —
Total $179,456 $178,888

Held to Maturity
Collateralized debt obligations $ — $ —
M ortgage-backed securities — —

Total $ — $ —

Contractual maturities and yields on our investments are shown in the following table. Expected maturities may differ from contractual
maturities because issuers may have theright to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. At March 31, 2013, we had
no securities with amaturity of lessthan one year.

March 31, 2013
Oneto Five Years FivetoTen Years Over Ten Years Total
Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
(Dallars in thousands)

Availablefor sale
M ortgage-backed securities $1,116 4175%  $17,918 2470%  $148,370 1.463% $167,404 1.587%

Total $1,116 4175% $17,918  2470%  $148,370 1463% $167,404 1.587%

At March 31, 2013, the Bank had 28 individual investments that were in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months. At December 31,
2012, the Bank had 19 individual investments that were in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months. The unrealized losses were
attributable to changesin interest rates, rather than deterioration in credit quality.

At March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, there were no material individual investments that were in an unrealized loss position for greater
than 12 months. At March 31, 2012, the Bank had 13 individual investments that werein an unrealized loss position for greater than 12 months. The
unrealized losses were concentrated in the Bank’s private label collateralized mortgage obligations and collateralized debt obligations. The Bank
engaged athird party to review the securities for impairment quarterly. As of March 31, 2012, the review substantially indicated that the losses
were temporary and the Bank had the intent and ability to hold the securities until their maturity, thus collecting all remaining contractual cash
flows. For the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Bank recognized other-than-temporary impairment of $67 thousand.
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March 31, 2012

L ess than twelve months Twelve months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
(Dollars in thousands)
Availablefor Sale:
M ortgage-backed Securities $ 20,680 $ 268 $ 9,286 $ 520 $ 29,966 $ 788
Total availablefor sale 20,680 268 9,286 520 29,966 788
Held to Maturity:
M ortgage-backed securities 87 23 — — 87 23
Collateralized debt obligations — — 14,825 9,566 14,825 9,566
Total held to maturity 87 23 14,825 9,566 14,912 9,589
Total $ 20,767 $ 291 $24,111 $10,086 $44,878 $10,377

The Bank considers the length of time and extent to which the fair value of available-for-sale debt securities have been |ess than cost to
conclude that such securities were not other-than-temporarily impaired. We also consider other factors such as the financial condition of the
issuer including credit ratings and specific events affecting the operations of the issuer, volatility of the security, underlying assets that
collateralize the debt security, and other industry and macroeconomic conditions. Asthe Bank has no intent to sell these securities with unrealized
losses and it is not more-likely-than-not that the Bank will be required to sell these securities before recovery of amortized cost, we have concluded
that the securities are not impaired on an other-than-temporary basis.

Other investments are comprised of the following and are recorded at cost which approximates fair value.

March 31,
2013 2012
(Doallarsin thousands)
Federal Reserve Bank stock $ 360 $ 360
Federal Home L oan Bank stock 1,025 5,769
Total $ 1,385 $ 6,129

December 31, 2012
(Doallarsin thousands)

Federal Reserve Bank stock $ 360
Federal Home L oan Bank stock 4115
Total $ 4,475

Concentrations. The following tables summarize issuer concentrations of collateralized mortgage obligations for which aggregate fair values
exceed 10% of shareholder’s equity at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Asof March 31, 2013

Fair valueasa %

Aggregate Aggregate of
I ssuer amortized cost fair value shareholders equity
(Dallars in thousands)
Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation $ 33726 $32,136 37.4%
Federal National Mortgage Association 25,191 24,669 28.7%
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Asof December 31, 2012

Aggregate Aggregate Fair valueasa % of
| ssuer amortized cost fair value shareholders equity
(Dallars in thousands)
Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation $ 35234 $ 25,974 27.2%
Federal National Mortgage Association 25,752 34,384 36.0%

The following tables summarize issuer concentrations of other mortgage-backed investments securities for which fair values exceed 10% of
shareholder’s equity at March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Asof March 31, 2013

Fair valueasa %

Aggregate Aggregate of
I'ssuer amortized cost fair value shareholders equity
(Dallars in thousands)
Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation $ 38411 $ 38,166 44.5%
Federal National Mortgage Association 55,645 55,320 64.4%
Government National Mortgage Association 10,410 10,464 12.2%
Asof December 31, 2012
Adggregate Aggregate Fair valueasa % of
| ssuer amortized cost fair value shareholders equity
(Dallars in thousands)
Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation $ 40,153 $ 40,093 42.0%
Federal National Mortgage Association 57,510 57,562 60.3%
Government National Mortgage Association 12,305 12,353 12.9%

Loans

Since loans typically provide higher interest yields than other types of interest earning assets, a substantial percentage of our earning assets
areinvested in our loan portfolio. Average loans for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 were $470 million and $515 million,
respectively. Average loans for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $492 million. Before allowance for loan losses, total oans outstanding
(excluding loans held for sale) at March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012 were $464 million, $473 million, and $506 million,
respectively.

The principal component of our loan portfolio isloans secured by real estate mortgages. Our real estate |loans are secured by residential or
commercial property. We originate traditional long term residential mortgages, but the majority are sold into the secondary market. We originate
traditional second mortgage residential real estate |oans and variable rate home equity lines of credit. We obtain a security interest in loans
collateralized by real estate whenever possible, and other collateral where appropriate. Generally, we limit the loan-to-value ratio on loans we make
to 85%. We attempt to maintain arelatively diversified loan portfolio to help reduce the risk inherent in concentration in certain types of collateral.
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The following table summarizes the composition of our loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale.

March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 March 31, 2012
% of % of % of
Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total
(Dallars in thousands)

Construction and Land $ 41,742 899%  $ 43,700 9.24%  $ 55,333 10.92%
Owner Occupied Commercial RE 141,064 30.40% 144,036 30.45% 141,092 27.85%
Non Owner Occupied Commercial RE 53,978 11.58% 55,743 11.78% 63,898 12.61%
1-4 Family Residential 100,352 21.66% 97,765 20.67% 100,128 19.76%
Multifamily 22,113 4.76% 22,105 4.67% 28,639 5.65%
Home Equity Lines of Credit 44,504 9.58% 46,964 9.93% 49,556 9.78%
Commercial 43,917 9.22% 45,051 9.52% 48,356 9.28%
Consumer 8,491 1.83% 9,353 1.98% 11,516 2.27%
All Other 8,454 1.98% 8,341 1.76% 8,164 1.88%
Total Loans 464,615 473,058 506,682
L ess-deferred loan fees 188 169 267
L ess-allowance for loan losses 14,810 15,314 17,439
Total loans, net $449,617 $457,575 $488,976

Maturitiesand Sensitivity of Loansto Changesin Interest Rates

The following table summarizes the loan maturity distribution, excluding loans held for sale, by type and related interest rate characteristics.
Theinformation in thistable is based on the contractual maturities of individual loans, including loans which may be subject to renewal at their
contractual maturity. Renewal of such loansis subject to review and credit approval, as well as modification of terms upon maturity. Actual
repayments of loans may differ from the maturities reflected bel ow because borrowers have the right to prepay obligations with or without
prepayment penalties.

March 31, 2013

After one
but
One year within After five
or less five years years Total
(Dallars in thousands)

Construction and land $15,996 $ 17,431 $ 8315 $ 41,742
Owner occupied commercial RE 25,190 89,847 26,027 141,064
Non owner occupied commerical RE 9,662 41,997 2,319 53,978
1-4 family residential 16,547 51,046 32,759 100,352
Multifamily 1,361 19,335 1,417 22,113
Home equity line of credit 95 4317 40,092 44 504
Commercia 14,397 26,263 3,257 43,917
Consumer 1,462 5,998 1,031 8,491
All other 1,221 5,257 1,976 8,454
Total Loans $85,931 $261,491 $117,193 $464,615
L oans maturing — after one year with

Fixed interest rates $256,985

Floating interest rates 121,699

Allowancefor Loan L osses

At March 31, 2013 and March 31, 2012, the allowance for loan losses was $14.8 million and $17.4 million, respectively, or 3.17% and 3.42% of
total loans, respectively. The decrease in the allowance for loan lossesis aresult of areduction of the size of the loan portfolio, aswell asthe
reduction in specific reserves on impaired loans. Our net charge-offs decreased by $2.0 million during the first quarter of 2013 compared to the
same period
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in 2012. See the discussion of our critical accounting policies above and Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the three months
ended March 31, 2013 for more information on our allowance for loan losses.

The following table summarizes the activity related to our alowance for loan losses for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012.

Three Months Ended

March 31,
2013 2012
(Dallars in thousands)
Balance, beginning of period $15,314 $17,439
Provision for loan losses (780) 1,735
L oan Charge-offs:
Construction and land 84 186
Owner Occupied commercial RE 6 207
Non-Owner occupied commerical RE — 21
1-4 Family residential 116 866
Multifamily — —
Home Equity Lines of credit 57 278
Commercial 92 264
Consumer 15 48
All other — —
Total Loan Charge-offs 370 1,870
Loan recoveries:
Construction and land 442 18
Owner Occupied commercial RE 5 17
Non-Owner occupied commerical RE — 1
1-4 Family residential 97 4
Multifamily — 1
Home Equity Lines of credit 23 10
Commercial 66 60
Consumer 13 24
All other — —
Total Recoveries 646 135
Net L oan charge-offs (276) 1,735
Balance, end of period $14,810 $17,439
Allowance for loan losses to gross loans 3.17% 3.42%
Net charge-offsto average loans (0.06)% 0.34%
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The following table summarizes the activity related to our allowance for loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2012.

December 31, 2012
(Doallarsin thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 17,439
Provision for loan losses 8,233
L oan charge-offs:
Construction and land 3,034
Owner occupied commercial RE 2,159
Non-owner occupied commercial RE 1,450
1-4 family residential 2,919
Multifamily 199
Home equity lines of credit 675
Commercid 551
Consumer 105
All other —
Total loan char ge-offs 11,092
L oan recoveries:
Construction and land 277
Owner occupied commercial RE 133
Non-owner occupied commercia RE 4
1-4 family residential 78
Multifamily —
Home equity lines of credit 30
Commercia 148
Consumer 64
Total recoveries 734
Net loan char ge-offs 10,358
Balance, end of year $ 15,314
Allowance for loan losses to gross loans 3.23%
Net charge-offsto average loans 2.11%
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Nonperforming Assets

The following table shows the nonperforming assets and the related percentage of nonperforming assets to total assets and gross loans at
March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012. Generally, aloan is placed on nonaccrual status when it becomes 90 days past due asto
principal or interest, or when we believe, after considering economic and business conditions and collection efforts, that the borrower’ s financial
condition is such that collection of the loan is doubtful. A payment of interest on aloan that is classified as honaccrual is recognized asa
reduction in principal when received.

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2012
(Dallars in thousands)
Construction and land $ 5914 $ 5810 $ 9,794
Owner occupied commercial RE 5,139 4,972 5,381
Non owner occupied comercial RE 2,624 2,916 4,023
1-4 family residential 6,856 7,388 9,595
Multifamily 1,652 1,658 1,740
Home equity lines of credit 1,761 1,326 1,258
Commercia 1,506 1,751 1,546
Consumer 174 205 178
Nonaccruing troubled debt restructurings 17,170 21,547 8,189
Total nonaccrual loans including nonaccruing
TDRs 42,796 47,573 41,704
Other real estate owned 3,330 3,641 3,593
Total nonperforming assets $ 46,126 $ 51,214 $ 45,297
Nonperforming assets to total assets 6.44% 6.00% 5.09%
Nonperforming loansto total loans 9.17% 10.03% 8.19%
Total loans over 90 days past due $ 15,480 $ 14,983 $ 17,782
Loans over 90 days past due and still accruing $ 188 54 $ 88
Accruing troubled debt restructurings $ 6,280 20,233 $ 3,890

At March 31, 2013, nonperforming assets were $46 million, or 6.44% of total assets, and nonperforming loans were 9.17% of total loans.
Comparatively, at December 31, 2012, nonperforming assets were $51 million, or 6.00% of total assets, and nonperforming loans were 10.03% of
total loans. Comparatively, at March 31, 2012, nonperforming assets were $45 million, or 5.09% of total assets, and nonperforming loans were 8.19%
of total loans. Nonaccrual loans decreased $4.8 million to $42.8 million at March 31, 2013 from $47.6 million at December 31, 2012 due to the
shrinkage of the Bank’sloan portfolio. Nonaccrual loans increased $1 million to $42.8 million at March 31, 2013 from $41.7 million at March 31, 2012.
The amount of foregone interest income on the nonaccrual loans for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $614
thousand and $653 thousand, respectively. The amount of foregone interest income on the nonaccrual loans for the year ended December 31, 2012
was $2.6 million.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, we added $1.7 million or 24 new loansto nonaccrual while removing or charging off $6.5
million, adecrease in nonaccrual loans of $4.8 million, or 10.0% as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012, and an increase in nonaccrual
loans of $1.1 million, or 2.6% as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2012. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, total loans
decreased $8.4 million, or 1.8%, compared to December 31, 2012. During the twelve months ended March 31, 2013, total |oans decreased $42.1
million, or 8.3%, compared to March 31, 2012. This year-over-year decrease resulted in a disproportionate effect on the percentage of nonaccrual
loans and impaired |oans as a percentage of total loans.
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At March 31, 2013, impaired |oans totaled $49.8 million of which, $11.7 million had a specific allowance allocation of approximately $2.4
million, or 5.49% of loans individually evaluated for impairment. During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the average recorded investment
inimpaired loans was $50.2 million. At December 31, 2012, impaired loans totaled $50.3 million, of which $8.2 million had a specific allowance
allocation of approximately $2.0 million, or 4.65% of loansindividually evaluated for impairment. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the
average recorded investment in impaired loans was approximately $54.8 million. At March 31, 2012, impaired loans totaled $47.8 million, of which
$15.5 million of these impaired loans had a specific allowance allocation of $2.8 million, or 7.04% of loansindividually evaluated for impairment.
During the three months ended March 31, 2012, the average recorded investment in impaired loans was approximately $48.4 million.

Other nonperforming assets include other real estate owned. These assets decreased to $3.3 million at March 31, 2013 from $3.6 million at
December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012. During the first quarter of 2013, we sold seven properties for approximately $692 thousand and recognized
a $56 thousand gain on the sales. In addition we added three properties totaling $328 thousand to other real estate owned during the first quarter
of 2013, and recorded no write downs on other real estate properties owned. The balance at March 31, 2013 includes five commercial properties
totaling $460 thousand and 52 residential real estate properties totaling $3.2 million. We believe that these properties are appropriately valued at
the lower of cost or market as of March 31, 2013.

Asageneral practice, most of our loans are originated with relatively short maturities of five years or less. When aloan reaches its maturity
we frequently renew the loan, thereby extending its maturity. Such renewal s and extensions are made in accordance with our existing credit policy,
using appropriate credit standards and are based upon updated financial information on the borrower. Nonperforming loans are renewed at terms
generally consistent with the ultimate source of repayment and appropriate rates. In these cases, the Bank will seek additional credit
enhancements, such as additional collateral or additional guaranteesto further protect the loan. When aloan is no longer performing in
accordance with its stated terms, the Bank will typically seek performance under the guarantee.

At March 31, 2013, approximately 87% of our loans were collateralized by real estate, and over 95% of our impaired loans were secured by
real estate. The Bank utilizes third party appraisersto determine the fair value of collateral dependent loans. Our current loan and appraisal policies
require the Bank to obtain updated appraisals on an annual basis, either through a new external appraisal or an internal appraisal evaluation.
Impaired loans are individually reviewed on amonthly basis to determine the level of impairment. As of March 31, 2013, we do not have any
impaired loans carried at avalue in excess of the appraised value. Wetypically record a charge-off or create a specific reserve for impaired loans
when we do not expect repayment to occur as agreed upon under the original terms of the loan agreement.

The Bank considers aloan to be atroubled debt restructuring (TDR) when the debtor experiences financial difficulties and the Bank provides
concessions on the original terms of the loan agreement. Concessions can relate to the contractual interest rate, maturity date, or payment
structure of the note. As part of our workout plan for individual 1oan relationships, we may restructure loan terms to assist borrowers facing
challenges in the current economic environment. As of March 31, 2013, we determined that we had loans totaling $6.3 million, which we considered
accruing TDRs. As of December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012, we had loans totaling $20.2 million and $3.9 million, respectively, which we
considered accruing TDRs. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) for the three months ended March 31, 2013 for
additional information on TDRs.

Deferred Tax Assets

At March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012, respectively, deferred tax assets before any valuation allowance totaled
$18.4 million $14.5 million and $13.6 million. Realization of deferred tax assetsis

111



Table of Contents

dependent upon future taxable income within the carry forward periods of 20 years available under tax law as well as any taxable income available
within the carry back periods of 2 years. Asof March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, management’s projections of future earnings did not
support with sufficient certainty the ability to fully utilize all deferred tax assets within the next three years. Accordingly, management concluded it
was appropriate to establish an additional val uation allowance of $3.4 million and $3.9 million for deferred tax assets at March 31, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, respectively. Thetotal deferred tax asset valuation allowance as of March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012 was
$7.3 million $3.9 million, and $0, respectively.

Depositsand Other Interest Bearing Liabilities

Our primary source of funds for loans and investments are our deposits, advances from the FHL B-Atlanta, and structured repurchase
agreements. In the past, we have chosen to obtain a portion of our certificates of deposits from areas outside of our market in order to obtain
longer term deposits than are readily available in our local market. In accordance with our Formal Agreement with the OCC, we have adopted
guidelines regarding our use of brokered certificates of deposit that limit our brokered certificates of deposit to 25% of total deposits at terms that
are consistent with our current interest rate risk profile. In addition, we do not obtain deposits through the Internet. These guidelines allow usto
take advantage of the attractive terms that wholesale funding can offer while mitigating alarge portion of the related inherent risk.

Our retail deposits represented $580 million, or 95% of total deposits, at March 31, 2013, while our out-of-market, or brokered, deposits
represented $28 million, or 5% of our total deposits. At December 31, 2012, retail deposits represented $603.2 million, or 94% of total deposits and
brokered deposits were $38.2 million, or 6% of our total deposits. At March 31, 2012, retail deposits represented $622 million, or 94% of our total
deposits and brokered deposits were $38 million, representing 6% of our total deposits. Our |oan-to-deposit ratio was 76.77%, 73.97% and 77.20%
at March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012, respectively.

The following table shows the average balance amounts and the average rates paid on deposits held by us as of the dates indicated.

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2012
Amount _Rate Amount _Rate Amount Rate
(Dallars in thousands)
Noninterest bearing demand deposits $108,318 0.00%  $106,299 —%  $106,682 0.00%
Interest bearing demand deposits 150,762 0.10% 147,937 0.17% 140,689 0.21%
Money market accounts 59,941 0.23% 61,455 0.33% 60,140 0.39%
Savings accounts 32,464 0.05% 32,311 0.05% 31,817 0.05%
Collateralized customer deposits 24,476 0.08% 16,010 0.08% 18,038 0.07%
Time deposits | ess than $100,000 99,490 1.45% 108,626 1.61% 112,676 1.72%
Time deposits greater than $100,000 169,282 2.14% 191,834 2.25% 205,809 2.29%
Total Average Deposits $644,733 0.83% $664,472 0.98% $675,851 1.07%

Core deposits, which exclude out-of-market deposits and time deposits of $100,000 or more, provide arelatively stable funding source for our
loan portfolio and other earning assets. Our core deposits were $447 million, $427 million, and $461 million at March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012,
and March 31, 2012, respectively.
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All of our time deposits are certificates of deposits. The maturity distribution of our time deposits of $100,000 or moreis asfollows:

March 31, December 31, March 31,
_ 2013 __ 2012 2012
(Dallars in thousands)

Three months or less $ 19,500 $ 26,755 $ 26,382
Over three through six months 15,267 16,272 28,556
Over six through twelve months 36,127 22,410 30,025
Over twelve months 89,905 110,743 114,205
Total $160,799 $ 176,180 $199,168

The Dodd-Frank Act permanently raised the standard maximum deposit insurance amount to $250,000. The FDIC insurance coverage limit
applies per depositor, per insured depository institution for each account ownership category.

Short-Term Borrowings

For the three months ended March 31, 2013, the year ended December 31, 2012, and the three months ended March 31, 2012, the Bank had no
short-term borrowings for which the average balance outstanding during the period was 30% or greater of stockholders' equity.

Capital Resources

Total stockholders’ equity was $85.8 million at March 31, 2013 and $95.5 million at December 31, 2012. The $9.7 million decrease during the
first quarter of 2013 is primarily related to the net loss of $8.8 million during the first quarter of 2013, duein large part to the execution of the balance
sheet deleveraging transactionsin anticipation of the business combination which resulted in the $10.5 million in costs incurred from
prepaying/unwinding all FHL B-Atlanta advances, structured repurchase agreements, and interest rate swaps.

The following table shows the return on average assets (net income divided by average total assets), return on average equity (net income
divided by average equity), and equity to assetsratio (average equity divided by average total assets) for the three months ended March 31, 2013
and 2012. Cash dividends were suspended beginning in 2010.

ThreeMonths
Ended
March 31,

2013 2012
Return on average assets (4.59)% 0.45%
Return on average equity (39.69)% 3.96%
Dividend Payout ratio — —
Average equity to average assetsratio 11.56% 11.30%
Common equity to assetsratio 11.98% 11.40%

Our annualized return on average assets was (4.59)% for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 0.45% for the three months ended
March 31, 2012. In addition, our annualized return on average equity was (39.69)% for three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to 3.95% for
the same period in 2012. The average equity to average assets ratio increased from 11.30% at March 31, 2012 to 11.56% at March 31, 2013, related
primarily to the decrease in average assets during the first quarter of 2013 of $124 million and the decrease in average equity during the first quarter
of 2013 of $12 million. In addition, our common equity to assetsratio was 11.98% at March 31, 2013, compared to 11.40% at March 31, 2012.
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The following table shows the return on average assets (net income divided by average total assets), return on average equity (net income
divided by average equity, and equity to assetsratio (average equity divided by average total assets) for the year ended December 31, 2012.

Year Ended
December 31,
2012

Return on average assets (0.39)%
Return on average equity (3.36)%
Dividend Payout ratio —
Average equity to average assetsratio 11.57%
Common equity to assetsratio 11.19%

Under the capital adequacy guidelines, regulatory capital is classified into two tiers. These guidelines require an institution to maintain a
certain level of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to risk-weighted assets. Tier 1 capital consists of common stockholders' equity, excluding the unrealized
gain or loss on securities available for sale, minus certain intangible assets. In determining the amount of risk-weighted assets, all assets, including
certain off-balance sheet assets, are multiplied by arisk-weight factor of 0% to 100% based on the risks believed to be inherent in the type of asset.
Tier 2 capital consists of Tier 1 capital plusthe general reserve for loan losses, subject to certain limitations. We are also required to maintain
capital at aminimum level based on total average assets, which isknown asthe Tier 1 leverageratio.

We are subject to various regul atory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. To be considered “well capitalized,”
we must maintain total risk-based capital of at least 10%, Tier 1 capital of at |east 6%, and aleverage ratio of at |east 5%. To be considered
“adequately capitalized” under these capital guidelines, we must maintain a minimum total risk-based capital of 8%, with at least 4% being Tier 1
capital. In addition, we must maintain aminimum Tier 1 leverageratio of at |east 3%.

On June 8, 2011, the Bank entered into the Formal Agreement with the OCC. The Formal Agreement seeks to enhance the Bank’s existing
practices and procedures in the areas of credit risk management, credit underwriting, liquidity, and funds management. In addition, the OCC has
established IMCR levels of Tier 1 and total capital for the Bank that are higher than the minimum and well capitalized ratios applicable to all banks.
Specifically, we must maintain total risk-based capital of at least 13%, Tier 1 capital of at least 12%, and aleverageratio of at |east 8.5%.

Asof March 31, 2013, our capital ratios exceeded these ratios and we remain “well capitalized.” However, if we fail to maintain these required
capital levels, then the OCC may deem noncompliance to be an unsafe and unsound banking practice which may make the Bank subject to a capital
directive, a consent order, or such other administrative actions or sanctions as the OCC considers necessary. It is uncertain what actions, if any,
the OCC would take with respect to noncompliance with these ratios, what action steps the OCC might require the Bank to take to remedy this
situation, and whether such actions would be successful.

The following table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of the bank and the regulatory minimum reguirements.

OCC minimum OCC minimum
ratios required to ratios required to
OCC required be “adequately” be “well”
Actual IMCR levels (1) capitalized capitalized
Amount _Ratio Amount  Ratio Amount  Ratio Amount Ratio

(Dallars in thousands)

Asof March 31, 2013

Total Risk Based Capital $85,846 17.85% $62521 13.00% $38474 800% $48,093 10.00%
Tier 1 Risk Based Capital $79,727 1658% $57,703 12.00% $19,234 4.00% $28,852 6.00%
Tier 1 Leverage Capital $79,727 10.35% $65413 850% $23,087 3.00% $38478 5.00%
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OCC minimum OCC minimum
ratios required to ratios required to
OCC required be “adequately” be “well”
Actual IMCR levels (1) capitalized capitalized
Amount Ratio Amount _Ratio Amount  Ratio Amount Ratio

(Dallars in thousands)

As of December 31, 2012

Total Risk Based Capital $ 95528 19.22%  $64,613 13.00% $39,752 8.00%  $49,690 10.00%
Tier 1 Risk Based Capital $ 89,204 17.95% $59,635 12.00% $19,876 4.00% $29,814 6.00%
Tier 1 Leverage Capital $ 89,204 1041% $72,837 850% $25,702 3.00%  $42,836 5.00%
Asof March 31, 2012

Total Risk Based Capital $102,026 16.25% $81,621 13.00% $50,228 8.00% $62,785 10.00%
Tier 1 Risk Based Capital $ 94,060 14.98% $75,348 12.00% $25,116 4.00% $37,674 6.00%
Tier 1 Leverage Capital $ 94060 10.54% $75,855 850% $26,772 3.00%  $44,620 5.00%

(1) The OCC has established IMCR pursuant to 12 C.F.R. Section 3.10, which exceed the normal regulatory requirementsto be well capitalized.
Capital levels continue to exceed these threshol ds by a significant margin.

Dividends that may be paid by the Bank are subject to legal limitations, regulatory capital requirements, and prior approval by the OCC. The
approval of the OCC isrequired if thetotal of all dividends declared by anational bank in any calendar year exceeds the total of its net profits for
that year combined with its retained net profits for the preceding two years, less any required transfersto surplus. Additionally, in accordance with
the requirements of the Formal Agreement with the OCC, FNB adopted a dividend policy that permits the declaration of adividend only when FNB
isin compliance with its approved capital program, when FNB isin compliance with 12 U.S.C. 8856 and 60, and after obtaining awritten
determination of no supervisory objection from the OCC.

Effect of Inflation and Changing Prices

The effect of relative purchasing power over time due to inflation has not been taken into account in our consolidated financial statements.
Rather, our financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Unlike most industrial companies, our assets and liabilities are primarily monetary in nature. Therefore, the effect of changesin interest rates
will have amore significant impact on our performance than will the effect of changing prices and inflation in general. In addition, interest rates
may generally increase as the rate of inflation increases, although not necessarily in the same magnitude. We seek to manage the relationships
between interest sensitive assets and liabilitiesin order to protect against wide rate fluctuations, including those resulting from inflation.

Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Commitments to extend credit are agreementsto lend to a customer as long as the customer has not violated any material condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require the payment of afee.
At March 31, 2013, unfunded commitments to extend credit were approximately $41.2 million, of which $5.7 million were at fixed rates and $35.5
million were at variable rates. At December 31, 2012, unfunded commitments to extend credit were approximately $47.9 million, of which $11.9 million
were at fixed rates and $36.0 million were at variable rates. At March 31, 2012, unfunded commitments to extend credit were $51.6 million, of which
approximately $7.6 million were at fixed rates and $44.0 million were at variable rates. A significant portion of the unfunded commitments related to
consumer equity lines of credit. Based on historical experience, we anticipate that a significant portion of these lines of credit will not be funded.
We evaluate each customer’s credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of
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collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by us upon extension of credit, is based on our credit evaluation of the borrower. The type of collateral
varies but may include accounts receivable, inventory, property, plant and equipment, and commercial and residential real estate.

At March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012, there were $430 thousand $563 thousand, and $1 million of commitments under
letters of credit, respectively. The credit risk and collateral involved inissuing letters of credit is essentially the same asthat involved in extending
loan facilities to customers. Since most of the letters of credit are expected to expire without being drawn upon, they do not necessarily represent
future cash requirements.

On January 24, 2013, Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. (the “ Company”) entered into a definitive agreement and plan of merger (the “ Agreement”) with
the Bank, whereby the Company will acquire all of the outstanding common stock of the Bank in atransaction valued at approximately $64.0 million
for the outstanding common stock of the Bank. Completion of the transaction is subject to certain closing conditions, including regulatory
approvals and the approval of the shareholders of the Bank. The transaction approvals of the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC)
and the Arkansas State Bank Department were received subsequent to the balance sheet statement date. The transaction is subject to shareholder
approval and is expected to close during the third quarter of 2013. Upon approval of the shareholders, the Bank will be liable to Sandler O’ Neill for
the remaining balance ($710 thousand) of the transaction fee of 1.5% of the aggregate deal value which isto be paid upon the closing of the
merger.

Except as disclosed in this document, we are not involved in off-balance sheet contractual relationships, do not have any unconsolidated
related entities that have off-bal ance sheet arrangements and are not involved in any transactions that could result in liquidity needs or other
commitments that significantly impact earnings.

Market Risk and I nterest Rate Sensitivity

Market risk istherisk of loss from adverse changesin market prices and rates, which principally arises from interest rate risk inherent in our
lending, investing, deposit gathering, and borrowing activities. Other types of market risks, such asforeign currency exchange rate risk and
commodity pricerisk, do not generally arisein the normal course of our business.

We actively monitor and manage our interest rate risk exposure in order to control the mix and maturities of our assets and liabilities utilizing
aprocesswe call asset/liability management. The essential purposes of asset/liability management are to ensure adequate liquidity and to maintain
an appropriate balance between interest sensitive assets and liabilities in order to minimize potentially adverse impacts on earnings from changes
in market interest rates. Our asset/liability management committee (“ALCQO”) monitors and considers methods of managing exposure to interest
raterisk. We have an internal AL CO consisting of certain board members and senior management that meets quarterly. ALCO isresponsible for
maintaining the level of interest rate sensitivity of our interest sensitive assets and liabilities within board-approved limits.

Our interest rate risk exposure is managed principally by measuring our interest sensitivity which isthe positive or negative dollar difference
between assets and liabilities that are subject to interest rate repricing within a given period of time. Interest rate sensitivity can be managed by
repricing assets or liabilities, selling securities available for sale, replacing an asset or liability at maturity, or adjusting the interest rate during the
life of an asset or liability. Managing the amount of assets and liabilities repricing in this same time interval helpsto hedge the risk and minimize the
impact on net interest income of rising or falling interest rates. In general, we would benefit from increasing market rates of interest when we have
an asset-sensitive gap position and from decreasing market rates of interest when we are liability-sensitive.

116



Table of Contents

The following table sets forth information regarding our rate sensitivity, as of March 31, 2013, at each of thetimeintervals.

March 31, 2013

After three After one
Within but within but
three twelve within After five
months months five years years Total

(Dallars in thousands)
I nterest-earning assets:

Federal funds sold $ 33,749 $ — $ — $ — $ 33,749
Investment securities 9,453 23,278 75,920 60,137 168,788
Loans 167,894 60,547 166,875 71,616 466,932
Total earning assets $211,096 $ 83,825 $242,795 $131,753 $669,469
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Money market and NOW 107,263 — — 98,144 205,407
Regular savings — — — 32,930 32,930
Time deposits 37,919 82,060 138,530 — 258,509
Collateralized customer deposits 21,081 — — — 21,081
Total interest-bearing liabilities 166,263 82,060 138,530 131,074 517,927
Period gap $ 44,833 $ 1,765 $104,265 $ 679 $151,542
Cumulative gap $ 44,833 $ 46,598 $150,863 $151,542
Ratio of cumulative gap to total earning assets 7% 7% 23% 23% 23%

As measured over the one-year time interval, the above analysis would suggest that we were asset sensitive at March 31, 2013, since we
have $46.6 million more assets than liabilities repricing in the next twelve months. However, our gap analysisis not a precise indicator of our
interest sensitivity position. This analysis presents only a static view of the timing of maturities and repricing opportunities, without taking into
consideration that changesin interest rates do not affect all assets and liabilities equally. For example, rates paid on a substantial portion of core
deposits may change contractually within arelatively short time frame, but those rates are viewed by us as significantly less interest-sensitive than
market-based rates such as those paid on noncore deposits. We periodically utilize more complex interest rate models than indicated above, and
based on those results we believe that our net interest income will be positively impacted by an increase in interest rates. Our variable rate loans,
which comprised approximately 34% of our total loans, and a substantial portion of our deposits reprice over the next 12 months. Net interest
income may be affected by other significant factorsin agiven interest rate environment, including changes in the volume and mix of interest
earning assets and interest bearing liabilities.

At March 31, 2013, approximately 73% of our interest bearing liabilities were either variable rate or had a maturity of less than one year. Of the
$166 million of interest bearing liabilities set to reprice within three months, 65% are transaction, money market or savings accounts which are
already at or near their lowest rates and provide little opportunity for benefit for us should market rates continue to decline or stay constant.
However, certificates of deposit that are currently maturing or renewing are repricing at lower rates. We expect to benefit as these deposits reprice,
even if market ratesincrease slightly.

In addition, we believe that the interest rates that we pay on the majority of our interest bearing transaction accounts would only be
impacted by a portion of any change in market rates. This key assumption is utilized in our overall evaluation of our level of interest sensitivity.
Liquidity Risk

Liquidity representsthe ability of acompany to convert assetsinto cash or cash equivalents without significant loss, and the ability to raise
additional funds by increasing liabilities. Liquidity management involves
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monitoring our sources and uses of fundsin order to meet our day-to-day cash flow requirements while maximizing profits. Liquidity management
is made more complicated because different balance sheet components are subject to varying degrees of management control. For example, the
timing of maturities of our investment portfolio isfairly predictable and subject to a high degree of control at the time investment decisions are
made. However, net deposit inflows and outflows are far less predictable and are not subject to the same degree of control.

At March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012, our liquid assets, which consisted of cash and cash equivalents and
unencumbered investment collateral, amounted to $122 million, $173 million, and $150 million, or 17%, 20%, and 16% of total assets, respectively.
Our investment securities, excluding Federal bank stock, at March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012 amounted to $167 million, $179
million $301 million, or 23%, 21% and 34% of total assets, respectively. Investment securities traditionally provide a secondary source of liquidity
since they can be converted into cash in atimely manner.

Our ability to maintain and expand our deposit base and borrowing capabilities serves as our primary source of liquidity. We plan to meet our
future cash needs through the liquidation of temporary investments, the generation of deposits, and from additional borrowings. In addition, we
will receive cash upon the maturity and sale of loans and the maturity of investment securities. We maintain a Borrower In Custody line of credit
with the Federal Reserve totaling $4.9 million for which there were no borrowings against the line at March 31, 2013.

We are also amember of the FHLB-Atlanta, from which applications for borrowings can be made. The FHLB-Atlantarequires that securities,
qualifying mortgage loans, and stock of the FHL B-Atlanta owned by the Bank be pledged to secure any advances from the FHLB-Atlanta. The
unused borrowing capacity available from the FHLB-Atlanta at March 31, 2013 was $51.3 million, based on the Bank’s $14.8 million pledged
investment collateral, as well as $36.5 million of lendable collateral value derived from our loans pledged to FHL B-Atlanta. However, we are able to
pledge additional securitiesto the FHLB-Atlantain order to increase our available borrowing capacity. As of March 31, 2013 there were no
outstanding borrowings.

As previously discussed, during the first quarter of 2013, dueto low yield opportunities in the securities market, lack of loan demand, our
existing high cost wholesale funding and in anticipation of the business combination, the Bank executed balance sheet del everaging transactions
totaling $104 million by using excessinterest bearing cash to prepay/unwind all FHLB-Atlanta advances ($61.5 million) and structured repurchase
agreements ($42.5 million). In doing so, the Bank also unwound all interest rate swaps with anotional value of $34 million. The Bank incurred costs
consisting of prepayment/unwind penalties and fees totaling $10.5 million that were recorded as noninterest expense during the first quarter of
2013. To mitigate a portion of the loss and to preserve capital, the Bank also sold available-for-sale securities of $41.5 million, realizing again of
$1.4 million. These transactions should provide significant interest cost savings and should improve net interest margin. Additionally,
management does not expect these transactions to have an adverse effect on the Bank’sliquidity.

Contractual Obligations

We utilize avariety of short-term and long-term borrowings to supplement our supply of lendable funds, to assist in meeting deposit
withdrawal requirements, and to fund growth of interest earning assets in excess of traditional deposit growth. Certificates of deposit, structured
repurchase agreements and FHL B-Atlanta advances serve as our primary sources of such funds.

Obligations under noncancel able operating lease agreements are payable over several years, with the longest obligation expiring in 2038. We
do not believe any existing noncancel able operating |ease agreements are likely to materially impact the Bank’ s financial condition or results of
operationsin an adverse way. Contractual obligationsrelative to these agreements are noted in the table bel ow. Option periods that we have not
yet exercised are not included in this analysis as they do not represent contractual obligations until exercised.
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The following table provides payments due by period for obligations under long-term borrowings and operating lease obligations.

Certificates of deposit
Repurchase agreements

FHLB advances and related debt
Operating lease obligations
Total

March 31, 2013

Payments Due by Period

Over Over
Over One Two to Threeto After
Within to Two Three Five Five
One Year Years Years Years Years Total
(Dallars in thousands)
$119979 $91,371  $27,284  $19,875 —  $258,509
280 280 280 521 4,209 5,570
$120256  $91,651 $27564 $20,399 $4209  $264,079
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ANNUAL RESULTS
EARNINGS REVIEW

In 2010, the Bank adopted a strategic plan to reduce nonperforming loans and classified assets. This strategic plan wasintensified during
2011 and 2012 as classified assets were reduced from $112 million at December 31, 2010 to $104 million at December 31, 2011 and to $78 million at
December 31, 2012, resulting in atotal net reduction over the two years of $34 million, or 30.7%. Positive core operating income (defined in the table
appearing under the caption, “ Retained Earnings,” below, as Net Income before Asset Quality Losses) enabled the Bank to aggressively expedite
the resolution of nonperforming and classified assets through note sales ($12.5 million), net loan charge-offs ($10.4 million), foreclosures ($1.9
million) and the sale of OREO properties ($3.9 million) during 2012.

In early 2012, management fulfilled its commitment to the Bank’s regulators to sell two performing classified securities ($4.9 million of private
label mortgage-backed securities) at aloss of $968,000, which was offset by realizing gains from the sale of performing securitiesin the investment
portfolio. During the third quarter of 2012, additional securities were sold at a gain of $2.2 million to offset losses on the sale of classified loans. In
the fourth quarter of 2012, the Bank’s remaining portfolio of performing classified securities ($16 million of collateralized debt obligations) were
sold at aloss of $9.3 million, which was partially offset by realizing gains from the sale of $109 million of performing securitiesin itsinvestment
portfolio. These securities sales during 2012 included all of the Bank’s held to maturity investment securities portfolio and a portion of its available
for saleinvestment securities portfolio. As of December 31, 2012, all investment securities ($179 million) were classified as available for sale.

Management expects to continue its strategy of reducing levels of nonperforming loans while also preserving capital. Therefore, over the
next couple of years, the Bank may be unable to utilize its deferred tax asset, which totaled $12.8 million at December 31, 2012. At that time,
management determined that its projections of future earnings did not support the ability to fully utilize all deferred tax assets and established a
valuation allowance of $3.9 million for deferred tax assets. This allowance, along with other income tax benefits, resulted in anet loss of $3.4 million
for 2012, compared to net income of $247 thousand for 2011 and net loss of $7.9 million in 2010, primarily due to the write down of goodwill. Net
earnings (loss) to common stockholders was $(8.54) per share for 2012 compared to $0.62 per share for 2011 and $(19.86) per share for 2010.

Retained Earnings

At January 1, 2009 retained earnings were $93.3 million compared to $84.3 million at December 31, 2012, areduction of $9 million, of which $6.6
million was due to losses and $3.2 million was due to payment of dividends, partially offset by $0.718 million pursuant to the adoption of FAS 115-
2. Over thisfour year period, the provision for oan losses totaled $46.6 million, losses on sales of OREO properties totaled $2.7 million, and net
security losses totaled $1.1 million. These asset quality and investment securities losses, which were brought on by the economic downturn,
significant concentration in assets collateralized by real estate, and disruption to real estate market values were offset by the Bank’s core operating
income. The $6.0 million write-down of goodwill in 2010 and the $3.9 million valuation allowance on deferred tax assets established in 2012 are not
related to the core operations of the Bank but are, however, closely aligned to the general economic deterioration which occurred throughout the
country.

Neverthel ess, despite these reductions to retained earnings, the Bank’s capital ratios are strong and exceed both the regulatory requirements
to be considered “well capitalized,” and the Individual Minimum Capital Reguirements (ICMR) established by the OCC.

Although the following table does not conform to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and thusis considered “non-GAAP,” it
isintended to be a transparent representation of management’simplementation of the strategic plan, where continued positive core earnings
enabled the Bank to aggressively expedite the resolution of nonperforming and classified assets without significant erosion to retained earnings.
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Year Ended December 31,

Cumulative 2012 2011 2010 2009
(Dallars in thousands)

Beginning Retained Earnings $ 93,349 $87,681 $87,434 $96,020 $93,349
Net Income before Asset Quality L osses 53,763 9,840 14,439 15,491 13,993
Provision for Loan Losses (46,632) (8,233) (13,369) (16,350) (8,680)
Net Sale (and/or Cost) of OREO (2,744) (452) (798) (854) (640)
Gain(Loss) on Sale of Securities& OTTI (1,060) (677) (25) (198) (160)

Sub-Total Asset Quality Losses (50,436) (9,362) (14,192) (17,402) (9,480)
Earnings after Asset Quality L osses 3,327 478 247 (1,9112) 4,513
Write-off of Goodwill (6,035) — — (6,035) —
Deferred Tax Asset Vauation Allowance (3,892 (3,892 — — —
Net Income/(L oss) transferred to Retained Earnings (6,600) (3,414) 247 (7,946) 4,513
Reclassification of OTTI pursuant to FAS115-2 718 — — — 718
Dividends Paid (3,200) — — (640) (2,560)
Ending Retained Earnings $ 84,267 $84,267 $87,681 $87,434 $96,020

Net Interest Incomeand Margin

Our level of net interest incomeis determined by the level of earning assets, interest bearing liabilities, and the management of our net
interest margin. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, our net interest income was $23.9 million, $27.6 million, and $28.9 million,
respectively. The decrease in net interest income during 2012 compared to 2011 was primarily the result of the sale of higher yielding investment
securities, the decrease in the size of our loan portfolio through a combination of early loan pay-offs and lack of loan demand, partially offset by a
reduction in the cost of liabilities. The slight decrease in net interest income in 2011 compared to 2010 was related to the decrease in the loan
portfolio and loan yields as well as adecrease in the size of the investment securities portfolio, partially offset by the decrease in cost of liabilities.

Our net interest margin was 2.87% for 2012, an 18 bps decrease from 3.05% for 2011. The decrease in net interest margin during 2012
compared to 2011 was primarily the result of a decreasein yields on earnings assets of 38 bps, partially offset by adecrease in costs of interest
bearing liabilities of 19 bps. Net interest margin for 2011 increased 14 bps over the 2010 net interest margin of 2.91%, primarily due to the 38 bps
reduction in the cost of interest bearing liabilities compared to a 23 bps reduction in yields on interest earning assets. While we do not expect our
loan yields to change significantly in the near future, we do anticipate our future deposit costs to continue to decrease as we have approximately
$65 million of retail certificates of deposit scheduled to mature and repricein thefirst six months of 2013. In addition, $10 million of wholesale
certificates of deposit will mature in the first quarter of 2013 and we do not anticipate replacing these deposits.

Interest income for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 was $34.6 million, $41.1 million, and $47.3 million, respectively. During
2012, 74.2% of our interest income related to interest on loans and 25.3% related to interest on investments. Comparatively, during 2011 and 2010,
loan interest income comprised 71.8% and 69.2% of interest income, and investment interest comprised 27.9% and 30.5%, respectively, of interest
income.

Interest expense for 2012, 2011, and 2010 was $10.7 million, $13.5 million, and $18.5 million, respectively. The decrease in interest expense
during 2012 compared to 2011 and during 2011 compared to 2010 relates primarily to adecrease in interest expense on deposits due to the decrease
in the average balance of interest bearing deposits from $669 million for 2010 to $612 million for 2011 and $558 million for 2012, aswell as adecline
in rates on interest bearing deposits of 32 bpsin 2012 and 35 bpsin 2011. Interest expense on borrowings
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from other sources decreased in 2012 compared to 2011 and in 2011 compared to 2010 due primarily to the decrease in the average balance of other
borrowings from $179 million in 2010 to $139 million in 2011 and $108 million in 2012. Interest expense on deposits for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 represented 61.0%, 67.3%, and 66.6%, respectively, of total interest expense, whileinterest expense on other borrowings
represented 39.0%, 32.7%, and 33.4%, respectively, of total interest expense.

The following table sets forth information related to our average balance sheet, average yields on assets, and average rates of liabilities at
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. We derived these yields or rates by dividing income or expense by the average balance of the corresponding
assets or liabilities. We derived average balances from the daily balances throughout the periods indicated. Yields on investment securities include
amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts as an adjustment to yield. Nonaccrual 1oans areincluded in earning assetsin the following
tables. The average balance of loans includes |oans on nonaccrual status. The net of capitalized loan costs and fees are amortized into interest
income on loans.

Average Balances, Income and Expenses, Yieldsand Rates

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Average Income/  Yield/ Average Income/  Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate

(Dallars in thousands)
Interest ear ning assets

Federal funds sold $47951 $ 73 015% $42362 $ 73 017% $ 34727 $ 73 0.21%

Securities 287,511 8,757 3.05% 318,036 11,478 3.61% 372,267 14,460 3.88%

Federal Bank Stock 5,159 91 1.77% 7,226 60 0.84% 8,637 32 0.37%

Loans 491,604 25671 522% 538,235 29,509 5.48% 575,743 32,771 5.69%

Total earning assets 832,225 34592 4.16% 905,859 41,120 4.54% 991,374 47,336 4.77%

Nonearning assets 46,786 50,207 60,391

Total assets $879,011 $956,066 $1,051,765

Interest bearing liabilities

NOW accounts $147937 $ 245 017% $149982 $ 504 034% $ 134367 $ 714 0.53%

Savings & money market 93,766 220 0.23% 85,533 305 0.36% 60,996 284 0.47%

Time deposits 245,170 4905 200% 282,562 6,679 2.36% 318,185 8,476 2.66%

Wholesale time deposits 55,327 1,158 2.09% 76,924 1599 2.08% 134,754 2,821 2.09%

Collateralized customer deposits 16,010 13 0.08% 17,218 14 0.08% 20,725 30 0.14%
Total deposits 558,210 6541 117% 612,219 9,101 1.49%% 669,027 12,325 1.84%

FHLB advances 65,664 2,323 354% 77,527 2585 3.33% 98,694 4,436 4.49%

Repurchase agreements 42,500 1,831 4.31% 60,993 1,826 2.99% 80,000 1,702 2.13%

Total interest bearing liabilities 666,374 10,695 1.61% 750,739 13,512 1.80% 847,721 18,463 2.18%

Noninterest bearing liabilities 110,936 104,291 95,382

Stockholders’ equity 101,701 101,036 108,662

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $879,011 $956,066 $1,051,765

Net interest spread 2.55% 2.74% 2.59%

Net interest income/margin $23,897 2.87% $27,608 3.05% $28,873 2.91%
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The decline in income on our interest earning assets during 2012 compared to 2011 and during 2011 compared to 2010 was driven primarily by
alack of loan demand as the average balance of loans outstanding decreased $47 million, or 8.7%, for 2012 compared to 2011 and decreased $38
million, or 6.5%, for 2011 compared to 2010. Additionally, the average balance of investment securities decreased $31 million, or 9.6% for 2012
compared to 2011 and decreased $54 million, or 6.5%, for 2011 compared to 2010. Not only did the average balances decline, but yields on earning
assetsfell as assets repriced at market rates which were at historic lows. The yield on loansfell from 5.69% in 2010 to 5.48% in 2011 and to0 5.22% in
2012, adecline of 21 bpsfor 2011 compared to 2010 and a decline of 26 bps for 2012 compared to 2011. Theyield on investment securities
decreased from 3.88% in 2010 to 3.61% in 2011 and 3.05% in 2012 as prepayment speeds on mortgage-backed securitiesincreased as market rates
continued to decline and these securities were replaced at lower yields. In addition, as investment securitiesin our portfolio with unrealized gains
were sold to offset losses on the sale of certain classified investment securities and other nonperforming assets, the purchase of replacement
securitiesyielded lower rates than did the securities sold.

Interest expense also decreased during 2012 compared to 2011 and in 2011 compared to 2010 due to lower rates on our interest bearing
lighilities. Our average interest bearing liabilities decreased by $84 million during 2012 compared to 2011, and decreased by $97 million during 2011
compared to 2010. Additionally, the rates on interest bearing liabilities decreased 19 bpsin 2012 compared to 2011 and decreased 38 bpsin 2011
compared to 2010. During both 2012 and 2011, our interest bearing liabilities continued to reprice downward. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, our
repurchase agreements of $42.5 million and approximately $20 million of our FHLB-Atlanta advances were at fixed interest rates, with the remaining
FHLB-Atlanta advances of $41.5 million at December 31, 2012 and $56.5 million at December 31, 2011 at variable interest rates. At both
December 31, 2012 and 2011, $34 million of our variable rate FHLB-Atlanta advances were part of an interest rate swap agreement converting the
variable borrowingsto fixed rate.

Rate/Volume Analysis

Net interest income can be analyzed in terms of the impact of changing interest rates and changing volume. The following table sets forth the
effect which the varying levels of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities and the applicable rates have had on changesin net
interest income for the periods presented.

2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
Net Net
Volume Yield / Rate Change Volume Yield / Rate Change
(Dallars in thousands)

Increase (decrease) in:
I nterest income:

Federal funds sold $ 9 $ 9 $— $ 13 $ 3 $ —
Securities (930) (1,791) (2,721) (1,957) (1,025) (2,982)
Federal Bank Stock (36) 67 31 (12) 40 28
Loans (2,435) (1,403) (3,838) (2,056) (1,206) (3,262)
Total interest income (3,392 (3,136) (6,528) (4,012) (2,204) (6,216)

Interest expense:

NOW accounts 3 (256) (259) 52 (262) (210)
Savings & money market 19 (104) (85) 87 (66) 21
Time deposits (748) (1,026) (1,774) (842) (955) (1,797)
Wholesale time deposits (452) 11 (441) (1,202 (20) (1,222)
Collateralized customer deposits (1) — (1) (3) (13) (16)
Sub-total deposit interest expense (1,185) (1,375) (2,560) (1,907) (1,317) (3,224)
FHLB advances (420) 158 (262) (706) (1,145) (1,851)
Repurchase agreements (797) 802 5 (569) 693 124
Total interest expense (2,402 (415) (2,817) (3,182) (1,769) (4,951)
I ncrease (decr ease) net interest income $ (9900 $ (2721) $(3,711) $ (830) $ (435  $(1,265)
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Net interest income, the largest component of our income, was $23.9 million for 2012, a$3.7 million decrease from $27.6 million for 2011. Our
average interest earning assets decreased $73.6 million during 2012 compared to 2011 while our average interest bearing liabilities decreased $84.3
million during 2012 compared to 2011. Although our average interest earning assets decreased by $10.7 million less than our interest bearing
liabilities, the 38 bps decrease in yields on our interest earning assets was partially offset by the 19 bps decrease in rates on interest bearing
liabilities, resulting in the decrease in net interest margin of 18 bpsfor 2012 compared to 2011.

During 2011, our net interest income decreased by $1.3 million to $27.6 million, compared to $28.9 million for 2010. Our average interest
earning assets decreased by $85.5 million during 2011, compared to 2010, and our average interest bearing liabilities decreased by $97.0 million
during 2011 compared to 2010. Although our average interest earning assets decreased by $11.5 million less than our interest bearing liabilities, the
decreasein rates of 38 bps on our interest-bearing liabilities more than offset the 23 bps decrease in yields on interest earning assetsresultingin a
14 bpsimprovement in net interest margin for 2011 compared to 2010.

Provision for L oan L osses

We have established an allowance for loan losses through a provision charged as an expense on our statements of income. We review our
loan portfolio periodically to evaluate our outstanding loans and to measure both the performance of the portfolio and the adequacy of the
allowance for loan losses. Please see the discussion below under “Balance Sheet Review — Allowance for Loan Losses’ for a description of the
factorswe consider in determining the amount of the provision we expense each period to maintain this allowance.

Following isasummary of the activity in the allowance for loan | osses.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dallars in thousands)

Balance, beginning of year $ 17,439 $ 16,763 $ 11,145

Provision 8,233 13,368 16,350

L oan charge-offs (11,092 (13,402) (11,237)

L oan recoveries 734 710 504

Balance, end of year $ 15,314 $ 17,439 $ 16,763

At December 31, 2012, the allowance for loan losses was 3.23% of total loans. The $8.2 million provision for 2012 was a function of both the
level of charge-offsthat occurred during 2012 and the reduction of specific reserves onimpaired loans. During 2012, we charged-off $10.4 millionin
loans, net of recoveries on loans previously charged off, and had $1.9 million reductionsin specific reserves on impaired loans at December 31,
2012 compared to December 31, 2011.

The allowance for loan | osses as a percentage of total loanswas 3.37% and 2.99% at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. For the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we added $13.4 million and $16.4 million, respectively, to the allowance for |oan losses through the provision,
resulting in an allowance of $17.4 million and $16.8 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. We reported charge-offs, net of recoveries
on loans previously charged off, of $12.7 million and $10.7 million for 2011 and 2010, respectively.

At December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the allowance for loan losses represented 32%, 39%, and 39% of the amount of nonperforming loans. A
significant portion, or 95%, of nonperforming loans at December 31, 2012 are secured by real estate. In recognition of impairment, our
nonperforming loans are written down to approximately 80% of their current unpaid principal balance.
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Noninterest Income
The following table sets forth information related to our noninterest income.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dallars in thousands)
Service charges $3,395 $3,766 $ 3,893
Trust income 1,317 1,395 1,338
M ortgage banking income 1,372 993 1,663
Net gain (loss) on sale of securities (610) 440 855
Other 1,315 1,290 1,244
Other than temporary impairment losses (67) (465) (1,052)
Total noninterest income $6,722 $7,419 $ 7,941

Noninterest income decreased $697 thousand from $7.4 million for 2011 to $6.7 million for 2012. The decreasein total noninterest income
during 2012 compared to 2011 resulted primarily from the $610 thousand loss on sale of investment securitiesin 2012 compared to $440 thousand
gain on sale of securitiesin 2011 and the $371 thousand decrease in service charges. These decreases were partially offset by mortgage banking
income which increased $379 thousand for 2012 compared to 2011.

Noninterest income decreased $522 thousand to $7.4 million for 2011 from $7.9 million for 2010. The decrease during 2011 compared to 2010
resulted primarily from a decrease of $670 thousand in mortgage banking income. Additionally, gains on the sale of securities decreased $415
thousand in 2011 compared to 2010 and other-than-temporary impairment charges totaled $464 thousand in 2011 compared to $1.1 million in 2010.

The Dodd-Frank Act callsfor limits on interchange transaction fees that banks receive from merchants via card networks like Visa, Inc. and
MasterCard, Inc. when a customer uses adebit card. In June 2011, the Federal Reserve approved the final rule which caps an issuer’sbasefee at 21
cents per transaction and allows an additional 5 basis point charge per transaction to help cover fraud losses. Although the rule technically does
not apply to institutions with less than $10 billion in assets, such as the Bank, there is concern that the price controls may harm community banks
asthey are pressured by the marketplace to lower their own interchange rates. Our interchange feeincomeisincluded in service charges and was
$1.1 million, $1.1 million, and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Noninterest Expenses
The following table sets forth information related to our noninterest expenses.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(Dallars in thousands)

Compensation and benefits $11,455 $12,528 $13,529
Federal and other insurance premiums 1,181 1,252 1,299
Occupancy 1,070 1,169 1,397
Equipment rental's, depreciation and maintenance 2,043 2,095 2,186
Impairment of goodwill — — 6,035
Other 6,626 5,391 5,242
Total noninterest expenses $22,375 $22,435 $29,688
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Noninterest expense was $22.37 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, a $60 thousand, or 0.3%, decrease from noninterest expense of
$22.43 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. Noninterest expense for 2011 decreased $7.25 million, or 24.4%, from $29.69 million for 2010.
Compensation and benefits and occupancy comprised 56.0% of total noninterest expense during 2012, compared to 61.1% in 2011 and 50.3% in
2010.

Our efficiency ratio was 73.08%, 64.05%, and 80.64% for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The efficiency ratio
represents the percentage of one dollar of expense required to beincurred to earn afull dollar of revenue and is computed by dividing noninterest
expense by the sum of net interest income and noninterest income. Based on this cal culation, we spent $0.73 on average to earn each $1.00 of
revenue during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Whiletotal noninterest expense remained flat during 2012 compared to 2011, compensation and benefits decreased $1.1 million, or 8.6%,
during 2012 compared to 2011 primarily due to attrition.

Of the $1.23 million increase in “ Other” expenses, $1.16 million was primarily due to costs attributable to management of nonperforming
assetsin 2012, of which 50% was attributable to external credit risk management consultants, 22% to appraisals on nonperforming loans, 22% to
legal fees, and the remaining 6% to external credit risk consultant reviews.

Occupancy expenses decreased $98 thousand, or 8.4%, for 2012 compared to 2011 driven primarily by ongoing general cost controls.

Insurance expenses decreased $71 thousand, or 5.6%, for 2012 compared to 2011 primarily due to areduction in the FDIC quarterly
assessments, which resulted from a declining assessment base comprised of average consolidated total assets and average tangible equity.

Noninterest expense for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $22.4 million and $29.7 million, respectively. The $7.3 million
decrease during 2011 related primarily to the following:
Compensation and benefits expense decreased $1.0 million for 2011 compared to 2010 due primarily to attrition.

Occupancy expense decreased $228 thousand during 2011 compared to 2010 due primarily to savings derived by a new branch moving from
atemporary location to a permanent facility. Additionally, bank-wide branch cost control initiatives were effectively put in place during 2011.

The Bank recorded a $6.0 million goodwill impairment charge to write-off al of its goodwill during 2010. Declining value of the Bank’s stock
coupled with lower cash flow projections by the Bank resulted in management reducing itsinternal valuations resulting in the goodwill impairment.

BALANCE SHEET REVIEW

At December 31, 2012, we had total assets of $853.8 million, consisting principally of $459.1 million in net loans, $178.9 million in investments
(excluding Federal bank stock), and $161.8 million in cash and cash equivalents. Our liabilities at December 31, 2012 totaled $758.3 million,
consisting principally of $641.4 million in deposits, $61.5 million in FHLB-Atlanta advances, and $42.5 million related to repurchase agreements. At
December 31, 2012, our stockholders' equity was $95.5 million.

At December 31, 2011, we had total assets of $898.4 million, consisting principally of $500.8 million in net loans, $315.5 million in investments
(excluding Federal bank stock), and $18.4 million in cash and cash equivalents. Our liabilities at December 31, 2011 totaled $798.0 million, consisting
principally of $666.4 million
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in deposits, $76.5 million in FHLB-Atlanta advances, and $42.5 million related to repurchase agreements. At December 31, 2011, our stockholders’
equity was $100.4 million.

During 2012, we committed to our primary regulator to reduce classified investment securities (private label collateralized mortgage
obligations (“CMOs") and collateralized debt obligations (“ CDOs”) by 23%, through sales of specific targeted bonds, amortizing payments, and
write-downs. During the first and second quarters of 2012, we sold two held-to-maturity CMOs for $4.8 million, resulting in arealized loss of $973
thousand. In order to offset these realized losses and thereby preserve capital, we also sold available-for-sale investment securities of $43.4 million,
resulting in realized gains of $757 thousand, with the balance of the loss offset by the $301 thousand redemption of aclassified held-to-maturity
CDO. The Bank determined that the sale of the held-to-maturity securities was based on a change in circumstances related to the levels of
investment in these specific securities and did not call into question their intent to hold other held-to-maturity investment securities to maturity.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2012, our board of directors began various actions and negotiations to sell the Bank. As part of
this decision to engage in a business combination, we sold $84 million of held-to-maturity investment securities at arealized loss of $4.2 million. To
mitigate a portion of the loss and to preserve capital, we also sold available-for-sale securities of $41.5 million, realizing again of $1.4 million. Due
to thisintent to enter into a business combination and because the majority of the held-to-maturity securities were sold, we transferred the
remaining held-to-maturity security, recorded at $2.9 million, to available-for-sale, as our intent to hold the security to maturity was no longer part
of our strategic plan.

The cash received from these investment sales totaled $122.8 million, but the proceeds were not reinvested while we considered an
alternative strategy of prepaying/unwinding all borrowings, structured repurchase agreements, and interest rate swaps. In early 2013, dueto low
yield opportunitiesin the securities market and lack of loan demand, coupled with our existing high cost wholesale funding, we executed a $104
million balance sheet deleverage transaction by using excess interest bearing cash to prepay/unwind all FHL B-Atlanta advances ($61.5 million)
and structured repurchase agreements ($42.5 million). We also unwound all interest rate swaps with anotional value of $34 million. We incurred an
aggregate of prepayment/unwind penalties and fees totaling $10.5 million that were recorded as noninterest expensein 2013. Going forward, we
believe this transaction should provide significant interest cost savings, and should improve our net interest margin.
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Investment Securities (excluding Federal bank stock)

At December 31, 2012, the $178.9 million in our investment securities portfolio, al of which was classified as available for sale, represented
approximately 21.0% of our total assets. Our investment portfolio included mortgage-backed securitieswith afair value of $178.9 million and an
amortized cost of $179.5 million for an unrealized loss of $569 thousand.

The amortized costs and the fair value of our investments are as follows.

December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value

(Dallars in thousands)

Availablefor Sale

U.S. government agency securities $ — $ — $ 1672 $ 1793 $ 58408 $ 58,238
State and political subdivisions — — 21,428 22,581 23,483 23,159
M ortgage-backed securities 179,456 178,888 193,404 196,562 147,507 149,704
Corporate — — 1,345 1,353 1,358 1,424
Total $179,456 $178,888 $217,849 $222289 $230,756 $232,525
Held to Maturity
Collateralized debt obligations $ — $ — $ 14695 $ 598 $ 17105 $ 3,608
M ortgage-backed securities — — 78,500 85,300 89,725 94,168
Total 3 — 3 — $ 93195 $ 91,280 $106,830 $ 97,776

Contractual maturities and yields on our investments are shown in the following table. Expected maturities may differ from contractual
maturities because issuers may have theright to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties. At December 31, 2012, we
had no securities with a maturity of lessthan one year.

December 31, 2012
Oneto Five Years Fiveto Ten Years Over Ten Years Total
Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
(Dallars in thousands)

Availablefor Sale
M ortgage-backed securities $ 2 9.869%  $19,600 2.587%  $159,286 1.561% $178,888 1.672%

Total 2 9.869% $19,600 2.587% $159,286  1561% $178,888  1.672%

©

At December 31, 2012, the Bank had 19 individual investments that were in an unrealized loss position for less than 12 months. The
unrealized losses were primarily attributable to changesin interest rates, rather than deterioration in credit quality. The Bank considers the length
of time and extent to which the fair value of available-for-sale debt securities have been less than cost to conclude that such securities were not
other-than-temporarily impaired. We also consider other factors such as the financial condition of the issuer including credit ratings and specific
events affecting the operations of the issuer, volatility of the security, underlying assets that collateralize the debt security, and other industry and
macroeconomic conditions. Asthe Bank has no intent to sell securities with unrealized losses and it is not more-likely-than-not that the Bank will
be required to sell these securities before recovery of amortized cost, we have concluded that the securities are not impaired on an other-than-
temporary basis.
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Other investments are comprised of the following and are recorded at cost which approximates fair value.

December 31,
2012 2011
(Doallarsin thousands)
Federal Reserve Bank stock $ 360 $ 360
Federal Home L oan Bank stock 4115 5,769
Total $ 4,475 $ 6,129

Concentrations. The following table summarizesissuer concentrations of collateralized mortgage obligations for which aggregate fair values
exceed 10% of shareholder’s equity at December 31, 2012.

Aggregate Aggregate  Fair valueasa % of

| ssuer amortized cost fair value shareholders equity
(Dallars in thousands)

Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation $ 35234 $25974 27.2%

Federal National Mortgage Association 25,752 34,384 36.0%

The following table summarizesissuer concentrations of other mortgage-backed investments securities for which fair values exceed 10% of
shareholder’s equity at December 31, 2012.

Adggregate Aggregate  Fair valueasa % of

I'ssuer amortized cost fair value shareholders equity
(Dallars in thousands)
Federal Home L oan Mortgage Corporation $ 40,153 $40,093 42.0%
Federal National Mortgage Association 57510 57,562 60.3%
Government National Mortgage Association 12,305 12,353 12.9%
Loans

Since loans typically provide higher interest yields than other types of interest earning assets, a substantial percentage of our earning assets
areinvested in our loan portfolio. Average loansfor the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 were $491.6 million and $538.2 million,
respectively. Before allowance for loan losses, total loans outstanding at December 31, 2012 and 2011 were $474.4 million and $518.2 million,
respectively.

The principal component of our loan portfolio isloans secured by real estate mortgages. Most of our real estate |oans are secured by
residential or commercial property. We do originate traditional long term residential mortgages, but the majority is sold into the secondary market.
We do issue traditional second mortgage residential real estate |oans and home equity lines of credit. We obtain a security interest in real estate
whenever possible, in addition to any other available collateral. This collateral istaken to increase the likelihood of the ultimate repayment of the
loan. Generally, we limit the loan-to-val ue ratio on loans we make to 85%. We attempt to maintain arelatively diversified loan portfolio to help
reduce the risk inherent in concentration in certain types of collateral.
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The following table summarizes the composition of our loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale, for each of the five years ended
December 31, 2012.

December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
% of % of % of % of % of
Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total Amount Total
(Dallars in thousands)
Construction and Land $ 43,700 9.24% $ 59,110 11.49% $ 91,802 16.46% $ 99,304 17.25% $ 97,539 16.96%
Owner Occupied Commercial RE 144036 30.45% 140,168 27.24% 135,708 24.33% 132,358 22.99% 145,683 25.33%
Non Owner Occupied Commercial
RE 55,743 11.78% 67,123 13.04% 69,850 12.52% 64,845 11.26% 61,305 10.66%
1-4 Family Residential 97,765 20.67% 100,365 19.50% 105,226 18.87% 106,710 18.53% 97,919 17.03%
Multifamily 22,105 4.67% 25,467 495% 23,693 4.25% 26,536 4.61% 26,135 4.55%
Home Equity Lines of Credit 46,964 9.93% 49,344 9.59% 51,290 9.20% 47,224 8.20% 42,294 7.35%
Commercial 45,051 9.52% 49,452 9.61% 52,247 9.37% 52,332 9.09% 52,833 9.19%
Consumer 9,353 1.98% 13,464 262% 19,231 3.45% 26,168 4.55% 31,988 5.56%
All Other 8,341 1.76% 10,112 1.96% 8,639 1.55% 20,284 3.52% 19,400 3.37%
Total Loans 473,058 100.00% 514,605 100.00% 557,686  100.00% 575,761 100.00% 575,096  100.00%
Less-deferred |oan fees 169 280 315 330 413
Less— allowance for loan |osses 15,314 17,439 16,763 11,145 7,703
Total loans, net $457,575 $496,886 $540,608 $564,286 $566,980
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Maturitiesand Sensitivity of Loansto Changesin Interest Rates

The following table summarizes the loan maturity distribution, excluding loans held for sale, by type and related interest rate characteristics.
Theinformation in thistable is based on the contractual maturities of individual loans, including loans which may be subject to renewal at their
contractual maturity. Renewal of such loansis subject to review and credit approval, as well as modification of terms upon maturity. Actual
repayments of loans may differ from the maturities reflected bel ow because borrowers have the right to prepay obligations with or without
prepayment penalties.

December 31, 2012

After one
but
One year within After five
or less five years years Total
(Dallars in thousands)

Construction and land $17,454 $ 19,043 $ 7,203 $ 43,700
Owner occupied commercial RE 25,709 92,665 25,662 144,036
Non owner occupied commercial RE 7,630 45,984 2,128 55,742
1-4 family residential 17,717 53,396 26,652 97,765
Multifamily 2,747 18,975 383 22,105
Home equity lines of credit 89 3,926 42949 46,964
Commercia 15,585 27,425 2,041 45,051
Consumer 1,499 6,767 1,087 9,353
All other 484 6,126 1,732 8,342
Total loans $88,914 $274,307 $109,837 $473,058
L oans maturing — after one year with

Fixed interest rates $249,138

Floating interest rates 135,006

Allowancefor Loan L osses

At December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, the allowance for |oan losses was $15.3 million and $17.4 million, respectively, or 3.23% and
3.37% of total loans, respectively. The decrease in the allowance for loan lossesis aresult of areduction of the size of the loan portfolio, aswell as
the reduction in specific reserves on impaired loans. Our net charge-offs decreased by $2.3 million during 2012 compared to 2011. Seethe
discussion of our critical accounting policies above and Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on our allowance for
|oan losses.

The following table summarizes the activity related to our allowance for loan losses for the five years ended December 31, 2012.

Year Ended December 31,

Cumulative 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(Dallars in thousands)
Balance, beginning of year $ 6,687 $17,439 $16,763 $11,145 $7,703  $6,687
Provision for loan |osses 52,781 8,233 13,368 16,350 8,680 6,150
L oan charge-offs:
Construction and land 15,453 3,034 5,316 4,502 1,575 1,026
Owner occupied commercial RE 4,249 2,159 494 1,085 372 139
Non-owner occupied commercial RE 4716 1,450 2,150 1,066 50 —
1-4 family residential 7,516 2,919 2,787 1,124 395 291
Multifamily 796 199 458 — — 139
Home equity lines of credit 1,777 675 451 203 383 65
Commercid 9,705 551 1,112 2,749 2,282 3,011
Consumer 2,631 105 632 492 704 698
All other 17 — 2 15 — —
Total loan char ge-offs 46,860 11,092 13,402 11,236 5,761 5,369
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Year Ended December 31,
Cumulative 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(Dallars in thousands)

L oan recoveries:

Construction and land 336 277 44 15 — —
Owner occupied commercial RE 215 133 41 21 2 18
Non-owner occupied commercia RE 97 4 78 — 15 —
1-4 family residential 371 78 37 52 153 51
Multifamily 11 — 1 — — 10
Home equity lines of credit 37 30 4 — 2 1
Commercial 1,022 148 370 175 246 83
Consumer 617 64 135 241 105 72
Total recoveries 2,706 734 710 504 523 235
Net loan char ge-offs 44,154 10,358 12,692 10,732 5,238 5,134
Balance, end of year $ 15,314  $15,314 $17,439 $16,763 $11,145 $7,703
Allowance for loan losses to gross loans 3.23% 3.37% 2.99% 1.93% 1.34%
Net charge-offsto average loans 2.11% 2.36% 1.86% 0.90% 0.93%

Nonperforming Assets

The following table shows the nonperforming assets and the rel ated percentage of nonperforming assets to total assets and gross loans for
the five years ended December 31, 2012. Generally, aloan is placed on nonaccrual status when it becomes 90 days past due asto principal or
interest, or when we believe, after considering economic and business conditions and collection efforts, that the borrower’sfinancial conditionis
such that collection of theloan isdoubtful. A payment of interest on aloan that is classified as nonaccrual isrecognized as areduction in principal
when received.

December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(Dallars in thousands)

Construction and land $ 5,810 $10,323 $11,110 $ 5,015 $3,206
Owner occupied commercial real estate 4,972 5,997 3,355 3,066 1,260
Non owner occupied commercial RE 2,916 4124 5,184 427 337
1-4 family residential 7,388 10,025 6,275 4,305 1,145
Multifamily 1,658 2,454 5,212 — —
Home equity lines of credit 1,326 1,475 350 72 —
Commercia 1,751 1,504 1,149 1,018 78
Consumer 205 138 338 365 253
Nonaccruing troubled debt restructurings 21,547 8,427 10,192 3,180 —
Total nonaccrual loans, including nonaccruing TDRs 47573 44 467 43,165 17,448 6,279
Other real estate owned 3,641 5,709 3,572 3,983 2,443
Total nonperforming assets $51,214 $50,176 $46,737 $21,431 $8,722
Nonperforming assets to total assets 6.00% 5.59% 4.70% 2.06% 0.88%
Nonperforming loansto total loans 10.03% 8.58% 7.70% 3.02% 1.09%
Total loans over 90 days past due $14,983 $17,100 $32,996 $11,816 $6,086
L oans over 90 days past due and still accruing 54 482 4.458 1,096 1,281
Accruing troubled debt restructurings 20,233 1,428 3,444 1,263 —

At December 31, 2012, nonperforming assets were $51 million, or 6.00% of total assets and nonperforming loans were 10.03% of total loans.
Comparatively, at December 31, 2011, nonperforming assets were $50 million,
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or 5.59% of total assets and nonperforming loans were 8.58% of total loans. Nonaccrual loansincreased $3.1 million to $47.6 million at

December 31, 2012 from $44.5 million at December 31, 2011 due to the continued strain on our borrowers caused by the general economic
conditions. The amount of foregone interest income on the nonaccrual loans for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 was approximately
$2.6 million and $2.2 million, respectively.

During 2012, we added $35.3 million or 208 new loans to nonaccrual while removing or charging off $30.3 million. Consequently, there was an
increase in nonaccrual loans of $3.1 million, or 6.98%, and impaired loans increased $1.3 million, or 2.75%. During 2012, total loans decreased $41.5
million or 8.07%, compared to December 31, 2011. Thisyear-over-year decrease resulted in a disproportionate effect on the percentage of
nonaccrual loans and impaired loans as a percentage of total loans.

At December 31, 2012, impaired loans totaled $50.3 million of which, $8.2 million had a specific allowance allocation of approximately $2.0
million, or 4.65% of loansindividually evaluated for impairment. During 2012, the average recorded investment in impaired |oans was $54.8 million.
At December 31, 2011, impaired loans totaled $48.9 million of which, $19.3 million of these impaired loans had a specific allowance all ocation of $3.5
million, or 8.88% of loansindividually evaluated for impairment. During 2011, the average recorded investment in impaired |oans was approximately
$47.8 million.

Other nonperforming assets include other real estate owned. These assets decreased $2.1 million to $3.6 million at December 31, 2012 from
$5.7 million at December 31, 2011. During 2012, we sold 42 properties for approximately $3.8 million and recognized a $2 thousand gain on the sales.
In addition we added 28 propertiestotaling $1.9 million to other real estate owned during 2012, and recorded write downs totaling $139 thousand
on nine properties. The balance at December 31, 2012 includes five commercial properties totaling $460 thousand and 52 residential real estate
properties totaling $3.2 million. We believe that these properties are appropriately valued at the lower of cost or market as of December 31, 2012.

Asageneral practice, most of our loans are originated with relatively short maturities of five years or less. When aloan reaches its maturity
we frequently renew the loan, thereby extending its maturity. Such renewal s and extensions are made in accordance with our existing credit policy,
using appropriate credit standards and are based upon updated financial information on the borrower. Nonperforming loans are renewed at terms
generally consistent with the ultimate source of repayment and appropriate rates. In these cases, the Bank will seek additional credit
enhancements, such as additional collateral or additional guaranteesto further protect the loan. When aloan is no longer performing in
accordance with its stated terms, the Bank will typically seek performance under the guarantee.

At December 31, 2012, approximately 87% of our loans were collateralized by real estate, and over 95% of our impaired loans were secured by
real estate. The Bank utilizes third party appraisersto determine the fair value of collateral dependent loans. Our current loan and appraisal policies
require the Bank to obtain updated appraisals on an annual basis, either through a new external appraisal or an internal appraisal evaluation.
Impaired loans areindividually reviewed on a monthly basisto determine the level of impairment. As of December 31, 2012, we do not have any
impaired loans carried at avalue in excess of the appraised value. Wetypically record a charge-off or create a specific reserve for impaired loans
when we do not expect repayment to occur as agreed upon under the original terms of the loan agreement.

The Bank considers aloan to be atroubled debt restructuring (TDR) when the debtor experiences financial difficulties and the Bank provides
concessions with the original terms of the loan agreement. Concessions can relate to the contractual interest rate, maturity date, or payment
structure of the note. As part of our workout plan for individual 1oan relationships, we may restructure loan terms to assist borrowers facing
challengesin the current economic environment. As of December 31, 2012, we determined that we had loans totaling $20.2 million, which we
considered accruing TDRs. As of December 31, 2011, we had loans totaling $1.4 million, which we considered accruing TDRs. See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on TDRs.
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Deferred Tax Assets

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, deferred tax assets totaled $12.8 million and $11.3 million. Realization of deferred tax assetsis
dependent upon future taxabl e income within the carry forward periods (20 years) available under tax law as well as any taxable income available
within the carry back periods (2 years). As of December 31, 2012, management determined that its projections of future earnings did not support
the ability to fully utilize all deferred tax assets. Accordingly, management concluded it was appropriate to establish a valuation allowance of $3.9
million for deferred tax assets.

Depositsand Other Interest Bearing Liabilities

Our primary source of funds for loans and investments are our deposits, advances from the FHL B-Atlanta, and structured repurchase
agreements. In the past, we have chosen to obtain a portion of our certificates of deposits from areas outside of our market in order to obtain
longer term deposits than are readily available in our local market. In accordance with our Formal Agreement with the OCC, we have adopted
guidelines regarding our use of brokered certificates of deposit that limit our brokered certificates of deposit to 25% of total deposits at terms that
are consistent with our current interest rate risk profile. In addition, we do not obtain deposits through the Internet. These guidelines allow usto
take advantage of the attractive terms that wholesale funding can offer while mitigating alarge portion of the related inherent risk.

Our retail deposits represented $603.2 million, or 94% of total deposits, at December 31, 2012, while our out-of-market, or brokered, deposits
represented $38.2 million, or 6% of our total deposits. At December 31, 2011, retail deposits represented $628.1 million, or 94.3%, of our total
deposits and brokered deposits were $38.3 million, representing 5.7% of our total deposits. Our loan-to-deposit ratio was 74%, 78%, and 78% at
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

The following table shows the average balance amounts and the average rates paid on deposits held by us as of the dates indicated.

December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Amount _Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate
(Dallars in thousands)
Noninterest bearing demand deposits $106,299 — % $ 99538 — % $ 89301 — %
Interest bearing demand deposits 147,937 0.17% 149,982 0.34% 134,367 0.53%
Money market accounts 61,455 0.33% 55,667 0.52% 34,303 0.73%
Savings accounts 32,311 0.05% 29,866 0.05% 26,693 0.05%
Collateralized customer deposits 16,010 0.08% 17,218 0.08% 20,725 0.14%
Time deposits | ess than $100,000 108,626 1.61% 121,999 1.96% 136,732 2.27%
Time deposits greater than $100,000 191,834 2.25% 237,300 2.48% 308,613 2.65%
Total Average Deposits $664,472 0.98%  $711,570 1.25%  $750,734 1.63%

Core deposits, which exclude out-of-market deposits and time deposits of $100,000 or more, provide arelatively stable funding source for our
loan portfolio and other earning assets. Our core deposits were $427 million, $458 million, and $435 million at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively.
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All of our time deposits are certificates of deposits. The maturity distribution of our time deposits of $100,000 or moreis asfollows:

December 31,
2012 2011
(Dallars in thousands)
Three months or less $ 26,755 $ 24,605
Over three through six months 16,272 23,030
Over six through twelve months 22,410 33,969
Over twelve months 110,743 88,926
Total $176,180 $170,530

The Dodd-Frank Act permanently raised the standard maximum deposit insurance amount to $250,000. The FDIC insurance coverage limit
applies per depositor, per insured depository institution for each account ownership category.

Short-Term Borrowings

For years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Bank had no short-term borrowings for which the average balance outstanding
during the period was 30% or greater of stockholders' equity.

Capital Resources

Total stockholders’ equity was $95.5 million at December 31, 2012 and $100.4 million at December 31, 2011. The $4.9 million decrease during
2012 isprimarily related to net loss of $3.4 million during the year.

The following table shows the return on average assets (net income divided by average total assets), return on average equity (net income
divided by average equity), and equity to assetsratio (average equity divided by average total assets) for the three years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010. Cash dividends were suspended beginning in 2010.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Return on average assets (0.39)% 0.03% (0.75)%
Return on average equity (3.36)% 0.24% (7.31)%
Dividend Payout ratio — — (8.05)%
Average equity to average assetsratio 11.57% 10.56% 10.31%
Common equity to assetsratio 11.19% 11.18% 9.98%

Our return on average assets was (0.39)% for the year ended December 31, 2012 and 0.03% and (0.75)% for the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010, respectively. In addition, our return on average equity was (3.36)% for 2012 compared to 0.24% for 2011 and (7.31)% for 2010. The
average equity to average assets ratio increased from 10.31% at December 31, 2010 to 10.56% and 11.57% at December 31, 2011 and 2012,
respectively, related primarily to the decrease in average assets during 2011 of $96 million and the decrease in average earnings assets during 2011
of $77 million. In addition, our common equity to assetsratio was 11.19% at December 31, 2012, compared to 11.18% at December 31, 2011 and
9.98% at December 31, 2010.

Under the capital adequacy guidelines, regulatory capital is classified into two tiers. These guidelines require an institution to maintain a
certain level of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to risk-weighted assets. Tier 1 capital consists of common stockholders' equity, excluding the unrealized
gain or loss on securities available for sale, minus certain intangible assets. In determining the amount of risk-weighted assets, all assets, including
certain off-balance sheet assets, are multiplied by arisk-weight factor of 0% to 100% based on the risks believed to be
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inherent in the type of asset. Tier 2 capital consists of Tier 1 capital plusthe general reserve for |oan losses, subject to certain limitations. We are
also required to maintain capital at aminimum level based on total average assets, which isknown asthe Tier 1 leverageratio.

We are subject to various regul atory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. To be considered “well capitalized,”
we must maintain total risk-based capital of at least 10%, Tier 1 capital of at |east 6%, and aleverage ratio of at |east 5%. To be considered
“adequately capitalized” under these capital guidelines, we must maintain a minimum total risk-based capital of 8%, with at |east 4% being Tier 1
capital. In addition, we must maintain aminimum Tier 1 leverageratio of at |east 3%.

On June 8, 2011, the Bank entered into the Formal Agreement with the OCC. The Formal Agreement seeks to enhance the Bank’s existing
practices and procedures in the areas of credit risk management, credit underwriting, liquidity, and funds management. In addition, the OCC has
established IMCR levels of Tier 1 and total capital for the Bank that are higher than the minimum and well capitalized ratios applicable to all banks.
Specifically, we must maintain total risk-based capital of at least 13%, Tier 1 capital of at least 12%, and aleverageratio of at |east 8.5%.

Asof December 31, 2012, our capital ratios exceeded these ratios and we remain “well capitalized.” However, if wefail to maintain these
required capital levels, then the OCC may deem noncompliance to be an unsafe and unsound banking practice which may make the Bank subject to
acapital directive, aconsent order, or such other administrative actions or sanctions as the OCC considers necessary. It is uncertain what actions,
if any, the OCC would take with respect to noncompliance with these ratios, what action steps the OCC might require the Bank to take to remedy
this situation, and whether such actions would be successful.

The following table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of the bank and the regulatory minimum reguirements.

OCC minimum OCC minimum
ratios required ratios required
OCC required to be “adequately” to be “well”
Actual IMCR levels (1) capitalized capitalized
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

(Dallars in thousands)

As of December 31, 2012

Total Risk Based Capital $ 95,528 19.22%  $64,613 13.00% $ 39,752 8.00%  $49,690 10.00%
Tier 1 Risk Based Capital 89,204 17.95% 59,635 12.00% 19,876 4.00% 29,814 6.00%
Tier 1 Leverage Capital 89,204 10.41% 72,837 8.50% 25,702 3.00% 42,836 5.00%
Asof December 31, 2011

Total Risk Based Capital 102,201 15.73% 84,464 13.00% 51,972 8.00% 64,965 10.00%
Tier 1 Risk Based Capital 93,963 14.46% 77,978 12.00% 25,986 4.00% 38,979 6.00%
Tier 1 Leverage Capital 93,963 10.30% 77,542 8.50% 27,374 3.00% 45,624 5.00%
As of December 31, 2010

Total Risk Based Capital 103,054 14.41% 57,203 8.00% 71,503 10.00%
Tier 1 Risk Based Capital 94,085 13.16% 28,601 4.00% 42,902 6.00%
Tier 1 Leverage Capital 94,085 9.17% 30,777 3.00% 51,295 5.00%

(1) The OCC has established IMCR pursuant to 12 C.F.R. Section 3.10, which exceed the normal regulatory requirementsto be well capitalized.
Capital levels continue to exceed these threshol ds by a significant margin.

Dividends that may be paid by the Bank are subject to legal limitations, regulatory capital requirements, and prior approval by the OCC. The
approval of the OCC isrequired if thetotal of all dividends declared by anational bank in any calendar year exceeds the total of its net profits for
that year combined with its retained net
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profits for the preceding two years, less any required transfers to surplus. Additionally, in accordance with the requirements of the Formal
Agreement with the OCC, FNB adopted a dividend policy that permits the declaration of adividend only when FNB isin compliance with its
approved capital program, when FNB isin compliance with 12 U.S.C. 8856 and 60, and after obtaining awritten determination of no supervisory
objection from the OCC.

Effect of Inflation and Changing Prices

The effect of relative purchasing power over time due to inflation has not been taken into account in our consolidated financial statements.
Rather, our financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Unlike most industrial companies, our assets and liabilities are primarily monetary in nature. Therefore, the effect of changesin interest rates
will have amore significant impact on our performance than will the effect of changing prices and inflation in general. In addition, interest rates
may generally increase as the rate of inflation increases, although not necessarily in the same magnitude. We seek to manage the rel ationships
between interest sensitive assets and liabilitiesin order to protect against wide rate fluctuations, including those resulting from inflation.

Off-Balance Sheet Risk

Commitments to extend credit are agreementsto lend to a customer as long as the customer has not violated any material condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require the payment of afee.
At December 31, 2012, unfunded commitments to extend credit were approximately $47.9 million, of which $11.9 million were at fixed rates and $36.0
million were at variable rates. At December 31, 2011, unfunded commitments to extend credit were $54.3 million, of which approximately $7.4 million
were at fixed rates and $46.9 million were at variable rates. A significant portion of the unfunded commitments related to consumer equity lines of
credit. Based on historical experience, we anticipate that a significant portion of these lines of credit will not be funded. We evaluate each
customer’s credit worthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by us upon extension of credit, is
based on our credit evaluation of the borrower. The type of collateral varies but may include accounts receivable, inventory, property, plant and
equipment, and commercial and residential real estate.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, there was a $563 thousand and $1.3 million commitment under letters of credit, respectively. The credit risk
and collateral involved inissuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. Since most of
the letters of credit are expected to expire without being drawn upon, they do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

Except as disclosed in this document, we are not involved in off-bal ance sheet contractual relationships, unconsolidated rel ated entities that
have off-balance sheet arrangements or transactions that could result in liquidity needs or other commitments that significantly impact earnings.

Market Risk and I nterest Rate Sensitivity

Market risk istherisk of loss from adverse changesin market prices and rates, which principally arises from interest rate risk inherent in our
lending, investing, deposit gathering, and borrowing activities. Other types of market risks, such asforeign currency exchange rate risk and
commodity pricerisk, do not generally arisein the normal course of our business.

We actively monitor and manage our interest rate risk exposure in order to control the mix and maturities of our assets and liabilities utilizing
aprocesswe call asset/liability management. The essential purposes of asset/liability management are to ensure adequate liquidity and to maintain
an appropriate balance between interest
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sensitive assets and liabilitiesin order to minimize potentially adverse impacts on earnings from changes in market interest rates. Our asset/liability
management committee (“ALCQO”) monitors and considers methods of managing exposure to interest rate risk. We have an internal ALCO
consisting of certain board members and senior management that meets quarterly. ALCO isresponsible for maintaining the level of interest rate
sensitivity of our interest sensitive assets and liabilities within board-approved limits.

Our interest rate risk exposure is managed principally by measuring our interest sensitivity which isthe positive or negative dollar difference
between assets and liabilities that are subject to interest rate repricing within a given period of time. Interest rate sensitivity can be managed by
repricing assets or liabilities, selling securities available for sale, replacing an asset or liability at maturity, or adjusting the interest rate during the
life of an asset or liability. Managing the amount of assets and liabilities repricing in this same time interval helpsto hedge the risk and minimize the
impact on net interest income of rising or falling interest rates. In general, we would benefit from increasing market rates of interest when we have
an asset-sensitive gap position and from decreasing market rates of interest when we are liability-sensitive.

The following table sets forth information regarding our rate sensitivity, as of December 31, 2012, at each of thetimeintervals.

December 31, 2012

After three
Within but within After one
three twelve but within After five
months months five years years Total
(Dallars in thousands)
I nterest-earning assets:
Federal funds sold $144,098 $ — $ — $ — $144,098
Investment securities 13,798 32,978 84,234 52,352 183,362
Loans 173,961 67,903 164,002 68,570 474,436
Total earning assets 331,857 100,881 248,236 120,922 801,896
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Money market and NOW 121,276 — — 101,092 222,368
Regular savings — — — 32,886 32,886
Time deposits 42,792 71,842 162,880 — 277,514
FHLB-Atlanta advances and related debt 50,236 — 54,000 10,000 114,236
Total interest-bearing liabilities 214,304 $ 71,842 $216,880 $143,978 $647,004
Period gap $117,553 $ 29,039 $ 31,356 $(23,056) $154,892
Cumulative gap 117,553 146,592 177,948 154,892 154,892
Ratio of cumulative gap to total earning assets 15% 18% 22% 19% 19%

As measured over the one-year timeinterval, the above analysis would suggest that we were asset sensitive at December 31, 2012, since we
have more assets than liahilities repricing in the next twelve months. At December 31, 2012, we had $146.6 million more assets than liabilities that
reprice within the next twelve months. However, our gap analysisis not a precise indicator of our interest sensitivity position. Thisanalysis
presents only astatic view of the timing of maturities and repricing opportunities, without taking into consideration that changesin interest rates
do not affect all assets and liabilities equally. For example, rates paid on a substantial portion of core deposits may change contractually within a
relatively short time frame, but those rates are viewed by us as significantly lessinterest-sensitive than market-based rates such as those paid on
noncore deposits. We periodically utilize more complex interest rate models than indicated above, and based on those results we believe that our
net interest income will be positively impacted by an increase in interest rates. Our variable rate loans, which comprised approximately 34% of our
total loans, and a substantial portion of our deposits reprice over the next 12 months. Net interest income may be affected by other significant
factorsin agiven interest rate environment, including changes in the volume and mix of interest earning assets and interest bearing liabilities.
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At December 31, 2012, approximately 44% of our interest bearing liabilities were either variable rate or had a maturity of less than one year. Of
the $214 million of interest bearing liabilities set to reprice within three months, 57% are transaction, money market or savings accounts which are
already at or near their lowest rates and provide little opportunity for benefit for us should market rates continue to decline or stay constant.
However, certificates of deposit that are currently maturing or renewing are repricing at lower rates. We expect to benefit as these deposits reprice,
even if market ratesincrease slightly.

Included in our FHL B-Atlanta advances and rel ated debt were a number of borrowings with callable features as of December 31, 2012. We
believe that the optionality on many of these borrowingswill not be exercised until interest rates increase significantly. In addition, we believe that
the interest rates that we pay on the majority of our interest bearing transaction accounts would only be impacted by a portion of any changein
market rates. This key assumption isutilized in our overall evaluation of our level of interest sensitivity.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity represents the ability of acompany to convert assetsinto cash or cash equivalents without significant loss, and the ability to raise
additional funds by increasing liabilities. Liquidity management involves monitoring our sources and uses of fundsin order to meet our day-to-day
cash flow reguirements while maximizing profits. Liquidity management is made more complicated because different balance sheet components are
subject to varying degrees of management control. For example, the timing of maturities of our investment portfolio isfairly predictable and subject
to ahigh degree of control at the time investment decisions are made. However, net deposit inflows and outflows are far less predictable and are
not subject to the same degree of control.

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, our liquid assets, which consisted of cash and cash equivalents and unencumbered investment collateral,
amounted to $173.4 million and $133.1 million, or 20.3% and 14.8% of total assets, respectively. Our investment securities, excluding Federal bank
stock, at December 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted to $179 million and $315 million, or 21% and 35% of total assets, respectively. Investment securities
traditionally provide a secondary source of liquidity since they can be converted into cash in atimely manner. However, a portion of these
securities are pledged against outstanding debt. Therefore, the related debt would need to be repaid prior to the securities being sold in order for
these securities to be converted to cash.

Our ability to maintain and expand our deposit base and borrowing capabilities serves as our primary source of liquidity. We plan to meet our
future cash needs through the liquidation of temporary investments, the generation of deposits, and from additional borrowings. In addition, we
will receive cash upon the maturity and sale of 1oans and the maturity of investment securities. We maintain a Borrower In Custody line of credit
with the Federal Reserve totaling $4.1 million for which there were no borrowings against the line at December 31, 2012.

We are also amember of the FHLB-Atlanta, from which applications for borrowings can be made. The FHLB-Atlantarequires that securities,
qualifying mortgage loans, and stock of the FHL B-Atlanta owned by the Bank be pledged to secure any advances from the FHLB-Atlanta. The
unused borrowing capacity available from the FHL B-Atlantaat December 31, 2012 was $5.2 million, based on the Bank’s $36 million pledged
investment collateral, as well as $36 million of lendable collateral value derived from our loans pledged to FHLB-Atlanta. However, we are able to
pledge additional securitiesto the FHLB-Atlantain order to increase our available borrowing capacity.

We have $10 million of wholesale certificates of deposit and $12.5 million of structured repurchase agreements that mature during 2013 for
which there are no plansto renew. We believe that our existing stable base of core deposits, borrowings from the FHL B-Atlanta, and repurchase
agreements, will enable usto successfully meet our long-term liquidity needs. However, as short-term liquidity needs arise, we have the ability to
sell aportion of our investment securities portfolio to meet those needs.
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Contractual Obligations

We utilize avariety of short-term and long-term borrowings to supplement our supply of lendable funds, to assist in meeting deposit
withdrawal requirements, and to fund growth of interest earning assets in excess of traditional deposit growth. Certificates of deposit, structured
repurchase agreements and FHL B-Atlanta advances serve as our primary sources of such funds.

Obligations under noncancel able operating lease agreements are payable over several years, with the longest obligation expiring in 2038. We
do not believe any existing noncancel able operating |ease agreements are likely to materially impact the Bank’ s financial condition or results of
operationsin an adverse way. Contractual obligationsrelative to these agreements are noted in the table bel ow. Option periods that we have not
yet exercised are not included in this analysis as they do not represent contractual obligations until exercised.

The following table provides payments due by period for obligations under long-term borrowings and operating lease obligations.

December 31, 2012
Payments Due by Period

Within Over One Over Two Over
One to Two to Three Threeto After Five
Year Years Years Five Years Years Total
(Dallars in thousands)
Certificates of deposit $114634 $ 92070 $ 47,024 $ 23786 $ — $277,514
Repurchase agreements 12,500 — — — 30,000 42,500
FHLB advances and related debt — 31,500 10,000 20,000 — 61,500
Operating lease obligations 280 280 280 528 4,272 5,640
Total $127414 $123850 $ 57,304 $ 44314 $ 34,272 $387,154

In early 2013, dueto low yield opportunitiesin the securities market and lack of loan demand, coupled with our existing high cost wholesale
funding; the bank executed a $104 million balance sheet deleverage transaction by using excess interest bearing cash to prepay/unwind all FHLB-
Atlantaadvances ($61.5 million) and structured repurchase agreements ($42.5 million). In doing so, the bank also unwound all interest rate swaps
with anotional value of $34 million. The Bank incurred prepay/unwind penalties totaling $10.5 million that were recorded as noninterest expensein
2013. Going forward, this transaction should provide significant interest cost savings, and should improve net interest margin.

Accounting, Reporting, and Regulatory Matters

The following isasummary of recent authoritative pronouncements that could impact the accounting, reporting, and/or disclosure of
financial information by the Bank.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In April 2011 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU") 2011-02 to assist creditors with their determination of when arestructuring isa TDR. The determination is based on whether the
restructuring constitutes a concession and whether the debtor is experiencing financial difficulties as both events must be present. The new
guidance was effective for the Bank beginning January 1, 2012 and did not have a material effect on the Bank’s TDR determinations.

In April 2011, the criteria used to determine effective control of transferred assetsin the Transfers and Servicing topic of the Accounting
Standards Codification (“* ASC”) was amended by ASU 2011-03. The requirement for the transferor to have the ability to repurchase or redeem the
financial assets on substantially the agreed terms and the collateral maintenance implementation guidance related to that criterion were removed
from the assessment of effective control. The other criteriato assess effective control were not changed. The amendments were effective for the
Bank on January 1, 2012 and had no effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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ASU 2011-04 wasissued in May 2011 to amend the Fair VValue Measurement topic of the ASC by clarifying the application of existing fair
value measurement and disclosure requirements and by changing particular principles or requirements for measuring fair value or for disclosing
information about fair value measurements. The amendments were effective for the Bank beginning January 1, 2012 and had no effect on its
consolidated financial statements.

The Comprehensive Income topic of the ASC was amended in June 2011. The amendment eliminates the option to present other
comprehensive income as a part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity and requires consecutive presentation of the statement of
operations and other comprehensive income (loss). The amendments were applicable to the Bank on January 1, 2012 and have been applied
retrospectively. In December 2011, the topic was further amended to defer the effective date of presenting reclassification adjustments from other
comprehensive income to net income on the face of the consolidated financial statements. Companies should continue to report reclassifications
out of accumulated other comprehensive income consistent with the presentation requirementsin effect prior to the amendments while FASB
finalizesits conclusions regarding future requirements.

The FASB amended the Comprehensive Income topic of the ASC in February 2013. The amendments address reporting of amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income. Specifically, the amendments do not change the current requirements for reporting
net income or other comprehensive incomein financial statements. However, the amendments do require an entity to provide information about the
amountsreclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component. In addition, in certain circumstances an entity isrequired to
present, either on the face of the statement where net incomeis presented or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated
other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income. The amendments will be effective for the Bank on a prospective basis for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013. Early adoption is permitted. The Bank does not expect these amendments to have any effect
onits consolidated financial statements other than a change in the presentation of financial information.

In July 2012, the Intangibles topic was amended to permit an entity to consider qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than
not that indefinite-lived intangible assets are impaired. If it is determined to be more likely than not that indefinite-lived intangible assets are
impaired, then the entity is required to determine the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset and perform the quantitative impairment test
by comparing the fair value with the carrying amount. The amendments are effective for annual and interim impairment tests performed for fiscal
years beginning after September 15, 2012. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have a material effect on the Bank’s
consolidated financial statements.

In January 2013, the FASB amended the Balance Sheet topic of the ASC to address implementation issues about the scope of ASU No. 2011-
11 related to disclosures about offsetting assets and liabilities. The amendments clarify that the ASU only appliesto certain derivatives accounted
for in accordance with the Derivatives and Hedging topic of the ASC, including bifurcated embedded derivatives, repurchase agreements and
reverse repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securities lending transactions that are either offset or subject to an enforceable
master netting arrangement or similar agreement. The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. The
Bank does not expect these amendments to have amaterial effect on itsfinancial statements.

In February 2013 the FASB also amended the Financial Instruments topic of the ASC to address the scope and applicability of certain
disclosures to nonpublic entities. The amendments clarify that the requirement to disclose “the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the
fair value measurements are categorized in their entirety (Level 1, 2, or 3)” does not apply to nonpublic entities for items that are not measured at
fair value in the statement of financial position but for which fair value is disclosed. The Bank does not expect these amendments to have amaterial
effect on itsfinancial statements.

Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not expected to have a
material impact on the Bank’ s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Regulatory Matters: On June 8, 2011, the Bank entered into a Formal Agreement with the OCC requiring the Bank to take specified actions
with respect to the operation of the Bank. The substantive actions called for by the agreement should strengthen the Bank. The Bank isworking
diligently to appropriately respond to all of the terms of the Formal Agreement, including implementing plans, programs, and progress reports
within the time frames required by the agreement. The Formal Agreement did not impose more stringent regulatory capital minimums on the Bank;
however, the OCC has established IMCR levels of Tier 1 and total capital for the Bank that are higher than the minimum and well capitalized ratios
applicableto all banks. Specifically, we must maintain total risk-based capital of at least 13%, Tier 1 capital of at least 12%, and aleverage ratio of at
least 8.5%.

The Formal Agreement seeksto enhance the Bank’s existing practices and procedures in the areas of credit risk management, liquidity risk

management and earnings performance. In response, the Bank formed a Compliance Committee of its Board of Directors (the “ Compliance
Committee”) to oversee management’ s response to all sections of the Formal Agreement. The Compliance Committee also monitors adherence to
deadlines for submission to the OCC of information required under the Formal Agreement. A description of the requirements of the Formal
Agreement and the Bank’s compliance status with the Formal Agreement is set forth in the table below:

Requirements of the Formal Agreement

Establish, within 30 days from the effective date of the Formal
Agreement, a Compliance Committee of at least five directorsto be
responsible for monitoring and coordinating the Bank’s adherence to
the provisions of the Formal Agreement. The Compliance Committeeis
required to meet at least monthly to receive written progress reports
from management on the results and status of actions needed to
achieve full compliance with each article of the Formal Agreement.

Bank’s Compliance Status

The Compliance Committee was established and its members duly
elected at the April 2011 meeting of the Board of Directors. Since
the date of last report of examination, the Bank has been found to
be compliant in this area.

Compliance Committee to complete, within 120 days of the effective
date of the Formal Agreement, athorough review and assessment of
the Bank’s Board and management supervision, management structure
and staffing requirements; and within 60 days adopt and implement a
compliance plan.

The Compliance Committee completed this review and assessment,
including obtaining Board approval of the findings and
recommendations, in November 2011, submitted its report to the
OCC immediately thereafter. Since the date of last report of
examination, despite noted improvement in bank-wide risk
management practices, the Bank has been found to be
noncompliant in this area.

Adopt and implement, within 90 days of the effective date of the Formal
Agreement, an updated written strategic plan for the Bank covering at
least athree-year period and addressing the Bank’s overall risk profile,
earnings performance, growth, balance sheet mix, off-balance sheet
activities, liability structure, capital adequacy, reduction in the volume
of nonperforming assets, product line development and market
segments that the Bank intends to promote or develop, together with
strategies to achieve those objectives.

At least monthly, the Board shall review financial reports and earnings
analyses prepared by the Bank that evaluate the Bank’ s performance
against the goals and objectives established in the strategic plan.

At least quarterly, the Board shall prepare awritten evaluation of the
Bank’s performance against the strategic plan and shall include a
description of the actions the Board will require the Bank to take to
address any shortcomings.

The Board adopted and implemented the Bank’ s strategic plan in
August 2011 which was submitted to the OCC in September 2011.
Management revised the strategic plan based on the OCC'sreview.
Therevised plan was resubmitted to the OCC in May 2012. The
Bank received a determination of no supervisory objection in May
2012. Since the date of last report of examination, the Bank has
been found to be noncompliant in this area until key objectives of
strategic, capital, and profit plans are met.
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Requirements of the Formal Agreement

Review and revise, within 90 days of the effective date of the Formal
Agreement, athree year capital program plan, including dividend
policy, to be updated annually.

Bank’s Compliance Status

The Board adopted the Bank’s capital plan in August 2011 which
was submitted to the OCC in September 2011. The revised plan was
resubmitted to the OCC in May 2012. Since the date of last report

of examination, the Bank has been found to be noncompliant in this
areauntil key objectives of strategic, capital, and profit plans are
met.

Develop and implement, within 90 days of the effective date of the
Formal Agreement, an updated written profit plan to improve and
sustain the earnings of the Bank, to be updated annually.

The Board shall forward comparisons of its balance sheet and profit
and loss statement to the profit plan projectionsto the OCC on a
quarterly basis.

The Board adopted the Bank’s profit plan in August 2011 which
was submitted to the OCC in September 2011. The revised plan was
resubmitted to the OCC in May 2012. Since the date of last report

of examination, the Bank has been found to be noncompliant in this
areauntil key objectives of strategic, capital and profit plans are
met.

Adopt and implement, within 90 days of the effective date of the Formal
Agreement, awritten asset diversification program including policies
and procedures to control and monitor concentrations of credit and an
action plan to reduce therisk of current concentrations of credit.

The Board approved the updated General L oan Policy and has
adopted a Commercial Real Estate Action Plan to ensure a
reduction in the Bank’s commercial real estate portfolio. The
General Loan Policy and Commercia Real Estate Action Plan were
reviewed and approved by the Bank’s Board in August 2011 and
were submitted to the OCC on September 2011. Since the date of
last report of examination, the Bank has been found to be compliant
inthisarea.

Takeimmediate and continuing action to protect the Bank’sinterest in
certain assets identified by the OCC or any other bank examiner.
Immediately adopt and implement, as of the effective date of the Formal
Agreement, awritten program designed to eliminate the basis of
criticism of assets criticized by the OCC or any other bank examiner, or
in any list provided to management by the OCC during any examination
as “doubtful,” “substandard,” or “special mention.” In addition,
provide to the OCC acopy of the program for all criticized assets equal
to or exceeding $250,000. Conduct a monthly review to determine the
status of each criticized asset that equals or exceeds $250,000 and
management’ s adherence to and the status and effectiveness of the
criticized asset program adopted.

The Bank is utilizing a criticized assets report covering the entire
credit relationship with respect to such assets. Ongoing monthly
monitoring is being performed by management and the Board and
quarterly reports are submitted to the OCC as provided in the
Formal Agreement. Since the date of last report of examination, the
Bank has been found to be noncompliant in this area despite
overall stabilization, credit risk remains high and implemented
strategies and plans have not yet manifested in substantial
reduction of risk.

Adopt and adhere to, within 90 days of the effective date of the Formal
Agreement, awritten program to improve the Bank’s credit risk
identification process.

Since the date of last report of examination, the Bank has been
found to be compliant in this area.
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Requirements of the Formal Agreement

Adopt and implement, within 90 days of the effective date of the Formal
Agreement, an updated and comprehensive policy for determining the
adequacy of the Bank’s allowance for loan losses, which must provide
for areview of the Bank’s allowance for loan losses by the Board at
least once each calendar quarter.

Bank’s Compliance Status
Since the date of last report of examination, the Bank has been
found to be compliant in this area.

Immediately develop and implement an independent review and
analysis process to ensure appraisals and eval uations on loans secured
by real property conform to standards and regulations. Appraisals and
evaluations shall be ordered or completed within sixty (60) days of the
date of the Formal Agreement, and going forward, within thirty (30)
daysfollowing the event triggering the appraisal requirement. Within
thirty (30) days, the Board shall require and the Bank shall develop and
implement an independent review and analysis process to ensure that
appraisals and evaluations conform to appraisal standards and
regulations.

Since the date of last report of examination, the Bank has been
found to be compliant in this area.

Review and revise, within 90 days of the effective date of the Formal
Agreement, itswritten program to reduce credit risk in the investment
portfolio.

Since the date of last report of examination, the Bank has been
found to be compliant in this area.

Immediately ensure that the liquidity of the Bank is maintained at alevel
sufficient to sustain the Bank’s current operations and to withstand
any anticipated or extraordinary demand against its funding base, and
forward reports of thisto the OCC on a quarterly basis.

Since the date of last report of examination, the Bank has been
found to be compliant in this area.

Accept, renew or rollover brokered deposits for deposit at the Bank
only after obtaining a prior written determination of no supervisory
objection from the OCC.

The Bank has obtained required written approvals from the OCC
for all new and renewed brokered deposit requests since the
effective date of the Formal Agreement. Since the date of last
report of examination, the Bank has been found to be compliant in
this area.

The Bank is subject to the dividend restrictions set forth by the OCC. Under such restrictions, the Bank may not, without the prior approval
of the OCC, declare dividendsin excess of the sum of the current year’s earnings (as defined) plus the retained earnings (as defined) from the prior

two years.

The Bank is also subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum
reguirements can initiate certain mandatory — and possibly additional discretionary — actions by regulatorsthat, if undertaken, could have adirect
material effect on the Bank’s consolidated financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-
balance-sheet items as cal culated under regulatory accounting practices. The Bank’s capital amounts and classifications are al so subject to
qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.
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Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of
Total and Tier | capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined) of 8.0% and 4.0%, respectively, and of Tier | capital (as
defined) to average assets (as defined) of 3.0% to 5.0%, depending on the specific institution’s composite ratings as determined by itsregulators.
The OCC has not advised the Bank of any specific leverage ratio applicable to it. Management believes, as of December 31, 2012, that the Bank
meets all capital adequacy requirementsto which it is subject.

In December 2010, the Basel Committee adopted the Basel 111 capital rules, which set new capital requirements for banking organizations. On
June 7, 2012, the Federal Reserve requested comment on three proposed rules that, taken together, would establish an integrated regulatory capital
framework implementing the Basel 111 regulatory capital reformsin the United States. As proposed, the U.S. implementation of Basel |11 would lead
to significantly higher capital requirements and more restrictive leverage and liquidity ratios than those currently in place. The proposed rules
indicated that the final rule would become effective on January 1, 2013, and the changes set forth in the final rules will be phased in from January 1,
2013 through January 1, 2019. However, due to the volume of public comments received, the final rule did not go into effect on January 1, 2013. The
ultimate impact of the U.S. implementation of the new capital and liquidity standards on Bank is currently being reviewed and is dependent upon
the terms of the final regulations, which may differ from the proposed regul ations. Requirements to maintain higher levels of capital or to maintain
higher levels of liquid assets could adversely impact our net income and return on equity.
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O elliottdavis

Independent Auditor’s Review Report

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
The First National Bank of Shelby and Subsidiary
Shelby, North Carolina

Report on the Financial Statements

We have reviewed the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The First National Bank of Shelby and Subsidiary (the “Bank”) as of
March 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (l0ss), changes in stockholders' equity,
and cash flows for the three months in the periods then ended.

Management’s Responsibility

The Bank’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the interim financial information in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this responsibility includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control sufficient to provide areasonable basis for the preparation and fair presentation of interim financial information in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility isto conduct our review in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America applicableto
reviews of interim financial information. A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making
inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially lessin scope than an audit conducted in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the objective of which isthe expression of an opinion regarding the
financial information. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Conclusion

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying interim financial information for it to
be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/9 Elliott Davis, PLLC

Charlotte, North Carolina
May 23, 2013
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)
March 31, 2013 and 2012 and December 31, 2012

Assets:
Cash and due from banks
I nterest-bearing bank deposits
Federal funds sold

Total cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale

Securities held-to-maturity (fair value approximates $87,146,834 at March 31, 2012)

Federal bank stock

L oans, net

Loans held-for-sale

Accrued interest receivable

Premises and equipment, net

Cash surrender value of lifeinsurance policies
Other real estate owned

Deferred tax asset, net

Other assets

Total assets
Liabilities:
Deposits:

Non-interest bearing

Interest bearing

Total deposits
Short-term borrowings
Repurchase agreements
Federal Home L oan Bank advances
Accrued interest payable
Other liahilities

Total liabilities
Commitments— Notes 4 and 12

Stockholders' equity:

Common stock, $10.00 par value; 2,500,000 shares authorized, 400,000 shares
issued and outstanding

Surplus

Retained earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss)
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

December 31, 2012

March 31, 2013 (Audited) March 31, 2012
$ 13,810,735 $ 17,681,046 $ 13,222,393
32,823,375 143,900,358 21,724,781
925,645 198,711 277,139
47,559,755 161,780,115 35,224,313
167,403,649 178,887,521 211,206,853
— — 90,226,738
1,384,600 4,474,700 6,129,000
449,617,105 457,575,195 488,975,838
2,505,400 1,546,446 3,075,375
1,639,729 1,833,568 3,141,016
14,596,202 14,788,504 15,212,291
15,035,705 15,430,173 15,402,316
3,330,318 3,640,836 3,502,635
9,492,291 8,932,183 11,225,081
3,748,072 4,918,519 5,763,742
$716,312,826 $ 853,807,760 $889,175,198
$ 111,345,263 $ 108,606,997 $ 108,938,983
496,846,278 532,768,680 550,983,290
608,191,541 641,375,677 659,922,273
21,081,169 10,236,387 21,030,815
— 42,500,000 42,500,000
— 61,500,000 61,500,000
522,506 1,557,276 1,679,436
671,865 1,120,328 1,184,451
630,467,171 758,289,668 787,816,975
4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000
8,000,000 8,000,000 8,000,000
75,484,827 84,267,073 88,683,426
(1,639,172) (748,981) 674,797
85,845,655 95,518,092 101,358,223
$716,312,826 $ 853,807,760 $889,175,198

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

I nterest income:

Loans

Investment securities:
U.S. Government agencies
States and political subdivisions
M ortgage-backed
Corporate securities

Other

Total interest income

Interest expense:

Deposits

Short-term borrowings

Repurchase agreements

Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) advances
Total interest expense
Net interest income

Provision for |oan |osses

ThreeMonths Ended March 31, 2013 and 2012

Net interest income after provision for loan losses

Noninterest income:

Service charges

Trust income

Mortgage banking income

Net gain on sale of securities

Other

Other-than-temporary impairment |osses
Total noninterest income

Noninterest expense:

Compensation

Profit sharing and employee benefits

Federal and other insurance premiums
Occupancy

Equipment rental's, depreciation and maintenance
FHL B advance prepayment penalties

Interest rate swap unwind fees

Structured repurchase agreements unwind fees
Other

Total noninterest expense

Net income (loss) befor eincome taxes
Income tax expense

Net income (l0ss)
Basic ear nings (loss) per share

2013 2012

$ 5,783,004 $ 7,117,030

— 18,496
— 218,314
613,628 2,257,474
678 168,269
73,927 31,893
6,471,237 9,811,476
1,324,287 1,792,810
4,876 5,153
150,029 455,190
230,725 651,607
1,709,917 2,904,760
4,761,320 6,906,716
(780,366) 1,734,576
5,541,686 5,172,140
757,555 857,460
326,417 351,666
186,404 336,823
— 36,423
528,456 338,442
— (67,247)
1,798,832 1,853,567
2,151,187 2,312,362
605,888 653,032
259,606 300,284
267,861 265,807
500,520 491,444
4,349,571 —
694,272 —
5,415,000 —
1,878,131 1,565,083
16,122,036 5,588,012
(8,781,518) 1,437,695
729 435,410
$(8,782,247) $1,002,285

$  (21.96) $ 2.51

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (L 0ss) (Unaudited)
ThreeMonths Ended March 31, 2013 and 2012

2013 2012
Net income (loss) $ (8,782,247) $1,002,285
Other comprehensive income (10ss):
Derivative financial instruments:
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments — (61,403)
Tax effect — 238,337
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments, net of tax — 176,934
Reclassification adjustment for realized (losses) on derivative financial instruments 650,651 —
Tax effect (250,858) —
Reclassification adjustment for realized (losses) on derivative financial instruments, net of tax 399,793 —
Investment securities available-for-sale:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale arising during the period (2,100,949)  (425,258)
Tax effect 810,966 163,953
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale arising during the period, net of tax (1,289,983)  (261,305)
Reclassification adjustment for gains on securities avail able-for-sale — (36,423)
Tax effect — 14,042
Reclassification adjustment for gains on securities avail able-for-sale, net of tax — (22,381)
Reclassification adjustment for other-than-temporary impairment on securities available-for-sale — 67,247
Tax effect — (25,926)
Reclassification adjustment for other-than-temporary impairment on securities available-for-sale, net
of tax — 41,321
I nvestment securities held-to-maturity:
Unrealized other-than-temporary impairment on securities held-to-maturity — —
Tax effect — —
Unrealized other-than-temporary impairment on securities held-to-maturity — —
Accretion of unrealized |osses on securities previously transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-
maturity — 24,856
Tax effect — (9,583)
Accretion of unrealized |osses on securities previously transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-
maturity, net of tax — 15,273
Reclassification adjustment for losses on securities previously transferred from available-for-sale to held-
to-maturity — —
Tax effect — —
Reclassification adjustment for |osses on securities previously transferred from available-for-sale to held-
to-maturity — —
Total other comprehensiveincome (10ss) (890,190) (50,158)

Comprehensiveincome (l0ss)

$(9,672,437) $952,127

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2011
Net income
Other comprehensive income

Balance, March 31, 2012

Balance, December 31, 2012
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss

Balance, March 31, 2013

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Changesin Stockholders Equity (Unaudited)

ThreeMonths Ended March 31, 2013 and 2012

Accumulated
Common Stock Other Total
Retained Comprehensive Stockholders

Shares Amount Surplus Earnings Income (L 0ss) Equity
400,000 $ 4,000,000 $ 8000000 $ 87,681,140 $ 724955  $100,406,095
— — — 1,002,285 — 1,002,285
(loss) — — — — (50,158) (50,158)
400,000 4,000,000 8,000,000 88,683,425 674,797 101,358,222
400,000 4,000,000 8,000,000 84,267,073 (748,981) 95,518,092
— — — (8,782,247) — (8,782,247)
= = = - (890,190) (890,190)
400,000  $4,000,000  $8,000,000  $75,484,827 $(1,639,172)  $85,845,655

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
ThreeMonths Ended March 31, 2013 and 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (l0ss)

Adjustmentsto reconcile net income (10ss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Provision for |oan |osses
Net amortization of securities
Deferred |oan fees, net
Other-than-temporary impairment on securities
Net gain on sale of available-for-sale securities
Loss on disposal of premises and equipment
Gain on sale or writedown of other real estate owned
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Originations of loans held-for-sale
Proceeds from sale of |oans held-for-sale
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accrued interest receivable
Other assets
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accrued interest payable
Other liahilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flowsfrom investing activities:
Purchases of securities available-for-sale
Proceeds from sales, calls, prepayments and maturities of securities available-for-sale
Proceeds from sales, calls, prepayments and maturities of securities held-to-maturity
Sales of Federal bank stock, net

Decreasein loans

Purchases of premises and equipment
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned
Decrease (increase) in cash surrender value of life insurance policies

Net cash provided by investing activities

Cash flowsfrom financing activities:
Net decrease in deposits
Net increase in short-term borrowings
Repayment of structured repurchase agreements
Payment to settle interest rate swap agreements
Repayment of Federal Home Loan Bank advances

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of quarter
Cash and cash equivalents, end of quarter

2013
$ (8,782,247)

261,338
(780,366)
519,064
19,149

484
(56,126)

(7,035,041)
6,076,087

193,839
1,170,447

(1,034,680)
896,460
(8,551,592)

8,863,859
3,090,100
8,393,066
(69,520)
692,885
394,468

21,364,858

(33,184,136)
10,844,782
(42,500,000)
(694,272)
(61,500,000)
(127,033,626)
(114,220,360)
161,780,115

$47,559,755

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2012
$ 1,002,285

272,370
1,734,576
780,977
(11,916)
67,247
(36,423)
(13,676)
434,454
(12,695,300)
13,529,888

6,656
900,415

(125,646)
(79,054)
5,766,853

(31,390,696)
41,235,531
3,132,361

5,917,411
(73,429)
2,399,879
(111,838)

21,109,219

(6,434,121)
11,420,361

(15,000,000)
(10,013,760)
16,862,312
18,362,001
$35,224,313
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) (Continued)
ThreeMonths Ended March 31, 2013 and 2012

Cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes

Supplemental Disclosures of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:
Transfer of loans to other real estate owned
Changein unrealized gain (loss) on avail able-for-sale securities
Increase (decrease) in unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives
Loansto facilitate the sale of other real estate owned

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

153

2013

2012

$ 2,744,598
932

328,054
(2,100,949)
650,650
1,813

$3,030,406
872

270,000
394,710
61,403
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
NOTE 1- NATURE OF BUSINESSAND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation: The accounting and reporting policies of the Bank conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. In management’s opinion, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statementsreflect all adjustments (consisting solely of
normal recurring adjustments) necessary for afair presentation of the interim financial statements. They do not include al of the information and
footnotes required by such accounting principles for complete financial statements, and therefore should be read in conjunction with the audited
consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes contained herein.

The unaudited consolidated financial statementsinclude the accounts of The First National Bank of Shelby and its wholly-owned subsidiary,
F.N.B. Insurance Agency, Inc. (collectively, “the Bank”), for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. All significant intercompany
transactions and bal ances are eliminated in consolidation.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and the reported revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant changesin the
near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses, the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and the fair value of
securities and other financial instruments.

Nature of operations: The First National Bank of Shelby is primarily engaged in the business of obtaining deposits and originating commercial,
industrial, consumer and real estate loans within its North Carolinalending area of Cleveland County, Gaston County, Lincoln County, Rutherford
County and the surrounding counties. Commercial and consumer |oans are made on either a secured or unsecured basis to corporations,
partnerships, and individuals.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements.

The Comprehensive Income topic of the ASC was amended in June 2011. The amendment eliminates the option to present other comprehensive
income as a part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity and requires consecutive presentation of the statement of operations and
other comprehensive income (l0ss). The amendments were applicable to the Bank on January 1, 2012 and have been applied retrospectively. In
December 2011, the topic was further amended to defer the effective date of presenting reclassification adjustments from other comprehensive
income to net income on the face of the consolidated financial statements. Companies should continue to report reclassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income consistent with the presentation requirementsin effect prior to the amendments while FASB finalizesits
conclusions regarding future requirements.

The FASB amended the Comprehensive Income topic of the ASC in February 2013. The amendments address reporting of amounts reclassified out
of accumulated other comprehensive income. Specifically, the amendments do not change the current requirements for reporting net income or
other comprehensiveincomein financial statements. However, the amendments do require an entity to provide information about the amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component. In addition, in certain circumstances an entity is required to present,
either on the face of the statement where net income is presented or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other
comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income. The amendments will be effective for the Bank on a prospective basis for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2013. Early adoption is permitted. The Bank does not expect these amendments to have any effect
onits consolidated financial statements other than a change in the presentation of financial information.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
NOTE 1- NATURE OF BUSINESSAND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

In February 2013 the FASB also amended the Financial Instruments topic of the ASC to address the scope and applicability of acertain
disclosures to nonpublic entities. The amendments clarify that the requirement to disclose “the level of the fair value hierarchy within which the
fair value measurements are categorized in their entirety (Level 1, 2, or 3)” does not apply to nonpublic entities for items that are not measured at
fair value in the statement of financial position but for which fair value is disclosed. The Bank does not expect these amendments to have amaterial
effect on itsfinancial statements.

Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not expected to have a material
impact on the Bank’ s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

NOTE 2- SECURITIES

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses, and estimated fair value of securities at March 31, 2013 December 31, 2012, and March 31,
2012 are summarized asfollows:

March 31, 2013
Amortized Gross Unrealized Market
Cost Gains L osses Value

Securities Available-for-Sale
M ortgage-backed securities

Total securities available-for-sale

$ 170,073,310 $ 301,607 $ 2,971,268 $ 167,403,649
$170,073,310 $ 301,607 $2,971,268 $167,403,649

December 31, 2012
Amortized Gross Unrealized Market
Cost Gains L osses Value

Securities Available-for-Sale
M ortgage-backed securities

Total securities available-for-sale

$ 179,456,234 $ 666,204 $ 1,234,917 $ 178,887,521
$179,456,234 $ 666,204 $1,234,917 $178,887,521

March 31, 2012
Amortized Gross Unrealized Market
Cost Gains L osses Value

Securities Available-for-Sale
U.S. government agency securities $ 1,517,610 $ 100,026 $ — $ 1,617,636

States and political subdivisions
M ortgage-backed securities
Corporate

Total securities available-for-sale
Securities Held-to-M aturity

21,295,556
184,349,410

1,128,954 — 22,424,510

3,603,005 787,708

187,164,707

$207,162,576

$4,831,985 $ 787,708

$211,206,853

Collateralized debt obligations $ 14,825,437 $ — $ 9,566,076 $ 5,259,361
M ortgage-backed securities 75,401,301 6,509,350 23,178 81,887,473
Total securities held-to-maturity $ 90,226,738 $6,509,350 $9,589,254 $ 87,146,834
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

NOTE 2 - SECURITIES (Continued)
Maturities may differ from contractual maturities in mortgage-backed securities because they do not have a single maturity date.

Proceeds from the sales of securities available-for-sale for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 were $0 and $28,725,993, respectively.
Gross proceeds from maturities, calls and prepayments on securities available-for-sale for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 were
$8,863,859 and $12,509,538 respectively. Gross gains from sales, maturities or calls of securities available-for-sale for the three months ended
March 31, 2013 and 2012 were $0, and $553,289, respectively and gross losses were $0 and $516,866 respectively.

At March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012, securities with an aggregate market value of $123,414,456, $165,871,353, and
$225,941,421 respectively, were pledged to secure borrowed funds and public and federal deposits received by the Bank. The carrying amount of
securities pledged to secure collateralized customer deposits was $43,989,193 $12,210,865 and $29,741,783 respectively.

The following tables present information regarding temporarily impaired securities as of March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012:

March 31, 2013

L ess than twelve months Twelve months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
Availablefor Sale:
M ortgage-backed
Securities $ 144,377,677 $ 2,971,238 $ 8,261 $ 30 $ 144,385,938 $ 2,971,268
Total $144,377,677 $2,971,238 $ 8,261 $ 30 $144,385,938 $2,971,268

Year Ended December 31, 2012

L ess than twelve months Twelve months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses
Availablefor Sale:
M ortgage-backed
Securities $ 96,896,283 $ 1,234,853 $ 18,161 $ 64 $ 96,914,444 $ 1,234,917
Total $ 96,896,283 $1,234,853 $18,161 $ 64 $ 96,914,444 $1,234,917
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
NOTE 2 - SECURITIES (Continued)

March 31, 2012

L ess than twelve months Twelve months or more Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair value losses Fair value losses Fair value losses

Availablefor Sale:
Mortgage-backed Securities $ 20,680,526 $ 268,088 $ 9,285,593 $ 519,620 $ 29,966,119 $ 787,708
Total availablefor sale 20,680,526 268,088 9,285,593 519,620 29,966,119 787,708
Held to Maturity:
M ortgage-backed securities 86,685 23,178 — — 86,685 23,178
Collateralized debt obligations — — 14,825,437 9,566,076 14,825,437 9,566,076
Total held to maturity 86,685 23,178 14,825,437 9,566,076 14,912,122 9,589,254

Total $20,767,211 $291,266 $24,111,030 $ 10,085,696 $ 44,878,241 $ 10,376,962

The Bank’s investment portfolio consists of various debt securities including government agency bonds, mortgage-backed securities,
collateralized mortgage obligations, state and local government obligations and collateralized debt obligations. The Bank regularly monitorsits
portfolio to determineif any security has experienced any other-than-temporary declinein fair value. The determination of whether a security is
other-than-temporarily impaired is subjective and requires a significant amount of judgment. In evaluating for other-than-temporary impairment,
management considers the duration and severity of declinesin fair value, the financial condition of the issuers of each security, aswell asthe
Bank’sintent and ability to hold these securities over a reasonable time horizon to recovery or maturity. In performing this analysis for debt
securities, the Bank’s consideration of the financial condition of the issuer of each security isfocused on the issuer’s ability to continueto
perform on its debt obligations, including any concerns about the issuer’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Credit and liquidity issues continued throughout 2012 as the market for certain securities remained inactive. The Bank recognized impairment
charges on debt securities during the three months ended March 31, 2012. For securitiesidentified as other-than-temporarily impaired, fair value
was determined from market values obtained from third party pricing sources. Management determined impairment by estimating and discounting
the future cash flows for each of these securities, as well as evaluating the strength and performance of the underlying financial institutions. The
write-down of other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities was $67,247 in 2012 and isincluded in non-interest income in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Bank recognized the credit component of other-than-temporary impairment in earnings and the
noncredit component in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)(“OCI”) for those securities which the Bank does not intend to sell and it is more
likely than not that the Bank will not be required to sell prior to recovery of the amortized cost. The amount of such credit loss represents the
excess of the security’s amortized cost over the present value of its expected future cash inflows. The present value of such cash inflowswas
based on an analysis of (1) adverse conditions relating specifically to the industry in which the issuer operates, (2) failure of the issuer to make
recent scheduled interest payments, and (3) adowngrade of the security’s rating.

Unrealized losses in the remainder of the Bank’s debt security portfolio were caused by fluctuationsin interest rates and spread volatility. Because
the declinein market valueis not attributable to credit quality issues, and because the Bank does not intend to sell and it is not more likely than
not it will berequired to sell these securities before recovery of the amortized cost, the Bank does not consider these securities to be other-than-
temporarily impaired.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
NOTE 2 - SECURITIES (Continued)

During the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, the Bank recorded other-than-temporary impairment losses on available-for-sale
mortgage-backed securities as follows:

2013 2012
Total other-than-temporary impairment losses (unrealized and realized) —

$ $ (67,247)
Less: Unrealized other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized in OCI —
Net impairment losses recognized in earnings —

$ $(67,247)

Activity related to the credit component recognized in earnings on debt securities held by the Bank for which a portion of the other-than-
temporary impairment losses remains in OCI for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 isasfollows:

2013 2012
Balance at beginning of quarter —

©

$ 5,586,247
Deduction for sale of securities in which other-than-temporary impairment was —

previously recognized —
Additionsfor the credit component on debt securities in which other-than- —

temporary impairment was not previously recognized —
Additionsfor the credit component on debt securities in which other-than- —

temporary impairment was previously recognized 67,247
Balance at end of quarter

[# 1]

$5,653,494

During 2008, the Bank transferred securities with an aggregate market value of $50,202,924 from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. In
accordance with the Investments topic of the ASC, the unrealized gains and | 0sses on these securities at the date of transfer continued to be
reported in accumulated other comprehensive income; however, on the date of transfer, the unrealized gains and losses began being amortized
over the remaining life of the securities. The net amortization recorded in the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 was $0 and $24,856,
respectively. All of these securities were sold during 2012 and, on the date of the sale, the remaining net unamortized unrealized loss on these
securities of $2,261,260 was removed from accumulated other comprehensive income.
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Loans by loan type, are asfollows:

March 31, 2013

December 31, 2012

March 31, 2012

Construction and Land $ 41,742,106 $ 43,699,634 $ 55,333,128
Owner Occupied Commercial Real
Estate 141,063,941 144,035,872 141,092,112
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real
Estate 53,977,926 55,742,687 63,898,013

1-4 Family Residential 100,352,010 97,764,604 100,127,723
Multifamily 22,112,905 22,104,834 28,638,786
Home Equity Lines of Credit 44,504,034 46,963,895 49,555,783
Commercial 43,917,035 45,050,997 48,356,112
Consumer 8,490,511 9,353,049 11,516,427
All Other 8,454,150 8,342,431 8,164,240

Total Loans 464,614,618 473,058,003 506,682,324
Deferred loan fees (187,577) (168,590) (267,122)
Allowance for loan losses (14,809,936) (15,314,218) (17,439,364)

Loans, net $449,617,105 $ 457,575,195 $488,975,838

Thefollowing isan analysis of the allowance for loan losses for the three months ended March 31:
2013 2012
Balance at beginning of quarter $ 15,314,218 $ 17,439,364
Provisions for loan losses (780,366) 1,734,576
L oans charged off (369,853) (1,869,804)
Recoveries of loans previously charged off 645,937 135,228
Balance at end of quarter $14,809,936 $17,439,364
Thefollowing isan analysis of the allowance for loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2012:
2012

Balance at beginning of year $ 17,439,364

Provisions for loan losses 8,233,281

L oans charged off (11,092,242)

Recoveries of loans previously charged off 733,815

Balance at end of year $15,314,218

The Bank’slending activities are conducted principally in Cleveland, Gaston, Lincoln and Rutherford counties. The Bank has established credit
policies applicable to each type of lending activity in which it engages and eval uates the creditworthiness of each customer. While collateral
provides assurance as a secondary source of repayment, the Bank ordinarily requires the primary source of repayment to be based on the
borrower’s ability to generate continuing cash flows. The Bank grants single-family and multifamily residential loans, commercial,
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industrial, real estate and consumer loans. Total construction, development and non-agricultural land loans are within regulatory guidelines and
real estate |loan to value exceptions are less than 50% of regulatory guidelines. The Bank does not engage in sub-prime or predatory lending. The

Bank does not have any significant concentrations to any one customer or industry.

The allocation of the allowance for 1oan losses by |oan components at March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012 isasfollows:

Allowancefor Loan L osses and Recorded | nvestment in Loans
For the Three Monthsended March 31, 2013

Beginning Ending

Balance Char ge Offs Recoveries Provision Balance
Construction and Land $ 4,510,980 $ 83,739 $ 442,419 $ (367,217) $ 4,502,443
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 1,343,853 5,853 5,496 221,507 1,565,003
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 1,127,324 — — (41,904) 1,085,420
1-4 Family Residential 3,243,007 115,874 96,928 (59,382) 3,164,679
Multifamily 464,693 — — (36,317) 428,376
Home Equity Lines of Credit 2,524,518 57,358 22,704 (283,696) 2,206,168
Commercia 1,018,330 92,476 65,535 (357,163) 634,226
Consumer 226,197 14,553 12,855 (93,928) 130,571
All Other 22,148 — — (20,735) 1,413
Unallocated 833,168 — — 258,469 1,091,637
Total $15,314,218 $369,853 $645,937 $(780,366) $14,809,936

Allowancefor Loan Losses and Recorded | nvestment in Loans
For the Year ended December 31, 2012

Beginning Ending

Balance Char ge Offs Recoveries Provision Balance
Construction and Land $ 3,675,716 $ 3,034,092 $ 277,030 $ 3,592,326 $ 4,510,980
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 1,925,014 2,158,768 132,798 1,444,809 1,343,853
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 2,837,648 1,450,423 4,128 (264,029) 1,127,324
1-4 Family Residential 2,667,630 2,919,469 78,330 3,416,516 3,243,007
Multifamily 335,324 199,016 — 328,385 464,693
Home Equity Lines of Credit 389,860 674,707 30,264 2,779,101 2,524,518
Commercia 3,114,488 550,552 147,808 (1,693,414) 1,018,330
Consumer 243,982 105,215 63,457 23,973 226,197
All Other 101,021 — — (78,873) 22,148
Unallocated 2,148,681 — — (1,315,513) 833,168
Total $17,439,364 $11,092,242 $733,815 $8,233,281 $15,314,218
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Allowancefor Loan L osses and Recorded | nvestment in Loans
For the Three Monthsended March 31, 2012

Beginning Ending

Balance Charge Offs Recoveries Provision Balance
Construction and Land $ 3675716 $ 185495 $ 18391 $ 1637433 $ 5,146,045
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 1,925,014 207,150 17,354 322,621 2,057,839
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 2,837,648 20,998 1,123 (1,038,800) 1,778,973
1-4 Family Residential 2,667,630 866,189 3,004 1,664,322 3,468,767
Multifamily 335,324 — 1,079 (71,447) 264,956
Home Equity Lines of Credit 389,860 278,059 10,465 828,641 950,907
Commercial 3,114,488 264,307 59,937 (922,302 1,987,816
Consumer 243,982 47,606 23,875 101,111 321,362
All Other 101,021 — — (77,359) 23,662
Unallocated 2,148,681 — — (709,644) 1,439,037
Total $17,439,364  $1,869,804 $135228 $1,734576  $17,439,364

Allowance for Loan L osses and Recorded Investment in Loans
For the Three Monthsended March 31, 2013
Reserve for Reserve for
L oans L oans L oans L oans
Individually Individually Collectively Collectively
Evaluated for Evaluated for Evaluated for Evaluated for

Impair ment Impair ment Impair ment Impair ment
Construction and Land $ 1,264,964 $ 8,879,735 $ 3,237,479 $ 32,862,371
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 130,149 15,178,831 1,434,854 125,885,110
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate 8,611 3,962,728 1,076,809 50,015,198
1-4 Family Residential 405,439 11,197,948 2,759,240 89,154,062
Multifamily 343,977 1,761,119 84,399 20,351,786
Home Equity Lines of Credit 13,320 779,432 2,192,848 43,724,602
Commercial 201,736 1,555,136 432,490 42,361,899
Consumer 11,433 60,349 119,138 8,430,162
All Other 63 5,590 1,350 8,448,560

Unallocated — — 1,091,637 —

Total $2,379,692 $43,380,868 $12,430,244 $421,233,750
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Allowancefor Loan L osses and Recorded | nvestment in Loans

For the Year ended December 31, 2012

Reserve for Reserve for
L oans L oans L oans L oans
Individually Individually Collectively Collectively
Evaluated for Evaluated for Evaluated for Evaluated for
Impair ment Impair ment Impair ment Impair ment
Construction and Land $ 769,478 $ 9,571,544 $ 3,741,502 $ 34,128,090
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 101,780 14,829,296 1,242,073 129,206,576
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate 19,306 4,009,545 1,108,018 51,733,142
1-4 Family Residential 419,390 10,710,612 2,823,617 87,053,992
Multifamily 330,278 1,600,965 134,415 20,503,869
Home Equity Lines of Credit 55,069 800,685 2,469,449 46,163,210
Commercial 316,475 1,911,703 701,855 43,139,294
Consumer 12,227 48,218 213,970 9,304,831
All Other — — 22,148 8,342,431
Unallocated — — 833,168 —
Total $2,024,003 $43,482,568 $13,290,215 $429,575,435
Allowance for Loan L osses and Recorded Investment in Loans
For the Three Monthsended March 31, 2012
Reserve for Reserve for
L oans L oans L oans L oans
Individually Individually Collectively Collectively
Evaluated for Evaluated for Evaluated for Evaluated for
Impair ment Impair ment Impair ment Impair ment
Construction and Land $ 225496 $ 11,152,758 $ 4,920,549 $ 44,180,370
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 92,692 9,103,347 1,965,147 131,988,765
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 704,243 6,555,821 1,074,730 57,342,192
1-4 Family Residential 954,282 8,307,567 2,514,485 91,820,156
Multifamily — 1,906,874 264,956 26,731,912
Home Equity Lines of Credit 58,789 357,081 892,118 49,198,702
Commercial 690,880 1,840,099 1,296,936 46,516,013
Consumer 38,062 38,061 283,300 11,478,366
All Other — — 23,662 8,164,240
Unallocated — — 1,439,037 —
Total $2,764,444  $39,261,608  $14,674,920  $467,420,716

Credit Quality Indicators:

The Bank has established a standard risk grading (also referred to as loan grade) system to assist management and lendersin their analysis and
supervision of theloan portfolio. Loan officers assign a grade to each credit at itsinception; this grade is changed as required thereafter based on

the borrower’ s financial condition, payment performance, and other material information.
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The Bank uses the following definitions for risk ratings:
Special Mention Loansin this category are currently protected but are potentially weak, including adverse trends in borrower’s
operations, credit quality or financial strength. Those loans constitute an undue and unwarranted credit risk
but not to the point of justifying a substandard classification. The credit risk may be relatively minor yet
constitute an unwarranted risk in light of the circumstances. This grade should not be used as a compromise
between pass and substandard. Special mention loans have potential weaknesses which may, if not checked or
corrected, weaken the loan or inadequately protect the Bank’s credit position at some future date.

Substandard A substandard loan isinadequately protected by the current sound worth, paying capacity, or the collateral
pledged, if any. Loans so classified have awell-defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation
of the debt. They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain somelossif the
deficiencies are not corrected. Loss potential, while existing in the aggregate amount of classified loans, does
not have to exist in individual loans with this classification.

Doubtful A loan graded “doubtful” has all the weaknessesinherent in one which is graded substandard with the added
characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts,
conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable. The possibility of lossis extremely high, but
because of certain important and reasonably specific pending factors which may work to the advantage and
strengthening of the asset, its classification as an estimated loss is deferred until its more exact status may be
determined.

Thefollowing isan analysis of loan risk grades by loan components as of March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012:

Credit Quality Indicators— Risk Grade
Asof March 31, 2013

ecial
Pass I\fpention Substandard Doubtful Total

Construction and Land $ 27,047,181 $ 2,698,629 $ 10,434,718 $ 1,561,578 $ 41,742,106
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 108,184,140 10,397,349 22,201,661 280,791 141,063,941
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 40,905,323 4,990,593 8,082,010 — 53,977,926
1-4 Family Residential 76,112,488 7,526,654 15,980,863 732,005 100,352,010
Multifamily 17,196,130 2,564,685 2,352,090 — 22,112,905
Home Equity Lines of Credit 38,547,278 3,160,582 2,796,174 — 44,504,034
Commercial 39,632,711 1,550,194 2,643,098 91,032 43,917,035
Consumer 7,929,191 259,787 278,999 22,534 8,490,511
All Other 8,334,158 108,930 11,062 — 8,454,150

Total $363,888,600 $33,257,403 $64,780,675 $2,687,940 $464,614,618
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Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercial

Consumer

All Other

Tota

Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate
1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercial

Consumer

All Other

Total

Credit Quality Indicators— Risk Grade

Asof December 31, 2012

ecial

Pass I\fpention Substandard Doubtful Total
$ 27,618,476 $ 3,103,369 $ 11,057,344 $ 1,920,444 $ 43,699,634
110,264,165 9,637,906 23,830,107 303,695 144,035,872
42,506,861 5,036,144 8,199,682 — 55,742,687
73,209,884 6,852,092 16,967,726 734,902 97,764,604
16,957,517 2,841,741 2,305,576 — 22,104,834
41,384,252 2,680,437 2,899,206 — 46,963,895
40,279,079 938,540 3,536,662 296,716 45,050,997
8,758,773 258,689 316,837 18,750 9,353,049
8,311,091 19,121 12,219 — 8,342,431
$369,290,098 $31,368,039 $69,125,359 $3,274,507 $473,058,003

Credit Quality Indicators— Risk Grade
Asof March 31, 2012
Special

Pass Mention Substandard Doubtful Total
$ 36,478,621 $ 2,077,113 $ 14,984,610 $ 1,792,784 $ 55,333,128
111,132,775 7,605,177 21,934,558 419,602 141,092,112
52,304,688 3,394,663 8,198,662 — 63,898,013
76,204,820 6,085,999 17,322,298 514,606 100,127,723
25,088,399 1,119,573 2,430,814 — 28,638,786
45,329,624 1,745,923 2,447,367 32,869 49,555,783
40,252,481 1,634,912 6,087,827 380,892 48,356,112
10,916,708 259,210 322,593 17,916 11,516,427
8,146,768 6,183 11,289 — 8,164,240
$405,854,884 $23,928,753 $73,740,018 $3,158,669 $506,682,324
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Thefollowing isan analysis of delinquency status by loan components as of March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012:

Credit Quality Indicators— Delinquency
Asof March 31, 2013

90 Days or
30-59 Days 60-89 Days More Past Total Loans
Past Due Past Due Due Past Due Current Total Loans

Construction and Land $ 294029 $ 483705 $ 5632474 $ 6415208 $ 35326898 $ 41,742,106
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 2,365,601 890,826 2,858,892 6,115,319 134,948,622 141,063,941

Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real
Estate 96,608 2,462,550 2,645,898 5,205,056 48,772,870 53,977,926
1-4 family Residential 2,387,655 460,474 3,666,018 6,514,147 93,837,863 100,352,010
Multifamily — 1,596,712 55,707 1,652,419 20,460,486 22,112,905
Home Equity Lines of Credit 1,286,508 86,760 329,710 1,702,978 42,801,056 44,504,034
Commercial 795,537 800,679 479,590 2,075,806 41,841,229 43,917,035
Consumer 82,096 1,672 75,887 159,655 8,330,856 8,490,511
All Other — — 91,806 91,806 8,362,344 8,454,150
Total $7,308,034 $6,788,378 $15,835982 $29,932,394 $434,682,224  $464,614,618

At March 31, 2013, loans ninety days or more past due and accruing interest totaled $355 thousand, consisting of $194 thousand in 1-4 Family
Residential, $91 thousand in All Other, $55 thousand in Commercia Loans, and $15 thousand in Construction and Land.

Credit Quality Indicators— Delinquency
Asof December 31, 2012

90 Days or
30-59 Days 60-89 Days More Past Total Loans
Past Due Past Due Due Past Due Current Total Loans

Construction and Land $ 569706 $ 207150 $ 5614856 $ 639,712 $ 37,307,922 $ 43,699,634
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 1,243,497 798,494 2,758,537 4,800,528 139,235,344 144,035,872

Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real
Estate 18,077 — 2,436,430 2,454,507 53,288,180 55,742,687
1-4 family Residential 1,641,425 826,202 3,186,143 5,653,770 92,110,834 97,764,604
Multifamily 257,169 52,100 — 309,269 21,795,565 22,104,834
Home Equity Lines of Credit 1,623,442 — 272,777 1,896,219 45,067,676 46,963,895
Commercial 69,914 297,517 653,738 1,021,169 44,029,828 45,050,997
Consumer 94,693 49,425 60,020 204,138 9,148,911 9,353,049
All Other — 5,590 — 5,590 8,336,841 8,342,431
Total $5,517,923  $2,236,478 $14,982,501 $22,736,902 $450,321,101  $473,058,003
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At December 31, 2012, loans ninety days or more past due and accruing interest totaled $54 thousand, consisting of Commercial Loans.

Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real
Estate

Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real
Estate

1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercial

Consumer

All Other

Total

Credit Quality Indicators— Delinquency

Asof March 31, 2012

90 Days or
30-59 Days 60-89 Days More Past Total Loans
Past Due Past Due Due Past Due Current Total Loans
$ 3126696 $ 12704 $ 5150500 $ 8289900 $ 47,043228 $ 55,333,128
2,022,656 404,943 3,593,233 6,020,832 135,071,280 141,092,112
1,764,667 565,848 3,372,164 5,702,679 58,195,334 63,898,013
4,831,824 1,017,079 4,814,442 10,663,345 89,464,378 100,127,723
125,523 63,672 145,921 335,116 28,303,670 28,638,786
331,848 43,322 490,430 865,600 48,690,183 49,555,783
1,093,120 109,771 296,630 1,499,521 46,856,591 48,356,112
70,145 3,070 10,489 83,704 11,432,723 11,516,427
— — — — 8,164,240 8,164,240
$13,366,479  $2,220,409 $17,873,809  $33,460,697 $473,221,627  $506,682,324

At March 31, 2012, loans ninety days or more past due and accruing interest totaled $87 thousand, consisting of $50 thousand in 1-4 Family
Residential, $25 thousand in Construction and Land and $12 thousand in Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate.
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The following tables present impaired loans by class of loan as of March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012:

With an allowance recor ded

Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate
1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercia

Consumer

All Other

With norelated allowance recor ded
Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercial

Consumer

All Other

Total impaired loans

Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate
1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercial

Consumer

All Other

Total

Impaired L oans
For Three Months Ended March 31, 2013

Average Interest

Recorded Principal Related Recorded Income

I nvestment Unpaid Allowance I nvestment Recognized
$ 4,176,568 $ 5,007,420 $ 1,264,963 $ 2,343,838 $ 410
1,108,449 1,111,025 130,149 851,568 3,538
884,850 907,448 8,611 409,897 —
3,051,133 3,246,912 405,439 2,754,631 8,441
1,596,712 1,995,399 343,978 1,597,775 12,530
440,820 473,474 13,320 441,145 1,406
368,972 436,454 201,736 674,186 2,830
35,910 36,467 11,433 39,700 668

5,590 5,590 63 4,192 133

$ 11,669,004 $ 13,220,189 $ 2,379,692 $ 9,116,932 $ 29,956
$ 5937,764 $ 8,753,877 $ — $ 7,979,152 $ 1,055
14,311,004 16,290,157 — 14,423,258 33,640
3,400,426 5,006,285 — 3,902,121 1,110
10,880,143 13,320,014 — 11,241,041 9,921
220,114 335,423 — 179,805 1,958
1,320,621 1,584,999 — 1,320,597 —
1,812,991 1,958,173 — 1,802,674 501
193,902 211,428 — 199,646 553
5471 5,841 — 6,193 —

$ 38082436  $ 47466197 @ $ — $ 41,054487  $ 48,738
$ 10,114,332 $ 13,761,297 $ 1,264,963 $ 10,322,990 $ 1465
15,419,453 17,401,182 130,149 15,274,826 37,178
4,285,276 5,913,733 8,611 4,312,018 1,110
13,931,276 16,566,926 405,439 13,995,672 18,362
1,816,826 2,330,822 343,978 1,777,580 14,488
1,761,441 2,058,473 13,320 1,761,742 1,406
2,181,963 2,394,627 201,736 2,476,860 3,331
229,812 247,895 11,433 239,346 1,221
11,061 11431 63 10,385 133
$49,751,440  $60,686,386  $2,379,692  $50,171,419  $78,694
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With an allowance recor ded

Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate
1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercia

Consumer

With norelated allowance recorded
Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate
1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercia

Consumer

All Other

Total impaired loans

Construction and Land

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate
1-4 Family Residential

Multifamily

Home Equity Lines of Credit

Commercial

Consumer

All Other

Total

Impaired L oans
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Average Interest

Recorded Principal Related Recorded Income

I nvestment Unpaid Allowance I nvestment Recognized
$ 1,704,665 $ 2,261,661 $ 769,478 $ 5,127,948 $ 2751
769,580 784,441 101,780 3,271,111 6,884
116,506 120,416 19,306 2,882,926 693
2,295,733 2,394,910 419,390 4,166,970 34,933
1,600,964 1,999,583 330,278 950,206 42,451
440,719 471,323 55,069 723,678 16,045
1,192,118 1,266,684 316,475 1,404,549 27,651
48,218 48,700 12,227 35,365 3,340
$ 8,168,503 $ 9,347,718 $ 2,024,003 $ 18,562,753 $ 134,748
$ 83887,167 $ 13,266,937 $ — $ 8195857 $ 2481
14,513,250 16,479,026 — 11,108,985 75,364
4,226,384 5,814,525 — 3,880,998 54,217
11,567,669 14,045,330 — 8,756,801 27,955
56,529 171,016 — 1,095,310 48,776
1,314,154 1,564,643 — 1,546,143 11,461
1,344,470 1,540,619 — 1,490,259 5,395
198,137 223,946 — 199,207 614
6,629 6,827 — 2,682 —
$ 42,114,389 $ 53,112,869 $ — $ 36,276,242 $ 226,263
$ 10591,832  $ 15528598 $ 769478  $ 13323805 $ 5232
15,282,830 17,263,467 101,780 14,380,096 82,248
4,342,890 5,934,941 19,306 6,763,924 54,910
13,863,402 16,440,240 419,390 12,923,771 62,888
1,657,493 2,170,599 330,278 2,045,516 91,227
1,754,873 2,035,966 55,069 2,269,821 27,506
2,536,588 2,807,303 316,475 2,894,808 33,046
246,355 272,646 12,227 234,572 3,954
6,629 6,827 — 2,682 —
$50,282,892  $62,460,587  $2,024,003  $54,838,995  $361,011
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Impaired L oans
For Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

Average Interest
Recorded Principal Related Recorded Income
I nvestment Unpaid Allowance I nvestment Recognized
With an allowance recor ded
Construction and Land $ 3,011,846 $ 3,356,885 $ 225,496 $ 3,764,899 $ 943
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 2,687,032 2,853,180 92,692 3,411,355 767
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate 3,710,549 5,685,208 704,243 3,752,760 288
1-4 Family Residential 4,216,757 4,344,791 954,283 4,774,320 7,893
Multifamily — — — 946,962 8,580
Home Equity Lines of Credit 98,718 102,335 58,789 80,005 —
Commercid 1,785,142 1,850,053 690,880 1,740,468 11,299
Consumer 38,061 38,061 38,061 39,587 949
$ 15,548,105 $ 18,230,513 $ 2,764,444 $ 18,510,356 $ 30,719
With norelated allowance recor ded
Construction and Land $ 9,708,817 $ 13,444,030 $ — $ 9,275,033 $ —
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 7,563,206 8,667,154 — 6,660,932 27,174
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate 3,183,455 4,442 320 — 3,193,030 18,043
1-4 Family Residential 7,689,437 9,421,160 — 7,113,986 4,568
Multifamily 2,052,795 2,468,634 — 1,259,833 6,536
Home Equity Lines of Credit 1,159,057 1,183,853 — 1,328,062 —
Commercid 725,805 851,217 — 950,713 —
Consumer 177,760 204,998 — 141,367 —
$ 32,260,332 $ 40,683,366 $ — $ 29,922,956 $ 56,321
Total impaired loans
Construction and Land $ 12,720,663 $ 16,800,915 $ 225,496 $ 13,039,932 $ 943
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 10,250,238 11,520,334 92,692 10,072,287 27,941
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate 6,894,004 10,127,528 704,243 6,945,790 18,331
1-4 Family Residential 11,906,194 13,765,951 954,283 11,888,306 12,461
Multifamily 2,052,795 2,468,634 — 2,206,795 15,116
Home Equity Lines of Credit 1,257,775 1,286,188 58,789 1,408,067 —
Commercid 2,510,947 2,701,270 690,880 2,691,181 11,299
Consumer 215,821 243,059 38,061 180,954 949
Total $47,808,437 $58,913,879 $2,764,444 $48,433,312 $87,040
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The following table presents nonaccrual loans by class of loan:

Asof March As of December Asof March
31, 31, 31,
2013 2012 2012
Construction and Land $ 10,090,670 $ 10,388,363 $ 12,662,813
Owner Occupied Commercial Real
Estate 10,449,750 14,541,815 7,285,711
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real
Estate 4,255,704 4,311,531 5,618,877
1-4 Family Residential 12,428,591 12,816,342 10,884,559
Multifamily 1,652,419 1,657,493 2,052,795
Home Equity Lines of Credit 1,761,441 1,326,182 1,257,775
Commercial 1,973,402 2,318,266 1,763,538
Consumer 177,224 205,973 177,760
All Other 5,471 6,629 —
$42,794,672 $47,572,594 $41,703,828

Interest income of $12,530 was recognized on loans whilein nonaccrual status for the three months ended March 31, 2013, compared to $21,591 for
the same period in 2012.

Asaresult of adopting the amendmentsin ASU 2011-02, the Bank reassessed all restructurings that occurred on or after the beginning of the fiscal
year of adoption (January 1, 2011) to determine whether they were considered Troubled Debt Restructurings (“ TDRS’) under the amended
guidance. The Bank identified them asimpaired under the guidance in ASC 310-10-35.

Troubled Debt Restructurings
For ThreeMonths Ended March 31, 2013

Post

Pre-Modification Modification
Outstanding Outstanding

Number of Recorded Recorded

Contracts I nvestment Investment
Construction and Land 1 $ 352,979 $ 79,245
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate 1 246,618 246,618

Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate — — —
1-4 Family Residential 5 605,602 601,927

Multifamily — — —
Consumer 1 11,482 10,979
All Other 1 5,590 5,590
Total 9 $ 1,222,271 $ 944,359

Of the nine loansidentified as TDRs beginning January 1, 2013, the Bank extended the terms on three of these loans, lowered the interest rate on
four of these loans and provided other concessions on two of these loans.
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Troubled Debt Restructurings
For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

Post
Pre-Modification Modification
Outstanding Outstanding
Number of Recorded Recorded
Contracts Investment Investment
Construction and Land 14 $ 5765411 $ 4,546,343
Non Owner Occupied Commercia Real Estate 9 9,420,891 8,130,135
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 5 1,412,388 1,395,057
1-4 Family Residential 33 5,525,137 5,475,721
Multifamily 1 141,140 165,682
Commercial 16 518,473 495,892
Consumer 3 24,497 23,695
Total 81 $ 22,807,937 $20,232,525

Of the eighty-one loans identified as TDRs during the year ended December 31, 2012, the Bank extended the terms on thirteen of these loans,
lowered the interest rate on forty nine of these loans, modified the payment on eight of these loans and provided other concessions on eleven of
these loans.

Troubled Debt Restructurings
For Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

Post
Pre-Modification Modification
Outstanding Outstanding
Number of Recorded Recorded
Contracts Investment Investment
Construction and Land 1 $ 247,833 $ 247,833
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate — — —
1-4 Family Residential — — —
Multifamily — — —
Commercial 2 273,492 272,069
Consumer — — —
Total 3 $ 521,325 $ 519,902

Of the three loansidentified as TDRs beginning January 1, 2012, the Bank provided other concessions on these loans, including lowering the
interest rate, extending the terms, or modifying the payment.
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Troubled Debt Restructurings That Subsequently Defaulted During the Period
For Three Months Ended March 31, 2013

Number of Recorded
Contracts Investment
Construction and Land 8 $ 3,331,949
Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 3 1,606,980
Non Owner Occupied Commercial Real Estate 1 246,618
1-4 Family Residential 19 2,879,241
Commercia 4 302,666
Consumer 1 5,470
Total 36 $8,372,924

Troubled Debt Restructurings That Subsequently Defaulted During the Period
For Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

Number of Recorded
Contracts Investment
Construction and Land 2 $ 272,889
1-4 Family Residential 2 203,038
Commercial — —
Total 4 $475,927

In determination of the allowance for loan losses, management considers TDRs and subsequent defaults in these restructurings by individually
evaluating each TDR for impairment under ASC 310-10-35 and identifying those TDRs with post modification payments that are past due thirty
days or more.

NOTE 4 - PREMISESAND EQUIPMENT
Premises and equipment at March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012 are as follows:

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2012
Land, building and improvements $ 17,819,598 $ 18,062,505 $ 17,819,598
Furniture, fixtures and egquipment 10,542,084 10,424,289 10,474,841
Accumulated depreciation (13,765,480) (13,698,290) (13,082,148)
$14,596,202 $14,788,504 $15,212,291

Depreciation expense for the quarter ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 amounted to $261,338 and $272,334, respectively.
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Future obligations for minimum rental s under noncancel able operating leases at March 31, 2013, al of which areto arelated party, are asfollows:

Years Ending December 31,

2013 $ 209,700
2014 279,600
2015 279,600
2016 275,200
2017 253,200
Thereafter 4,272,800

$5,570,100

Certain bank facilities are leased from arelated party under operating leases. Rent expense charged to operations under all operating lease
agreements and under related party |ease agreements was $69,900 for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and $70,800 for the three months
ended March 31, 2012, all of which was leased from arelated party.

NOTE 5- DEPOSITS
Deposits consist of the following:

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2012
Noninterest-bearing demand $ 111,345,263 $ 108,606,997 $ 108,938,983
Interest-bearing demand 143,911,061 161,761,626 143,539,236
Money market 61,496,049 60,606,841 63,302,194
Savings 32,930,305 32,885,725 32,926,179
Time deposits 258,508,863 277,514,488 311,215,681
Tota $608,191,541 $641,375,677 $659,922,273

A summary of time deposits by maturity at March 31, 2013 isasfollows:

Years Ending December 31,

2013 $ 85,670,049
2014 99,254,383
2015 48,538,870
2016 13,024,493
2017 10,058,465
2018 1,962,603

$ 258,508,863

The Bank had brokered certificates of deposit of approximately $28,287,067, $38,242,000, and $38,273,344 at March 31,2013, December 31, 2012 and
March 31, 2012, respectively.

The aggregate amount of time deposits with a minimum denomination of $100,000 was $160,799,821, $176,179,507, and $199,167,862 at March 31,
2013, December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012, respectively.
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Short-term borrowings consist of the following:

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2012
Collateralized customer deposits $ 21,081,169 $ 10,236,387 $ 21,030,815
$21,081,169 $10,236,387 $21,030,815
NOTE 7 - REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS
Repurchase agreements consist of the following:
March 31, December 31, March 31,
Maturity Date Interest Rate 2013 2012 2012
July 1, 2013 5.19% with a 2 year embedded cap $ — $ 12,500,000 $ 12,500,000
April 24,2018 4.49%, callable at 2 years — 5,000,000 5,000,000
April 24,2018 3.75%, callable at 2 years — 15,000,000 15,000,000
April 24,2018 3.65%, callable at 5 years — 10,000,000 10,000,000
$ — $42,500,000 $42,500,000

During 2008, the Bank funded security purchases with Reverse Repurchase Agreements. At March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31,
2012 certain mortgage-backed and agency securities of $0, $59,793,977, and $61,013,154, respectively, were pledged as collateral to secure these
agreements.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Bank incurred $5,415,000 in unwind fees related to the early termination of the structured
repurchase agreements.

NOTE 8- FEDERAL HOME L OAN BANK ADVANCES
Federal Home L oan Bank advances are asfollows:

March 31, December 31, March 31,
Maturity Date Interest Rate 2013 2012 2012
September 2, 2014 2.23% adjustable — 7,500,000 7,500,000
October 6, 2014 2.38% adjustable — 9,000,000 9,000,000
October 6, 2014 2.40% adjustable — 15,000,000 15,000,000
April 6, 2015 2.87% adjustable — 5,000,000 5,000,000
April 6, 2015 2.87% adjustable — 5,000,000 5,000,000
January 30, 2017 4.55% fixed — 10,000,000* 10,000,000*
February 2, 2017 4.42% fixed — 10,000,000* 10,000,000*

$ — $61,500,000 $61,500,000

*  All convertible borrowings are callable.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Bank incurred $4,349,571 in prepayment penalties related to the prepayment of all Federal Home
L oan Bank advances.
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At March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012, and March 31, 2012, dl stock in the Federal Home Loan Bank (balance of $1,024,600, $4,114,700, and
$5,769,000, respectively), qualifying loans totaling $36,546,526, $36,083,392, and $33,215,597, respectively, and certain investment securities totaling
$15,129,525, $30,625,095, $108,527,604, respectively, were pledged as collateral to secure Federal Home Loan Bank advances.

NOTE 9- COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (L OSS)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity during a period for non-owner transactions and is divided into net income (10ss)
and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) includes revenues, expenses, gains, and losses that are excluded from
earnings under current accounting standards. The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (1oss) for the Bank are as follows:

March 31,
2013
Investment Securities Available for Sale:
Unrealized gain (l0ss) on securities availablefor sale (2,669,661)
Tax effect 1,030,489
Net unrealized gain (10ss) on securities available for sale (1,639,172)
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (1oss) $(1,639,172)

The following table discloses the changes in accumul ated other comprehensive income (1oss) for the three months ended March 31, 2013, (all
amounts are net of tax).

Unrealized Gain Unrealized Gain
(loss) on Derivative (Loss) on
Financial Securities
Instruments Available for Sale Total

Beginning balance at January 1, 2013 $ (399,793) $ (349,189) $ (748,982)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (1,289,983) (1,289,983)
Amounts reclassified from accumul ated other comprehensive income 399,793 399,793
Net current period other comprehensive income (10ss) 399,793 (1,289,983) (890,190)
Ending balance at March 31, 2013 $ - $ (1,639,172 $(1,639,172)
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes is summarized as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013
Current expense (benefit):
Federal $ —
State 729
729
Deferred expense (benefit):
Federal (3,027,971)
State (406,223)
(3,434,194)
Changein valuation allowance 3,434,194
$ 729

The statutory income tax amounts are reconciled with the effective income tax amounts as follows:

2012

$ —
956
956

368,109
66,345
434,454

$ 435,410

Three Months Ended March 31,

2013

Tax (benefit) at federal rate of 35% $ (3,073,531)

Differences:
Adjustment for tax at 34% federal rate 87,815
Tax-exempt interest income (17,558)
State tax expense (benefit), net of federal benefit (406,223)
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance (22,366)
Nondeductible interest expense 4,013
Goodwill impairment —
Changein valuation allowance 3,434,194
Other, net (5,615)

$ 729

176

2012
$ 503,193

(14,377)
(94,488)
66,345
(38,025)
11,436

1,326
$ 435,410
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Thetax effects of temporary differencesthat give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented as
follows:

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2012
Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for loan losses $ 5,709,823 $ 5,904,244 $ 6,723,747
OREO writedowns 484,858 560,192 199,979
Deferred compensation 52,604 52,604 54,618
I nterest income - nonaccrual basis 1,348,581 1,306,138 1,563,778

Unrealized loss on securities available-for-sale 1,030,489 219,523 —
Unrealized loss on derivatives — 250,858 238,337
Other than temporary impairment of securities — — 2,655,047
Net operating losses 9,078,451 5,456,923 1,885,425
Other 684,916 708,433 230,542
18,389,722 14,458,915 13,551,473

Valuation allowance (7,326,494) (3,892,300) —
11,063,228 10,566,615 13,551,473

Deferred tax liabilities:

Fixed assets (1,175,222) (1,189,050) (1,230,122)
Unrealized gain on securities AFS — — (663,011)

Accumulated accretion — — —
Other (395,715) (445,382) (433,259)
(1,570,937) (1,634,432) (2,326,392)
Net deferred tax asset $9,492,291 $8,932,183 $11,225,081

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon sufficient future taxable income during the period that deductible temporary differences and
carryforwards are expected to be available to reduce taxable income. As of March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, in evaluating future tax planning
strategies, management has provided a valuation allowance of $7,326,494 and $3,892,300, respectively. As of March 31, 2012, management believed
itismore likely than not that the deferred tax assets would be realized in the future and that no valuation allowance was necessary.

Net operating loss carryforwards will expire 2026 through 2033.

Management has analyzed the tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the company’stax returns and concluded the Bank has no liability
related to uncertain tax positionsin accordance with ASC Topic 740.

NOTE 11 - REGULATORY MATTERS

On June 8, 2011, the Bank entered into a Formal Agreement with the Comptroller of the Currency (“Comptroller”) requiring the Bank to take

specified actions with respect to the operation of the Bank. The substantive actions called for by the agreement should strengthen the Bank. The
Bank isworking diligently to
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appropriately respond to all of the terms of the formal agreement, including implementing plans, programs, and progress reports within the
timeframes required by the agreement. The Formal Agreement did not impose more stringent regulatory capital minimums on the Bank.

The Bank is subject to the dividend restrictions set forth by the Comptroller. Under such restrictions, the Bank may not, without the prior approval
of the Comptroller, declare dividends in excess of the sum of the current year’s earnings (as defined) plus the retained earnings (as defined) from
the prior two years.

The Bank is also subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum
reguirements can initiate certain mandatory - and possibly additional discretionary - actions by regulatorsthat, if undertaken, could have adirect
material effect on the Bank’s consolidated financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt
corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative measures of the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-
balance-sheet items as cal cul ated under regulatory accounting practices. The Bank’s capital amounts and classifications are al so subject to
qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.

Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to maintain minimum amounts and ratios of Total and
Tier | capital (as defined in the regulations) to risk-weighted assets (as defined) of 8.0% and 4.0%, respectively, and of Tier | capital (as defined) to
average assets (as defined) of 3.0% to 5.0%, depending on the specific institution’s composite ratings as determined by its regulators. The
Comptroller has not advised the Bank of any specific leverage ratio applicableto it. Management believes, as of March 31, 2013, that the Bank
meets all capital adequacy requirementsto which it is subject.

Asof December 31, 2012, the most recent notification from the Comptroller categorized the Bank aswell capitalized under the regulatory framework
for prompt corrective action. To be categorized aswell capitalized, the Bank must maintain minimum total risk-based, Tier | risk-based and Tier |
leverage ratios of 10%, 6% and 5%, respectively. There are no conditions or events since that notification that management believes have changed
theinstitution’s category.

The Bank’s actual capital amounts and ratios are also presented in the table as follows:

To Be Wdll-
Capitalized Under
For Capital Prompt Corrective
Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
March 31, 2013
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets) $ 85,846,000 17.85% $ 38,474,000 8.00% $ 48,093,000 10.00%
Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets) $ 79,727,000 16.58% $ 19,234,000 4.00% $ 28,852,000 6.00%
Tier 1 capital (to average assets) $ 79,727,000 10.36% $ 23,087,000 3.00% $ 38,478,000 5.00%
December 31, 2012
Total capital (to risk-weighted assets) $ 95528000 19.22% $ 39,752,000 8.00% $ 49,690,000 10.00%
Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets) $ 89,204,000 17.95% $ 19,876,000 4.00% $ 29,814,000 6.00%
Tier 1 capital (to average assets) $ 89,204,000 1041% $ 25,702,000 3.00% $ 42,836,000 5.00%
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To Be Well-

Capitalized Under

For Capital Prompt Corrective

Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Provisions

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio
March 31, 2012

Total capital (to risk-weighted assets) $ 102,026,000 16.25% $ 50,228,000 8.00% $ 62,785,000 10.00%
Tier 1 capital (to risk-weighted assets) $ 94,060,000 14.98% $ 25116,000 4.00% $ 37,674,000 6.00%
Tier 1 capital (to average assets) $ 94,060,000 1054% $ 26,772,000 3.00% $ 44,620,000 5.00%

Because the Bank had arelatively high level of nonperforming assets at March 31, 2013 the Comptroller may require the Bank to maintain capital
ratiosin excess of those shown to be well capitalized in the table above. The Comptroller may also seek the Bank’s agreement to take other
specified actions intended to reduce the risks faced by the Bank. The Comptroller has the authority to enforce such an agreement with various
regulatory actions.

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS

In the normal course of business, there are various commitments outstanding to extend credit which are not reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Preapproved but unused lines of credit available to borrowers and loan commitments aggregated approximately $41,239,163, including
$806,000 of related party lines, at March 31, 2013 while standby letters of credit totaled approximately $429,500. Preapproved but unused lines of
credit available to borrowers and loan commitments aggregated approximately $51,592,359, including $3,524,875 of related party lines, at March 31,
2012 while standby letters of credit totaled approximately $1,012,480. These commitments represent no more than the normal lending risk that the
Bank commitsto its borrowers. If these commitments are drawn, the Bank will obtain collateral if it is deemed necessary based on management’s
credit evaluation of the counterparty. Collateral obtained varies but may include accounts receivable, inventory, and commercial or residential real
estate. Management expects that these commitments can be funded through normal operations.

NOTE 13- FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliability in an orderly transaction between market
participants. A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability occursin the principal market for the
asset or liability or, in the absence of aprincipal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The price in the principal (or most
advantageous) market used to measure the fair value of the asset or liability shall not be adjusted for transaction costs. An orderly transaction isa
transaction that assumes exposure to the market for a period prior to the measurement date to allow for marketing activities that are usual and
customary for transactions involving such assets and liabilities; it is not aforced transaction. Market participants are buyers and sellersin the
principal market that are (i) independent, (ii) knowledgeable, (iii) ableto transact and (iv) willing to transact.

The use of valuation techniques that are consistent with the market approach, the income approach and/or the cost approach are required. The
market approach uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets and
liabilities. The income approach uses val uation techniques to convert future amounts, such as cash flows or earnings, to a single present amount
on adiscounted basis. The cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset
(replacement cost). Valuation techniques should be consistently applied. Inputs to valuation techniques refer to the assumptions that market
participants would usein pricing the asset or liability. Inputs may be observable, meaning those that reflect the assumptions market participants
would usein pricing the asset or liability developed based on
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market data obtained from independent sources, or unobservable, meaning those that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions about the
assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability devel oped based on the best information available in the circumstances.
Inthat regard, afair value hierarchy is established for valuation inputs that gives the highest priority to quoted pricesin active markets for
identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. The fair value hierarchy isasfollows:

Level 1  Unadjusted quoted pricesin active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the ability to access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted pricesincluded in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These
might include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilitiesin active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilitiesin
markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability (such asinterest rates,
volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit risks, etc.) or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by market data by
correlation or other means.

Level 3 Unobservableinputsfor determining the fair values of assets or liabilitiesthat reflect an entity’s own assumptions about the
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities.

A description of the valuation methodol ogies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well asthe general classification of such instruments
pursuant to the valuation hierarchy, is set forth below. These valuation methodol ogies were applied to all of the Bank’s financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at fair value. In general, fair value is based upon quoted market prices, where available. If such quoted market prices are
not available, fair valueis based upon internally developed modelsthat primarily use, asinputs, observable market-based parameters. Valuation
adjustments may be made to ensure that financial instruments are recorded at fair value. These adjustments may include amounts to reflect
counterparty credit quality and the Bank’s creditworthiness, among other things, as well as unobservable parameters. Any such valuation
adjustments are applied consistently over time. The Bank’s val uation methodol ogies may produce afair value calculation that may not be
indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. While management believes the Bank’ s val uation methodol ogies are appropriate
and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodol ogies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in adifferent estimate of fair value at the reporting date. Furthermore, the reported fair value amounts have not been
comprehensively revalued since the presentation dates, and therefore, estimates of fair value after the balance sheet date may differ significantly
from the amounts presented herein.

Thefollowing is adescription of the valuation methodol ogies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value:

Securities Available-for-Sale - Investment securities classified as available-for-sale are reported at fair value on arecurring basis utilizing Level 2
inputs. For these securities, the Bank obtains fair value measurements from an independent pricing service. The fair value measurements consider
observable data that may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the US Treasury yield curve, live trading levels, trade execution data,
market consensus prepayment speed, credit information and the bond’ s terms and conditions, among other things.

Derivative Assets - The Bank uses derivatives to manage various financial risks. Thefair value of derivative financial instruments are determined
based on quoted market prices, dealer quotes and external pricing models that are primarily sensitive to market observable data. The fair value of
interest rate lock commitments, which are related to Federal Home Loan Bank advances, is based on quoted market prices. Derivative assets are
reported at fair value on arecurring basis utilizing Level 2 inputs.
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NOTE 13- FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

LoansHeld-for-Sale - Loans held-for-sale are carried at the lower of cost or market value. The fair value of loans held for saleis based on what
secondary markets are currently offering for portfolios with similar characteristics. As such, the Bank classifies |oans subjected to nonrecurring fair
value adjustmentsas Level 2.

Loans- The Bank does not record loans at fair value on arecurring basis. However, from time to time, aloan is considered impaired and an
allowance for loan lossesis established. Loans for which it is probable that payment of interest and principal will not be made in accordance with
the contractual terms of the loan agreement are considered impaired. Once aloan isidentified as individually impaired, management measures
impairment by estimating the fair value of the impaired loan using one of several methods; including collateral value, market value of similar debt,
enterprise value, liquidation value and discounted cash flows. Those impaired |oans not requiring an allowance represent loans for which the fair
value of the expected repayments or collateral exceed the recorded investmentsin such loans. Substantially all of the total impaired |oans were
evaluated based on the fair value of the collateral. For impaired loans that have an allowance established based on the fair value of collateral, a
classification in the fair value hierarchy isrequired. When the fair value of the collateral is based on an observable market price or a current
appraised value, the Bank records the impaired loan as nonrecurring Level 2. When an appraised value is not available or management determines
the fair value of the collateral isfurther impaired below the appraised value and there is no observable market price, the Bank records the impaired
loan as nonrecurring Level 3.

Other Real Estate Owned (* OREQ”) - Foreclosed assets are adjusted to fair value upon transfer of the loans to OREO. Subsequently, OREO is
carried at the lower of carrying value or fair value. Fair value is based upon independent market prices, appraised values of the collateral or
management’ s estimation of the value of the collateral. When the fair value of the collateral isbased on an observable market price or a current
appraised value, the Bank records the OREO as nonrecurring Level 2. When an appraised value is not available or management determinesthe fair
value of the collateral isfurther impaired below the appraised value and there is no observable market price, the Bank records the OREO as
nonrecurring Level 3.

Assetsand LiabilitiesMeasured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis - The table below presents the Bank’ s assets and liabilities measured at fair
value on arecurring basis at March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012 aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which
those measurementsfall:

March 31, 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Securities available-for-sale:
Mortgage-backed $— $ 167,403,649 $— $ 167,403,649
Derivatives — — — —
Total assets $— $167,403,649 $— $167,403,649
December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Securities available-for-sale:
Mortgage-backed $— $ 178,887,521 $— $ 178,887,521
Derivatives — (649,512) — (649,512)
Total assets $— $178,238,009 $— $178,238,009
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NOTE 13- FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

March 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Government agencies $— $ 1,617,636 $— $ 1,617,636
States and political subdivisions — 22,424,510 — 22,424,510
M ortgage-backed — 187,164,707 — 187,164,707
Corporate securities — — — —
Derivatives — (618,176) — (618,176)
Total assets $— $210,588,677 $— $210,588,677

Assetsand LiabilitiesMeasured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis- The Bank may be required, from time to time, to measure certain assets
and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These include assets and liabilities that are measured at the lower of cost or market that were
recognized at fair value below cost at the end of the period. The table below presents the Bank’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis as of March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012, aggregated by the level in the fair value hierarchy within which
those measurementsfall:

March 31, 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Impaired loans, net $— $ — $ 47,371,748 $ 47,371,748
Loans held for sale — 2,505,400 — 2,505,400
Other real estate owned — — 3,330,318 3,330,318
Total assets $— $2,505,400 $50,702,066 $53,207,466
December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Impaired loans, net $— $ — $ 48,258,889 $ 48,258,889
Loans held for sale — 1,546,446 — 1,546,446
Other real estate owned — — 3,640,836 3,640,836
Total assets $— $1,546,446 $51,899,725 $53,446,171
March 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Impaired loans, net $— $ — $ 45,043,993 $ 45,043,993
Loans held for sale — 3,075,375 — 3,075,375
Other real estate owned — — 3,592,635 3,592,635
Total assets $— $3,075,375 $48,636,628 $51,712,003

For assets and liabilities that are not presented on the balance sheet at fair value, the Bank uses the following methods to determine fair value:
Thefair value of the Bank’s cash and cash equivalentsis estimated to be equal to its recorded amount.

Thefair value of investment securities classified as held-to-maturity are based on quoted market prices, except for certain other-than-temporarily
impaired securities described in Note 2.

For federal bank stock, the fair value approximates the carrying value due to the redemptive provisions of the banks.
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Thefair valuefor all fixed rate |oans has been estimated by discounting the projected future cash flows using the rate at which similar loans would
be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for similar maturities. The discount rate used has been adjusted by an estimated credit risk
factor to approximate the adjustment that would be applied in the marketplace for any nonperforming loans. Certain prepayment assumptions have
also been made depending upon the original contractual lives of the loans. The fair value for all adjustable rate |oans has been estimated to be
equal to their carrying amounts because the repricing periods are relatively short-termin nature.

Thefair value of deposits with no stated maturities, including checking accounts and statement savings accounts, is estimated to be equal to the
amount payable on demand. The fair value of time deposits is based upon the discounted val ue of the contractual cash flows. The discount rates
used in these cal culations approximate the current rates offered for deposits of similar remaining maturities.

The estimated fair value of borrowed funds approximates carrying value for short-term borrowings. The fair value of long-term fixed-rate
borrowingsis estimated using quoted market prices, if available, or by discounting future cash flows using current interest rates for similar
financial instruments.

The fair values of accrued interest receivable and accrued interest payable are presumed to be their recorded book values.

Commitmentsto extend credit and standby letters of credit are generally extended at variable rates and, therefore, are subject to minimal interest
rate risk exposure. Accordingly, thefair valueis nominal.

Based on the limitations, methods and assumptions noted above, the estimated fair values of the Bank’sfinancia instruments at March 31, 2013,
December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012 are asfollows:

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2013 2012 2012
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 47,559,755 $ 47,559,755 $ 161,780,115 $ 161,780,115 $ 35,224,313 $ 35,224,313
Federal bank stock 1,384,600 1,384,600 4,474,700 4,474,700 6,129,000 6,129,000
Securities available-for-sale 167,403,649 167,403,649 178,887,521 178,887,521 211,206,853 211,206,853
Securities held-to-maturity — — — — 90,226,738 87,146,834
Loans, net 449,617,105 463,011,827 457,575,195 471,207,000 488,975,838 505,112,041
Loans held-for-sale 2,505,400 2,505,400 1,546,446 1,546,446 3,075,375 3,075,375
Accrued interest receivable 1,639,729 1,639,729 1,833,568 1,833,568 3,141,016 3,141,016
Derivative — — (649,512) (649,512) (618,176) (618,176)
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits with no stated maturities 349,721,755 351,959,974 363,861,189 366,201,000 348,706,592 348,706,592
Deposits with stated maturities 258,469,786 264,595,520 277,514,488 284,084,000 311,215,681 320,552,151
Short-term borrowings 21,081,169 21,081,169 10,236,387 10,236,387 21,030,815 21,030,815
Repurchase agreements — — 42,500,000 48,054,025 42,500,000 48,054,025
Federal Home Loan Bank advances — — 61,500,000 65,989,526 61,500,000 65,989,526
Accrued interest payable 522,596 522,596 1,557,276 1,557,276 1,679,436 1,679,436
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The Bank utilizes a comprehensive risk management strategy to monitor sensitivity of earnings to movementsin interest rates. Specific types of
funding and principal amounts hedged are determined based on prevailing market conditions and the shape of the yield curve. In conjunction with
this strategy, the Bank employs various interest rate derivatives as risk management tools to hedge interest rate risk from recognized assets and
liabilities or from forecasted transactions. The terms and notional amounts of derivatives are determined based on management’s assessment of
future interest rates, aswell as other factors. The Bank establishes parameters for derivative usage, including identification of assets and liabilities
to hedge, derivative instruments to be utilized, and notional amounts of hedging relationships. At March 31, 2012, the Bank’s only outstanding
interest rate hedging relationships relate to interest rate swaps that have been designated as cash flow hedges of probable forecasted transactions
related to recognized floating rate Federal Home Loan Bank Advances.

Qualifying derivatives are accounted for as cash flow hedges when the hedged item is aforecasted transaction. Gains and losses on these
instruments are recorded in other comprehensive income until the underlying transaction is recorded in earnings. When the hedged item is
realized, gains or losses are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (“*AOCI”) to the Consolidated Statement of
Operations on the same line item as the underlying transaction.

The cumulative net loss attributable to cash flow hedges recorded in AOCI at March 31, 2013, December 31, 2012 and March 31, 2012, was $0,
($649,512) and ($618,176), respectively, related to the interest rate swaps that have been designated as cash flow hedges of probable forecasted
transactions related to recognized floating rate Federal Home L oan Bank Advances.

The Bank is exposed to interest rate volatility with regard to future issuances of variable rate debt. The Bank periodically usesinterest rate swaps
to reduce rate volatility and funding costs associated with certain debt issues, and to achieve a desired proportion of variable versusfixed rate
debt, based on current and projected market conditions. The purpose of the cash flow hedge transactions is to eliminate the variability of cash
flowsin the interest payments attributabl e to the benchmark interest rate in the Hedged Transaction. The Bank has effectively substituted fixed
rate interest payments for the contracted floating rate interest payments in the Hedged Transaction.

The assessment of effectiveness will be based on the long haul method. This method will be applied consistently at inception and on an ongoing
basis.
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During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Bank executed four agreements of $34 million adjustable rate advances with the Federal Home Loan Bank of
Atlanta. Along with the advances, the Bank executed four cash flow hedge agreements with Credit Suisse USA Inc. The terms of the hedged
transactions match the corresponding floating interest rate leg of the hedge. Therefore, changes in the cash flow of the hedged advances are
expected to be highly effective both at inception and on an ongoing basisin offsetting changes in cash flow of the hedged transactions.

Asset Derivatives

Balance Sheet Notional

Classification Amounts Fair Value
March 31, 2013
Derivatives designated in cash flow hedging relationships Trading Assets $ — $ —
December 31, 2012
Derivatives designated in cash flow hedging rel ationships Trading Assets $ 34,000,000 $ (649,512)
March 31, 2012
Derivatives designated in cash flow hedging rel ationships Trading Assets $ 34,000,000 $ (618,176)

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, the Bank unwound all interest rate swaps with anotional value of $34 million and incurred $694
thousand in interest rate swap unwind fees.

NOTE 15 - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Bank to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally of loans receivable, investment
securities, federal funds sold and amounts due from banks.

The Bank makesloansto individuals and small businesses for various personal and commercial purposes primarily in Cleveland, Gaston, Lincoln
and Rutherford counties of North Carolina. The Bank’s loan portfolio is nhot concentrated in loans to any single borrower or arelatively small
number of borrowers. Additionally, management is not aware of any concentrations of |oans to classes of borrowers or industries that would be
similarly affected by economic conditions.

In addition to monitoring potential concentrations of loans to particular borrowers or groups of borrowers, industries and geographic regions,
management monitors exposure to credit risk from concentrations of lending products and practices such asloans that subject borrowersto
substantial payment increases (e.g., principal deferral periods, loanswith initial interest-only periods, etc.), and loans with high loan-to-value
ratios. Additionally, there are industry practices that could subject the Bank to increased credit risk should economic conditions change over the
course of aloan’slife. For example, the Bank makes variable rate |oans and fixed rate principal-amortizing loans with maturities prior to the loan
being fully paid (i.e., balloon payment loans). These loans are underwritten and monitored to manage the associated risks. Therefore, management
believesthat these particular practices do not subject the Bank to unusual credit risk.

The Bank’sinvestment portfolio consists principally of obligations of the United States and its agencies or its corporations. In the opinion of
management, there is no concentration of credit risk in itsinvestment portfolio. The Bank placesits deposits and correspondent accounts with and
sellsitsfederal fundsto high quality institutions. Management believes credit risk associated with correspondent accountsis not significant.
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NOTE 16 - ASSETSUNDER MANAGEMENT

At March 31, 2013 and 2012, the Bank’s Trust Department had approximately $383,481,000 and $359,949,000 of assets of which 39.7% and 36.7%,
respectively, were under direct control and held either at a safekeeping agent, in itsvault, or at adepository institution. These trust assets are held
in afiduciary capacity and are not assets of the Bank and are not reflected on the consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 17 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent events are events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date, but before financial statements are issued. Recognized
subseguent events are events or transactions that provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet,
including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing financial statements. Nonrecognized subsequent events are events that provide
evidence about conditions that did not exist at the date of the balance sheet but arose after that date.

On January 24, 2013, Bank of the Ozarks, Inc. (the “Company”) entered into a definitive agreement and plan of merger (the “ Agreement”) with the
Bank, whereby the Company will acquire all of the outstanding common stock of the Bank in atransaction valued at approximately $64.0 million for
the outstanding common stock of the Bank.

Completion of the transaction is subject to certain closing conditions, including regulatory approvals and the approval of the shareholders of the
Bank. The transaction approvals of the Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and the Arkansas State Bank Department were received
subsequent to March 31, 2013. The transaction is subject to shareholder approval, and is expected to close during the third quarter of 2013. Upon
approval of the shareholders, the Bank will beliable to Sandler O’ Neill for the remaining balance ($710 thousand) of the transaction fee of 1.5% of
the aggregate deal value which isto be paid upon the closing of the merger.

Management has reviewed events occurring through May 17, 2013, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to be issued, and
no additional subsequent events occurred requiring accrual or disclosure.
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O elliott davis

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'SREPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
The First National Bank of Shelby and Subsidiary
Shelby, North Carolina

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal ance sheets of The First National Bank of Shelby and Subsidiary (the “Bank”) as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (l0ss), changesin stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the yearsin the three year period ended December 31, 2012.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statementsin accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; thisincludes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statementsthat are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility isto express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our auditsin
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether dueto fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considersinternal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statementsin order to design audit procedures that are appropriatein
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’sinternal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The
First National Bank of Shelby and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of

the yearsin the three year period ended December 31, 2012, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America

/9 Elliott Davis, PLLC

Charlotte, North Carolina
February 12, 2013
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Assets:

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2012 and 2011

Cash and due from banks
I nterest-bearing bank deposits
Federal funds sold

Total cash and cash equivalents

Securities available-for-sale

Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $91,288,521 at December 31, 2011)
Federal bank stock
L oans, net

Loans held-for-sale
Accrued interest receivable

Premises and equipment, net

Cash surrender value of lifeinsurance policies
Other real estate owned

Deferred tax asset, net

Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities:

Deposits:
Noninterest-bearing

Short-term borrowings

Interest-bearing

Total deposits

Repurchase agreements

Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Accrued interest payable

Other liahilities
Total liabilities
Commitments— Notes 4, 9 and 12

Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $10.00 par value; 2,500,000 shares authorized, 400,000 issued and outstanding
Surplus
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss)

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

2012

2011

$ 17,681,046 $ 14222578
143,900,358 3,998,871
198,711 140,552
161,780,115 18,362,001
178,887,521 222,288,519

— 93,194,539

4,474,700 6,129,000
457,575,195 496,885,909
1,546,446 3,909,963
1,833,568 3,147,672
14,788,504 15,411,291
15,430,173 15,290,478
3,640,836 5,708,838
8,932,183 11,278,433
4,918,519 6,773,484
$853,807,760 $898,380,127

$ 108,606,997

$ 107,671,374

532,768,680 558,685,020
641,375,677 666,356,304
10,236,387 9,610,454
42,500,000 42,500,000
61,500,000 76,500,000
1,557,276 1,805,082
1,120,328 1,202,102
758,289,668 797,974,032
4,000,000 4,000,000
8,000,000 8,000,000
84,267,073 87,681,140
(748,981) 724,955
95,518,092 100,406,095
$853,807,760  $898,380,127

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Y ear s Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

2012 2011 2010
Interest income:
Loans $ 25,670,756 $29,508,926 $ 32,771,302
I nvestment securities:
U.S. Government agencies 45,048 668,019 917,960
States and political subdivisions 727,776 965,201 1,007,918
M ortgage-backed 7,524,852 9,103,226 11,637,174
Corporate securities 440,665 722,427 874,684
Other 183,238 152,550 126,682
Total interest income 34,592,335 41,120,349 47,335,720
Interest expense:
Deposits 6,528,395 9,086,748 12,295,545
Short-term borrowings 15,658 18,208 30,173
Repurchase agreements 1,830,762 1,825,760 1,701,638
Federal Home L oan Bank advances 2,320,718 2,581,052 4,435,310
Total interest expense 10,695,533 13,511,768 18,462,666
Net interest income 23,896,802 27,608,581 28,873,054
Provision for loan losses 8,233,281 13,368,448 16,350,449
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 15,663,521 14,240,133 12,522,605
Noninterest income:
Service charges 3,395,393 3,765,996 3,892,675
Trust income 1,316,719 1,395,172 1,337,972
Mortgage banking income 1,371,937 993,009 1,663,276
Net gain (loss) on sale of securities (609,997) 439,610 854,650
Other 1,314,988 1,289,471 1,244,830
Other-than-temporary impairment |osses on debt securities:
Total other-than-temporary impairment losses (67,247) (1,941,503) (2,423,280)
Less: Portion of other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized in other
comprehensive income — 1,477,316 1,370,696
Net impairment losses on debt securities recognized in earnings (67,247) (464,187) (1,052,584)
Total noninterest income 6,721,793 7,419,071 7,940,819
Noninter est expense:
Compensation 8,996,794 9,922,296 10,651,551
Profit sharing and employee benefits 2,457,634 2,605,631 2,877,704
Federal and other insurance premiums 1,181,195 1,251,703 1,298,760
Occupancy 1,070,293 1,168,713 1,397,125
Equipment rentals, depreciation and maintenance 2,042,877 2,095,165 2,186,256
Impairment of goodwill — — 6,034,835
Other 6,626,183 5,391,055 5,241,776
Total noninterest expense 22,374,976 22,434,563 29,688,007
Net income (loss) befor e income taxes 10,338 (775,359) (9,224,583)
Income tax expense (benefit) 3,424,405 (1,022,657) (1,278,712)
Net income (loss) $(3,414,067) $ 247,298 $(7,945,871)
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ (854) $ 0.62 $  (19.86)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Y ear s Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (10ss):

Derivative financial instruments:
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments
Tax effect

Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative financial instruments, net of tax

I nvestment securities available-for-sale:
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities available-for-salearising during
the period
Tax effect
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on securities available-for-salearising
during the period, net of tax
Reclassification adjustment for gains on securities avail able-for-sale
Tax effect

Reclassification adjustment for gains on securities avail able-for-sale, net
of tax
Reclassification adjustment for other-than-temporary impairment onsecurities
available-for-sale
Tax effect

Reclassification adjustment for other-than-temporary impairment
onsecurities available-for-sale, net of tax

I nvestment securities held-to-maturity:
Unrealized other-than-temporary impairment on securities held-to-maturity
Tax effect

Unrealized other-than-temporary impairment on securities held-to-
maturity
Accretion of unrealized losses on securities previously transferred from
available-for-sale to held-to-maturity
Tax effect
Accretion of unrealized |osses on securities previously transferred
from available-for-sale to hel d-to-maturity, net of tax
Reclassification adjustment for losses on securities previously transferred from
available-for-sale to held-to-maturity
Tax effect
Reclassification adjustment for losses on securities previously transferred from
available-for-sale to held-to-maturity
Total other comprehensiveincome (10ss)
Comprehensiveincome (10ss)

2012 2011 2010
$ (3414067) $ 247298  $ (7,945871)
(93,878) (957,804) 401,032
250,858 — —
156,980 (957,804) 401,032
(1,668,668) 3,403,416 5,121,663
643,338 (1,312,153) (1,974,606)
(1,025,330) 2,091,263 3,147,057
(3,404,292) (427,928) (858,784)
1,312,491 165,180 339,220
(2,091,801 (262,747) (519,564)
67,247 449,714 549,150
(25,926) (173,590) (216,914)
41,321 276,124 332,236
— (696,256) (710,306)
— 268,435 273,851
— (427,821) (436,455)
90,226 84,933 85,046
(34,786) (32,745) (32,789)
55,440 52,188 52,257
2,261,260 — —
(871,806) — _
1,389,454 — —
(1,473,936) 771,203 2,976,563
$(4,888,003)  $1,018501  $(4,969,308)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 2009

Net loss

Other comprehensive income

Cash dividends declared, $1.60 per share
Balance, December 31, 2010

Net income

Other comprehensive income

Balance, December 31, 2011

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Balance, December 31, 2012

Consolidated Statements of Changesin Stockholders Equity
Y ear s Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Accumulated
Common Stock ; Other Total
Retained Comprehensive Stockholders

Shares Amount Surplus Earnings Income (L 0ss) Equity
400,000 $ 4,000,000 $ 8000000 $ 96,019,713 $ (3,022,811) $104,996,902
— — — (7,945,871) — (7,945,871)

— — — 2,976,563 2,976,563

_ _ — (640,000) — (640,000)
400,000 4,000,000 8,000,000 87,433,842 (46,248) 99,387,594
— — — 247,298 — 247,298
— — — — 771,203 771,203
400,000 4,000,000 8,000,000 87,681,140 724,955 100,406,095
= = = (3,414,067) = (3,414,067)
— — — — (1,473,936) (1,473,936)
400,000  $4,000,000  $8,000,000  $84,267,073 $ (748,981) $95,518,092

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Y ear s Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (l0ss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (1oss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation
Provision for |oan |osses
Net amortization of securities
Deferred |oan fees, net
Other-than-temporary impairment on securities
Net gain on sale of available-for-sale securities
Net loss (gain) on sale of held-to-maturity securities
Loss on disposal of premises and equipment
Loss on sale or writedown of other real estate owned
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Originations of loans held-for-sale
Proceeds from sale of |oans held-for-sale
Goodwill impairment
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accrued interest receivable
Other assets
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accrued interest payable
Other liahilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flowsfrom investing activities:
Purchases of securities available-for-sale
Purchases of securities held-to-maturity
Proceeds from sales, calls, prepayments and maturities of securities available-
for-sale
Proceeds from sales, calls, prepayments and maturities of securities held-to-
maturity
Sales of Federal bank stock, net
Decreasein loans
Purchases of premises and equipment
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment
Proceeds from sale of other real estate owned
Increasein cash surrender value of life insurance policies
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flowsfrom financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in deposits
Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings
Repayment on repurchase agreements
Proceeds from Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Repayment of Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Cash dividends paid
Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

2012

2011

$ (3414,067) $ 247,298
1,126,318 1,169,225
8,233,281 13,368,448
3,268,990 2,039,756

(109,621) (35,872)
67,247 464,187
(3,404,292) (427,927)
4,014,289 (11,683)
— 124,575
191,135 480,270
3,622,407 (1,059,541)
(46,565,288) (40,674,749)
48,928,805 40,103,609
1,314,104 1,141,949
1,854,965 2,457,561
(247,806) (569,495)
(175,652) 404,435
18,704,815 19,222,046
(181,728,333) (109,376,719)
(5,090,039) —
222,840,415 119,422,188
93,971,045 14,274,984
1,654,300 1,888,500
29,551,243 25,137,107
(503,531) (228,862)
— 1,200
3,512,678 2,634,997
(139,695) (298,596)
164,068,083 53,454,799
(24,980,717) (49,296,109)
625,933 (11,080,345)
— (37,500,000)
(15,000,000) —
(39,354,784) (97,876,454)
143,418,114 (25,199,609)
18,362,001 43,561,610
$161,780,115 $18,362,001

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2010

$ (7,945.871)

1,263,088
16,350,449
3,267,633
(14,967)
1,052,584
(854,650)

59,345
572,744
(1,571,323)
(63,907,890)
63,243,780
6,034,835

(77,034)
2,571,667

(405,748)
(315,414)
19,323,228

(154,641,297)
(19,504,609)

177,411,443

20,961,430
913,300
5,350,740
(1,767,597)
16,400
1,831,056
(36,297)
30,534,569

12,416,540
4,063,192

22,500,000
(76,700,000)
(1,280,000)
(39,000,268)
10,857,529
32,704,081
$43,561,610
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THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF SHELBY AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
Y ear s Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010

2012
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 10,943,339
Income taxes 1,275
Supplemental Disclosures of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:
Transfer of loans to other real estate owned 1,932,811
Changein unrealized gain (loss) on avail able-for-sale securities (5,007,701)
Changein unrealized gain (loss) on held-to-maturity securities 2,351,486
Transfer of securities from held-to-maturity to available-for-sale 2,856,654
Increase (decrease) in unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives (93,878)
Loansto facilitate the sale of other real estate owned 297,000

Federal Home L oan Bank advances retired as part of restructuring

2011

$ 14,081,263
73,854

5,576,168
(2,670,088)
(156,721)

(957,804)
324,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2010

$ 18,868,414
2,894

2,570,184

(4,802,688)
545,612
401,032
577,649

34,000,000
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NOTE 1—-NATURE OF BUSINESSAND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The First National Bank of Shelby and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, F.N.B. Insurance Agency, Inc. (collectively, “the Bank”), for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. All significant
intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation.

Nature of operations: The First National Bank of Shelby is primarily engaged in the business of obtaining deposits and originating commercial,
industrial, consumer and real estate loans within its North Carolinalending area of Cleveland County, Gaston County, Lincoln County, Rutherford
County and the surrounding counties. Commercial and consumer |oans are made on either a secured or unsecured basis to corporations,
partnerships, and individuals.

Basis of financial statement presentation: The accounting and reporting policies of the Bank conform to accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of Americaand general practices within the financial servicesindustry. In preparing the financial statements, management is
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant changesin the near-term relate to the determination of the
allowance for loan losses, the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, and the fair value of securities and other financial instruments.

Cash and cash eguivalents: For purposes of reporting in the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Bank includes cash on hand, demand
deposits at other financial institutions with terms less than 90 days and federal funds sold, as cash and cash equivalents. The Bank generally
maintains deposits with financial institutions that are in excess of the federally-insured amounts; however, the Bank has not experienced any
losses with such concentrations. Cash flows from loans and deposits are reported net. The Bank is required to maintain average balances with the
Federal Reserve Bank. The average Federal Reserve Bank balance requirement for the two weeks ended December 31, 2012 was $100,000.

Investment in debt securities: The Bank hasinvestmentsin debt securities which consist primarily of obligations of the U.S. Government and
federal agencies, state and political subdivisions, mortgage-backed securities, and collateralized debt obligations. Management classifies al
securities astrading, available-for-sale, or held-to-maturity on the date of purchase and the appropriateness of such classification is reassessed at
each balance sheet date. Since the Bank does not buy investment securitiesin anticipation of short-term fluctuations in market prices, none of the
investment securities are classified as trading. All securities have been classified as either avail able-for-sale or held-to-maturity.

Securities available-for-sale: Securities classified as available-for-sale are those debt securities that the Bank intends to hold for an indefinite
period of time, but not necessarily to maturity in the case of debt securities. Any decision to sell asecurity classified as available-for-sale would be
based on various factors, including significant movementsin interest rates, changes in the maturity mix of the Bank’s assets and liabilities,
liquidity needs, regulatory capital considerations, and other similar factors. Securities available-for-sale are carried at fair value. Premiums and
discounts are amortized using the interest method over the securities’ contractual lives. Unrealized gains or losses are reported as increases or
decreasesin equity, net of the related deferred tax effect as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss). Realized gains or
losses, determined on the basis of the cost of specific securities sold, are recorded on the trade date and included in noninterest income.

Securities held-to-maturity: Certain debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-
maturity and are recorded at amortized cost. Premiums and discounts are amortized using the interest method over the securities' contractual lives.

Declinesin the fair value of individual securities classified as either held-to-maturity or available-for-sale below their amortized cost that are
determined to be other-than-temporary result in write-downs of the individual
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NOTE 1—NATURE OF BUSINESSAND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

securitiesto their fair value with the resulting write-downs included in operations as realized losses or in accumul ated other comprehensive income
(loss) as unrealized losses. In estimating other-than-temporary impairment, management considers (1) the length of time and the extent to which the
fair value has been less than cost, (2) the financial condition and near-term prospects of theissuer, and (3) the intent and ability of the Bank to
retain itsinvestment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for an anticipated recovery in fair value.

Federal bank stock: The Bank, as amember of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) system, isrequired to maintain an investment in capital stock
of the FHLB. For membership stock, the Bank is required to invest the lesser of .15% of the Bank’stotal assets or $26,000,000 at December 31, 2012.
For activity-based stock, the Bank isrequired to invest 4.50% of advances from the FHLB. No ready market exists for the FHLB stock, and it has no
quoted market value. The cost of the FHLB stock is $4,114,700 at December 31, 2012. The Bank also owns Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”) stock with
acost of $360,000 at December 31, 2012. For presentation purposes, such FHLB and FRB stock is assumed to have a market value that is equal to
cost of $4,474,700 and $6,129,000 at December 31, 2012 and 2011 respectively.

Loansreceivable: The Bank’sloan portfolio consists principally of commercial, industrial, consumer and real estate lending and mortgage loans.
Commercial lending covers categories such as working capital, construction and commercial real estate. Real estate lending includes 1-4 family
dwellings and multi-family dwelling loans. Consumer credit includes primarily direct loansto consumers for automobiles and other personal
financing needs. Loansreceivable are stated at unp